

COVID-19 and thromboinflammatory responses

Edited by Saravanan Subramaniam, Christoph Reinhardt, Luca Spiezia and Paresh Kulkarni

Published in Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine Frontiers in Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2871-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2871-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



COVID-19 and thromboinflammatory responses

Topic editors

Saravanan Subramaniam — Boston University, United States Christoph Reinhardt — University Medical Centre, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany Luca Spiezia — University of Padua, Italy Paresh Kulkarni — Banaras Hindu University, India

Citation

Subramaniam, S., Reinhardt, C., Spiezia, L., Kulkarni, P., eds. (2023). *COVID-19 and thrombo-inflammatory responses*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2871-6



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: COVID-19 and thrombo-inflammatory responses Saravanan Subramaniam, Christoph Reinhardt, Paresh P. Kulkarni and Luca Spiezia
- 09 A comparison of three thromboprophylaxis regimens in critically ill COVID-19 patients: An analysis of real-world data Ahmed Alrashed, Peter Cahusac, Yahya A. Mohzari, Reem F. Bamogaddam, Mashael Alfaifi, Maya Mathew, Bashayer F. Alrumayyan, Basmah F. Alqahtani, Amjad Alshammari, Kholud AlNekhilan, Aljawharah Binrokan, Khalil Alamri, Abdullah Alshahrani, Safar Alshahrani, Ahmad S. Alanazi, Batool M. Alhassan, Ali Alsaeed, Wedad Almutairi, Asma Albujaidy, Lama AlJuaid, Ziyad S. Almalki, Nehad Ahmed, Hamdan N. Alajami, Hala M. Aljishi, Mohammed Alsheef, Saleh A. Alajlan, Faisal Almutairi, Atheer Alsirhani, Manayer Alotaibi, Melaf A. Aljaber, Hammam A. Bahammam, Hussain Aldandan, Abdulaziz S. Almulhim, Ivo Abraham and Ahmad Alamer
- 24 Thrombotic events with or without thrombocytopenia in recipients of adenovirus-based COVID-19 vaccines Luigi Cari, Mahdieh Naghavi Alhosseini, Alberta Bergamo, Sabrina Pacor, Sabata Pierno, Gianni Sava and Giuseppe Nocentini
- The potential of heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.)-apheresis for patients with severe acute or chronic COVID-19
 Beate Roxane Jaeger, Hayley Emma Arron, Wiltrud M. Kalka-Moll and Dietrich Seidel
- Effect of stimulated platelets in COVID-19 thrombosis: Role of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
 Lina Jankauskaite, Mantas Malinauskas and Ausra Snipaitiene
- 50 Are platelet volume indices of clinical use in COVID-19? A systematic review

Sarah Daniels, Hua Wei, Martie van Tongeren and David W. Denning

- 68 Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia: Updates in pathobiology and diagnosis Stefan D. Jevtic, Donald M. Arnold, Dimpy Modi, Nikola Ivetic, Anna-Lise Bissola and Ishac Nazy
- 75 SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein activates TMEM16F-mediated platelet procoagulant activity

Ambra Cappelletto, Harriet E. Allan, Marilena Crescente, Edoardo Schneider, Rossana Bussani, Hashim Ali, Ilaria Secco, Simone Vodret, Roberto Simeone, Luca Mascaretti, Serena Zacchigna, Timothy D. Warner and Mauro Giacca

91 Microvascular significance of TGF- β axis activation in COVID-19

Lauren M. Arguinchona, Caterina Zagona-Prizio, Megan E. Joyce, Edward D. Chan and James P. Maloney

- 108 The intersection of obesity and (long) COVID-19: Hypoxia, thrombotic inflammation, and vascular endothelial injury Mengqi Xiang, Xiaoming Wu, Haijiao Jing, Valerie A. Novakovic and Jialan Shi
- 121 Use of fondaparinux in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia on veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: A three-patient case series report Jitka Rychlíčková, Vladimír Šrámek and Pavel Suk
- 128 Fibrin monomers evaluation during hospitalization for COVID-19 is a predictive marker of in-hospital mortality David M. Smadja, Nicolas Gendron, Aurélien Philippe, Jean-Luc Diehl, Nadège Ochat, Olivier Bory, Agathe Beauvais, Alexis Mareau, Anne-Sophie Jannot and Richard Chocron

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Hugo Ten Cate, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Saravanan Subramaniam 🖂 ssubra@bu.edu

RECEIVED 31 May 2023 ACCEPTED 06 June 2023 PUBLISHED 15 June 2023

CITATION

Subramaniam S, Reinhardt C, Kulkarni PP and Spiezia L (2023) Editorial: COVID-19 and thrombo-inflammatory responses. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 10:1231909. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1231909

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Subramaniam, Reinhardt, Kulkarni and Spiezia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: COVID-19 and thrombo-inflammatory responses

Saravanan Subramaniam^{1*}, Christoph Reinhardt^{2,3}, Paresh P. Kulkarni⁴ and Luca Spiezia⁵

¹Pulmonary Center, Department of Medicine, Chobanian & Avedisian School of Medicine, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States, ²Center for Thrombosis and Hemostasis (CTH), University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg-University, Mainz, Germany, ³German Center for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Partner Site RhineMain, Mainz, Germany, ⁴Department of Biochemistry, Institute of Medical Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, India, ⁵Thrombosis and Hemorrhagic Diseases Unit Medicine, Padova University Hospital, Padova, Italy

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, thrombo-inflammation, long covid, VITT, platelets and COVID-19, thrombocytopenia, thromboprophylaxis regimens

Editorial on the Research Topic COVID-19 and thrombo-inflammatory responses

Introduction

The Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) presents with varying clinical symptoms between individuals. Severe COVID-19 causes pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), cytokine storm, and multi-organ failure (1, 2). Despite the end of the epidemic, COVID-19 is still prevalent, transitioning from a lethal phase to one in which people can become infected without experiencing major symptoms or being hospitalized. COVID-19 is associated with a significant increase in the risk of venous and arterial thromboembolic events in hospitalized patients (3, 4), which is associated with vascular barrier dysfunction, edema, endotheliitis, thrombosis, and inflammatory cell infiltration. Although multiple organ failure in COVID-19 is caused by several mechanisms (5, 6), a hypercoagulation state with the development of micro- and macro- circulatory thrombosis plays a prominent role.

This Research Topic is intended to further understanding of COVID-19 and COVID-19associated thrombo-inflammatory responses. The current issue has 11 articles, most of which are on thrombocytopenia, thromboprophylaxis regimens, Long COVID, and vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). Many of the articles were written from a clinical standpoint to increase insights into COVID-19 pathophysiology in the setting of prothrombotic response.

Platelets and COVID-19

Platelets are well-known for their critical contributions to thrombosis and hemostasis (7). During infection, activated platelets adhere to the sub-endothelium, and their hyperactivity results in thrombus formation, leading to arterial ischemia and even

pulmonary embolisms. Acetylcholine is known to reduce platelet activation via α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7nAChR) (8– 10). Accumulating evidence suggests that stimulated platelets generate choline products, which activate the α 7nAChR, resulting in a positive anti-inflammatory and anti-thrombotic impact. In this issue, Jankauskaite et al. reviewed platelet functions in COVID-19-associated thrombosis and α 7nAChRmediated anti-inflammatory pathway. Nevertheless, *in vivo* studies are required to validate the significance of α 7nAChR in platelet function and whether it might be a possible therapeutic target for reducing platelet hyperreactivity during infection, particularly in COVID-19.

Transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) functions in maintaining a healthy microvasculature by regulating inflammation, clotting, and wound healing. Platelets are the most abundant source of human TGF- β 1 (40–100 times more than other cells), which is stored in its latent form in platelet granules (11). In this issue, Arguinchona et al. have summarized, with caveats, the role of TGF- β 1 in thrombosis, inflammation, and immune dysregulation in various diseases, including SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Platelet volume indices (PVI), including mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet distribution width (PDW) and platelet-large cell ratio (P-LCR), are considered useful predictors of thrombotic events (12, 13). In the issue, Daniels et al. systematically evaluated the usefulness of PVI as clinical biomarkers for COVID-19 prognosis and as early predictors for severity and mortality in COVID-19. They found that due to the variability in results, it was difficult to conclude whether COVID-19 patients with elevated PVI are more likely to develop severe illness or are at higher risk of mortality.

Platelets are activated during COVID-19 and participate in thrombo-inflammatory responses (14–16). RNA-Seq has indicated both direct and indirect impacts of SARS-CoV-2 infection (e.g., mediators, aberrant antibodies) on the platelet transcriptome of critically ill COVID-19 patients (16). Due to conflicting reports (17, 18), the exact molecular mechanisms behind the direct activation of platelets during SARS-CoV-2 infection remain largely unknown and are likely multifactorial. Cappelletto et al. screened >3,000 FDA/EMA approved drugs and identified Niclosamide and Clofazimine as the most effective at suppressing Spike-induced TMEM16 activation. Spike induced a marked procoagulant phenotype in platelets, by enhancing Ca^{2+} flux, phosphatidylserine externalization on the platelet outer cell membrane, and thrombin generation which were inhibited by Niclosamide and Clofazimine.

Fibrin and COVID-19

Coagulation results in an insoluble clot of crosslinked fibrin. Fibrin monomers (FM) have been proposed as a diagnostic marker of DIC (19) and a predictor of thrombosis and/or a hypercoagulable state earlier than D-dimer (20). In healthy individuals, FM levels are very low in peripheral blood, often below the detection limit. In this issue, Smadja et al. evaluated the relationship between FM and COVID-19 mortality in hospitalized patients. FM levels >7 μ g/ml were used as lower cut-off and were monitored during initial hospitalization to predict COVID-19 outcomes. During the first 9 days of hospitalization 37% of patients had positive FM at least once; these patients had higher in-hospital mortality (p = 0.001), indicating that monitoring fibrin monomers might be a prognostic tool in moderate-to-critically ill COVID-19 patients.

Thrombocytopenia and prophylactic regimens in COVID-19

High-quality evidence from meta-analyses and randomized controlled trials exploring the clinical outcomes of several preventive regimens in critically ill patients has resulted in contradictory findings (21-23). The anticipated benefit of increasing the anticoagulant dosage is still debated. Rychlíčková et al. in a case study, reported that Fondaparinux can be considered a reasonable and affordable anticoagulant, without a high risk of bleeding, in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). Similarly, Alrashed et al. performed a retrospective cohort analysis (811 patient records) on standard, intermediate, and high anticoagulation dosage regimens in critically ill COVID-19 patients. There were no statistically significant differences in overall in-hospital mortality between the standard-dose and the intermediate-dose groups [51 vs. 53.4%; aHR = 1.4 (95% CI: 0.88-2.33)] or standard-dose and high-dose groups [51 vs. 61.1%; aHR = 1.3 (95% CI: 0.83-2.20)]. The intermediate- and high-dose groups experienced the same frequency of major bleeding episodes as the standard dose group. Thus, these findings recommend standard-dose as the preferred regimen for COVID-19-patients.

Long COVID-19

The older the patients, the more likely they are to succumb to COVID-19 due to immunological dysfunction (24) and comorbidities (25), such as obesity. Many cohort and case-control studies have shown high body mass index (BMI) as a risk factor for disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients (26). In this issue, Xiang et al. review suggest that the intersection of obesity and Long COVID, and persistent viral presence, long-term inflammation, micro clots, and hypoxia may contribute to the development of persistent symptoms, and that patients with obesity are uniquely susceptible to Long COVID.

Jaeger et al. in their perspective, propose that acute and Long COVID patients may benefit from treatment with Heparininduced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis, which has been in clinical use for 37 years. H.E.L.P removes microthrombi without causing bleeding, enhances oxygen supply to the capillaries, lowers cytokine storm, and removes precursors of the procoagulant and fibrinolytic cascade.

Vaccines and thrombosis in COVID-19

Vaccination has been the most promising strategy for combating the COVID-19 pandemic. Antibodies that recognize platelet factor 4 (PF4, also known as CXCL4) bound to platelets caused VITT (27). Cari et al. conducted a meta-analysis of several adenovirus-based vaccinations and their incidence of VITT, non-VITT thrombosis, and arterial events. Although rare, recipients of the Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccinations had a greater incidence of VITT compared to Comirnaty, implying a link between these occurrences and the adenovirus-based vaccines. The authors hypothesize that the venous and arterial thromboses observed with adenovirus-based vaccines and in absence of thrombocytopenia are due to the combination of at least three triggering factors, all of which may be involved in vascular inflammation and coagulation and suggest that it is independent of anti-PF4 antibodies. Likewise, Jevtic et al. present an update on the clinical diagnosis of VITT and a comprehensive assessment of VITT epidemiology, and similarities and differences between HIT and VITT. According to the review, HIT and VITT antibodies bind to distinct locations on PF4. Furthermore, diagnostic tests established for HIT frequently produce false-negative findings for VITT and should not be employed as a VITT diagnostic test.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this special issue (perspective, case report, research findings, selective reviews, and meta-analysis) highlights the importance of COVID-19 and COVID-19-associated thrombocytopenia, thromboprophylaxis regimens, Long COVID, and VITT. Over the past three years, our understanding of COVID-19-associated prothrombotic mechanism is slowly resolving. COVID-19 severity is heavily influenced by co-morbidities. Accumulating evidence reveals that even after recovery, those who had COVID-19 experience ongoing cardiovascular issues such coagulopathy or bleeding disorders. Researchers are also learning more about how new variants could

References

1. Mokhtari T, Hassani F, Ghaffari N, Ebrahimi B, Yarahmadi A, Hassanzadeh G. COVID-19 and multiorgan failure: a narrative review on potential mechanisms. *J Mol Histol.* (2020) 51:613–28. doi: 10.1007/s10735-020-09915-3

2. Zaim S, Chong JH, Sankaranarayanan V, Harky A. COVID-19 and multiorgan response. *Curr Probl Cardiol.* (2020) 45:100618. doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2020. 100618

3. Al-Ani F, Chehade S, Lazo-Langner A. Thrombosis risk associated with COVID-19 infection. A scoping review. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 192:152-60. doi: 10.1016/j. thromres.2020.05.039

4. Bilaloglu S, Aphinyanaphongs Y, Jones S, Iturrate E, Hochman J, Berger JS. Thrombosis in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in a New York City health system. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:799-801. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.13372

5. Subramaniam S, Kothari H, Bosmann M. Tissue factor in COVID-19-associated coagulopathy. *Thromb Res.* (2022) 220:35–47. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2022.09.025

6. Subramaniam S, Ruf W, Bosmann M. Advocacy of targeting protease-activated receptors in severe coronavirus disease 2019. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2022) 179 (10):2086–99. doi: 10.1111/bph.15587

potentially affect Long COVID. We are still investigating to what extent certain groups are at higher risk, and if different groups of people tend to experience different types of Long COVID complications. Further close monitoring of post-COVID conditions will aid in our understanding of Long COVID and how healthcare providers might treat or support people suffering from these long-term impacts.

Author contributions

SS, CR, PPK, and LS are topic editors of this special issue and contributed to writing and revising of this editorial. SS drafted the editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all the authors and reviewers that were involved in this Research Topic.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Huang J, Li X, Shi X, Zhu M, Wang J, Huang S, et al. Platelet integrin alphaIIbbeta3: signal transduction, regulation, and its therapeutic targeting. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2019) 12:26. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0709-6

8. Bennett JA, Ture SK, Schmidt RA, Mastrangelo MA, Cameron SJ, Terry LE, et al. Acetylcholine inhibits platelet activation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2019) 369:182–7. doi: 10.1124/jpet.118.253583

9. Schedel A, Thornton S, Schloss P, Kluter H, Bugert P. Human platelets express functional alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:928–34. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.218297

10. Slevin M, Iemma RS, Zeinolabediny Y, Liu D, Ferris GR, Caprio V, et al. Acetylcholine inhibits monomeric C-reactive protein induced inflammation, endothelial cell adhesion, and platelet aggregation; A potential therapeutic? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2124. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02124

11. Assoian RK, Komoriya A, Meyers CA, Miller DM, Sporn MB. Transforming growth factor-beta in human platelets. Identification of a major storage site, purification, and characterization. *J Biol Chem.* (1983) 258:7155–60. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)32345-7

12. Huang HL, Chen CH, Kung CT, Li YC, Sung PH, You HL, et al. Clinical utility of mean platelet volume and immature platelet fraction in acute coronary syndrome. *Biomed J.* (2019) 42:107–15. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2018.12.005

13. Thompson CB, Jakubowski JA, Quinn PG, Deykin D, Valeri CR. Platelet size and age determine platelet function independently. *Blood.* (1984) 63:1372–5. doi: 10.1182/blood.V63.6.1372.1372

14. Barrett TJ, Lee AH, Xia Y, Lin LH, Black M, Cotzia P, et al. Platelet and vascular biomarkers associate with thrombosis and death in coronavirus disease. *Circ Res.* (2020) 127:945–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317803

15. Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pao CRR, et al. Platelet activation and platelet-monocyte aggregate formation trigger tissue factor expression in patients with severe COVID-19. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252

16. Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet gene expression and function in patients with COVID-19. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214

17. Kusudo E, Murata Y, Kawamoto S, Egi M. Variant-derived SARS-CoV-2 spike protein does not directly cause platelet activation or hypercoagulability. *Clin Exp Med.* (2023):1-8. doi: 10.1007/s10238-023-01091-4

18. Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets can associate with SARS-Cov-2 RNA and are hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res.* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703

19. Taylor FB Jr., Toh CH, Hoots WK, Wada H, Levi M, On behalf of the Scientific Subcommittee on Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation (DIC) of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH). Towards definition, clinical and laboratory criteria, and a scoring system for disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Thromb Haemost.* (2001) 86:1327–30. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1616068

20. Refaai MA, Riley P, Mardovina T, Bell PD. The clinical significance of fibrin monomers. *Thromb Haemost.* (2018) 118:1856–66. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1673684

21. Bikdeli B, Talasaz AH, Rashidi F, Bakhshandeh H, Rafiee F, Rezaeifar P, et al. Intermediate-Dose versus standard-dose prophylactic anticoagulation in patients with COVID-19 admitted to the intensive care unit: 90-day results from the INSPIRATION randomized trial. *Thromb Haemost.* (2022) 122:131–41. doi: 10.1055/a-1485-2372

22. Lopes RD, De Barros ESPGM, Furtado RHM, Macedo AVS, Bronhara B, Damiani LP, et al. Therapeutic versus prophylactic anticoagulation for patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 and elevated D-dimer concentration (ACTION): an open-label, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:2253–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01203-4

23. Perepu US, Chambers I, Wahab A, Ten Eyck P, Wu C, Dayal S, et al. Standard prophylactic versus intermediate dose enoxaparin in adults with severe COVID-19: a multi-center, open-label, randomized controlled trial. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 19:2225–34. doi: 10.1111/jth.15450

24. Montecino-Rodriguez E, Berent-Maoz B, Dorshkind K. Causes, consequences, and reversal of immune system aging. *J Clin Invest.* (2013) 123:958–65. doi: 10. 1172/JCI64096

25. Russell CD, Lone NI, Baillie JK. Comorbidities, multimorbidity and COVID-19. Nat Med. (2023) 29:334–43. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-02156-9

26. Yang Y, Wang L, Liu J, Fu S, Zhou L, Wang Y. Obesity or increased body mass index and the risk of severe outcomes in patients with COVID-19: a protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. (2022) 101:e28499. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000028499

27. Eichinger S, Warkentin TE, Greinacher A. Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. Reply. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:e11. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2102968

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Luca Spiezia, University of Padua, Italy

REVIEWED BY Yupei Li, Sichuan University, China Rodrigo Assar, University of Chile, Chile

*CORRESPONDENCE Hussain Aldandan hussien.aldandan@gmail.com Ahmad Alamer aa.aalmer@psau.edu.sa

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 26 June 2022 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

Alrashed A, Cahusac P, Mohzari YA, Bamogaddam RF, Alfaifi M, Mathew M, Alrumayyan BF, Alqahtani BF, Alshammari A, AlNekhilan K, Binrokan A. Alamri K. Alshahrani A. Alshahrani S, Alanazi AS, Alhassan BM, Alsaeed A, Almutairi W, Albujaidy A, AlJuaid L, Almalki ZS, Ahmed N, Alajami HN, Aljishi HM, Alsheef M, Alajlan SA, Almutairi F, Alsirhani A, Alotaibi M. Aliaber MA. Bahammam HA. Aldandan H, Almulhim AS, Abraham I and Alamer A (2022) A comparison of three thromboprophylaxis regimens in critically ill COVID-19 patients: An analysis of real-world data. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 9:978420. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.978420

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Alrashed, Cahusac, Mohzari, Bamogaddam, Alfaifi, Mathew, Alrumayyan, Alqahtani, Alshammari, AlNekhilan, Binrokan, Alamri, Alshahrani, Alshahrani, Alanazi, Alhassan, Alsaeed, Almutairi, Albujaidy, AlJuaid, Almalki, Ahmed, Alajami, Aljishi, Alsheef, Alajlan, Almutairi, Alsirhani, Alotaibi, Aljaber, Bahammam, Aldandan, Almulhim, Abraham and Alamer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is

permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A comparison of three thromboprophylaxis regimens in critically ill COVID-19 patients: An analysis of real-world data

Ahmed Alrashed¹, Peter Cahusac², Yahya A. Mohzari³, Reem F. Bamogaddam³, Mashael Alfaifi³, Maya Mathew³, Bashayer F. Alrumayyan¹, Basmah F. Alqahtani¹, Amjad Alshammari¹, Kholud AlNekhilan¹, Aljawharah Binrokan¹, Khalil Alamri¹, Abdullah Alshahrani¹, Safar Alshahrani¹, Ahmad S. Alanazi¹, Batool M. Alhassan⁴, Ali Alsaeed⁵, Wedad Almutairi⁶, Asma Albujaidy⁷, Lama AlJuaid⁸, Ziyad S. Almalki⁹, Nehad Ahmed⁹, Hamdan N. Alajami³, Hala M. Aljishi¹⁰, Mohammed Alsheef¹¹, Saleh A. Alajlan¹², Faisal Almutairi¹³, Atheer Alsirhani¹⁴, Manayer Alotaibi¹⁴, Melaf A. Aljaber¹⁴, Hammam A. Bahammam¹⁵, Hussain Aldandan^{16*},

Abdulaziz S. Almulhim¹⁷, Ivo Abraham¹⁸ and Ahmad Alamer^{9,18*}

¹Administration of Pharmaceutical Services, Main Hospital, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ²Pharmacology and Biostatistics/Comparative Medicine, Alfaisal University College of Medicine, King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Centre, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ³Clinical Pharmacy Department, King Saud Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁴Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Almoosa Specialist Hospital, Al-Ahasa, Saudi Arabia, ⁵Department of Neurology, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁶Pharmacy College, Shaqra University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁷Department of Clinical Pharmacy Service, Prince Mohammed Bin Abdulaziz Hospital, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁸Pharmacy College, Princess Nourah Bint Abdulrahman University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ⁹Department of Clinical Pharmacy, College of Pharmacy, Prince Sattam Bin Abdulaziz University, Al-Kharj, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁰Research Center, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ¹¹Medicine Department, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ¹²Department of Pediatric Dentistry, King Fahad Medical City, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ¹³College of Medicine, King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁴Department of Pharmacy Service, Prince Mutib Bin Abdulaziz Hospital, Sakaka, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁵Department of Pediatric Dentistry, College of Dentistry, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁶Department of Pharmacy, Alahsa Hospital, Al-Ahsa, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁷Department of Pharmacy Practice, College of Clinical Pharmacy, King Faisal University, Al-Ahsa, Saudi Arabia, ¹⁸Department of Pharmacy Practice and Science, College of Pharmacy, University of Arizona, Tuscon, AZ, United States

Introduction: Thrombotic complications of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) have received considerable attention. Although numerous conflicting findings have compared escalated thromboprophylaxis doses with a standard dose to prevent thrombosis, there is a paucity of literature comparing clinical outcomes in three different anticoagulation dosing regimens. Thus, we investigated the effectiveness and safety profiles of standard, intermediate, and high-anti-coagulation dosing strategies in COVID-19 critically ill patients.

Methodology: This retrospective multicenter cohort study of intensive care unit (ICU) patients from the period of April 2020 to August 2021 in four Saudi

Arabian centers. Inclusion criteria were age \geq 18 years, diagnosis with severe or critical COVID-19 infection, and receiving prophylactic anticoagulant dose within 24–48 h of ICU admission. The primary endpoint was a composite of thrombotic events, with mortality rate and minor or major bleeding serving as secondary endpoints. We applied survival analyses with a matching weights procedure to control for confounding variables in the three arms.

Results: A total of 811 patient records were reviewed, with 551 (standard-dose = 192, intermediate-dose = 180, and high-dose = 179) included in the analysis. After using weights matching, we found that the standard-dose group was not associated with an increase in the composite thrombotic events endpoint when compared to the intermediate-dose group {19.8 vs. 25%; adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) =1.46, [95% confidence of interval (CI), 0.94-2.26]} or when compared to high-dose group [19.8 vs. 24%; aHR = 1.22 (95% CI, 0.88-1.72)]. Also, there were no statistically significant differences in overall in-hospital mortality between the standard-dose and the intermediate-dose group [51 vs. 53.4%; aHR = 1.4 (95% Cl, 0.88-2.33)] or standard-dose and high-dose group [51 vs. 61.1%; aHR = 1.3 (95% CI, 0.83-2.20)]. Moreover, the risk of major bleeding was comparable in all three groups [standard vs. intermediate: 4.8 vs. 2.8%; aHR = 0.8 (95% CI, 0.23-2.74); standard vs. high: 4.8 vs. 9%; aHR = 2.1 (95% CI, 0.79-5.80)]. However, intermediate-dose and high-dose were both associated with an increase in minor bleeding incidence with aHR = 2.9 (95% Cl, 1.26-6.80) and aHR = 3.9 (95% Cl, 1.73-8.76), respectively.

Conclusion: Among COVID-19 patients admitted to the ICU, the three dosing regimens did not significantly affect the composite of thrombotic events and mortality. Compared with the standard-dose regimen, intermediate and high-dosing thromboprophylaxis were associated with a higher risk of minor but not major bleeding. Thus, these data recommend a standard dose as the preferred regimen.

KEYWORDS

thromboprophylaxis doses, critically ill patients, COVID-19, mortality, thromboprophylaxis

Introduction

In addition to pulmonary manifestations of coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) (1, 2), there is increasing concern about COVID-19-related extra-pulmonary complications, including thrombotic complications (3). Following emerging data, investigators paid more attention to the hypercoagulability state seen in COVID-19 cases that can result in the development of microthrombi in pulmonary microvasculature, deep vein thrombosis (VTE), and pulmonary embolisms (PE) (4). Initial studies from the early days of COVID-19 found a trend of thrombotic events in COVID-19 patients which prompted a flood of research in this area (5, 6). The incidence of thrombotic events was broadly inconsistent, with reports claiming that up to 69% of COVID-19 patients in a specific population were affected, despite the use of thromboprophylaxis (5–8). Compared to non-COVID-19 patients, previous studies

showed COVID-19 patients have a greater risk of venous thromboembolism (VTE) 11.7 vs. 4.8% (9). According to meta-analyses, the incidence of VTE in intensive care unit (ICU)-admitted patients is higher than in those admitted to the general ward, with rates of 31 and 7%, respectively (10, 11). Such coagulation dysfunction has been associated with poor prognosis and negative outcomes, with 40% dying in those who developed VTE in the ICU (12, 13). Given high VTE occurrence reports and its unfavorable prognosis post-COVID-19 infection (14), some experts, agencies, and scientific committees advocated for increased thromboprophylaxis doses to be considered despite the absence of randomized evidence (15–18).

A comprehensive understanding of COVID-19 pathogenesis is still unclear. However, with available data related to the pathology of venous thromboembolism, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) has an affinity binding to angiotensin-converting-enzyme (ACE) 2 receptor, which exists in different tissues including, but not limited to, arterial and venous endothelial cells (19). As per Virchow's triad, a possible higher risk of developing thromboembolic events is expected due to vascular injury. Another possible explanation of VTE is that the inflammatory reaction caused by viral, bacterial and fungal infection results in the activation of host defense systems. This eventually contributes to the up-regulation of coagulation factors and thrombin formation pathways (20, 21). In addition to the risk factors of VTE that critically ill patients carry as a result of venous stasis (22–25), other factors that increase the risk of hypercoagulability may exist. The procoagulant profile, particularly D-dimer, is speculated to be a predictor of VTE development with sensitivity and specificity of 85 and 88.5%, respectively (12, 26, 27).

The anticipated benefit of increasing the anticoagulant dose is still debated. A meta-analysis of 23 retrospective observational studies found a favorable mortality reduction with the escalated dose of prophylactic anticoagulant when compared to the standard dose (28). However, high quality evidence of metaanalyses and randomized controlled trials (RCTs) investigating the clinical outcomes of various prophylactic regimens in critically ill patients have revealed conflicting results (29-33). Generally, previous studies were notably limited by poor study designs (6, 34), diversity of study populations (34-37), small sample sizes (6, 36, 38), variations in treatment settings (ICU vs. non-ICU) (39), heterogeneity of thromboprophylaxis dosing regimen definition (40), and unadjusted pooled crude estimates (34). Furthermore, numerous studies compared the effectiveness and safety of just two thromboprophylaxis regimens. However, one open question about comparing three different regimens of thromboprophylaxis simultaneously in critically ill COVID-19 patients is whether they are comparable in terms of effectiveness and coagulopathy. Obviously, limiting comparisons to two thromboprophylaxis regimens (standard and intermediate/high) may cast doubt on whether observed associations of thrombotic events or bleeding are causal or simply artifacts of more complex interrelationships between the disease itself, outcome, interventional dose, and covariates. Thus, our study aimed to assess how three different thromboprophylaxis dose regimens affect the rate of thrombotic events in critically ill COVID-19 patients.

Methods

Study design and setting

This retrospective analysis of the cohort study was conducted at 4 centers in Saudi Arabia, with patients hospitalized in ICUs of tertiary specialty referral hospitals: King Fahad Medical City (KFMC) in Riyadh, King Saud Medical City Hospital (KSMC) in Riyadh, Prince Mohammed Bin Abdulaziz hospital (PMAH) in Riyadh, and Almoosa Specialized Hospital in Al-Ahsa. Study approval was granted by the Institutional Review Boards at KFMC and PMAH (IRB: 20-666), KSMC (IRB:H1RI-16-Nov20-01), Almoosa hospital (IRB: ARC-20-12-4). Due to the retrospective design, informed consent was waived, as it was considered exempt. Our report adopted the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) Statement checklist (41).

Participant selection

Lists of critically ill COVID-19 patients admitted to ICU between April 2020 and August 2021 were obtained from the health informatics officers. We used a random-selection technique to screen patients for eligibility. Random selection avoids sampling bias in giving each patient's record an equal chance of selection and coding (42). Inclusion criteria were age ≥18 years, diagnosis of critical SARS-CoV-2 infection by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) from the nasopharyngeal swab and receiving prophylactic anticoagulant within 24-48 h of ICU admission. Patients were excluded if pregnant, diagnosed with VTE or atrial fibrillation during COVID-19 admission, patients with chronic anticoagulants at admission, had a contraindication to anticoagulants including active bleeding, platelet counts $< 25 \times 10^9$ /L, and fibrinogen <0.5 g/L, or if they were on VTE-induced medications (oral contraceptives, tamoxifen, etc.,).

Intensities of anticoagulant dose

This study looked at three different anticoagulant prophylactic dosing strategies: standard, intermediate, and high. The "standard dose" was defined as enoxaparin 40 mg subcutaneous (SC) daily, or 30 mg in renal failure patients, heparin 5,000 units SC twice or thrice daily, or fondaparinux 2.5 mg SC daily. The "intermediate dose" included patients treated with enoxaparin 1 mg/kg SC daily or enoxaparin 40 mg SC twice daily, or heparin 7,500 units SC twice or thrice daily. The high dose was enoxaparin 1 mg/kg SC twice daily or heparin infusion. Patients received the prescribed dose of prophylactic regimens within 24–48 h of ICU admission until hospital discharge, developing of thrombotic events, or death.

Data collection

The study data were collected and managed using REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture) a secure, web-based data capture application (43). Electronic case report forms (eCRFs) were developed, pilot tested, and revised accordingly. Data were manually extracted from electronic health records (EHRs)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.978420

and entered into the REDCap system in a de-identified manner. A trained team of data managers were recruited to be responsible for delivering a complete, clean, and accurate dataset. Clinical data managers performed various levels of data validation following data collection, known as edit checks, until it was considered "clean" enough to support analysis. During this step, they used categories to define the essential checks which included missing data, simple range checks, logical inconsistencies, cross-form checks, and protocol violations. Edit check specification (data validation procedure) was used to ensure that all data was the same edited consistently throughout the study. Extracted data include demographic characteristics [e.g., age, gender, weight, height, body mass index (BMI)], clinical characteristics [e.g., history of VTE, diabetes, hypertension, cancer, and cerebrovascular and cardiovascular disease, renal failure, renal dialysis, post-surgery, mechanical ventilation, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), APACHE score, use of a sedative agent or paralytic agents, recent use of oral contraceptive, steroid intake, vascular access device (VAD), regimen for COVID-19 treatment], lab parameters [D-dimer, prothrombin time (PT) and activated partial thromboplastin time (APPT), international normalized ratio (INR), fibrinogen, and platelet count], clinical outcome [composite thrombotic events (PE, DVT, ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction, systemic arterial embolism)] and any bleeding (minor or major), and death.

Study outcomes

The primary outcome was the occurrence of any component of composite thrombotic events in COVID-19 patients admitted to ICU who received standard, intermediate, or high anticoagulant doses for VTE prevention. Mortality rate and occurrence of major and minor bleeding were secondary outcomes of interest.

Definitions

We defined severe and critical cases of COVID-19 based on the World Health Organization (WHO) (44). Severe manifestation was defined as fever plus symptoms ≥ 1 of the following: respiratory rate $\geq 30/\text{min}$, dyspnea, respiratory distress, SpO₂ $\leq 93\%$ on room air, PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio <300 or lung infiltrate >50% of lung field within 24–48 h. Critical illness was evidenced by symptoms ≥ 1 of the following: ARDS, septic shock, altered consciousness, and/or multi-organ failure.

We defined thrombotic events as a composite outcome where at least one of the following occurred: symptomatic acute PE, DVT, ischemic stroke, myocardial infarction, or systemic arterial embolism (45). Three distinct justifications for adopting composite endpoints as the primary outcome: the rate of individual response was expected to be low; the full effect could not be captured meaningfully by a single outcome; and thrombotic events were expected to present in various manifestations of the same disease. Typically, PE diagnosis was determined by computed tomography pulmonary angiography (CTPA) or a combination of high pretest clinical probability of PE with high probability ventilation-perfusion (V/Q) lung scan. DVT diagnosis was confirmed by compression ultrasonography (CUS) with doppler of lower extremities. Myocardial infarction was diagnosed by clinical means, ECG changes and cardiac criteria according to the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) (46). Ischemic stroke was confirmed if suspected patients had brain computed tomography (CT) scan and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), as well as the radiology consultant's report indicated the final diagnosis in the patient file. Mortality was defined as death that occurred during hospitalization for any reason.

Major bleeding was identified by the International Society on Thrombosis and Hemostasis (ISTH) as fatal bleeding and/or symptomatic bleeding in critical areas or organs (such as intracranial, intraspinal, intraocular, retroperitoneal, intraarticular or pericardial, or intramuscular bleeding with compartment syndrome) or documented bleeding causing a decrease in hemoglobin (Hgb) level of 2 g/dL or more, and transfusion of 2 or more units of packed red blood cells (PRBCs). In contrast, minor bleeding was all bleeds that were not considered major or non-major bleeding events (47).

Sample size calculation

We calculated the sample size using Power Analysis and Sample Size (PASS) $11^{(\mathbb{R})}$ and G*Power (Version 3.1.9.7) software. Because of a wide variety of thrombotic events at the time of study inception, we assumed a -15% risk difference between the standard dose, intermediate dose, and high dose arms. The total sample size was calculated to be 549 with an estimated ratio of 1:1:1 (N = 183 in each arm) as needed to provide an 80% power and significance level (α , type 1 error rate) of <0.05 to assess the hypothesis.

Statistical analysis

The three treatment groups' demographic and baseline data were compared using standard descriptive statistics. Where appropriate, continuous data were presented using means with standard deviations (\pm SDs) and medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs). ANOVA and Kruskal Wallis tests were used to compare normally and non-normally distributed quantitative variables between treated groups, respectively. To compare categorical variables, the chi-squared test was performed, and the results were reported as frequencies and percentages.

Missing data handling

Multiple Imputation by Chained Equations (MICE) approach with Nelson Aalen estimator was used to handle missing data, which was regarded as missing at random (MAR) (48, 49). To accommodate for uncertainty, multiple dataset predictions (5 imputed datasets with 10 iterations) were constructed for each missing value in this method, resulting in decreased variability and more accurate standard errors. Only variables with <15% missing data were considered. Convergence and density plots were visually checked for missing variables. All estimates were pooled across the generated datasets.

Matching weights procedure and survival analysis

Due to the challenge of multiple covariates and multiple treatment arms in this observational study, we applied the matching weights method, an extension of inverse probability of treatment weighting (IPTW), as a sensitivity analysis to estimate the average treatment effect (ATE) outcome across multiple treatment groups (50). The approach reweights all standard, intermediate, and high groups to simulate a propensity scorematched population. Multinomial logistic regression was used to fit all propensity scores of the covariates of interest. The use of this methodology is explained by Yoshida et al. (50). Postweighting balance assessment is used to find the optimal balance with absolute standardized mean differences of <0.2 for all covariates, indicating better covariate balance (50). Propensity score distribution and overlap was visually inspected via a mirror diagram. A covariate balance check was demonstrated via a Love plot. To estimate the probability of survival of the three groups, we used an adjusted Kaplan-Meier (KM) model with weighted data. Time 0 was the time of anticoagulation initiation. Censoring was considered for patients with no events that were discharged alive or were still admitted patients at the time of data collection. The stratified log-rank test was used to compare the survival distributions of three samples. In order to draw weighted KM curves, we used "svykm" function from the "survey" package in R which assumes weights as sampling weights to account for the matching design. This would allow the estimation of robust standard errors for survival. For the relative effect, we fitted the Cox regression model. The assumptions were adequately checked by using Schoenfeld residuals and visual plots. We implemented robust variance estimation to estimate standard errors. In the case of low to no events, we could not estimate hazards ratios.

Statistical software

R Core Team (51) software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Version 4.0.1, Vienna, Austria) was used. The following packages in the R interface were used to conduct the analyses: survival (52), survey (53), mice (48), MatchThem (54), cobalt (55) and tableone (56).

Results

Baseline characteristics

During the study period, 811 patients were screened for eligibility criteria (Figure 1). A total of 551 patients met inclusion criteria for analysis, with the remaining patients being excluded due to lack of ICU admission (n = 142), late start of thromboprophylaxis regime >48 h (n = 57), anticoagulant contraindications (n = 6), mild/moderate COVID-19 cases (n = 10), and on VTE-induced medicine (n = 6). Table 1 summarizes the main baseline characteristics of the standard dose group (n = 192), intermediate-dose group (n = 180), and high dose group (n = 179). A total of 112 (58%) patients out of the 192 standard dosing patients received heparin; whereas only 16 (8.9%) received heparin intermediate dosing and only 1 patient received heparin high dosing. None of this cohort received fondaparinux. For the pre-covariate balance of original data, there were explicit differences in the baseline characteristics of age (P = 0.032), gender (P = 0.017), ethnicity (P = 0.006), kidney function (P < 0.001) APACHE II score (P = 0.009), WHO severity (P < 0.001), mechanical ventilation (P = 0.001), and medications such as intravenous steroid (P = 0.001) and carbapenem (P = 0.021). Additionally, groups differed in the following laboratory variables: d-dimer (P = 0.014) and APTT (P < 0.001). Missing data were highest for fibrinogen (37.9%), followed by APACHE II score and D-dimer (7-10%) (Table 1, footnote).

After applying the weights matching procedure, all covariates of interest were adequately balanced (Table 2; Figure 2). We illustrated the propensity score distribution using a Love plot for absolute standardized mean difference (SMD) distribution (Figure 2). Most patients (>60%) had D-dimer >1.5 μ g/ml (Supplementary Table S1).

Thrombotic events and mortality outcomes

After weights matching, the risk of a composite of thrombotic events was not significantly different between the standard-dose and intermediate-dose groups {21.6 vs. 25.2%; adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) = 1.4, [95% confidence of interval (CI), 0.88-2.33]} (Table 3; Figure 3A). Also, the standard-dose group was associated with a similar hazard of thrombotic events to the high-dose group [21.6 vs. 28.8%; aHR = 1.3 (95% CI, 0.83-2.20)] (Table 3; Figure 3A). Furthermore, each component of the composite outcome has comparative events in the three different prophylactic anticoagulant intensities



(Table 3). A subgroup of patients having a D-dimer of >1.5 vs. <1.5 g/ml were associated with similar composite thrombotic events (Supplementary Table S1). For secondary outcome, patients on standard-dose and intermediate-dose arms had comparable overall in-hospital mortality [51.0 vs. 53.4%; aHR = 1.2 (95% CI, 0.88 to 1.72)] (Table 3; Figure 3B). Similarly, we found in-hospital mortality occurred more frequently in the high-dose groups (61.1%) than in the standard-dose group (51.0%), although the findings were not statistically significant [aHR = 1.3 (95% CI, 0.92–1.74)] (Table 3; Figure 3B). When the unadjusted hazard ratio was considered, analyses revealed no differences in primary outcome and mortality (Supplementary Figures S1A,B).

Bleeding outcome

Minor bleeding in the intermediate-dose group (12.6%) was higher compared to the standard-dose group (4.9%) [aHR = 2.9 (95% CI, 1.26–6.80)] (Table 3; Figure 3C). Also, higher proportion of patients experienced minor bleeding in high-dose group (17.3%) vs. the standard-dose group (4.9%) [aHR = 3.9 (95% CI, 1.73–8.76)] (Table 3; Figure 3C). No significant differences regarding major bleeding were observed between the 3 study groups (standard: 4.9 vs. intermediate: 2.9 vs. high: 8.6%)

(Table 3; Figure 3D). The unadjusted analysis can be seen in Table 3 and Supplementary Figures S1C,D).

Discussion

This retrospective cohort study compared three different thromboprophylactic regimens in COVID-19 ICU patients. We found that these three regimens (standard-dose, intermediatedose, and high-dose groups) had comparable primary composite of thrombotic events, including the major components. Furthermore, no significant differences were observed between the three study groups with respect to hospital mortality. Those who received intermediate-dose and high-dose groups had a similar frequency of major bleeding events as those who received standard-dose. However, there were more minor bleeding events in the intermediate-dose and high-dose groups compared with the standard-dose group.

The effectiveness of anticoagulant dose escalation in COVID-19 ICU patients continues to be debated, even among RCT studies. Our findings are in line with the hypothesis that high-dose thromboprophylaxis has a similar composite of thrombotic events in critically ill patients with COVID-19 as intermediate-dose and standard-dose thromboprophylaxis regimens (29, 31, 32). In addition, parallel to observational and RCT studies (29, 31, 32, 57, 58),

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics.

Variable	Standard (<i>n</i> = 192)	Intermediate $(n = 180)$	High (<i>n</i> = 179)	<i>P</i> value	
Age, mean (SD)	59.2 (15.0)	56.4 (13.8)	55.6 (13.1)		
Female, n (%)	61 (31.8)	39 (21.7)	36 (20.1)	0.017	
Ethnicity				0.006	
Middle eastern	113 (58.9)	75 (41.7)	89 (49.7)		
Southeast/east Asian	8 (4.2)	14 (7.8)	12 (6.7)		
South Asian	26 (13.5)	46 (25.6)	39 (21.8)		
Central Asian	8 (4.4%)	9 (5.0)	0 (0.0)		
African	15 (7.8)	7 (3.9)	12 (6.7)		
Other/Unknown	23 (12.0)	28 (15.6)	27 (15.1)		
Weight (kg), median (IQR)	77.5 (67.5-90.0	78.6 (70.0-90.0)	80.0 (70.0-90.0)	0.141	
3MI (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	27.9 (24.8-31.8	28.0 (24.8-31.8	28.0 (24.8-32.4)	0.849	
Scr (mg/dl), median (IQR)	1.4 (0.8-2.6)	1.0 (0.7-2.1)	1.0 (0.8–1.4)	0.003	
CKD EPI (mL/min/m ²), median (IQR)	53.0 (22.5-93.6)	79.3 (32.9-101.2)	79.4 (47.9-99.4)	< 0.001	
CKD stage, n (%)				< 0.001	
Stage 1	54 (28.1)	73 (40.6)	64 (35.8)		
Stage 2	30 (15.6)	37 (20.6)	47 (26.3)		
Stage 3a	17 (8.9)	8 (4.4)	23 (12.8)		
Stage 3b	21 (10.9)	13 (7.2)	18 (10.1)		
Stage 4	43 (22.4)	27 (15.0)	15 (8.4)		
Stage 5	20 (10.4)	15 (8.3)	4 (2.2)		
Unknown	7 (3.6)	7 (3.9)	8 (4.5)		
APACHE II score, median (IQR)	18.0 (12.0-23.0)	15.0 (10.0-22.0)	14.0 (10.0-21.0)	0.009	
PT (s), median (IQR)	14.2 (13.0-16.0)	14.0 (12.9–15.7)	14.6 (13.2–16.1)	0.058	
NR, median (IQR)	1.2 (1.0-1.3)	1.1 (1.0–1.3)	1.1 (1.1–1.3)	0.229	
APTT (s), median (IQR)	34.0 (29.9-47.0)	32.0 (28.0-38.0)	35.0 (29.4-42.4)	< 0.001	
Platelet (per 109/L), median (IQR)	229.0 (145.0-323.0)	249.0 (184.0-340.0)	244.0 (184.0-340.0)	0.074	
Fibrinogen (g/L), median (IQR)	4.9 (3.3-6.7)	4.9 (3.2-6.6)	5.3 (3.2-7.4)	0.395	
D-Dimer (μg/ml), median (IQR)	1.9 (1.0-4.4)	2.0 (0.9- 6.0)	2.8 (1.3-7.4)	0.014	
Respiratory disease, n (%)	28 (14.6)	21 (11.7)	20 (11.2)	0.559	
Established Cardiovascular disease, n (%)	20 (10.4)	17 (9.4)	22 (12.3)	0.674	
Diabetes, n (%)	110 (57.3)	96 (53.3)	95 (53.1)	0.655	
Hypertension, n (%)	108 (56.2)	82 (45.6)	90 (50.3)	0.117	
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	11 (5.7)	10 (5.6)	15 (8.4)	0.476	
Liver disease, n (%)	5 (2.6)	1 (0.6)	3 (1.7)	0.313	
HIV status, n (%)	3 (1.6)	1 (0.6)	0 (0.0)	0.331	
Mechanical ventilation, n (%)	144 (75.0)	117 (65.0)	90 (50.3)	< 0.001	
ECMO, n (%)	28 (14.6)	26 (14.4)	10 (5.6)	< 0.001	
WHO severity					
Severe	47 (24.5)	70 (38.9)	91 (50.8)	< 0.001	
Critical	145 (75.5)	110 (61.1)	88 (49.2)	< 0.001	
Sedative agent, n (%)	173 (90.1)	165 (91.7)	162 (90.5)	0.911	
COVID-19 regimen during hospital stay, n (%)					
Favipiravir	20 (10.4)	28 (15.6)	31 (17.3)	0.132	
Remdesivir	3 (1.6)	6 (3.3)	3 (1.7)	0.140	
Hydroxychloroquine	4 (2.1)	5 (2.8)	4 (2.2)	0.939	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Variable	Standard	Intermediate	High	P value	
	(n = 192)	(n = 180)	(n = 179)		
Azithromycin	3 (1.6)	6 (3.3)	12 (6.7)	0.037	
Lopinavir/ritonavir	7 (3.6)	8 (4.4)	3 (1.7)	0.341	
Hydroxychloroquine+azithromycin	0 (0.0)	2 (1.1)	2 (1.1)	0.398	
Azithromycin + Favipiravir	2 (1.0)	2 (1.1)	5 (2.8)	0.482	
Azithromycin + Favipiravir + Tocilizumab	2 (1.0)	5 (2.8)	9 (5.0)	0.075	
Hydroxychloroquine+Azithromycin+Tocilizumab	0 (0.0)	5 (2.8)	0 (0.0)	0.007	
Lopinavir/ritonavir+Interferon-B+Ribavirin	5 (2.6)	9 (5.0)	9 (5.0)	0.043	
V steroid use, n (%)	162 (84.4)	168 (93.3)	175 (97.8)	< 0.001	
ACEI or ARB, n (%)	33 (17.2)	22 (12.2)	33 (18.4)	0.234	
Beta blocker, n (%)	64 (33.3)	51 (28.3)	72 (40.2)	0.057	
Calcium Channel Blocker, n (%)	65 (33.9)	55 (30.6)	59 (33.0)	0.783	
Aspirin, n (%)	52 (27.1)	46 (25.6)	52 (29.1)	0.757	
nsulin, n (%)	141 (73.4)	132 (73.3)	122 (68.2)	0.443	
Statin, n (%)	68 (35.4)	54 (30.0)	48 (26.8)	0.191	
Thiazide diuretic, n (%)	2 (1.0)	2 (1.1)	4 (2.2)	0.609	
loop diuretic, n (%)	82 (42.7)	94 (52.2)	107 (59.8)	0.004	
Cefepime, n (%)	19 (9.9)	12 (6.7)	23 (12.8)	0.143	
/ancomycin, n (%)	112 (58.3)	92 (51.1)	100 (55.9)	0.366	
Carbapenems, n (%)	103 (53.6)	105 (58.3)	121 (67.6)	0.021	
Piperacillin/Tazobactam, n (%)	107 (55.7)	103 (57.2)	82 (45.8)	0.061	
Metronidazole, n (%)	6 (3.1)	4 (2.2)	2 (1.1)	0.445	

BMI, body mass index. Scr, serum creatinine. CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration. The Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE II), Established cardiovascular disease was defined as a documented history of stable angina, unstable angina, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), coronary artery bypass graft surgery, or myocardial infarction (MI), heart failure or cerebrovascular disease included transient ischemic attack (TIA) or stroke. Respiratory disease, asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). HIV, human immunodeficiency virus. ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. ACEI, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. WHO, World health organization. ARB, angiotensin receptor blockers. CCB, calcium channel blockers. IV, intravenous. Carbapenems included meropenam and imipenam.

Missing data: <1% (paralytic agent, INR, vasopressor use, BMI, steroid use, weight in kg). 1–5% (treatment regimen during hospitalization, PT, APTT, platelet count, Scr, CKD EPI). 7–10% (APACHE II score, D-dimer). Fibrinogen (37.9%).

different thromboprophylaxis doses did not eliminate the risk of overall mortality. This cast doubt on other studies that show a superior survival rate with escalated doses (37, 59, 60). Of note, a meta-analysis of observational studies, has also confirmed that increasing the anticoagulation regimen to the therapeutic dose, resulted in an increase in bleeding events (28).

To the best of our knowledge, only one study investigated the efficacy of three different anticoagulation dose regimens in COVID-19-infected critically ill patients (60). It concluded that high-dose thromboprophylaxis was associated with a lower risk of cumulative incidence of thromboembolic events and fewer bleeding events compared with lower doses. However, the study's findings should be interpreted with caution because of study limitations that may lead to misleading estimates of treatment effect. This includes small sample size and that almost half (45.4%) of patients underwent dose adjustment of the anticoagulant during ICU stay (60).

There are several possible explanations for the high incidence of venous thromboembolism (VTE) in the ICU population. One possible explanation is that the bioavailability of subcutaneous thromboprophylaxis is reduced, especially in edematous patients or those who receive vasoactive medications concurrently, thereby potentially providing reduced efficacy (61). Another possibility is low cardiac output in a population with pre-existing cardiovascular disease (62). Furthermore, significant VTE occurrence was observed not only with COVID-19, but also with other epidemic respiratory virus infections. When relevant data from previous virus infections is reviewed, it provides a lesson from the past about the magnitude of coagulation disorders' severity when compared to COVID-19 infection. Critically ill patients with H1N1 virus and SARS-CoV-1 showed substantial VTE rates of 44 and 30%, respectively (63, 64).

Some studies speculated that abnormal coagulation parameters, such as elevated D-dimer in COVID-19 (D-dimer > 1.5μ g/ml), were predictors of ICU admission, mortality

Covariate	Pre-covariate balance Original data			Post-covariate balance				
Data Arm				Weight matching				
	Standard	Intermediate	High	Absolute	Standard	Intermediate	High	Absolute SMD
	<i>n</i> = 192	n = 180	<i>n</i> = 179	SMD	<i>n</i> = 102	<i>n</i> = 103	<i>n</i> = 104	
Age, mean (±SD)	59.2 (14.98)	56.4 (13.79)	55.6 (13.12)	0.169	56.43 (14.99)	57.07 (13.66)	58.06 (12.75)	0.079
Female, <i>n</i> (%)	61 (31.8)	39 (21.7)	36 (20.1)	0.179	23.7 (23.4)	26.0 (25.3)	24.4 (23.4)	0.030
Ethnicity, n (%)				0.401	29.18 (6.54)	29.35 (6.06)	29.11 (6.31)	0.070
Middle Eastern	113 (58.9)	75 (41.7)	89 (49.7)		56.2 (55.3)	56.0 (54.6)	53.9 (51.8)	
Central Asian	7 (3.6)	9 (5.0)	0 (0.0)		0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	
East/Southeast Asian	8 (4.2)	14 (7.8)	12 (6.7)		6.3 (6.2)	5.7 (5.6)	5.4 (5.2)	
South Asian	26 (13.5)	46 (25.6)	39 (21.8)		17.8 (17.6)	18.9 (18.4)	21.2 (20.4)	
African	15 (7.8)	8 (4.4)	12 (6.7)		6.6 (6.5)	7.0 (6.9)	7.0 (6.7)	
Unknown/other	23 (12.0)	28 (15.6)	27 (15.1)		14.7 (14.4)	15.0 (14.6)	16.6 (16.0)	
BMI (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	28.95 (6.37)	28.85 (6.02)	29.25 (6.08)	0.043	29.18 (6.54)	29.35 (6.06)	29.11 (6.31)	0.025
CKD EPI (ml/min/m ²) mean (SD)	61.54 (40.50)	73.53 (39.79)	77.84 (43.87)	0.263	70.25 (40.70)	71.17 (40.48)	67.70 (34.65)	0.061
Respiratory diseases, n (%)	28 (14.6)	21 (11.7)	20 (11.2)	0.068	13.2 (12.9)	14.0 (13.6)	12.6 (12.1)	0.030
Established cardiovascular diseases, n (%)	20 (10.4)	17 (9.4)	22 (12.3)	0.061	12.2 (12.0)	11.2 (10.9)	11.3 (10.9)	0.032
Type 1 or 2 diabetes, <i>n</i> (%)	110 (57.3)	96 (53.3)	95 (53.1)	0.057	50.7 (49.7)	55.5 (50)	57.5 (55.3)	0.036
Hypertension, n (%)	108 (56.2)	82 (45.6)	90 (50.3)	0.143	50.7 (49.7)	51.5 (50)	54.5 (52.4)	0.032
Liver disease, n (%)	5 (2.6)	1 (0.6)	3 (1.7)	0.112	0.7 (0.7)	1.0 (1.0)	2.1 (2.0)	0.078
Mechanical ventilation, n (%)	144 (75.0)	117 (65.0)	90 (50.3)	0.350	70.5 (69.0)	68.5 (66.8)	71.9 (61.1)	0.036
ECMO, <i>n</i> (%)	28 (14.6)	26 (14.4)	10 (5.6)	0.201	11.0 (10.8)	9.6 (9.3)	9.9 (9.5)	0.034
WHO critical category, n (%)	145 (75.5)	110 (61.1)	88 (49.2)	0.374	64.8 (36.5)	67.7 (66.0)	67.4 (64.7)	0.032
D-dimer (µg /mL), mean (SD)	5.11 (10.37)	7.00 (14.62)	7.60 (12.74)	0.136	5.20 (11.30)	5.49 (10.60)	6.00 (8.44)	0.053
APACHE II score, mean (SD)	18.45 (8.42)	16.70 (8.46)	15.70 (8.56)	0.217	16.70 (8.48)	16.57 (8.64)	16.95 (8.99)	0.029
ACEI or ARB, n (%)	33 (17.2)	22 (12.2)	33 (18.4)	0.115	17.3 (17.0)	16.1 (15.7)	18.0 (17.3)	0.029
Aspirin, n (%)	52 (27.1)	46 (25.6)	52 (29.1)	0.052	28.7 (28.1)	28.4 (27.6)	29.7 (28.6)	0.013
Favipiravir, n (%)	20 (10.4)	28 (15.6)	31 (17.3)	0.134	14.3 (14.1)	12.8 (12.4)	15.4 (14.8)	0.046
Remdesivir, n (%)	3 (1.6)	7 (3.9)	1 (0.6)	0.156	1.5 (1.5)	0.8 (0.8)	1.0 (1.0)	0.044
Steroid, <i>n</i> (%)	164 (85.4)	170 (94.4)	176 (98.3)	0.333	97.3 (95.4)	100.5 (97.9)	101.1 (79.2)	0.084
Azithromycin, favipiravir and tocilizumab, n (%)	2 (1.0)	5 (2.8)	9 (5.0)	0.159	2.0 (2.0)	1.6 (1.6)	2.0 (1.9)	0.021

10.3389/fcvm.2022.978420

Alrashed et al.

BMI, body mass index. Scr, serum creatinine. CKD-EPI, Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration. Established cardiovascular disease was defined as a documented history of stable angina, unstable angina, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), coronary artery bypass graft surgery, or myocardial infarction (MI). Heart failure and cerebrovascular disease included transient ischemic attack (TIA) or stroke. Respiratory disease: asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). VTE, venous thromboembolism. ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; ARB, angiotensin receptor blockers; WBC, White blood cells; Hgb, Hemoglobin; Pao₂, partial pressure of oxygen; FiO2, fraction of inspired oxygen; ALT, Alanine transaminase; ALP, Alkaline phosphatase; CRP, c-reactive protein; IQR, Interquartile range; SMD: Standardized mean difference. Percentages were rounded.

Prior Weight matching, missing data were imputed using Multivariate Imputation by Chained Equations (MICE) equations that included Nelson-Aalen estimator.



and the development of VTE (12, 13, 65–67). However, the generalizability of these results is subject to certain limitations. First, those studies were limited by a small sample size, lack of serial D-dimer monitoring, absence of laboratory methodology details for the D-dimer assay, and lack of validation. Also, in one study, continuous D-dimer data was empirically categorized (levels of $\leq 0.5 \ \mu g/ml$, $>0.5 \ to \leq 1 \ \mu g/ml$, and $>1 \ \mu g/ml$) instead of using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis to determine the optimal cutoff predictive value of D-dimer for poor prognosis and mortality (67). Second,

the D-dimer assay test is limited by low specificity and high rate of false-positive results in a variety of non-thrombotic conditions, such as inflammation, infection, sepsis, female gender, black race, increased aging, active malignancy, sickle cell disease, lupus, chronic liver disease, trauma or surgical status (68). Third, compared to the current and previous pandemic and epidemic viruses, we noticed that D-dimer levels were elevated in both severely infected COVID-19 and SARS-CoV-1 patients, at 59.6 and 45%, respectively (69, 70). Thus, using D-dimer levels as a marker to inform anticoagulant

Outcome, n (%)	Standard	Intermediate	HR	High	HR (95%CI)†	
	(n = 192)	(n = 180)	(95%CI)†	(n = 179)		
(A) Unadjusted outcomes						
Composite endpoint	38 (19.8)	45 (25.0)	1.46 (0.94–2.26)	43 (24.0)	1.31(0.85-2.04)	
Pulmonary embolism	25 (13.0)	28 (15.6)	1.37 (0.79–2.35)	30 (16.8)	1.42 (0.83-2.43)	
Deep venous thrombosis	13 (6.8)	5 (2.8)	0.49 (0.17-1.40)	5 (2.8)	0.40 (0.14-1.15)	
Stroke	0 (0.0)	5 (2.8)	0.91(0.30-2.77)	4 (2.2)	0.92 (0.30-2.78)	
Myocardial infarction	3 (1.6)	7 (3.9)	2.87 (0.74-11.15)	9 (5.0)	3.63 (0.98-13.47)	
Systemic arterial embolism	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-	1 (0.6)	-	
Hospital death	112 (58.3)	93 (51.7)	1.18 (0.85-1.66)	104 (58.1)		
Bleeding						
Minor	10 (5.2)	22 (12.2)	2.66 (1.26-5.64)	31 (17.3)	3.73 (1.82-7.63)	
Major	6 (3.1)	6 (3.3)	0.23 (0.41-3.93)	18 (10.1)	3.81 (1.51-9.65)	
Outcome, n (%)	Standard	Intermediate	HR	High	HR (95%CI)†	
	(n = 102)	(n = 103)	(95%CI)†	(n = 104)		
(B) Matching weights procedu	re					
Composite endpoint	22 (21.6)	26 (25.2)	1.4 (0.88–2.33)	30 (28.8)	1.3 (0.83-2.20)	
Pulmonary embolism	13 (12.7)	16 (15.3)	1.3 (0.71-2.46)	22 (21.2)	1.7 (0.90-3.02)	
Deep venous thrombosis	8 (7.8)	3 (2.9)	0.4 (0.12-1.29)	3 (2.9)	0.3 (0.10-1.12)	
Stroke	0 (0.0)	3 (2.9)	1.2 (0.33-4.05)	3 (2.9)	0.8 (0.23-2.98)	
Myocardial infarction	2 (2.0)	5 (4.9)	3.2 (0.68-0.53)	5 (4.8)	2.8 (0.61-12.59)	
Systemic arterial embolism	0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	-	1.0 (1.0)	-	
Hospital death	52 (51.0)	55 (53.4)	1.2 (0.88–1.72)	64 (61.1)	1.3 (0.92–1.74)	
Bleeding						
Minor	5 (4.9)	13 (12.6)	2.9 (1.26-6.80)	18 (17.3)	3.9 (1.73-8.76)	
Major	5 (4.9)	3 (2.9)	0.8 (0.23-2.74)	9 (8.6)	2.1 (0.79-5.80)	

TABLE 3 Clinical outcomes results.

Occurrence of any composite endpoint defined as symptomatic acute pulmonary embolism (PE), deep-vein thrombosis, ischemic stroke or myocardial infraction. Follow up day is to the first event occurred.

[†] All comparisons were against standard as reference.

^aOdds ratios were estimated.

Bleeding score according to International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis bleeding scale.

HR, Hazard ratio; CI, Confidence intervals.

dosing regimens in ICU patients may be inadequate for clinical decision-making.

The definition of prophylactic anticoagulation intensity played a vital role in determining the extent to which study results would be affected (71). Notably, dosing regimens of anticoagulant varied widely across different studies, where it was defined according to local site protocols or trial protocol (28, 33). The therapeutic dose in the large REMAP-CAP/ACTIV-4a/ATTACC multiplatform trial was defined as to meet the target for aPTT of 1.5 to 2.5 times the upper limit of normal (for unfractionated heparin) or therapeutic anti-Xa levels (for enoxaparin). (32). The study concluded that therapeutic dose was associated with significantly lower rates of VTE and higher rates of major and minor bleeding (32). However, these results were inconsistent with what we found. Considering that thrombotic events were not regularly screened during hospital stay in our institutions, but rather, were prompted by the treating physician upon suspicion. This would underestimate the rate of thrombotic events in our cohort. However, given local protocolbased practice, this would be in line with current COVID-19 treatment guidelines panel recommendations (71).

In addition, we noted in our study significant variations in heparin and enoxaparin proportions between groups. Comparing how each anticoagulant type might affect the magnitude of clinical outcomes was beyond the scope of this study. Additionally, practical constraints might prevent designing different study groups with various anticoagulant dosing regimens and types. Obviously, a still open question is whether the anticoagulant type will affect the efficacy and safety outcomes.



Manv studies compare just two different thromboprophylaxis regimens. Our study shares many features with others, but the combination used is unique. First, it represents a comprehensive examination of the most frequent three different thromboprophylaxis dosing regimens used in ICU admitted COVID-19 patients. Being familiar with the same efficacy of three prophylactic-dose regimes empowers clinicians to make decisions and recommend a standard dose of thromboprophylaxis in non-obese ICU COVID-19 patients. Second, this study was conducted at 4 centers (multicenter) in two Saudi Arabian cities. Third, in our analysis, we considered all possible covariates that may influence the thrombotic events and mortality findings for ICU patients when developing the Cox regression prediction model. Fourth, this study offers

valuable insight into high-risk patients, such as those with elevated D-dimer levels, with patients receiving standard, intermediate, and high-dose thromboprophylaxis, having mean D-dimer baselines of 5.65, 6.44, and $7.54 \,\mu$ g/ml, respectively.

The American Society of Hematology guidelines and Saudi Critical Care Society practice guidelines suggest using the standard prophylactic dose for adults with critical COVID-19 who had no clinical suspicion of VTE (72, 73). However, our findings may counter the uncertainty about using standard prophylactic dose in patients with high suspicion of VTE, namely those with D-dimer level >1.5 μ g/ml (in >60% of our cohort). More research using randomized controlled trials is needed to investigate the efficacy and safety of three different anticoagulation regimens in critically ill COVID-19 patients with D-dimer levels $> 1.5 \ \mu g/ml$.

The present study was subject to a several potential weaknesses. First, it was an observational cohort study, which could have included unmeasured confounding factors that could not be accounted for without a randomized study design. Second, despite many of our patients having D-dimer levels above $1.5 \,\mu$ g/ml, around 30-35% of each group had D-dimer levels $<1.5 \,\mu$ g/ml, which gives further caution on the generalizability of these findings in this populations of patients. Lastly, missing data could bias our estimates, despite using the powerful statistical tool MICE.

Conclusion

This current study shows that standard, intermediate, high anticoagulation dose targets for thromboprophylaxis of critically ill COVID-19 patients have a comparable composite of thrombotic events and mortality. An escalated dose of thromboprophylaxis (intermediate and high dose) could increase the rate of minor bleeding but not major bleeding when compared to the standard dose. Thus, these data recommend the standard-dose as preferred regimen.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The study approval was granted by the Institutional Review Boards at KFMC and PMAH (IRB: 20-666), KSMC (IRB: H1RI-16-Nov20-01), and Almoosa Hospital (IRB: ARC-20-12-4). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

References

Author contributions

Conceptualization was done by AAlr, YM, and AAlam. Statistics, methodology, software, and interpretation of the results were done by AAlam and AAlr. Study supervision was done by PC. Consultation on statistics was provided by PC and IA. The first draft of the paper was done and the abstract was drafted by AAlr. All authors contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Research Center at King Fahd Medical City, Riyadh, for their valuable technical support provided for the manuscript. This publication was supported by the Deanship of Scientific Research at Prince Sattam Bin Abdulaziz University.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.978420/full#supplementary-material

^{1.} Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H, et al. Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:565–74. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30251-8

^{2.} Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China (2019). *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:727–733. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017

^{3.} Gupta A, Madhavan MV, Sehgal K, Nair N, Mahajan S, Sehrawat TS, et al. Extrapulmonary manifestations of COVID-19. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1017–32. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0968-3

^{4.} Wichmann D, Sperhake JP, Lütgehetmann M, Steurer S, Edler C, Heinemann A, et al. Autopsy findings and venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19: a prospective cohort study. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:268–277. doi: 10.7326/L20-1206

5. Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, Leonard-Lorant I, Ohana M, Delabranche X, et al. High risk of thrombosis in patients with severe SARS-CoVour-2 infection: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* 46, 1089–98. (2020). doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06062-x

6. Llitjos JF, Leclerc M, Chochois C, Monsallier JM, Ramakers M, Auvray M, et al. High incidence of venous thromboembolic events in anticoagulated severe COVID-19 patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1743–6. doi: 10.1111/jth.14869

7. Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, Van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers DAMPJ, Kant KM, et al. Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:145–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013

8. Middeldorp S, Coppens M, van Haaps TF, Foppen M, Vlaar AP, Müller MC, et al. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1995–2002. doi: 10.20944/preprints202004.0345.v1

9. Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, Van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers DAMPJ, Kant KM, et al. Confirmation of the high cumulative incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19: an updated analysis. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:148–50. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.041

10. Mansory EM, Srigunapalan S, Lazo-Langner Venous A. thromboembolism in hospitalized critical and noncritical COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *TH Open.* (2021) 5:e286–94. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1730967

11. Zhang R, Ni L, Di X, Wang X, Ma B, Niu S, et al. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of venous thromboembolic events in novel coronavirus disease-2019 patients. *J Vasc Surgery Venous Lymphat Disord.* (2021) 9:289. doi: 10.1016/j.jvsv.2020.11.023

12. Cui S, Chen S, Li X, Liu S, Wang Prevalence F. of venous thromboembolism in patients with severe novel coronavirus pneumonia. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1421–1424. doi: 10.1111/jth.14830

13. Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Abnormal Z. coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:844–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.14768

14. Liao SC, Shao SC, Chen YT, Chen YC, Hung M-J. Incidence and mortality of pulmonary embolism in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:1–5. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03175-z

15. Spyropoulos AC, Levy JH, Ageno W, Connors JM, Hunt BJ, Iba T, et al. Subcommittee on perioperative, critical care thrombosis, haemostasis of the scientific, standardization committee of the international society on thrombosis and haemostasis. Scientific and standardization committee communication: clinical guidance on the diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1859–65. doi: 10.1111/jth.14929

16. Marietta M, Ageno W, Artoni A, Candia E, Gresele P, Marchetti M, et al. COVID-19 and haemostasis: a position paper from Italian Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (SISET). *Blood Transfus.* (2020) 18:167. doi: 10.2450/2020.0083-20

17. Poissy J, Goutay J, Caplan M, Parmentier E, Duburcq T, Lassalle F, et al. Pulmonary embolism in COVID-19 patients: awareness of an increased prevalence. *Circulation.* (2020) 142:184–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.047430

18. Cattaneo M, Bertinato EM, Birocchi S, Brizio C, Malavolta D, Manzoni M, et al. Pulmonary embolism or pulmonary thrombosis in COVID-19? Is the recommendation to use high-dose heparin for thromborphylaxis justified? *Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 120:1230–2. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1712097

19. Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis MLC, Lely AT, van Navis GJ, van Goor H, et al. Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. *J Pathol Soc Gt Britain Ireland*. (2004) 203:631–7. doi: 10.1002/path.1570

20. Jackson SP, Darbousset R, Schoenwaelder Thromboinflammation SM. challenges of therapeutically targeting coagulation and other host defense mechanisms. *Blood.* (2019) 133:906–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-11-882993

21. Subramaniam S, Jurk K, Hobohm L, Jäckel S, Saffarzadeh M, Schwierczek K, et al. Distinct contributions of complement factors to platelet activation and fibrin formation in venous thrombus development. *Blood.* (2017) 129:2291–302. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-11-749879

22. Cook D, Attia J, Weaver B, McDonald E, Meade M, Crowther Venous M, et al. thromboembolic disease: an observational study in medical-surgical intensive care unit patients. *J Crit Care*. (2000) 15:127–32. doi: 10.1053/jcrc.2000. 19224

23. Minet C, Lugosi M, Savoye PY, Menez C, Ruckly S, Bonadona A, et al. Pulmonary embolism in mechanically ventilated patients requiring computed tomography: prevalence, risk factors, and outcome. *Crit Care Med.* (2012) 40:3202–8. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e318265e461

24. Geerts WH, Bergqvist D, Pineo GF, Heit JA, Samama CM, Lassen MR, et al. Prevention of venous thromboembolism: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest.* (2008) 133:381S-453S. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-0656

25. Cook D, Crowther M, Meade M, Rabbat C, Griffith L, Schiff D, et al. Deep venous thrombosis in medical-surgical critically ill patients: prevalence, incidence, and risk factors. *Crit Care Med.* (2005) 33:1565-71. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000171207.95319.B2

26. Yao Y, Cao J, Wang Q, Shi Q, Liu K, Luo Z, et al. D-dimer as a biomarker for disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients: a case control study. *J Intensive Care*. (2020) 8:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s40560-020-00466-z

27. Zermatten MG, Pantet O, Gomez F, Schneider A, Méan M, Mazzolai L, et al. Utility of D-dimers and intermediate-dose prophylaxis for venous thromboembolism in critically ill patients with COVID-19. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 196:222-6. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.08.027

28. Parisi R, Costanzo S, Di Castelnuovo A, De Gaetano G, Donati MB, Iacoviello L. Different anticoagulant regimens, mortality, and bleeding in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and an updated meta-analysis. In Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis. (2021). doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1726034

29. Bikdeli B, Talasaz AH, Rashidi F, Bakhshandeh H, Rafiee F, Rezaeifar P, et al. Intermediate-dose versus standard-dose prophylactic anticoagulation in patients with COVID-19 admitted to the intensive care unit: 90-day results from the inspiration randomized trial. *Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 122:131-41. doi: 10.1055/a-1485-2372

30. Lopes RD, Furtado RH, Macedo AVS, Bronhara B, Damiani LP, Barbosa LM, et al. Therapeutic versus prophylactic anticoagulation for patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 and elevated D-dimer concentration (ACTION): an open-label, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:2253–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01203-4

31. Perepu US, Chambers I, Wahab A, Ten Eyck P, Wu C, Dayal S, et al. Standard prophylactic versus intermediate dose enoxaparin in adults with severe COVID-19: a multi-center, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Open-Label Randomised Control Trial*. (2021) 19:2225–34. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3840099

32. REMAP-CAP ACTIV-4a and A. Investigators the rapeutic anticoagulation with heparin in critically ill patients with COVID-19. N Engl J Med. (2022) 385:777–89. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2103417

33. Ortega-Paz L, Galli M, Capodanno D, Franchi F, Rollini F, Bikdeli B, et al. Safety and efficacy of different prophylactic anticoagulation dosing regimens in critically and non-critically ill patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur Hear J Cardiovasc Pharmacother*. (2021) 197:65–68. doi: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvab070

34. Lynn L, Reyes JA, Hawkins K, Panda A, Linville L, Aldhahri W, et al. The effect of anticoagulation on clinical outcomes in novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia in a US cohort. *Thromb Res.* (2021) 197:65–8. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.10.031

35. Ayerbe L, Risco C, Ayis S. The association between treatment with heparin and survival in patients with Covid-19. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2020) 50:298–301. doi: 10.1007/s11239-020-02162-z

36. Bolzetta F, Maselli M, Formilan M, Busonera F, Albanese P, Chiaromanni F, et al. Prophylactic or therapeutic doses of heparins for COVID-19 infection? A retrospective study. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* (2021) 33:213-7. doi: 10.1007/s40520-020-01750-6

37. Martinelli I, Ciavarella A, Abbattista M, Aliberti S, De Zan V, Folli C, et al. Increasing dosages of low-molecular-weight heparin in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. *Intern Emerg Med.* (2021) 16:1223–9. doi: 10.1007/s11739-020-02585-9

38. Liu X, Zhang X, Xiao Y, Gao T, Wang G, Wang Z, et al. Heparininduced thrombocytopenia is associated with a high risk of mortality in critical COVID-19 patients receiving heparin-involved treatment. *MedRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.04.23.20076851

39. Tremblay D, Van Gerwen M, Alsen M, Thibaud S, Kessler A, Venugopal S, et al. Impact of anticoagulation prior to COVID-19 infection: a propensity scorematched cohort study. *Blood.* (2020) 136:144–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006941

40. Nadkarni GN, Lala A, Bagiella E, Chang HL, Moreno PR, Pujadas E, et al. Anticoagulation, bleeding, mortality, and pathology in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2020) 76:1815–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020. 08.041

41. Von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2007) 85:867–72. doi: 10.2471/BLT.07.045120

42. Matt V, Matthew H. The retrospective chart review: important methodological considerations. *J Educ Eval Health Prof.* (2013) 10:12. doi: 10.3352/jeehp.2013.10.12

43. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)-a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform.* (2009) 42:377–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010

44. WHO. Clinical Management of Severe Acute Respiratory Infection When Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Infection is Suspected: Interim Guidance. (2020). Geneva: WHO. p. 21.

45. Elbadawi A, Elgendy IY, Sahai A, Bhandari R, McCarthy M, Gomes M, et al. Incidence and outcomes of thrombotic events in symptomatic patients with COVID-19. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2021) 41:545–7. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315304

46. Roffi M, Patrono C, Collet JP, Mueller C, Valgimigli M, Andreotti F, et al. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation. *Kardiol Pol (Polish Hear J)*. (2015) 73:1207–94. doi: 10.5603/KP.2015.0243

47. Schulman S, Kearon C, Subcommittee on Control of Anticoagulation of the Scientific and Standardization Committee of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2005) 3:692–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01204.x

48. Van Buuren S, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K. Mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. J Stat Softw. (2011) 45:1-67. doi: 10.18637/jss.v045.i03

49. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. *BMJ*. (2009) 338:b2393. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2393

50. Yoshida K, Hernández-Díaz S, Solomon DH, Jackson JW, Gagne JJ, Glynn RJ, et al. Matching weights to simultaneously compare three treatment groups: comparison to three-way matching. *Epidemiology.* (2017) 28:387. doi: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000627

51. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria (2013).

52. Therneau TM, Grambsch PM. The cox model. In *Modeling Survival Data: Extending the Cox Model.* Berlin: Springer (2000), 39–77. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-3294-8_3

53. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Berlin: Springer (2016). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4

54. Pishgar F, Greifer N, Leyrat CSE. MatchThem: Matching and Weighting Multiply Imputed Datasets. R package version 09, 3. (2020).

55. Greifer N. *Cobalt: Covariate Balance Tables and Plots.* R package cobalt version 4, 3.1 (2021). Available online at: https://ngreifer.github.io/cobalt/ (accessed March 23, 2022).

56. Yoshida K. Tableone: Create 'Table 1' to Describe Baseline Characteristics with or Without Propensity Score Weights. Version 0, 13.0 (2021). Available online at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/tableone/index.html (accessed March 23, 2022).

57. Lemos AC, do Espírito Santo DA, Salvetti MC, Gilio RN, Agra LB, Pazin-Filho A, Miranda CH. Therapeutic versus prophylactic anticoagulation for severe COVID-19: A randomized phase II clinical trial (HESACOVID). *Thromb Res.* 196:359–66. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.09.026

58. Ferguson J, Volk S, Vondracek T, Flanigan J, Chernaik Empiric A. therapeutic anticoagulation and mortality in critically ill patients with respiratory failure from SARS-CoV-2: a retrospective cohort study. *J Clin Pharmacol.* (2020) 60:1411–5. doi: 10.1002/jcph.1749

59. Trinh MA, Chang DR, Govindarajulu US, Kane E, Fuster V, Kohli-Seth R, et al. Therapeutic anticoagulation is associated with decreased mortality in mechanically ventilated COVID-19 patients. *medRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.05.30.20117929

60. Jonmarker S, Hollenberg J, Dahlberg M, Stackelberg O, Litorell J, Everhov AH, et al. Dosing of thromboprophylaxis and mortality in critically ill COVID-19 patients. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03375-7

61. Dörffler-Melly J, de Jonge E, de Pont AC, Meijers J, Vroom MB, Büller HR, et al. Bioavailability of subcutaneous low-molecular-weight heparin to patients on vasopressors. *Lancet.* (2002) 359:849–50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07920-5

62. Robinson S, Zincuk A, Strøm T, Larsen TB, Rasmussen B, Toft Enoxaparin P, et al. effective dosage for intensive care patients: double-blinded, randomised clinical trial. *Crit Care.* (2010) 14:1–7. doi: 10.1186/cc8924

63. Giannis D, Ziogas IA, Gianni Coagulation P. disorders in coronavirus infected patients: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-1, MERS-CoV and lessons from the past. *J Clin Virol.* (2020) 127:104362. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104362

64. Obi AT, Tignanelli CJ, Jacobs BN, Arya S, Park PK, Wakefield TW, et al. Empirical systemic anticoagulation is associated with decreased venous thromboembolism in critically ill influenza A H1N1 acute respiratory distress syndrome patients. *J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord*. (2019) 7:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jvsv.2018.08.010

65. Miesbach W, Makris M. COVID-19: coagulopathy, risk of thrombosis, and the rationale for anticoagulation. *Clin Appl Thromb.* (2020) 26:1076029620938149. doi: 10.1177/1076029620938149

66. Jiménez D, García-Sanchez A, Rali P, Muriel A, Bikdeli B, Ruiz-Artacho P, et al. Incidence of VTE and bleeding among hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Chest.* (2021) 159:1182–96. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.11.005

67. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

68. Kabrhel C, Mark Courtney D, Camargo Jr CA, Plewa MC, Nordenholz KE, Moore CL, et al. Factors associated with positive D-dimer results in patients evaluated for pulmonary embolism. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2010) 17:589–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00765.x

69. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. China medical treatment expert group for Covid-19. *Clin Charact Coronavirus Dis.* (2019) 382:1708–20.

70. Lee N, Hui D, Wu A, Chan P, Cameron P, Joynt GM, et al. A major outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Hong Kong. *N Engl J Med.* (2003) 348:1986–94. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa030685

71. COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel. *Coronavirus Disease 2019* (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines. National Institutes of Health (2022). Available online at: https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/therapies/antithrombotic-therapy/ (accessed July 12, 2022).

72. Cuker EK, Tseng R, Nieuwlaat P, Angchaisuksiri C, Blair K, Dane K, et al. American Society of Hematology 2021 guidelines on the use of anticoagulation for thromboprophylaxis in patients with COVID-19. *Blood Adv.* (2021) 5:872–88. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003763

73. Alhazzani W, Alshahrani M, Alshamsi F, Aljuhani O, Eljaaly K, Hashim S, et al. The Saudi Critical Care Society practice guidelines on the management of COVID-19 in the ICU: therapy section. *J Infect Public Health.* (2022) 15:142–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2021.10.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Hugo Ten Cate, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

REVIEWED BY Gayathri Viswanathan, Duke University, United States Hendrik Stragier, East Limburg Hospital, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Giuseppe Nocentini giuseppe.nocentini@unipg.it

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 13 June 2022 ACCEPTED 06 September 2022 PUBLISHED 29 September 2022

CITATION

Cari L, Naghavi Alhosseini M, Bergamo A, Pacor S, Pierno S, Sava G and Nocentini G (2022) Thrombotic events with or without thrombocytopenia in recipients of adenovirus-based COVID-19 vaccines. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:967926. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.967926

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Cari, Naghavi Alhosseini, Bergamo, Pacor, Pierno, Sava and Nocentini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Thrombotic events with or without thrombocytopenia in recipients of adenovirus-based COVID-19 vaccines

Luigi Cari¹, Mahdieh Naghavi Alhosseini¹, Alberta Bergamo², Sabrina Pacor², Sabata Pierno³, Gianni Sava² and Giuseppe Nocentini¹*

¹Section of Pharmacology, Department of Medicine and Surgery, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy, ²Department of Life Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy, ³Section of Pharmacology, Department of Pharmacy-Drug Sciences, University of Bari, Bari, Italy

COVID-19, the severe acute respiratory syndrome, is one of the major emergencies that have affected health care systems. Drugs and oxygen are only partially effective in saving lives in patients with severe COVID-19, and the most important protection from death is vaccination. The widespread use of COVID-19 adenovirus-based vaccines has provided evidence for the occurrence of rare venous thrombotic events including cerebral venous thrombosis and splanchnic venous thrombosis in recipients of Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccines and the review focus on them. One year ago, thromboses in Vaxzevria recipients have been associated with thrombocytopenia in the presence of antibodies to platelet factor 4 and have been called vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). The incidence of VITT is equal to 9-31 events per one million doses of vaccines as evaluated by health agencies worldwide and is higher in female and young vaccine recipients. More recently, by using the European EudraVigilance database, it has been demonstrated that the incidence of thrombosis in recipients of adenovirus-based vaccines is 5-10 fold higher than that of VITT and 7-12 fold higher than observed in the recipients of Comirnaty, an mRNAbased vaccine, suggesting that adenovirus-based vaccines cause not only VITT but also thrombosis without thrombocytopenia (non-VITT thrombosis). The incidence of the vaccine-dependent non-VITT thrombosis is different in the adenovirus-based vaccines and the VITT/non-VITT incidence ratio depends on the severity of thrombosis and is inversely related to the age of the recipients. The possible causes and clinical implications of non-VITT thrombosis in vaccine recipients are discussed.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 vaccines, adenovirus-based vaccines, VITT, thrombosis, thrombocytopenia, inflammatory response

Efficacy and adverse events of COVID-19 vaccines

COVID-19 vaccines protect against severe COVID-19

COVID-19, the severe acute respiratory syndrome caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, is one of the major emergencies that have affected health care systems and society in recent decades. The clinical signs of COVID-19 depend on the severity of the disease and can be classified as mild, severe, and critical (1). Severe COVID-19 is characterized by oxygen saturation <90% on room air, signs of pneumonia, and trouble breathing. Exacerbation of the disease is defined by hypoxemic respiratory failure, sepsis, septic shock, and impairment of multiple organs, particularly the lungs (pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome), heart (arrhythmias, chest pain), brain (dizziness, headache, impaired consciousness), kidneys, and liver. Many symptoms derive from the inflammatory response to the SARS-CoV-2 virus and the activation of coagulation. The Spike (S) protein may be implicated in the development of both phenomena (2-5).

In patients with a critical disease, drugs and life-sustaining treatments are only partially effective in saving lives (1, 6, 7), and the most important protection from death is represented by vaccination (8-14).

The mRNA-based vaccines Comirnaty (BNT162b2) and Spikevax (mRNA1273) and the adenovirus-based vaccines Vaxzevria (ChadOx1 nCoV-19) and Jcovden (AD26.COV2.S) were the first approved vaccines. Several studies have shown that these vaccines provide important protection against infection, severe COVID-19, and death (11-15). With the advent of omicron, protection against symptomatic disease is relatively poor, ranging from 20 to 80% after the primary vaccine series, but rapidly decreasing over time (0-30% of effectiveness 4-5 months after the last dose) (16-18). Despite the presence of major differences in efficacy following vaccination, as shown by several studies evaluating the same vaccine, it seems reasonable to conclude that protection is slightly lower after vaccination with adenovirus-based vaccines (18). On the contrary, the effectiveness of the vaccines against severe disease and hospitalization is high, ranging from 80 to 100% after the booster dose and remaining constant over time (18).

Adverse events of COVID-19 vaccines

The adverse events (AEs) observed following vaccination are largely mild or moderate in severity and include fever, chills, headache, flu-like symptoms, muscle pain, and lymphadenopathy (19–22). These events are observed soon after the injection, are not life-threatening and, except for extremely rare anaphylactic reactions, do not require additional treatments. On the other hand, severe AEs (SAEs), although rare, may occur even several days after vaccination and can be life-threatening.

Some SAEs were described for all vaccines, such as myocarditis and pericarditis; in a recently published study (23), the number of these events in young vaccinated males was 11.5, 11.7, and 15.4 events per million doses administered (OMD) of Comirnaty, Spikevax, and Vaxzevria, respectively. These events were reversible and no deaths were observed in under-40 vaccine recipients (23).

Some SAEs occur more frequently with only one/some vaccines, such as Bell's palsy, caused by Comirnaty and Spikevax (24), and Guillain-Barré syndrome, caused by Jcovden (25). Other SAEs associated with specific COVID-19 vaccines are the venous and arterial thromboses observed in recipients of adenovirus-based vaccines. Our review focuses on these SAEs and their association with thrombocytopenia.

Venous thrombosis in recipients of adenovirus-based vaccines

Vaxzevria causes vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia

The widespread use of COVID-19 vaccines has provided evidence for the occurrence of rare venous thrombotic events in recipients of the Vaxzevria vaccine (26). After two studies demonstrated that, in Vaxzevria recipients, venous thrombotic events [cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT), splanchnic venous thrombosis, and/or other thromboses] are observed in association with platelet aggregation, thrombocytopenia and antibodies to platelet factor 4 (PF4) (27, 28), such event was called vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). VITT is similar to heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) and is considered an adverse event caused by Vaxzevria (26). Vaccine-induced anti-PF4 antibodies are thought to be responsible for these thrombotic complications because anti-PF4 antibodies were rarely found in CVT patients in the past (i.e., before VITT) (29, 30).

The role of anti-PF4 antibodies in adenovirus-based vaccines was recently confirmed (31, 32). Baker et al. performed a computational simulation showing the electrostatic interaction of adenoviruses with PF4, which was experimentally confirmed by surface plasmon resonance. Greinacher et al. showed that vaccine components can form antigenic complexes with PF4 on platelet surfaces, which become targets of anti-PF4 antibodies in patients with VITT. In addition, they demonstrated that approximately 50% of the protein content of the Vaxzevria vaccine belongs to T-REx-293, the cells in which it is produced, and that EDTA, an excipient of the

Vaxzevria vaccine, causes local vascular leakage that favors the systemic dissemination of the vaccine components (32). Finally, a confirmation of the pathogenesis of VITT comes from a washed platelet aggregation-based assay (32).

Incidence of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia in Vaxzevria recipients

After the discovery that Vaxzevria causes VITT, the incidence of VITT was classified as very rare by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) (26) but with the accumulation of data, regulatory agencies stated that in Vaxzevria recipients, 1-3 SAEs per 100,000 vaccinations are VITT. In particular, EMA, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA, UK), Health Canada, and the Australian Technical Advisory Group on Immunisation (ATAGI) reported 9.3, 15.1, 21.9, and 27–31 VITT/OMD, respectively (33–36).

By evaluating SAEs from each patient report and considering only patients in whom both thrombosis and thrombocytopenia were reported, we showed that the VITT incidence in the European EudraVigilance database (EEd) was 19.4 SAEs/OMD in Vaxzevria recipients (37). The frequency of VITT reports is about 40 folds greater than that shown in Comirnaty recipients. Similar results were found in South Korea (38) even if the incidence of VITT in Vaxzevria recipients was lower than that observed in EEd.

Study findings and the variable incidence of VITT observed worldwide by regulatory agencies may be due to several factors, including genetics and co-morbidity of vaccinated populations, besides the fact that the sex and age of Vaxzevria recipients may also play a role. For example, we found that the incidence of CVT in Vaxzevria recipients was much higher in young people and women of childbearing age than in adult males and the elderly (39). In particular, a sixfold difference in CVT incidence was found between 18 and 24 years and 60–69 years Vaxzevria recipients (39). Thus, the difference in the incidence of VITT after the Vaxzevria vaccine in South Korea compared with Europe may be due, at least in part, to the age of vaccinee. In fact, in South Korea only 18.3% of the vaccinated people were under 50 years of age, whereas in Europe, these were 37.1% of the population (38, 39).

The incidence of thrombosis after Vaxzevria is much higher than that of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia

In Vaxzevria recipients, the incidence of thrombosis including CVTs, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboembolic diseases, and "other" venous thrombotic events (with or without thrombocytopenia) was about 5 fold more (110.6 SAEs/OMD) than the above-reported incidence of VITT (37). Moreover, in the same recipients, the incidence of thromboses and thrombosis-related deaths was much higher than that observed in Comirnaty recipients, used as a baseline reference (37). Two more studies demonstrated an increased risk of venous thrombosis in Vaxzevria than in Comirnaty and Spikevax recipients (40, 41).

Given clinicians' knowledge of VITT and the recommendation of regulatory authorities to check platelet count in the presence of thrombosis (42), underreporting of low platelet count is unlikely, and data suggest that most thromboses observed in Vaxzevria recipients, despite being caused by vaccination, occur without thrombocytopenia (non-VITT thrombosis). Non-VITT thrombosis following Vaxzevria vaccination has been reported by case studies and shows a persistently normal platelet count and can occur both in the presence and in the absence of anti-PF4 antibodies (43–46).

In Vaxzevria recipients, the VITT/non-VITT thrombosis incidence ratio is severity-dependent and inversely correlated with age

In Vaxzevria recipients, relevant differences in the association between thrombosis and thrombocytopenia are observed depending on the severity of thrombosis. Indeed, thrombocytopenia is associated with 18% of thrombotic SAEs and 48% of thrombosis-related deaths (37). Therefore, the non-VITT/VITT thrombosis incidence ratio is equal to 4.6 in thrombotic SAEs and 1.1 in thrombosis-related deaths. Moreover, thrombocytopenia is associated with 49% of CVT, one of the most severe thrombosis, and 77% of CVT-related deaths (37).

In addition, the incidence of the thrombocytopenia/CVT association is even higher in young-adults representing 83% of Vaxzevria recipients who died because of CVT (37) (Figure 1A). Data are consistent with the results published by Greinacher et al. that considered deadly Vaxzevria-dependent CVT to be almost always associated with thrombocytopenia (27). Therefore, thrombocytopenia is more frequent in life-threatening thromboses than in non-fatal ones and in young-adults than in the elderly.

Incidence of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia in Jcovden recipients

Cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT) has also been observed in Jcovden recipients (47, 48), making VITT one of the severe AEs of Jcovden (49). Notably, the incidence of VITT in



FIGURE 1

Percentage of thrombotic events associated or not with thrombocytopenia in Vaxzevria and Jcovden recipients. (A, left panel) All venous thrombotic events (cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboembolic diseases, and "other" venous thrombotic events) or only cerebral venous thromboses, reported as SAEs in the EudraVigilance database following the Vaxzevria vaccine are shown. The number of events/OMD (n) and the percentage of individual SAEs associated (light red) or not (light blue) with thrombocytopenia are reported [data from (37)]. (A, right panel) The deaths due to all venous thrombotic events (cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, splanchnic events) or cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboembolic diseases, and "other" venous thrombotic events) or cerebral venous thromboses in the EudraVigilance database following the Vaxzevria vaccine are shown. The number of events/OMD (n) and the percentage of deaths associated (dark red) or not (dark blue) with thrombocytopenia are reported [data from (37)]. (B, left panel) All venous thrombotic events (cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboembolic diseases, and "other" venous thrombotic events) or only cerebral venous thromboses, reported as SAEs in the EudraVigilance database following the Jcovden vaccine are shown. The number of events/OMD (n) and the percentage of individual SAEs associated (light red) or not (light blue) with thrombocytopenia are reported [data from (37)]. (B, right panel) The deaths due to all venous thromboses, splanchnic events (or events/OMD (n) and the percentage of individual SAEs associated (light red) or not (light blue) with thrombocytopenia are reported [data from (37)]. (B, right panel) The deaths due to all venous thromboses, splanchnic events (cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboembolic diseases, and "other" venous thromboses, splanchnic events (or only cerebral venous thromboses, splanchnic vein thromboses, thromboemb

Jcovden recipients is lower than that observed in Vaxzevria recipients (37). The lower incidence of VITT in Jcovden as compared to Vaxzevria recipients is observed both in young-adults (12.9 vs. 24.1 SAEs/OMD) and in the elderly (6.5 vs. 12.7 SAEs/OMD) (37). Even VITT-related deaths are less frequent in Jcovden as compared to Vaxzevria recipients (37).

The incidence of thrombosis after Jcovden is much higher than that of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia

As in the case of Vaxzevria, the incidence of Jcovdendependent thrombosis is much higher (131 SAEs/OMD) than the incidence of VITT (11.2 SAEs/OMD) (37), suggesting that most vaccine-dependent thromboses are unrelated to thrombocytopenia. The incidence of VITT decreases with the age of the vaccinee (37). Indeed, thrombocytopenia is associated with 11% and 4% of thrombotic SAEs in young-adults and elderly, respectively (Figure 1B) (39) and, in those who die, thrombocytopenia is associated with about 41 and 26% of the thrombotic SAEs in young-adults and elderly, respectively (Figure 1B) (39). Moreover, the incidence of VITT increases with the severity of SAEs (Figure 1B) (37). An exception to the trend of VITT incidence is the virtual absence of VITT in the elderly with CVT or dying of CVT (Figure 1B) (37). One case report described the occurrence of non-VITT thrombosis in Jcovden recipients (50).

Differences between Vaxzevria- and Jcovden-dependent thrombosis

The VITT/non-VITT incidence ratio in Vaxzevria and Jcovden recipients is different, although both are adenovirusbased vaccines. While Vaxzevria recipients show a twice higher incidence of VITT than Jcovden recipients, the incidence of non-VITT thrombosis is higher in Jcovden recipients than in Vaxzevria recipients (120 and 91 SAEs/OMD, respectively) (37). In addition, the incidence of thrombosis and thromboembolic diseases is similar in Vaxzevria and Jcovden young-adult recipients and is higher in Jcovden than Vaxzevria elderly recipients (37).

Arterial thrombosis in recipients of adenovirus-based vaccines

The incidence of arterial thrombotic events [myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, and non-cardiac, non-cerebral

arterial thrombotic events (37)] in Vaxzevria and Jcovden recipients has been compared with that in Comirnaty, used as baseline control (37). The incidence of myocardial infarction reported in EEd in young-adult recipients of adenovirus-based vaccines is about sixfold higher, compared with Comirnaty, and an even higher incidence was observed in other arterial SAEs (Figure 2A), suggesting that Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccines not only cause venous thrombosis events but also cause arterial thrombosis. Specifically, in Jcovden elderly recipients, the excess of ischemic stroke over Comirnaty is 106 SAEs/OMD, causing an excess of 10.5 deaths/OMD (37). A recent study, confirms that Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccines are associated with myocardial infarction (relative incidence, 1.29 and 1.75, respectively), even if significance concerning the SAE due to Jcovden was not reached, probably due to the low number of vaccinations with Jcovden (50).

Regarding arterial SAEs, Jcovden causes more SAEs and SAE-dependent deaths than Vaxzevria (Figure 2B).

Discussion

Are VITT and non-VITT thromboses caused by different mechanisms?

It can be hypothesized that non-VITT thrombosis can occur in two ways. First, thrombosis is caused by anti-PF4 antibodies that activate platelets only at specific sites and do not cause thrombocytopenia [thrombosis with anti-PF4 antibodies without thrombocytopenia syndrome (T4-noTS)]. T4-noTS would mean that platelets, activated by low concentrations of anti-PF4 antibodies, aggregate mainly at sites where predisposing factors (e.g., proinflammatory environment, blood stasis) are present without causing massive consumption of platelets and thrombocytopenia. According to this hypothesis, T4noTS would be caused by the same mechanisms leading to VITT. The hypothesis seems to be confirmed by the higher incidence of thrombocytopenia in vaccine recipients who die due to thrombosis as compared to those who survive.

The second way to envision non-VITT thrombosis is to hypothesize that anti-PF4 antibodies are not involved when thrombosis is not associated with thrombocytopenia [thrombosis without anti-PF4 antibodies without thrombocytopenia syndrome (T-no4TS)]. T-no4TS could be caused by factors promoting platelet aggregation, such as an inflammatory response favored by adenovirus-based vaccines and local predisposing factors. The hypothesis seems to be confirmed by the higher incidence of arterial thrombotic events in adenovirus-based vaccine recipients, the different incidence of thrombosis and VITT between Vaxzevria and Jcovden



recipients, and the different ages at which VITT and non-VITT thrombosis are observed.

How can vaccines cause pro-thrombotic effects independent of anti-PF4 antibodies?

Azzarone et al. hypothesized that in vaccine recipients suffering from local inflammatory reaction, an early event is represented by the production of interleukin 6 (IL-6) (3) which favors endothelial cells reactivity and induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (51, 52), the main physiological inhibitor of the plasminogen activators in the bloodstream (53). A confirmation of the hypothesis came from an observational study demonstrating that 24-48h following Vaxzevria vaccination, the IL-6 levels were almost doubled (54).

Interestingly, another observational study demonstrated that in healthy young-adults vaccinated with Vaxzevria, hemostatic changes were still present after about one month from vaccination (55). In particular, the levels of Von Willebrand Factor (VWF) and active VWF, indicating endothelial activation, were increased 39% 24%, and respectively. Moreover, faster thrombin generation (i.e., more active coagulation system) and lower coagulations levels (use of coagulation factors) were observed, suggesting that the hemostatic system of vaccinee is shifted to a more procoagulant state compared to unvaccinated controls. Therefore, non-VITT thromboembolic events may be the clinical expression of procoagulant coagulation profile, consequent to a pro-inflammatory trigger, represented by vaccination with adenovirus-based vaccines.

How do vaccine components determine pro-inflammatory/pro-thrombotic events?

In search of potential pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic triggering factors present in virus-based vaccines, we found three factors: the S protein (2, 4, 56, 57), the adenovirus particles (3, 31), and the cellular debris present in vaccine preparation (32).

The presence of S protein in blood vessels and tissues other than the muscle into which the vaccine is injected can be hypothesized. The S protein may induce proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in macrophages (56, 57) and T cells (58), directly damage endothelium (4), activate platelets (5), and autoimmune response, the latter triggered by antigenic epitopes of S protein shared with molecular chaperones (59). However, given the lower incidence of thrombosis and arterial SAEs in Comirnaty recipients, S protein appears to be not sufficient to cause such events, at least at the concentration determined by the Comirnaty vaccine.

Viral blood dissemination was detected either in patients treated with infusions of adenoviral vectors in the tumor or the right hepatic artery (51, 60). Indeed, after the injection of Vaxzevria into mice, sporadic small amounts of the virus were found in other tissues (61). Adenoviral particles seem to not promote platelet aggregation (3), but the receptors mediating the binding of adenoviral particles to cells are expressed by human endothelial cells, platelets, and erythrocytes (3, 31).

Finally, it should also be considered that the Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccines contain residual cellular proteins from the cell lines by which adenoviruses are produced likely causing platelet activation (32).

If the reasons why adenovirus-based vaccines cause non-VITT thrombosis and arterial events might be those mentioned above, it is currently impossible to say which is the main culprit. Their synergism is likely crucial.

Why is the incidence of severe adverse events different in recipients of Vaxzevria and Jcovden?

The different incidences of VITT, non-VITT thromboses, and arterial events in recipients of Vaxzevria and Jcovden may be explained by the differences between the two vaccines, which can be summarized as follows. First, the type of adenovirus is different and it has been demonstrated that chimpanzee adenovirus (Vaxzevria) has a stronger negative charge than the human Ad26 virus (Jcovden) (62). Moreover, molecular simulations suggest that the Vaxzevria's adenovirus charge and shape could allow it to bind to the positively charged PF4 protein (31). Second, the amount of infectious units in the Jcovden vaccine is 3.3-fold higher than that in the Vaxzevria vaccine (49, 63), possibly implying a higher S protein and adenoviral protein burden. Third, the human cell lines by which adenoviruses are produced are different: T-REx-293 cells for Vaxzevria and PER.C6 TetR cells for Jcovden (64). Furthermore, approximately 50% of the protein content of the Vaxzevria vaccine belongs to T-REx-293 (32), while Jcovden seems to be less contaminated by cell line debris (64). Finally, EDTA is present in the Vaxzevria vaccine but not in the Jcovden vaccine (49, 63) and may favor the development of inflammation at the vaccine inoculation site.

Concluding remarks

The incidence of VITT, non-VITT thrombosis, and arterial events, although rare, is much higher in recipients of Vaxzevria and Jcovden vaccines than in recipients of the Comirnaty vaccine (37, 38), suggesting a causal relationship between these events and the adenovirus-based vaccines. We hypothesize that the venous and arterial thromboses observed with adenovirus-based vaccines and observed in absence of thrombocytopenia are due to the combination of at least three triggering factors, all of which may be involved in vascular inflammation and coagulation, and several arguments suggest that it is independent of anti-PF4 antibodies (T-no4TS). However, further studies are needed to confidently exclude that non-VITT thromboses are due to low levels of anti-PF4 antibodies.

In Vaxzevria recipients with thrombosis, the incidence of VITT is very high when they die due to CVT. However, in the presence of thrombosis other than CVT, the incidence of VITT is lower, and it is further reduced in the elderly and young adults who do not die. Therefore, in recently vaccinated individuals, the possibility that a thrombosis or arterial event is caused by adenovirus-based vaccines should be considered even in the absence of thrombocytopenia, favoring a correct diagnosis and providing important information for the management of treatment.

Author contributions

GN with the contribution of LC, MNA, AB, SPa, SPi, and GS: conceptualization. GN, LC, and GS: writing—original draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This article was funded by Ministero dell'Università e della Ricerca (MUR) (grant number: FISR2020IP_03103 and granted to AB, GN, and SPi).

Conflict of interest

The authors have no relevant affiliation or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or material discussed in the manuscript. All this includes employment, consultancies, honoraria, stock ownership or options, expert testimony, grants or patents received or pending, and royalties.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. World Health Organization [WHO]. Therapeutics and COVID-19: Living Guideline. Geneva: WHO (2022).

2. Kircheis R. Coagulopathies after vaccination against SARS-CoV-2 may be derived from a combined effect of SARS-CoV-2 spike protein and adenovirus vector-triggered signaling pathways. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:10791. doi: 10.3390/ ijms221910791

3. Azzarone B, Veneziani I, Moretta L, Maggi E. Pathogenic mechanisms of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia in people receiving anti-COVID-19 adenoviral-based vaccines: a proposal. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:728513. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.728513

4. Lei Y, Zhang J, Schiavon CR, He M, Chen L, Shen H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 spike protein impairs endothelial function via downregulation of ACE 2. *Circ Res.* (2021) 128:1323–6. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.318902

5. Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 binds platelet ACE2 to enhance thrombosis in COVID-19. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2020) 13:120. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00954-7

6. Wiersinga WJ, Rhodes A, Cheng AC, Peacock SJ, Prescott HC. Pathophysiology, transmission, diagnosis, and treatment of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA*. (2020) 324:782. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.12839

7. Harrison AG, Lin T, Wang P. Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 transmission and pathogenesis. *Trends Immunol.* (2020) 41:1100–15. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2020.10.004

8. Vasileiou E, Simpson CR, Shi T, Kerr S, Agrawal U, Akbari A, et al. Interim findings from first-dose mass COVID-19 vaccination roll-out and COVID-19 hospital admissions in Scotland: a national prospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:1646–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00677-2

9. Lopez Bernal J, Andrews N, Gower C, Robertson C, Stowe J, Tessier E, et al. Effectiveness of the Pfizer-BioNTech and Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccines on covid-19 related symptoms, hospital admissions, and mortality in older adults in England: test negative Case-Control Study. *BMJ*. (2021) 373:n1088. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1088

10. Dagan N, Barda N, Kepten E, Miron O, Perchik S, Katz MA, et al. BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine in a nationwide mass vaccination setting. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:1412–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2101765

11. Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:2603–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577

12. Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R, et al. Efficacy and safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:403–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2035389

13. Voysey M, Clemens SAC, Madhi SA, Weckx LY, Folegatti PM, Aley PK, et al. Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil, South Africa, and the UK. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:99–111. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 32661-1

14. Sadoff J, Gray G, Vandebosch A, Cárdenas V, Shukarev G, Grinsztejn B, et al. Final analysis of efficacy and safety of single-dose Ad26.COV2.S. N Engl J Med. (2022) 386:847-60. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a2117608 15. Dan JM, Mateus J, Kato Y, Hastie KM, Yu ED, Faliti CE, et al. Immunological memory to SARS-CoV-2 assessed for up to 8 months after infection. *Science*. (2021) 371:eabf4063. doi: 10.1126/science.abf4063

16. Bar-On YM, Goldberg Y, Mandel M, Bodenheimer O, Amir O, Freedman L, et al. Protection by a fourth dose of BNT162b2 against Omicron in Israel. *N Engl J Med.* (2022) 386:1712–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2201570

17. Hein S, Mhedhbi I, Zahn T, Sabino C, Benz NI, Husria Y, et al. Quantitative and qualitative difference in antibody response against omicron and ancestral SARS-CoV-2 after third and fourth vaccination. *Vaccines*. (2022) 10:796. doi: 10. 3390/vaccines10050796

18. Higdon MM, Baidya A, Walter KK, Patel MK, Issa H, Espié E, et al. Duration of effectiveness of vaccination against COVID-19 caused by the omicron variant. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2022) 22:1114–6. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00409-1

19. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Comirnaty: EPAR - Medicine Overview. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2022).

20. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Spikevax (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine Moderna): EPAR - Medicine Overview. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2022).

21. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Jcovden (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen): EPAR - Medicine Overview. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2022).

22. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Vaxzevria (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca): EPAR - Medicine Overview. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2022).

23. Karlstad Ø, Hovi P, Husby A, Härkänen T, Selmer RM, Pihlström N, et al. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and myocarditis in a Nordic Cohort Study of 23 million residents. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2022) 7:600. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2022.0583

24. Ozonoff A, Nanishi E, Levy O. Bell's palsy and SARS-CoV-2 vaccines. Lancet Infect Dis. (2021) 21:450-2. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00076-1

25. Hanson KE, Goddard K, Lewis N, Fireman B, Myers TR, Bakshi N, et al. Incidence of guillain-barré syndrome after COVID-19 vaccination in the vaccine safety datalink. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e228879. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.8879

26. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. AstraZeneca's COVID-19 Vaccine: EMA Finds Possible Link to Very Rare Cases of Unusual Blood Clots with Low Blood Platelets. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2021).

27. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840

28. Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT, et al. Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:2124–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104882

29. Krzywicka K, Heldner MR, Sánchez van Kammen M, van Haaps T, Hiltunen S, Silvis SM, et al. Post-SARS-CoV-2-vaccination cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: an analysis of cases notified to the European Medicines Agency. *Eur J Neurol.* (2021) 28:3656–62. doi: 10.1111/ene.15029

30. Sánchez van Kammen M, Heldner MR, Brodard J, Scutelnic A, Silvis S, Schroeder V, et al. Frequency of thrombocytopenia and platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies in patients with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA*. (2021) 326:332. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021. 9889

31. Baker AT, Boyd RJ, Sarkar D, Teijeira-Crespo A, Chan CK, Bates E, et al. ChAdOx1 interacts with CAR and PF4 with implications for thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome. *Sci Adv.* (2021) 7:eabl8213. doi: 10.1126/sciadv. abl8213

32. Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, Wesche J, Handtke S, Wolff M, et al. Insights in ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (2021) 138:2256–68. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021013231

33. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. COVID-19 Vaccine Safety Update for Vaxzevria (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca): 14 July 2021. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2021).

34. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency [MHRA]. Coronavirus Vaccine - Weekly Summary of Yellow Card Reporting - Updated 30 September 2021. London: Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (2021).

35. Health Canada. Reported side Effects following COVID-19 Vaccination in Canada - September 24, 2021. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada (2021).

36. Australian Government Department of Health. ATAGI Statement on Revised Recommendations on the Use of COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca, 17 June 2021. Canberra, ACT: Australian Government Department of Health (2021).

37. Cari L, Alhosseini MN, Fiore P, Pierno S, Pacor S, Bergamo A, et al. Cardiovascular, neurological, and pulmonary events following vaccination with the BNT162b2, ChAdOx1 nCoV-19, and Ad26.COV2.S vaccines: an analysis of European data. *J Autoimmun.* (2021) 125:102742. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2021.10 2742

38. Lee DS, Kim JW, Lee KL, Jung YJ, Kang HW. Adverse events following COVID-19 vaccination in South Korea between February 28 and August 21, 2021: a nationwide observational study. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2022) 118:173–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2022.03.007

39. Cari L, Fiore P, Naghavi Alhosseini M, Sava G, Nocentini G. Blood clots and bleeding events following BNT162b2 and ChAdOX1 nCoV-19 vaccine: an analysis of European data. *J Autoimmun.* (2021) 122:102685. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut. 2021.102685

40. Pottegård A, Lund LC, Karlstad Ø, Dahl J, Andersen M, Hallas J, et al. Arterial events, venous thromboembolism, thrombocytopenia, and bleeding after vaccination with Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1-S in Denmark and Norway: population based cohort study. *BMJ.* (2021) 373:n1114. doi: 10.1136/bmj. n1114

41. Dag Berild J, Bergstad Larsen V, Myrup Thiesson E, Lehtonen T, Grøsland M, Helgeland J, et al. Analysis of thromboembolic and thrombocytopenic events after the AZD1222, BNT162b2, and MRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccines in 3 Nordic Countries. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2022) 5:e2217375. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2022.17375

42. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. COVID-19 Vaccine Safety Update for Vaxzevria (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca): 21 May 2021. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2021).

43. Page D, Zhu N, Sawler D, Sun HW, Turley E, Pai M, et al. Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia presenting with normal platelet count. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 5:e12596. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12596

44. Gabarin N, Patterson S, Pai M, Afzaal T, Nazy I, Sheppard J-AI, et al. Venous thromboembolism and mild thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. *Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 121:1677–80. doi: 10.1055/a-1585-6182

45. Walter U, Fuchs M, Grossmann A, Walter M, Thiele T, Storch A, et al. Adenovirus-vectored COVID-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombosis of carotid artery. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:716–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012576

46. Greinacher A, Langer F, Makris M, Pai M, Pavord S, Tran H, et al. Vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT): update on diagnosis and management considering different resources. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2022) 20:149–56. doi: 10.1111/jth.15572 47. U.S. Food and Drug Administration [FDA]. Joint CDC and FDA Statement on Johnson & Johnson COVID-19 Vaccine. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Food and Drug Administration (2021).

48. See I, Su JR, Lale A, Woo EJ, Guh AY, Shimabukuro TT, et al. US case reports of cerebral venous sinus thrombosis with thrombocytopenia after Ad26.COV2.S vaccination, March 2 to April 21, 2021. *JAMA*. (2021) 325:2448. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2021.7517

49. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen?: EPAR - Product Information. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2022).

50. Botton J, Jabagi MJ, Bertrand M, Baricault B, Drouin J, Le Vu S, et al. Risk for myocardial infarction, stroke, and pulmonary embolism following COVID-19 vaccines in adults younger than 75 years in France. *Ann Intern Med.* (2022): [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.7326/M22-0988

51. Raper SE, Yudkoff M, Chirmule N, Gao G-P, Nunes F, Haskal ZJ, et al. A pilot study of in vivo liver-directed gene transfer with an adenoviral vector in partial ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2002) 13:163–75. doi: 10.1089/10430340152712719

52. Kang S, Tanaka T, Inoue H, Ono C, Hashimoto S, Kioi Y, et al. IL-6 transsignaling induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 from vascular endothelial cells in cytokine release syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2020) 117:22351–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2010229117

53. Westrick R, Eitzman D. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in vascular thrombosis. *Curr Drug Targets.* (2007) 8:996–1002. doi: 10.2174/138945007781662328

54. Willems LH, Nagy M, Ten Cate H, Spronk HMH, Jacobs LMC, Kranendonk J, et al. ChAdOx1 vaccination, blood coagulation, and inflammation: no effect on coagulation but increased interleukin-6. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 5:e12630. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12630

55. de Laat B, Stragier H, de Laat-Kremers R, Ninivaggi M, Mesotten D, Thiessen S, et al. Population-wide persistent hemostatic changes after vaccination with ChAdOx1-S. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2022) 9:966028. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022. 966028

56. Khan S, Shafiei MS, Longoria C, Schoggins JW, Savani RC, Zaki H. SARS-CoV-2 spike protein induces inflammation via TLR2-dependent activation of the NF- κ B pathway. *Elife.* (2021) 10:e68563. doi: 10.7554/eLife.68563

57. Olajide OA, Iwuanyanwu VU, Lepiarz-Raba I, Al-Hindawi AA. Induction of exaggerated cytokine production in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells by a recombinant SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein S1 and its inhibition by dexamethasone. *Inflammation*. (2021) 44:1865–77. doi: 10.1007/s10753-021-01464-5

58. Scaglioni V, Soriano ER. Are superantigens the cause of cytokine storm and viral sepsis in severe COVID-19? Observations and hypothesis. *Scand J Immunol.* (2020) 92:e12944. doi: 10.1111/sji.12944

59. Paladino L, Vitale AM, Caruso Bavisotto C, Conway de Macario E, Cappello F, Macario AJL, et al. The role of molecular chaperones in virus infection and implications for understanding and treating COVID-19. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:3518. doi: 10.3390/jcm9113518

60. Seiradake E, Henaff D, Wodrich H, Billet O, Perreau M, Hippert C, et al. The cell adhesion molecule "CAR" and sialic acid on human erythrocytes influence adenovirus in vivo biodistribution. *PLoS Pathog.* (2009) 5:e1000277. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000277

61. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Vaxzevria (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca)?: EPAR - Public Assessment Report. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2021).

62. Ledford H. COVID vaccines and blood clots: what researchers know so far. *Nature.* (2021) 596:479-81. doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-02291-2

63. European Medicines Agency [EMA]. Vaxzevria (Previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca)?: EPAR - Product Information. Amsterdam: European Medicines Agency (2021).

64. Michalik S, Siegerist F, Palankar R, Franzke K, Schindler M, Reder A, et al. Comparative analysis of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and Ad26.COV2.S SARS-CoV-2 vector vaccines. *Haematologica*. (2022) 107:947–57. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2021. 280154 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paresh Kulkarni, Banaras Hindu University, India

REVIEWED BY Ilene Ruhoy, Cascadia Complex Health, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Beate Roxane Jaeger drbjaeger@web.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 30 July 2022 ACCEPTED 30 August 2022 PUBLISHED 11 October 2022

CITATION

Jaeger BR, Arron HE, Kalka-Moll WM and Seidel D (2022) The potential of heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.)-apheresis for patients with severe acute or chronic COVID-19. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1007636. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1007636

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jaeger, Arron, Kalka-Moll and Seidel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The potential of heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.)-apheresis for patients with severe acute or chronic COVID-19

Beate Roxane Jaeger^{1*}, Hayley Emma Arron², Wiltrud M. Kalka-Moll³ and Dietrich Seidel⁴

¹Lipidzentrum Nordrhein, Mülheim, Germany, ²Department of Physiological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa, ³Institut für infektiologische und mikrobiologische Beratung (Infactio[®]), Bedburg, Germany, ⁴Institut tür Klinische Chemie und Laboratoriumsmedizin, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Munich, Germany

Patients with long COVID and acute COVID should benefit from treatment with H.E.L.P. apheresis, which is in clinical use for 37 years. COVID-19 can cause a severe acute multi-organ illness and, subsequently, in many patients the chronic illness long-COVID/PASC. The alveolar tissue and adjacent capillaries show inflammatory and procoagulatory activation with cell necrosis, thrombi, and massive fibrinoid deposits, namely, unsolvable microthrombi, which results in an obstructed gas exchange. Heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis solves these problems by helping the entire macro- and microcirculation extracorporeally. It uses unfractionated heparin, which binds the spike protein and thereby should remove the virus (debris). It dissolves the forming microthrombi without bleeding risk. It removes large amounts of fibrinogen (coagulation protein), which immediately improves the oxygen supply in the capillaries. In addition, it removes the precursors of both the procoagulatory and the fibrinolytic cascade, thus de-escalating the entire hemostaseological system. It increases myocardial, cerebral, and pulmonary blood flow rates, and coronary flow reserve, facilitating oxygen exchange in the capillaries, without bleeding risks. Another factor in COVID is the "cytokine storm" harming microcirculation in the lungs and other organs. Intervention by H.E.L.P. apheresis could prevent uncontrollable coagulation and inflammatory activity by removing cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and TNF- α , and reduces C-reactive protein, and eliminating endo- and ecto-toxins, without touching protective IgM/IgG antibodies, leukocyte, or platelet function. The therapy can be

used safely in combination with antiviral drugs, antibiotics, anticoagulants, or antihypertensive drugs. Long-term clinical experience with H.E.L.P. apheresis shows it cannot inflict harm upon patients with COVID-19.

KEYWORDS

H.E.L.P. apheresis, PASC, COVID-19, long COVID, SARS-CoV-2, heparin, fibrinogen, rheology

Introduction

In COVID-19 pandemic, the key question is: which therapeutic approach should be favored in order to save seriously sick patients? What kind of approach is suitable to prevent looming acute lung failure involving microthrombi and inflammation of the endothelium (1-5) as a result of an excessive immune response of the body when the host's first lines of defense have already failed? We know that SARS-CoV-2 uses the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor and the transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) as gateways (6-8) to infect cells of the alveolar epithelium (1-4) and endothelial cells in the lungs, heart, kidneys, intestines, and liver (5). This is why patients with coronary artery disease (9-12), hypertension (3, 13), diabetes (3, 13), or obesity (3, 13) exhibit a higher mortality risk as their receptor density is upregulated (14). Moreover, the binding of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein inhibits and down-regulates ACE2 function which in turn promotes the inflammatory response (6-8). Diabetes for instance increases thrombogenicity and hyperactivates platelets, and so does hypertension by increasing shear stress in the vessels (15-17).

Histological studies confirmed the presence of the virus in both cell types: alveolar epithelium and endothelial cells (1-5). Alveolar tissue and adjacent capillaries reveal massive inflammatory and procoagulatory activation together with cell necrosis, thrombi, and massive fibrinoid deposits (1-5, 18, 19). It results in the clinical picture of an obstructed gas exchange. The enlargement of the diffusion barrier limits the benefits of artificial ventilation and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) (20-23). In addition, the latter promotes the formation of radicals as a side effect (20-23).

The application of H.E.L.P. apheresis could significantly contribute to the restoration of microcirculation in the lungs and other affected organs. The method, developed by Seidel and Wieland in 1984, primarily for patients with severe hyperlipidemia or familial homozygous hypercholesterolemia (24–30), has not only been proven beneficial as an ultima ratio treatment of arteriosclerosis and its atherothrombotic sequelae, it also has been successfully applied in coronary heart disease (24–27, 31–33) to prevent and treat graft vessel disease following heart transplantation (33–39), acute thrombotic graft occlusion following aortocoronary bypass surgery (40), preeclampsia (41, 42), strokes (43–46), unstable angina pectoris (47), and

hyperlipoproteinemia (a) (32). It exhibits anti-inflammatory effects in chronic, and also acute inflammatory processes of the endothelium in the micro- and macrocirculation (26–36, 40, 48, 49) and has anticoagulant and anti-inflammatory properties (25, 50, 51).

Methodology

During H.E.L.P. apheresis, blood cells are first separated from plasma in the extracorporeal circuit, then 400.000 units of unfractionated heparin are added to the plasma, and the pH is lowered to 5.12 using an acetate buffer. That is the isoelectric point for the optimal precipitation of the apolipoproteins from LDL cholesterol, lipoprotein (a) [Lp(a)], and VLDL, which are precipitated in the precipitation filter together with fibrinogen. The excess heparin is adsorbed, and bicarbonate dialysis balances the pH again. The blood cells of the patients are reinfused in parallel with a saline solution (24, 50). The duration of treatment--2h on average—can be shortened or extended to meet individual needs (50).

Rationale for H.E.L.P. apheresis

Patients with acute and long COVID-19 most probably will benefit from H.E.L.P. apheresis due to the following reasons:

- 1. It has no allocation problem and allows direct access to the entire macro- and micro-circulation owing to its extracorporeal access.
- It uses 400.000 units of unfractionated heparin in the extracorporeal circuit, which was shown of being capable to bind SARS-CoV-2 spike protein (19, 52), and thereby could directly remove the virus and viral debris during viraemia.
- 3. The large quantity of unfractionated heparin allows the desolvation of forming microthrombi without a bleeding risk due to the heparin adsorber (50).
- 4. Heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis removes about 50–70% of fibrinogen, the most important coagulation protein, within 2–3 h, that in turn immediately improves oxygen supply in the capillaries (50, 51).
- 5. In addition, it partially removes the precursors of both the procoagulatory and the fibrinolytic cascade by 35–50%,

thus de-escalating the entire haemorheologic system (50). However, antithrombin III is only eliminated by 25% (50) ensuring minimized bleeding risk complications.

- 6. From the very beginning, H.E.L.P. apheresis is rheologically effective (30, 31, 33, 53): it increases myocardial (30, 53), cerebral (54), pulmonary blood flow rates, and coronary flow reserve (53). These effects facilitate oxygen exchange in the capillaries sustainably (51).
- 7. It removes cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6, IL-8, and TNF- α , and reduces C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations by more than 50% (41, 48, 49). The heparin adsorber completely eliminates endo- and ecto-toxins (48), so that the excessive inflammatory response, the so-called "cytokine storm", can calm down (18, 19, 48, 49).
- Heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis has already been successfully applied for septic multi-organ failure in pilot studies by Bengsch et al. (48, 49). In modified form, it showed a successful outcome in the enterohaemorrhagic *E.coli* (EHEC) epidemic in patients suffering from the hemolytic-uraemic syndrome (HUS) (55).
- Heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis is an established, commercially available system (B. Braun AG, Melsungen, Germany) that has been in clinical use for 37 years. It is easy to handle and was shown to reduce complication rates in acute and chronic cardiac patients very effectively by 82–97% (27, 29, 30, 32, 34, 36). The long-term clinical experience with H.E.L.P. apheresis suggests, with a probability close to certainty, that it cannot inflict harm upon patients with COVID-19.
- 10. It does not remove protective IgM or IgG antibodies and does not affect leukocyte or platelet function. In the past, the therapy has been shown to be well-tolerated and safe during treatment with antiviral drugs, antibiotics, anticoagulants, or antihypertensive drugs.

Background

In patients who are suffering from severe COVID-19, the computed tomography (CT) scan of the lungs shows ground-glass-like interstitial thickening (5), (which presumably leads to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). As a result of an excessive immune response, it appears uncontrollable. The advanced disease stage develops after the initial antiviral defense lines of the innate immune system—such as protective effects of interferons and secretory IgA on alveolar epithelium— have failed to eliminate the virus. The presence of SARS-CoV-2 viraemia is the prerequisite for humoral antibody synthesis of IgM and IgG subtypes. They could lyse virus-infected cells in the presence of complement factors. As far as we know, the nature and extent of the cellular immune response to

viral antigens are almost entirely dependent on T-lymphocytes (56). The cell-mediated antibody-dependent cytotoxicity is T-cell-dependent and, currently, is being the subject of intensive virological and cell biological research.

In principle, intervention in the inflammatory cascade takes place as early as possible before the onset of the "cytokine tsunami" in order to prevent uncontrollable coagulation and inflammatory activity (18, 19) harming microcirculation in the lungs and other organs. This may be the case in COVID, for example, as this cytokine storm likely results in the presence of microthrombi found in patients suffering from COVID-19 (57). These microthrombi have the ability to block microcapillaries and hence, inhibit oxygen exchange and supply at various organs, resulting in the various symptoms of long COVID such as muscle fatigue, breathlessness, sleep impairment, and anxiety or depression (58). The phenomenon of a "cytokine storm" was first described in 1973 in graft-vs.host disease (GvHD) following organ transplantation, and later in ARDS, sepsis, Ebola, avian flu H5N1, smallpox, systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS), and now in COVID-19 (59).

Cytokines are proteins that coordinate and modulate cellular immune responses: they guide and activate leukocytesin particular, T-lymphocytes and monocytes-to the site of inflammation where cytokine secretion is regulated by positive feedback. During a "cytokine storm", leukocytes are activated to such an extent that the immune response seems inexorable. High concentrations of IL-1ß, IL-6, and IL-8 are expressed (18, 19, 59-61). Furthermore, IL-1 β and IL-6, together with TNF- α —the latter being mainly expressed by macrophagesdirect systemic inflammatory effects such as the increase in body temperature and blood flow, capillary permeability, and leakage. Due to the complexity of regulation and orchestral functions, IL-6 plays a key role in the transition of mechanisms of innate to acquired immunity (60, 62). The CRP triggers IL-6 (61) and IL-6 links procoagulatory activation, especially triggering fibrinogen production in the liver [51]. Whenever the body's defense is not able to clear the virus from all sites, the inflammation may persist in macrophages, in vascular beds, or in the brain stem and chronify, as recently reviewed by Proal and VanElzakker (63) with the consequence of a wide range of long-lasting clinical symptoms and impaired host immunity. In recent years, Pretorius and Laubscher (64) proved the persistence of insoluble clots containing excess alpha2-Antiplasmin bound plasminogen fibrinogen and amyloid proteins, which results in hindered fibrinolysis in long COVID patients.

Discussion: Effects of HELP apheresis

The anti-inflammatory effects of H.E.L.P. apheresis had been intensively investigated by Bengsch et al. (35, 36) in the nineties.
It has been applied by them in pilot studies to successfully treat sepsis and septic shock patients with multiple organ failures. In 2012, we were able to rescue a patient with EHEC-induced HUS from her comatose state within hours, and from kidney failure within 2 days (55).

In the case of COVID-19, H.E.L.P. apheresis could be of immediate benefit because this extracorporeal system can reduce the trigger and effector of the overwhelming immune response in a simultaneous manner. The SARS-CoV-2, circulating cytokines, CRP, on top fibrinogen are reduced drastically, the latter by 50% within 2 h. As a result, the rheology of the pulmonary microcirculation will immediately be relieved—without reduction of the erythrocyte concentration. Fibrinogen is the effector of plasmatic coagulation and decisive determinant in microcirculation, plasma viscosity, and erythrocyte aggregability (51). Owing to the use of unfractionated heparin, the antithrombotic effect is maximal.

Previous studies using positron emission tomography in heart transplant patients showed that the median coronary blood flow rate remains significantly increased by 17.5% for 24 h after a single 2-h apheresis procedure. It increases by 27% under simulated exposure to the administration of adenosine (33). In principle, the decreased fibrinogen concentration causes rheologically significant effects and facilitates oxygen exchange. Plasma viscosity is reduced by an average of 19%, and erythrocyte aggregability is significantly decreased by 60% (33). In addition, the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and nitric oxide (NO) release are favorably influenced (33). The improvements have also been demonstrated for cerebral blood flow in the cardiac patients, where they profit from a 63% increase in the CO₂ reserve capacity (54).

Heparin-induced extracorporeal LDL/fibrinogen precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis reduces LDL cholesterol and Lp(a) concentrations with similar efficacy as fibrinogen (24, 25), thereby improving endothelial function (33, 53, 54). With regards to LDL reduction through apheresis, it remains unclear whether SARS-CoV-2 resembles delta coronavirus, which uses cholesterol as a vector due to its lipid envelope (65).

For practical reasons it is important to mention that H.E.L.P. apheresis is not restricted to a 2-h treatment time. The system can be recirculated for many hours—until the precipitate filter is saturated. The precipitate filter however can also be exchanged during the procedure, so the fibrinogen concentration theoretically could be reduced by up to 99.9999%. In-depth preliminary studies into the influence of H.E.L.P. apheresis on the kinetics of the procoagulation and fibrinolytic cascades have shown that the precursors of both cascades are also reduced by 35–50% within 2 h—with the exception of antithrombin III, which is reduced by 25% (50). Taking together, H.E.L.P. apheresis thus de-escalates the coagulation situation of both arms without any bleeding risk due to the complete adsorption of unfractionated heparin (50).

The heparin adsorber also has the ability to eliminate endoand exo-toxins regardless of viral or bacterial origin (48, 49, 55). Recent data from Carlo Brogna indicate that the SARS-CoV-2 virus acts as a bacteriophage on the microbiome of the lungs and the guts of infected patients, thereby inducing the bacteria to produce neurotoxic "conotoxins". These so-called conotoxins might also be eliminated by means of H.E.L.P. apheresis (64).

The use of H.E.L.P. apheresis should be considered for the treatment of patients with acute and long COVID in order to restore the vascular homeostasis, remove inflammatory and thrombogenic mediators, and to avoid unnecessary suffering. Our first experiences with patients with long COVID are promising and summarized in the corresponding article. Meanwhile, we could successfully treat hundreds of patients with long COVID with this method.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

BJ created the working hypothesis and wrote the paper. HA helped in editing, proofreading, and discussing the theory. WK-M helped brainstorm, discuss the theory, and refine it. DS was the inventor of the HELP apheresis helped with the theoretical hypothesis and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank Prof. Ashley Woodcock (Clinical Director for Respiratory Medicine at the University Hospital of South Manchester) and Dr. Asad Khan (Respiratory Medicine at the University Hospital of South Manchester) for their insightful scientific exchanges, proof reading, and encouragement that contributed immense value to this paper.

Conflict of interest

Authors BJ and DS filed a patent of the use of HELP Apheresis for long COVID to avoid misuse.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature*. (2020) 579:270–3. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7

2. Zhang H, Zhou P, Wei Y, Yue H, Wang Y, Hu M, et al. Histopathologic changes and SARS-CoV-2 immunostaining in the lung of a patient with COVID-19. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 172:629–632. doi: 10.7326/L20-0895

3. Epidemiologisches Bulletin 14/2020. Schwereeinschätzung von COVID-19 mit Vergleichsdaten zu Pneumonien aus dem Krankenhaussentinel für schwere akute Atemwegserkrankungen am RKI (ICOSARI) [Severity assessment of COVID-19 with comparative data on pneumonia from the hospital sentinel for severe acute respiratory diseases at the RKI (ICOSARI)]. (2020).

4. Bhatraju PK, Ghassemieh BJ, Nichols M, Kim R, Jerome KR, Nalla AK, et al. Covid-19 in critically ill patients in the seattle region—case series. *NEJM*. (2020) 382:2012–2022. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2004500

5. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endothelitis in COVID-19. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1417–1418. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5

6. Li W, Moore MJ, Vasilieva N, Sui J, Wong SK, Berne MA, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. *Nature*. (2003) 426:450–4. doi: 10.1038/nature02145

7. Kuba K, Imai Y, Rao S, Gao H, Guo F, Guan B, et al. A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. *Nat Med.* (2005) 11:875–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1267

8. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell.* (2020) 181:271–80.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052

9. Madjid M, Safavi-Naeini P, Solomon SD, Vardeny O. Potential effects of coronaviruses on the cardiovascular system: a review. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2020) 5:831-40. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1286

10. Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, Wu X, Zhang L, He T, et al. Cardiovascular implications of fatal outcomes of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol.* (2019) 5:811–8. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1017

11. Inciardi RM, Lupi L, Zaccone G, Italia L, Raffo M, Tomasoni D, et al. Cardiac involvement in a patient with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol.* (2020) 5:819–24. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1096

12. Yang C, Jin Z. An acute respiratory infection runs into the most common noncommunicable epidemic-COVID-19 and cardiovascular diseases. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2020) 5:743–4. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.0934

13. Parra-Medina R, Herrera S, Mejia J. Systematic review of microthrombi in COVID-19 autopsies. *Acta Haematol.* (2021) 144:476–83. doi: 10.1159/000515104

14. Caputo I, Caroccia B, Frasson I, Poggio E, Zamberlan S, Morpurgo M, et al. Angiotensin II promotes SARS-CoV-2 infection via upregulation of ACE2 in human bronchial cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:5125. doi: 10.3390/ijms23095125

15. Viles-Gonzalez JF, Fuster V, Badimon JJ. Links between inflammation and thrombogenicity in atherosclerosis. *Curr Mol Med.* (2006) 6:489–99. doi: 10.2174/156652406778018707

16. Morel O, Kessler L, Ohlmann P, Bareiss P. Diabetes and the platelet: toward new therapeutic paradigms for diabetic atherothrombosis. *Atherosclerosis.* (2010) 212:367–76. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2010.03.019

17. Chiva-Blanch G, Peña E, Cubedo J, García-Arguinzonis M, Pané A, Gil PA, et al. Molecular mapping of platelet hyperreactivity in diabetes: the stress proteins complex HSPA8/Hsp90/CSK2 α and platelet aggregation in diabetic and normal platelets. *Transl Res.* (2021) 235:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2021.04.003

18. Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J. The pathogenesis and treatment of the 'Cytokine Storm' in COVID-19. J. Infect. (2020) 80:607–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.037

19. Mycroft-West C, Su D, Elli S, Guimond S, Miller G, Turnbull J, et al. The 2019 coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) surface protein (Spike) S1 receptor binding

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

domain undergoes conformational change upon heparin binding. *BioRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.02.29.971093

20. Araos J, Alegría L, García P, Damiani F, Tapia P, Soto D, et al. Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation improves survival in a novel 24-hour pig model of severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Transl Res.* (2016) 8:2826–37.

21. Neto AS, Schmidt M, Azevedo LCP, Bein T, Brochard L, Beutel G, et al. Associations between ventilator settings during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for refractory hypoxemia and outcome in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a pooled individual patient data analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2016) 42:1672–84. doi: 10.1007/s00134-016-4507-0

22. Helmerhorst HJ, Schultz MJ, van der Voort PH, de Jonge E, van Westerloo DJ. Bench-to-bedside review: the effects of hyperoxia during critical illness. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:284. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0996-4

23. Helmerhorst HJ, Roos-Blom MJ, van Westerloo DJ, de Jonge E. Association between arterial hyperoxia and outcome in subsets of critical illness: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression of cohort studies. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:1508–19. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000998

24. Eisenhauer T, Armstrong VW, Wieland H, Fuchs C, Nebendahl K, Scheler F, et al. Selective continuous elimination of low density lipoproteins (LDL) by heparin precipitation: first clinical application. *Trans Am Soc Artif Organs.* (1986) 32:104–7.

25. Seidel D, Armstrong VW, Schuff-Werner P, Eisenhauer T. Removal of low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and fibrinogen by precipitation with heparin at low pH: clinical application and experience. *J Clin Apheresis.* (1988) 4:78–81. doi: 10.1002/jca.2920040207

26. Seidel D, Armstrong VW, Schuff-Werner P. The HELP-LDL-Apheresis multicentre study, an angiographically assessed trial on the role of LDL-apheresis in the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. I evaluation of safety and cholesterol-lowering effects during the first 12 months. *Eur J Clin Inv.* (1991) 21:375–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1991.tb01384.x

27. Schuff-Werner P, Gohlke H, Bartmann U, Baggio G, Corti MC, Dinsenbacher A, et al. The HELP-LDL-apheresis multicentre study, an angiographically assessed trial on the role of LDL-apheresis in the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. II Final evaluation of the effect of regular treatment on LDL-cholesterol plasma concentrations and the Course of Coronary Heart Disease. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (1994) 24:724–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1994.tb01068.x

28. Thiery J, Walli AK, Janning G, Seidel D. Low-density lipoprotein plasmaphaeresis with and without lovastatin in the treatment of the homozygous form of familial hypercholesterolaemia. *Eur J Pediatr.* (1990) 149:716–21. doi: 10.1007/BF01959530

29. Jaeger BR, Tsobanelis T, Bengel F, Schwaiger M, Seidel D. Longterm prevention of premature coronary atherosclerosis in homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. *J Pediatrics*. (2002) 141:125–8. 10.1067/mpd.2002.124384

30. Mellwig KP, Schmidt HK, Brettschneider-Meyer A, Meyer H, Jaeger BR, Walli AK, et al. Coronary heart disease in childhood in familial hypercholesteremia. Maximum therapy with LDL apheresis. *Internist.* (2003) 44:476-80. 10.1007/s00108-002-0832-1

31. Schuff-Werner P. Clinical Long-Term Results of H.E.L.P.-Apheresis. Z Kardiol. (2003) 92: III 28–9.

32. Jaeger BR, Richter Y, Nagel D, Heigl F, Vogt A, Roeseler E, et al. Longitudinal cohort study on the effectiveness of lipid apheresis treatment to reduce high lipoprotein (a) levels and prevent major adverse coronary events. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med.* (2009) 6:229–39. doi: 10.1038/ncpcardio1456

33. Jaeger BR, Bengel FM, Odaka K, Uberfuhr P, Labarrere CA, Bengsch S, et al. Changes in myocardial vasoreactivity after drastic reduction of plasma fibrinogen and cholesterol: a clinical study in long-term heart transplant survivors using positron emission tomography. *J Heart Lung Transplant.* (2005) 24:2022–30. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2005.05.009

34. Park JW, Merz M, Braun P. Regression of transplant coronary artery disease during low-density lipoprotein apheresis. *JHLT*. (1997) 16:290–97.

35. Jaeger BR, Meiser B, Nagel D, Uberfuhr P, Thiery J, Brandl U, et al. Aggressive lowering of fibrinogen and cholesterol in the prevention of graft vessel disease after heart transplantation. *Circulation*. (1997) 96: II 154–8.

36. Jaeger BR, Braun P, Nagel D, Park JW, Gysan DB, Oberhoffer M, et al. A combined treatment of statins and HELP apheresis for treatment of cardiac allograft vasculopathy. *Atherosclerosis Suppl.* (2002) 141:331–6.

37. Labarrere CA, Woods JR, Hardin JW, Campana GL, Ortiz MA, Jaeger BR, et al. Early Prediction of cardiac allograft vasculopathy and heart transplant failure. *Am J Transplant*. (2011) 11:528–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03401.x

38. Labarrere CA, Woods JR, Hardin JW, Jaeger BR, Zembala M, Deng MC, et al. Early inflammatory markers are independent predictors of cardiac allograft vasculopathy in heart-transplant recipients. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e113260. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113260

39. Labarrere CA, Jaeger BR, Kassab GS. Cardiac allograft vasculopathy: microvascular arteriolar capillaries ("Capioles") and survival. *Front Biosc.* (2017) 9:110–28. doi: 10.2741/e790

40. Oberhoffer M, Eifert S, Jaeger B, Blessing F, Beiras-Fernandez A, Seidel D, et al. Postoperative heparin-mediated extracorporeal low-density lipoprotein fibrinogen precipitation aphaeresis prevents early graft occlusion after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Surg J.* (2016) 2:e5–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1584167

41. Wang Y, Walli AK, Schulze A, Blessing F, Fraunberger P, Thaler C, et al. Heparin-mediated extracorporeal low density lipoprotein precipitation as a possible therapeutic approach in preeclampsia. *Transfus Apheres Sci.* (2006) 35:103–10. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2006.05.010

42. Contini C, Pütz G, Pecks U, Winkler K. Apheresis as emerging treatment option in severe early onset preclampsia. *Atheroscler Suppl.* (2019) 40:61–7. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosissup.2019.08.028

43. Walzl M, Lechner H, Walzl B, Schied G. Improved neurological recovery of cerebral infarctions after plasmapheretic reduction of lipids and fibrinogen. *Stroke*. (1993) 24:1447–51. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.24.10.1447

44. Walzl B, Walzl M, Valetitsch H, Lechner H. Increased cerebral perfusion following reduction of fibrinogen and lipid fractions. *Haemostasis*. (1995) 25:137–43. doi: 10.1159/000217153

45. Jaeger BR. The HELP System for the treatment of atherothrombotic disorders: a review. *Therap Apheres Dialy*. (2003) 7:391–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0968.2003.00072.x

46. Jaeger BR, Kreuzer E, Knez A, Leber A, Uberfuhr P, Börner M, et al. Case reports on emergency treatment of cardiovascular syndromes through heparinmediated low-density lipoprotein/fibrinogen precipitation: a new approach to augment cerebral and myocardial salvage. *Therap Apheres.* (2002) 6:394– 98. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0968.2002.00427.x

47. Khan TZ, Pottle A, Pennell DJ, Barbir MS. The impact of lipoprotein apheresis in patients with refractory angina and raised Lipoprotein(a): objectives and methods of a randomised controlled trial. *Atheroscler Suppl.* (2015) 18:103–8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosissup.2015.02.019

48. Bengsch S, Boos KS, Nagel D, Seidel D, Inthorn D. Extracorporeal plasma treatment for the removal of endotoxin in patients with sepsis: clinical results of a pilot study. *Shock*. (2005) 23:494–500.

49. Samtleben W, Bengsch S, Boos KS, Seidel D. HELP Apheresis in the treatment of sepsis. Artif Organs. (1998) 22:43–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1594.1998.06011.x

50. Jaeger BR, Goehring P, Schirmer J, Uhrig S, Lohse P, Kreuzer E, et al. Consistent lowering of clotting factors for the treatment of acute cardiovascular syndromes and hypercoagulability: a different pathophysiological approach. *Therap Apheres.* (2001) 5:252–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0968.2001.00350.x

51. Jaeger BR, Labarrere CA. Fibrinogen and atherothrombosis: vulnerable plaque or vulnerable patient? *Herz.* (2003) 28:530-8. doi: 10.1007/s00059-003-2497-5

52. Paiardi G, Richter S, Oreste P, Urbinati C, Rusnati M, Wade RC. The binding of heparin to spike glycoprotein inhibits SARS-CoV-02 infection by three mechanisms. *J Biol Chem.* (2022) 298:101507. doi: 10.1016/j.jbc.2021.101507

53. Mellwig KP, Baller D, Gleichmann U, Moll D, Betker S, Weise R, et al. Improvement of coronary vasodilatation capacity through single LDL apheresis. *Atherosclerosis*. (1998) 139:173–8. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9150(98)00055-0

54. Pfefferkorn TK, Knüppel HP, Jaeger BR, Thiery J, Hamann GF. Increased cerebral CO₂ reactivity after heparin-mediated extracorporeal LDL precipitation (HELP) in patients with coronary heart disease and hyperlipidemia. *Stroke*. (1999) 30:1802–6. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.30.9.1802

55. Personal observation of Dr Beate R. Jaeger

56. Moss P. The T cell immune response against SARS-CoV-2. Nat Immunol. (2022) 23:186–93. doi: 10.1038/s41590-021-01122-w

57. Grobbelaar LM, Venter C, Vlok M, Ngoepe M, Laubscher GJ, Lourens PJ, et al. SARS-CoV-2 spike protein S1 induces fibrin(ogen)resistent to fibrinolysis: implications for microclot formation in COVID-19. *Biosci Rep.* (2021) 41:BSR20210611. doi: 10.1042/BSR20210611

58. Pretorius E, Vlok M, Venter C, Bezuidenhout JA, Laubscher GJ, Steenkamp J, et al. Persistent clotting protein pathology in long COVID/postacute sequelae of COVID-19 (PASC) is accompanied by increased levels of antiplasmin. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2021) 20:172. doi: 10.1186/s12933-021-0 1359-7

59. Ferrara JL, Abhyankar S, Gilliland DG: Cytokine storm of graft-versus-host disease: a critical effector role for interleukin-1. *Transplant Proc.* (1993) 2:1216–1217.

60. Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Müller-Newen G, Schaper F. Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. *Biochem J.* (2003) 374:1–20. doi: 10.1042/bj20030407

61. Jones SA, Novick D, Horiuchi S, Yamamoto N, Szalai AJ, Fuller GM. Creactive protein: a physiological activator of interleukin-6 receptor shedding. *J Exp Med.* (1999) 189:599–604. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.3.599

62. Fiusa MML, Carvalho-Filho MA, Annichino-Bizzacchi JM, De Paula EV. Causes and consequences of coagulation activation in sepsis: an evolutionary medicine perspective. *BMJ Med.* (2015) 13:105. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0327-2

63. Proal AD, VanElzakker MB. Long COVID or post-acute sequelae of COVID-19 (PASC): an overview of biological factors that may contribute to persistent symptoms. *Front Microbiol.* (2021) 12:1494. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.698169

64. Brogna C, Cristoni S, Petrillo M, Querci M, Piazza O, Van den Eede G. Toxin-like peptides in plasma, urine and faecal samples from COVID-19 patients. *F1000Res.* (2021) 10:550. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.54306.1

65. Jeon JH, Lee C. Cholesterol is important for the entry process of porcine deltacoronavirus. Arch Virol. (2018) 163:3119-24. doi: 10.1007/s00705-018-3967-7

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Luca Spiezia, University of Padua, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Hanan Salah El-Abhar, Cairo University, Egypt Denis Kudryavtsev, Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry (RAS), Russia

*CORRESPONDENCE Lina Jankauskaite

lina.jankauskaite@lsmuni.lt

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 05 September 2022 ACCEPTED 26 September 2022 PUBLISHED 14 October 2022

CITATION

Jankauskaite L, Malinauskas M and Snipaitiene A (2022) Effect of stimulated platelets in COVID-19 thrombosis: Role of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1037369. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1037369

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jankauskaite, Malinauskas and Snipaitiene. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effect of stimulated platelets in COVID-19 thrombosis: Role of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor

Lina Jankauskaite^{1,2*}, Mantas Malinauskas¹ and Ausra Snipaitiene²

¹Institute of Physiology and Pharmacology, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania, ²Department of Pediatrics, Medical Faculty, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Kaunas, Lithuania

Since early 2020, SARS-CoV-2-induced infection resulted in global pandemics with high morbidity, especially in the adult population. COVID-19 is a highly prothrombotic condition associated with subsequent multiorgan failure and lethal outcomes. The exact mechanism of the prothrombotic state is not well understood and might be multifactorial. Nevertheless, platelets are attributed to play a crucial role in COVID-19-associated thrombosis. To date, platelets' role was defined primarily in thrombosis and homeostasis. Currently, more focus has been set on their part in inflammation and immunity. Moreover, their ability to release various soluble factors under activation as well as internalize and degrade specific pathogens has been highly addressed in viral research. This review article will discuss platelet role in COVID-19-associated thrombosis and their role in the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. Multiple studies confirmed that platelets display a hyperactivated phenotype in COVID-19 patients. Critically ill patients demonstrate increased platelet activation markers such as P-selectin, PF4, or serotonin. In addition, platelets contain acetylcholine and express α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7nAchR). Thus, acetylcholine can be released under activation, and α 7nAchR can be stimulated in an autocrine manner and support platelet function. a7 receptor is one of the most important mediators of the anti-inflammatory properties as it is associated with humoral and intrinsic immunity and was demonstrated to contribute to better outcomes in COVID-19 patients when under stimulation. Hematopoietic α7nAchR deficiency increases platelet activation and, in experimental studies, a7nAchR stimulation can diminish the pro-inflammatory state and modulate platelet reactiveness via increased levels of NO. NO has been described to inhibit platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation. In addition, acetylcholine has been demonstrated to decrease platelet aggregation possibly by blocking the e p-38 pathway. SARS-CoV-2 proteins have been found to be similar to neurotoxins which can bind to nAChR and prevent the action of acetylcholine. Concluding, the platelet role in COVID-19 thrombotic events could be explained by their active function in the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, platelets, inflammation, alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAchR), thrombosis

Introduction

Since early 2020, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)-induced infection resulted in global pandemics with high morbidity, especially in the adult population (1, 2). Coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) presented with a specific organ and system involvement, such as severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) which was already observed in other viral infections (3). In addition, this infection demonstrated very specific SARS-CoV-2-unique pathological phenotypes which raised a lot of concern and unanswered questions with regard to evidence-based management options (4, 5). Those clinical phenotypes do differ in patient clinical data on admission, complications, comorbidities, and clinical outcomes; thus, treatment might be tailored based on the clinical course and previous risk (5). Moreover, it emerged that COVID-19 is a highly prothrombotic condition associated with subsequent multiorgan failure and lethal outcomes (6-8). Multiorgan failure is still under investigation, yet different mechanisms such as endothelial cell damage, immune response, dysregulation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, and thromboinflammation have been involved (9, 10). A new type of COVID-19-associated multiorgan failure-a multisystem inflammatory syndrome (MISC) was described in children (11, 12). It closely resembles Kawasaki disease, known for several decades for its coronary complications (13). Up to 68% of affected children are treated in the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) (14). Also, the increasing incidence of MISC is reported in young adults (15, 16). In most cases, MISC is characterized and investigated with the main focus on hyperinflammation, meanwhile, coagulation and thrombosis are less understood. Still, a study by Buonsenso et al. found D-dimers (fibrin degradation products) as an independent predictor of the outcomes of MISC (17). From the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemics, various data revealed that 20-50% of all COVID-19 hospitalized cases show abnormal coagulation results (18). An increase in D-dimer concentrations has been shown in a high percentage of severe COVID-19 cases. Elevated D-dimer values are associated with more severe diseases course and unfavorable outcomes of COVID-19 (8, 19-22). Platelets are another important marker in COVID-19. The most common finding in severe SARS-CoV-2-induced infection is thrombocytopenia. A meta-analysis by Jiang et al. demonstrated that lower platelet counts were detected in severe COVID-19 cases compared to milder ones (23). Thrombocytopenia has been reported to be associated with an increased risk of severe disease (24-26). Also, more studies analyse platelet activation role in the prothrombotic phenotype of COVID-19 patients. The exact mechanism of the prothrombotic state is not well understood and might be multifactorial. Nevertheless, platelets are attributed to play a crucial role in COVID-19-associated thrombosis. In this review, we will summarize the platelet role in COVID-19-associated thrombosis. Moreover, we will

provide more insight into the role of the platelet alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7nAChR) in the COVID-19-associated inflammation leading to thrombotic events.

COVID-19 inflammation and thrombotic events: Clinical picture

The global pandemic of COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 started in 2020 and continues nowadays with the new disease entities. Initially, COVID-19 was thought to cause mainly respiratory symptoms which for the most affected were mild, subsequently, it had shown to be associated with a higher number of different complications.

Thrombosis plays a crucial part in the pathogenesis of COVID-19. In the beginning, SARS-CoV-2 infection induces a tremendous inflammatory reaction leading to uncontrolled or disrupted anti-inflammatory response (27). Interaction between SARS-CoV-2 and host cells, and prolonged inflammation cause endothelial damage and dysfunction with the result of excessive prothrombotic factor production contributing to an increased coagulation state. Moreover, COVID-19-induced hypoxia can further stimulate thrombosis through blood viscosity and hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (28). Nevertheless, DNA and histones from neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) can additionally contribute to pro-thrombotic pathway activation (9, 29).

Up to 4.7% of severe COVID-19 cases progress to critically ill patients (30), and a significant number-approximately 79% result in severe thrombotic complications associated with a high mortality rate (8, 31, 32). Despite prophylactic anticoagulation treatment, almost one-third of the patients experience thrombotic events as demonstrated by the study of Lodigiani et al. (33). Moreover, a systematic review by Alahyari et al. revealed that thromboembolic events, such as deep vein thrombosis (DVT) or pulmonary embolism are most frequent of all the COVID-19-associated hematologic complications (34). Globally, a wide spectrum of incidence (10.9-58%) of DVT in COVID-19 patients was reported by several studies (33, 35, 36) with a higher percentage in critically ill patients (37). When compared to non-COVID acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), COVID-19 ARDS demonstrated higher rates of pulmonary embolism (2.1 vs. 11.7%, respectively) (38, 39). A post-mortem study by Wichmann et al. revealed an important interplay between COVID-19 and venous thrombosis events (37). Most importantly, the unique feature of COVID-19induced thrombosis is that it can be, both arterial and venous (32). Arterial thrombotic complications are less common (40), nevertheless, they can cause severe and devastating outcomes even with prescribed prophylactic anticoagulation therapy (41). A plethora of thrombotic complications are affecting cardiovascular and cerebrovascular systems (9, 10), myocardial infarction being the most prominent event (40, 42), and reaching

21% in the most recent meta-analysis study (43). Few studies suggested that ischemic stroke affects COVID-19 diseased younger people (6, 44, 45). Furthermore, the latest study by Xie et al. showed significantly higher cardiovascular outcomes after COVID-19 exposure (46), and cardiac complications have been linked to poor outcomes (43). Additionally, mesenteric ischemia is being reported in 1-5% of the cases with COVID-19 (38, 47). Besides macrovascular complications, more evidence demonstrates COVID-19-associated microvascular thrombotic events. Alveolar-capillary microthrombi have been found in severe COVID-19-induced ARDS cases (48-50). Nevertheless, more evidence shows that microangiopathy can cause complications in COVID-19 asymptomatic patients or patients with mild respiratory symptoms. An international study in perinatology recently demonstrated that pregnant women with mild COVID-19 symptoms resulted in placentitis leading to widespread placental insufficiency with subsequent fetal hypoxia and even lethal outcomes (51). In 37% of the examined placenta samples, multiple intervillous thrombi formations were identified and suggested as one of the contributing mechanisms to severe placental malperfusion. Another hypothesis of the possible presentation of SARS-CoV-2-induced microangiopathy was reported in several studies of case series showing increased incidence of "chilblains like" skin lesions during COVID-19 (52, 53). Moreover, this was supported by histological reports of skin biopsies where microthrombi were detected (54-56). The underlying hypothesis was SARS-CoV-2-associated epithelial damage, and secondary ischemia leading to the microangiopathic lesions (54). However, the clear confirmed pathogenesis and association of these skin lesions to COVID-19, especially in asymptomatic forms of the disease, is still under debate (57, 58). In general, the cause of various thrombosis in SARS-CoV-2 infection is closely related to coagulopathy, inflammation, platelet hyperactivity, thrombocytopathy, and endotheliopathy (9).

Role of the platelets in the immune system, inflammation, and COVID-19-associated thrombosis

For a long time, platelets have been known as cells playing role in thrombosis and hemostasis. It is noteworthy that recently they have been attributed a significant role as immune mediators (59, 60). Platelets are a nucleate blood cells derived from megakaryocytes that reside primarily within the bone marrow (61). Additionally, studies have shown that the lung can be a potential site for platelet biogenesis. In the lung, platelets function as antiseptic cells when released in the vicinity of potential pathogen entry (62).

Patients with acute COVID-19 tend to be in a prothrombotic state and have severe inflammation (63). COVID-19 thrombosis encompasses both arterial and venous thromboembolic events,

and they frequently co-occur with thrombocytopenia (32, 39). Systemic inflammation often leads to sepsis and septic shock and may present with increased platelet-leukocyte aggregates and thrombocytopenia (64-66). Genes encoding transcription factors involved in hematopoiesis and megakaryocyte biogenesis, such as Runt-related transcription factor 1 (RUNX1), GATA-binding factor 1 (GATA1), and others, have an impact on variations in platelet count (67-69). The liver produces thrombopoietin (TPO), which activates the TPO receptor in megakaryocytes to cause the creation of platelets through a process that is triggered by thrombocytopenia (70). In the final stage of platelet production, some of the transcription factors play a negative feedback role on TPO (71). Numerous cytokines can initiate megakaryopoiesis (e.g., interleukins 3, 6, and 11 (IL-3, IL-6, IL-11), fibroblast growth factor 4 (FGF4), and others) (72). Viruses can activate the host's cytokine profile to alter platelet formation through hepatic TPO synthesis. The simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), which increases tumor growth factor (TGF), causes the synthesis of TPO (73); human papilloma virus-6 (HPV6) may prevent the development of TPO-induced megakaryocytic colonies (74). Meanwhile, SARS-CoV-2 via its spike protein may trigger the production of antibodies that cross-react with human TPO, to induce thrombocytopenia (75). Conversely, SAR2-CoV-2 stimulates angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) expression, which leads to induced inflammation via angiotensin II (Ang II) resulting in IL-6 stimulated TPO augmentation (76). In inflammation, IL-6 raises the levels of TPO to promote the creation of platelets (77), therefore, it can be considered that an inflammatory environment is required for COVID-19-induced thrombosis.

Currently, more studies demonstrate direct viral-platelet interaction in platelet thrombotic and inflammatory function modulation (78, 79). Platelets do express pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLR), Nod-like receptors, or C-type lectin receptors (80). Those receptors are crucial in damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and exogenous pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) recognition. DAMPs and PAMPs are referred to as virusassociated molecular patterns (80-83). The attachment to DAMPs and PAMPs can initiate different intracellular pathways resulting in various pro-inflammatory cytokine production (84-87). In addition, platelet expression of functional TLR2 can further contribute to thrombotic pathway activation (84) (Figure 1). In the case of flu, the influenza virus has been proven to activate platelets via TLR-7 and Fcy receptor IIa (FcyRIIa). The platelet expression of FcyRIIa leads to the activation of immune complexes (88). Antibodies against self-antigens, such as antiphospholipidic antibodies, have been reported in COVID-19 patients (89). However, thrombus formation was seen in COVID-19 patients' serum that had low levels of antiphospholipidic antibodies (90). Nevertheless, aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike immunoglobulin G(IgG) complexes was found to be a significant factor in the



ability of these complexes to increase thrombus formation (91). Activation of TLR-7 evokes platelet degranulation, platelet-leucocyte aggregation, and NETosis stimulation leading to thrombus formation (79, 92) (Figure 1). Plasma from hospitalized COVID-19 patients demonstrated increased circulating platelet-neutrophil aggregates (93). Additionally, the autopsy of COVID-19 patients showed that microvascular thrombi composed of platelets and neutrophil extracellular traps were present (94). Also, recent studies show that platelets can internalize virus particles, and after viral ssRNA, dsRNA, or CpG DNA attachment to TLRs downstream signaling is initiated leading to platelet activation, platelet granule release, and P-selectin exposure (95, 96). P-selectin is a platelet receptor that has been linked to platelet activation. Platelets can bind to leukocytes via the P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 to mediate neutrophil rolling and intracellular leukocyte signaling (97, 98). Their depletion or blocking of the P-selectin-mediated interaction with neutrophils may reduce lung injury in COVID-19 (99). P-selectin, soluble CD40 ligand and others are released under platelet stimulation (100, 101). Their increased levels are observed in COVID-19 patients and P-selectin stimulates monocyte tissue factor (TF) expression contributing to a prothrombotic phenotype (102, 103).

Systemic levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF α , IL-1, and IL-6, are markedly elevated in severe COVID-19 (104). Moreover, the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF α , and IL-6 is dependent on Ang II (105, 106) (Figure 1), which amount is increased in SARS-CoV-2 infection (107). Angiotensin II (Ang II) contributes to endothelial dysfunction and the development of microvascular thrombosis (108), it stimulates TF expression, which is the physiological initiator of blood coagulation (109).

Also, Ang II triggers platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF) production (110) and increases platelet aggregation (111). In addition, P-selectin expression levels are enhanced by activated platelets and by endothelial cells during Ang II stimulation (112). The relationship between Ang II and a7nAchR has been determined when activation of $\alpha 7nAChR$ alleviated Ang II-mediated vascular smooth muscle senescence (113). Furthermore, it was suggested that decreased expression of α7nAchR might contribute to TNFα-induced vascular tissue inflammation, which was previously described as related to Ang II-mediated microvascular thrombosis (114). a7nAchR and the cholinergic system have been already studied regarding their beneficial role in COVID-19-induced hyperinflammation and disease outcomes (115, 116). Moreover, it has been shown that vagal stimulation via a7nAchR improves COVID-19induced lung infection and inflammation, as well as systemic hyperinflammation (117-119). Additionally, patients lacking a7nAchR levels presented with higher C-reactive protein (CRP) values, more pronounced lymphopenia, extended pulmonary lesions, and increased expression of the $TNF\alpha$ pathway (115). Despite that a7nAchR role in platelets is still not widely studied and not well summarized, thus, we will analyse currently present data and platelet a7nAchR role in COVID-19-induced thrombosis.

The cholinergic system, α7nAChR, and platelet role in COVID-19induced hyperthrombosis

More and more data suggest that the autonomous nervous system plays a crucial role in inflammation via a cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway (CAP). CAP is mainly composed of the parasympathetic nerves with the vagal nerve being most important together with acetylcholine (ACh) and its receptors (120). This pathway bridges the autonomic nervous system and immune system. Recently, the alleviating effect of COVID-19-induced hyperinflammation has been widely described in several studies (115, 117, 121-123). Under direct activation of the afferent vagal nerve, the main neurotransmitter ACh is released which further stimulates α7nAChR (124, 125) resulting in an anti-inflammatory response. Non-neuronal ACh was demonstrated to have an antiinflammatory potential as well. a7nAChR is widely present on different immune cells and a variety of other cells, such as neuronal, endothelial cells, and platelets (126-128). Increased levels of TNFa, IL-6, and CRP have been detected in a7nAChR knockout mice (124, 129). Moreover, endothelial cell activation as well as leucocyte recruitment can be inhibited via a7nAChR stimulation (126). In addition, platelet function can be modulated during the inflammation process (128, 130).

Several studies have shown that platelets do contain some components of a non-neuronal cholinergic system, e.g., ACh, choline acetyltransferase, and acetylcholinestares (131-133). It is known that acetylcholinestares (AChE), for instance, hydrolyses the neurotransmitter ACh in the nervous system. Under AChE excess, an inflammatory process can be promoted (134). Three C-terminal variants of AChE have been identified (135). One of them-is a read-through transcript which is formed through the continuous transcription through intron I-4. This variant has been demonstrated to play an active role in the hematopoietic system and could be linked with its regulation under specific conditions, such as development or stress (132). Moreover, few studies found RNA signals of nAChR subunits, as well as α 7 subunit in platelets (136, 137). Schedel et al. described functional α 7nAChR Ca²⁺ channels in human platelets and in the megakaryocytic lineage and proposed an autocrine regulation mechanism via released stored ACh (128). Platelets are known to store various molecules in their granules. Those different cargo molecules are released under stimulation and contribute to coagulation, inflammation, or facilitating adhesion to other cells (138, 139). Nevertheless, ACh could be presented via other cells, such as endothelial cells, which are in close contact with platelets (131). A study by Bennett et al. indicated that endogenous ACh produced by platelets does inhibit platelet activation (140). It was demonstrated that via elevated nitric oxide (NO), ACh inhibits platelet degranulation, inhibits P-selectin externalization, and glycoprotein IIb IIIa (GPIIbIIIa) activation (141, 142) (Figure 1). Moreover, platelets express nitric oxide synthase 3 (NOS3) which may regulate platelets by an endogenous NO pathway (143). Few studies have shown that inhaled NO downregulates P-selectin, platelet aggregation, and fibrinogen binding in severe ARDS (144, 145). Kooijman et al. confirmed that mice lacking α7nAChR showed increased platelet aggregation ex vivo (130). Still, the hypothesis by authors has been raised that only a lack of both, platelet and endothelial a7nAChR could be associated with a significant impact on inflammation. Afterall, the role of endothelial cells in a cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway is not well studied. Platelet and endothelial cell interaction is clearly described and shown to be important in various inflammatory conditions. Endothelial cell disruption during COVID-19 and released cytokines can be a possible mechanism of thrombosis (146). In addition, it has been demonstrated that platelets do play a crucial role in hypercoagulation during COVID-19 (147). Additionally, few studies revealed that monomeric C-reactive protein (mCRP) is linked with platelet activation which is mediated via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (148). Interestingly, ACh has been shown to block mCRP binding and related pro-inflammatory action (149). MAPK is highly important in platelet activation, aggregation, and thrombus formation (150, 151). Moreover, the involvement and activation

of p38 MAPK has already been widely described in SARS-CoV-2 (152). In addition, p38 MAPK can facilitate viral entry *via* ACE2 (153).

Interestingly, a7nAChR can be activated via choline as well (154). Choline is a precursor of ACh and phosphocholine (PC). It can efficiently act and is a relatively selective α 7nAChR agonist (155). In COVID-19 patients, choline has been found to be downregulated, particularly in severe cases (156). Meanwhile, the intermediate product phosphatidylcholine has been detected to be upregulated. The possible underlying mechanism could be macrophage polarization associated with pathogen presentation (157). This further results in various cytokine secretion as a response to a COVID-19 infection. Another study showed that higher choline levels in pregnant women were associated with protective action against COVID-19 in fetal brain development (158). A recent study identified choline's role in platelet activation and thrombosis. The genetic loci including Slc44a2 have been already studied in thrombosis (159). Slc44a2 was demonstrated to mediate choline transport into mitochondria which results in mitochondrial oxygen consumption and ATP production (159). Mitochondrial dysfunction induces ATP decrease which results in decreased ATP release from platelets. Moreover, decreased ADP causes lower activation of platelets. Slc44a2 was already associated with venous thromboembolism (160, 161). In addition, Slc44a2 is well defined as a human neutrophil antigen (162). Moreover, it was proven to directly interact with platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ and trigger NETosis leading to thrombosis (163, 164) (Figure 1). PC is nAChR agonist as well (165). Studies showed its inhibitory potential for IL-1beta release from monocytes in α 7nAChR dependent manner (166). Furthermore, PC epitopes are exposed on various pathogens and their interaction with host proteins, such as platelet-activating factor receptors (167, 168) leads to pathogen adhesion to the surface of the host cell and cell invasion (169, 170). Nevertheless, less is known regarding PC function and excretion from platelets and involvement in SARS-CoV-2 or other viral pathogeninduced inflammation and/or thrombosis. To date, only one study defined that platelets could release choline metabolites under stimulation (171).

Conclusion

Concluding, the prothrombotic state of COVID-19 is multifactorial, nevertheless, platelets do play an important role in inducing COVID-19 hypercoagulation and thrombosis. Due to their different secretory factors which induce coagulation and inflammation, they participate in thrombosis induction *via* different pathways. One of the possible and less studied is the cholinergic system and platelet α 7nAChR which has been less studied but could be a very significant part in SARS-CoV-2-induced infection. As previously shown, nervus vagus stimulation can benefit COVID-19-associated hyperinflammation, thus, *via* platelet α 7nAChR it might decrease coagulation and thrombotic process together with decreased inflammatory factors (which additionally activate platelets) and benefit COVID-19 patients. Different studies show that platelets can produce choline products under stimulation, thus, α 7nAChR could be stimulated leading to its beneficial antiinflammatory and possible anti-thrombotic effect. However, more studies are necessary to confirm this hypothesis.

Author contributions

LJ: hypothesis, editing, visualization, and supervision. LJ, MM, and AS: analysis, writing original draft, and review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Publishing costs were partially covered by a local fund of Scientific center of Lithuanian University of Health Sciences.

Acknowledgments

We kindly thank Prof. E. Kaniušas for the initial knowledge and for giving us motivation to further analyse data with regard to vagal involvement in COVID-19. Moreover, we are grateful for Saravanan Subramaniam for inviting us to contribute.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Pijls BG, Jolani S, Atherley A, Derckx RT, Dijkstra JIR, Franssen GHL, et al. Demographic risk factors for COVID-19 infection, severity, ICU admission and death: a meta-analysis of 59 studies. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e044640. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-044640

2. Viner RM, Mytton OT, Bonell C, Melendez-Torres GJ, Ward J, Hudson L, et al. Susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 infection among children and adolescents compared with adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2021) 175:143–56. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.4573

3. Hodgens A, Gupta V. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls (2022).

4. Rello J, Storti E, Belliato M, Serrano R. Clinical phenotypes of SARS-CoV-2: implications for clinicians and researchers. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 55:1182– 96. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01028-2020

5. Lusczek ER, Ingraham NE, Karam BS, Proper J, Siegel L, Helgeson ES, et al. Characterizing COVID-19 clinical phenotypes and associated comorbidities and complication profiles. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0248956. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248956

6. Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers DAMPJ, Kant KM, et al. Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:145–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013

7. Middeldorp S, Coppens M, van Haaps TF, Foppen M, Vlaar AP, Müller MCA, et al. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1995–2002. doi: 10.1111/jth.14888

8. Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:844–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.14768

9. Gu SX, Tyagi T, Jain K, Gu VW, Lee SH, Hwa JM, et al. Thrombocytopathy and endotheliopathy: crucial contributors to COVID-19 thromboinflammation. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2021) 18:194–209. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-00469-1

10. Miesbach W, Makris M. COVID-19: coagulopathy, risk of thrombosis, and the rationale for anticoagulation. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.* (2020) 26:1076029620938149. doi: 10.1177/1076029620938149

11. Levy M, Recher M, Hubert H, Javouhey E, Fléchelles O, Leteurtre S, et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children by COVID-19 vaccination status of adolescents in France. *JAMA*. (2022) 327:281–3. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.23262

12. Riphagen S, Gomez X, Gonzalez-Martinez C, Wilkinson N, Theocharis P. Hyperinflammatory shock in children during COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1607–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31094-1

13. Verdoni L, Mazza A, Gervasoni A, Martelli L, Ruggeri M, Ciuffreda M, et al. An outbreak of severe Kawasaki-like disease at the Italian epicentre of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic: an observational cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1771–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31103-X

14. Radia T, Williams N, Agrawal P, Harman K, Weale J, Cook J, et al. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children and adolescents (MIS-C): a systematic review of clinical features and presentation. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2021) 38:51– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2020.08.001

15. Morris SB, Schwartz NG, Patel P, Abbo L, Beauchamps L, Balan S, et al. Case series of multisystem inflammatory syndrome in adults associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection—United Kingdom and United States, March-August 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2020) 69:1450–6. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6940e1

16. Patel P, Decuir J, Abrams J, Campbell AP, Godfred-Cato S, Belay ED. Clinical characteristics of multisystem inflammatory syndrome in adults: a systematic review. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4: e146614. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.26456

17. Buonsenso D, Mariani F, Pierri L, Morello R, Yock-Corrales A, del Aguila O, et al. Association between coagulation profile and clinical outcome in children with SARS-CoV-2 infection or MIS-C: a multicenter cross-sectional study. *Children.* (2022) 9:279. doi: 10.3390/children9020279

18. Gómez-Mesa JE, Galindo-Coral S, Montes MC, Muñoz Martin AJ. Thrombosis and coagulopathy in COVID-19. *Curr Probl Cardiol.* (2021) 46:100742. doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2020.100742

19. Czupryna P, Moniuszko-Malinowska A, Rogalska M, Zarebska-Michaluk D, Lorenc B, Rorat M, et al. Inflammatory and thrombotic parameters associated with the COVID-19 course in Poland (SARSTer study). Adv Med Sci. (2022) 67:291. doi: 10.1016/j.advms.2022. 07.003 20. Ozen M, Yilmaz A, Cakmak V, Beyoglu R, Oskay A, Seyit M, et al. D-Dimer as a potential biomarker for disease severity in COVID-19. *Am J Emerg Med.* (2021) 40:55–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.12.023

21. Yao Y, Cao J, Wang Q, Shi Q, Liu K, Luo Z, et al. D-dimer as a biomarker for disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients: a case control study. *J Intensive Care*. (2020) 8:1097–8. doi: 10.1186/s40560-020-00466-z

22. Zhang L, Yan X, Fan Q, Liu H, Liu X, Liu Z, et al. D-dimer levels on admission to predict in-hospital mortality in patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1324–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14859

23. Jiang SQ, Huang QF, Xie WM, Lv C, Quan XQ. The association between severe COVID-19 and low platelet count: evidence from 31 observational studies involving 7613 participants. *Br J Haematol.* (2020) 190:e29–33. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16817

24. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:1708–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032

25. Lippi G, Plebani M, Henry BM. Thrombocytopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a meta-analysis. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2020) 506:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.03.022

26. Yang X, Yang Q, Wang Y, Wu Y, Xu J, Yu Y, et al. Thrombocytopenia and its association with mortality in patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1469–72. doi: 10.1111/jth.14848

27. Tan LY, Komarasamy TV, RMT Balasubramaniam V. Hyperinflammatory immune response and COVID-19: a double edged sword. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:3981. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.742941

28. Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, Gong J, Li D, Sun Z. Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1094–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14817

29. Barnes BJ, Adrover JM, Baxter-Stoltzfus A, Borczuk A, Cools-Lartigue J, Crawford JM, et al. Targeting potential drivers of COVID-19: neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Exp Med.* (2020) 217:e20200652. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200652

30. Becker RC. COVID-19 update: Covid-19-associated coagulopathy. J Thromb Thrombolysis. (2020) 50:54. doi: 10.1007/s11239-020-02134-3

31. Nahum J, Morichau-Beauchant T, Daviaud F, Echegut P, Fichet J, Maillet JM, et al. Venous thrombosis among critically ill patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2010478-e2010478. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.10478

32. Levi M, Thachil J, Iba T, Levy JH. Coagulation abnormalities and thrombosis in patients with COVID-19. *Lancet Haematol.* (2020) 7:e438-40. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30145-9

33. Lodigiani C, Iapichino G, Carenzo L, Cecconi M, Ferrazzi P, Sebastian T, et al. Venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19 patients admitted to an academic hospital in Milan, Italy. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.024

34. Alahyari S, Moradi M, Rajaeinejad M, Jalaeikhoo H. Post-COVID-19 hematologic complications: a systematic review. *Expert Rev Hematol.* (2022) 15:539-46. doi: 10.1080/17474086.2022.2080051

35. Mumoli N, Dentali F, Conte G, Colombo A, Capra R, Porta C, et al. Upper extremity deep vein thrombosis in COVID-19: incidence and correlated risk factors in a cohort of non-ICU patients. *PLoS One.* (2022) 17:e0262522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262522

36. Baccellieri D, Bertoglio L, Apruzzi L, Ardita V, D'Angelo A, Bossi M, et al. Incidence of deep venous thrombosis in COVID-19 hospitalized patients during the first peak of the Italian outbreak. *Phlebology.* (2021) 36:375–83. doi: 10.1177/0268355520975592

37. Wichmann D, Sperhake JP, Lütgehetmann M, Steurer S, Edler C, Heinemann A, et al. Autopsy findings and venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:268–77. doi: 10.7326/M20-2003

38. Helms J, Tacquard C, Severac F, Leonard-Lorant I, Ohana M, Delabranche X, et al. High risk of thrombosis in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:1089–98. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06062-x

39. Klok FA, Kruip MJHA, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers D, Kant KM, et al. Confirmation of the high cumulative incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19: an updated analysis. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:148–50. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020. 04.041

40. Bilaloglu S, Aphinyanaphongs Y, Jones S, Iturrate E, Hochman J, Berger JS. Thrombosis in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in a New York City health system. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:799–801. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.13372

41. Kashi M, Jacquin A, Dakhil B, Zaimi R, Mahé E, Tella E, et al. Severe arterial thrombosis associated with COVID-19 infection. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 192:75–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.05.025

42. Katsoularis I, Fonseca-Rodríguez O, Farrington P, Lindmark K, Fors Connolly AM. Risk of acute myocardial infarction and ischaemic stroke following COVID-19 in Sweden: a self-controlled case series and matched cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:599–607. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00896-5

43. Jafari-Oori M, Moradian ST, Ebadi A, Jafari M, Dehi M. Incidence of cardiac complications following COVID-19 infection: an umbrella meta-analysis study. *Heart Lung.* (2022) 52:136–45. doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2022.01.001

44. Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:683–90. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020. 1127

45. Oxley TJ, Mocco J, Majidi S, Kellner CP, Shoirah H, Singh IP, et al. Largevessel stroke as a presenting feature of COVID-19 in the Young. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:e60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2009787

46. Xie Y, Xu E, Bowe B, Al-Aly Z. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes of COVID-19. *Nat Med.* (2022) 28:583–90. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01689-3

47. Gorog DA, Storey RF, Gurbel PA, Tantry US, Berger JS, Chan MY, et al. Current and novel biomarkers of thrombotic risk in COVID-19: a consensus statement from the international COVID-19 thrombosis biomarkers colloquium. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2022) 19:475–95. doi: 10.1038/s41569-021-00665-7

48. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in COVID-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:120–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432

49. Fox SE, Akmatbekov A, Harbert JL Li G, Quincy Brown J, vander Heide RS. Pulmonary and cardiac pathology in African American patients with COVID-19: an autopsy series from New Orleans. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:681– 6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30243-5

50. Dolhnikoff M, Duarte-Neto AN, de Almeida Monteiro RA, da Silva LFF, de Oliveira EP, Saldiva PHN, et al. Pathological evidence of pulmonary thrombotic phenomena in severe COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1517–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14844

51. Schwartz DA, Hyg M, Avvad-Portari E, Baba P, Baldewijns M, Blomberg M, et al. Placental tissue destruction and insufficiency from COVID-19 causes stillbirth and neonatal death from hypoxic-ischemic injury: study of 68 cases with SARS-CoV-2 placentitis from 12 countries. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* (2022) 146:660–76. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2022-0029-SA

52. Piccolo V, Neri I, Filippeschi C, Oranges T, Argenziano G, Battarra VC, et al. Chilblain-like lesions during COVID-19 epidemic: a preliminary study on 63 patients. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol.* (2020) 34:e291–3. doi: 10.1111/jdv.16526

53. Fernandez-Nieto D, Jimenez-Cauhe J, Suarez-Valle A, Moreno-Arrones OM, Saceda-Corralo D, Arana-Raja A, et al. Characterization of acute acral skin lesions in nonhospitalized patients: A case series of 132 patients during the COVID-19 outbreak. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2020) 83:e61–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.093

54. Colmenero I, Santonja C, Alonso-Riaño M, Noguera-Morel L, Hernández-Martín A, Andina D, et al. SARS-CoV-2 endothelial infection causes COVID-19 chilblains: histopathological, immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study of seven paediatric cases. *Br J Dermatol.* (2020) 183:729–37. doi: 10.1111/bjd.19327

55. Rocha KO, Zanuncio VV, Freitas BAC de, Lima LM. "COVID toes": a meta-analysis of case and observational studies on clinical, histopathological, and laboratory findings. *Pediatr Dermatol.* (2021) 38:1143–9. doi: 10.1111/pde.14805

56. Kolivras A, Dehavay F, Delplace D, Feoli F, Meiers I, Milone L, et al. Coronavirus (COVID-19) infection-induced chilblains: a case report with histopathologic findings. *JAAD Case Rep.* (2020) 6:489–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jdcr.2020. 04.011

57. le Cleach L, Dousset L, Assier H, Fourati S, Barbarot S, Boulard C, et al. Most chilblains observed during the COVID-19 outbreak occur in patients who are negative for COVID-19 on polymerase chain reaction and serology testing*. *Br J Dermatol.* (2020) 183:866–74. doi: 10.1111/bjd. 19377

58. de Masson A, Bouaziz JD, Sulimovic L, Cassius C, Jachiet M, Ionescu MA, et al. Chilblains is a common cutaneous finding during the COVID-19 pandemic: A retrospective nationwide study from France. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* (2020) 83:667–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.161

59. Mezger M, Nording H, Sauter R, Graf T, Heim C, von Bubnoff N, et al. Platelets and immune responses during thromboinflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01731

60. Hottz ED, Bozza FA, Bozza PT. Platelets in immune response to virus and immunopathology of viral infections. *Front Med (Lausanne)* (2018) 5:121. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2018.00121

61. Sim X, Poncz M, Gadue P, French DL. Understanding platelet generation from megakaryocytes: implications for in vitro-derived platelets. *Blood.* (2016) 127:1227. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-08-6 07929

62. Lefrançais E, Looney MR. Platelet biogenesis in the lung circulation. *Physiology.* (2019) 34:392–401. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00017.2019

63. Abou-Ismail MY, Diamond A, Kapoor S, Arafah Y, Nayak L. The hypercoagulable state in COVID-19: Incidence, pathophysiology, and management. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 194:101. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.06.029

64. Kälsch T, Elmas E, Nguyen XD, Suvajac N, Klüter H, Borggrefe M, et al. Endotoxin-induced effects on platelets and monocytes in an in vivo model of inflammation. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (2007) 102:460-6. doi: 10.1007/s00395-007-0667-y

65. Gawaz M, Dickfeld T, Bogner C, Fateh-Moghadam S, Neumann FJ. Platelet function in septic multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Intens Care Med.* (1997) 23:379–85. doi: 10.1007/s001340050344

66. Gawaz M, Fateh-Moghadam S, Pilz G, Gurland H.-J., Werdan K. Platelet activation and interaction with leucocytes in patients with sepsis or multiple organ failure. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (1995) 25:843–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.1995.tb01694.x

67. Palma-barqueros V, Revilla N, Sánchez A, Cánovas AZ, Rodriguez-alén A, Marín-quílez A, et al. Inherited platelet disorders: an updated overview. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:4521. doi: 10.3390/ijms22094521

68. Balduini CL, Melazzini F, Pecci A. Inherited thrombocytopeniasrecent advances in clinical and molecular aspects. *Platelets*. (2017) 28:3– 13. doi: 10.3109/09537104.2016.1171835

69. Almazni I, Stapley R, Morgan N. Inherited thrombocytopenia: update on genes and genetic variants which may be associated with bleeding. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2019) 6:80. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00080

70. Grozovsky R, Giannini S, Falet H, Hoffmeister KM. Regulating billions of blood platelets: glycans and beyond. *Blood.* (2015) 126:1877-84. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-569129

71. Guo T, Wang X, Qu Y, Yin Y, Jing T, Zhang Q. Megakaryopoiesis and platelet production: insight into hematopoietic stem cell proliferation and differentiation. *Stem Cell Investig.* (2015) 2. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2306-9759.2015.02.0

72. de Graaf CA, Metcalf D. Thrombopoietin and hematopoietic stem cells. 10:1582-9. doi: 10.4161/cc.10.10.15619

73. Pate KAM, Lyons CE, Dorsey JL, Queen SE, Adams RJ, Morrell CN, et al. TGFβ-mediated downregulation of thrombopoietin is associated with platelet decline in asymptomatic SIV infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.* (2014) 65:510–6. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000000048

74. Yamanishi K, Mori Y. Human herpesvirus 6 and human herpesvirus 7. Clinical Virology. (2016) 7:511-22. doi: 10.1128/9781555819439.ch24

75. Nunez-Castilla J, Stebliankin V, Baral P, Balbin CA, Sobhan M, Cickovski T, et al. Potential autoimmunity resulting from molecular mimicry between SARS-CoV-2 Spike and human proteins. *bioRxiv*. (2022) 33199:2021.08.10.455737. doi: 10.1101/2021.08.10.455737

76. Sriram K, Insel PA. Inflammation and thrombosis in covid-19 pathophysiology: proteinase-activated and purinergic receptors as drivers and candidate therapeutic targets. *Physiol Rev.* (2021) 101:545–67. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2020

77. Kaser A, Brandacher G, Steurer W, Kaser S, Offner FA, Zoller H, et al. Interleukin-6 stimulates thrombopoiesis through thrombopoietin: role in inflammatory thrombocytosis. *Blood.* (2001) 98:2720–5. doi: 10.1182/blood.V98.9.2720

78. Assinger A. Platelets and infection—an emerging role of platelets in viral infection. *Front Immunol.* (2014). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00649

79. Koupenova M, Clancy L, Corkrey HA, Freedman JE. Circulating platelets as mediators of immunity, inflammation, and thrombosis. *Circ Res.* (2018) 122:337–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310795

80. Dib PRB, Quirino-Teixeira AC, Merij LB, Pinheiro MBM, Rozini SV, Andrade FB, et al. Innate immune receptors in platelets and platelet-leukocyte interactions. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2020) 108:1157–82. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4MR0620-701R

81. Zhang S, Zhang S, Hu L, Zhai L, Xue R, Ye J, et al. Nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain 2 receptor is expressed in platelets and enhances platelet activation and thrombosis. *Circulation.* (2015) 131:1160– 70. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013743 82. Schattner M. Platelet TLR4 at the crossroads of thrombosis and the innate immune response. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2019) 105:873–80. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0618-213R

83. Clemetson KJ, Clemetson JM. Platelet receptors. In: *Platelets*. New York: Academic Press (2019). p. 169–92. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-813456-6.00009-6

84. Blair P, Rex S, Vitseva O, Beaulieu L, Tanriverdi K, Chakrabarti S, et al. Stimulation of toll-like receptor 2 in human platelets induces a thromboinflammatory response through activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Circ Res.* (2009) 104:346–54. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.185785

85. Rivadeneyra L, Carestia A, Etulain J, Pozner RG, Fondevila C, Negrotto S, et al. Regulation of platelet responses triggered by Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 ligands is another non-genomic role of nuclear factor-kappaB. *Thromb Res.* (2014) 133:235–43. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2013.11.028

86. Wu J. Chen ZJ. Innate Immune Sensing and Signaling of Cytosolic Nucleic Acids. (2014) 32:461-88. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120156

87. Zhang G, Han J, Welch EJ, Ye RD, Voyno-Yasenetskaya TA, Malik AB, et al. Lipopolysaccharide stimulates platelet secretion and potentiates platelet aggregation via TLR4/MyD88 and the cGMP-dependent protein kinase pathway. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:7997–8004. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802884

88. Jevtic SD, Nazy I. The COVID complex: a review of platelet activation and immune complexes in COVID-19. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:807934. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.807934

89. Serrano M, Espinosa G, Serrano A, Cervera R. Antigens and antibodies of the antiphospholipid syndrome as new allies in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 coagulopathy. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2022) 23:4946. doi: 10.3390/ijms23094946

90. Espinosa G, Zamora-Martínez C, Pérez-Isidro A, Neto D, Bravo-Gallego LY, Prieto-González S, et al. Persistent antiphospholipid antibodies are not associated with worse clinical outcomes in a prospective cohort of hospitalised patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:911979. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.911979

91. Bye AP, Hoepel W, Mitchell JL, Jégouic S, Loureiro S, Sage T, et al. Aberrant glycosylation of anti-SARS-CoV-2 spike IgG is a prothrombotic stimulus for platelets. *Blood.* (2021) 138:1481–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021011871

92. Koupenova M, Vitseva O, MacKay CR, Beaulieu LM, Benjamin EJ, Mick E, et al. Platelet-TLR7 mediates host survival and platelet count during viral infection in the absence of platelet-dependent thrombosis. *Blood.* (2014) 124:791–802. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-536003

93. Taus F, Salvagno G, Canè S, Fava C, Mazzaferri F, Carrara E, et al. Platelets promote thromboinflammation in SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2020) 40:2975–89. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120. 315175

94. Middleton EA, He XY, Denorme F, Campbell RA, Ng D, Salvatore SP, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to immunothrombosis in COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1169–79. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020 007008

95. Banerjee M, Huang Y, Joshi S, Popa GJ, Mendenhall MD, Wang QJ, et al. Platelets endocytose viral particles and are activated via TLR (toll-like receptor) signaling. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2020) 40:1635-50. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.314180

96. Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Manni G, Pang CJ, Clancy L, et al. The role of platelets in mediating a response to human influenza infection. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1–18. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09607-x

97. Frenette PS, Denis C, Weiss L, Jurk K, Subbarao S, Kehrel B, et al. *P*-Selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) is expressed on platelets and can mediate platelet-endothelial interactions in vivo. *J Exp Med.* (2000) 191:1413–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.8.1413

98. Evangelista V, Manarini S, Coller BS, Smyth SS. Role of P-selectin, beta2integrins, and Src tyrosine kinases in mouse neutrophil-platelet adhesion. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2003) 1:1048–54. doi: 10.1046/j.1538-7836.2003.00214.x

99. Barale C, Melchionda E, Morotti A, Russo I. Prothrombotic phenotype in COVID-19: focus on platelets. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:13638. doi: 10.3390/ijms222413638

100. Cunin P, Nigrovic PA. Megakaryocytes as immune cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2019) 105:1111–21. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0718-261RR

101. Jenne CN, Urrutia R, Kubes P. Platelets: bridging hemostasis, inflammation, and immunity. *Int J Lab Hematol.* (2013) 35:254–61. doi: 10.1111/ijlh. 12084

102. Goshua G, Pine AB, Meizlish ML, Chang CH, Zhang H, Bahel P, et al. Endotheliopathy in COVID-19-associated coagulopathy: evidence

from a single-centre, cross-sectional study. Lancet Haematol. (2020) 7:e575-82. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30216-7

103. Frantzeskaki F, Armaganidis A, Orfanos SE. Immunothrombosis in acute respiratory distress syndrome: cross talks between inflammation and coagulation. *Respiration*. (2017) 93:212–25. doi: 10.1159/000453002

104. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

105. Luther JM, Gainer J, Murphey LJ, Yu C, Vaughan DE, Morrow JD, et al. Angiotensin II induces interleukin-6 in humans through a mineralocorticoid receptor-dependent mechanism. *Hypertension*. (2006) 48:1050-7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000248135.97380.76

106. Sturgis LC, Brands MW. Role of TNF- α in the dependency of angiotensin II hypertension on IL-6. *FASEB J.* (2007) 21:A590–A590. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.21.5.A590-a

107. Camargo RL, Bombassaro B, Monfort-Pires M, Mansour E, Palma AC, Ribeiro LC, et al. Plasma angiotensin II is increased in critical coronavirus disease 2019. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2022) 9:847809. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.847809

108. Senchenkova EY, Russell J, Almeida-Paula LD, Harding JW, Granger DN. Angiotensin II-mediated microvascular thrombosis. *Hypertension.* (2010) 56:1089–95. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.15 8220

109. Celi A, Cianchetti S, Dellomo G, Pedrinelli R. Angiotensin II, tissue factor and the thrombotic paradox of hypertension. *Exp Rev Cardiovasc Therapy*. (2014) 8:1723–9. doi: 10.1586/erc.10.161

110. Deguchi JO, Makuuchi M, Nakaoka T, Collins T, Takuwa Y. Angiotensin II stimulates platelet-derived growth factor-B chain expression in newborn rat vascular smooth muscle cells and neointimal cells through Ras, extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase, and c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase mechanisms. *Circ Res.* (1999) 85:565–74. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.85.7.565

111. López-Farré A, Sánchez de Miguel L, Montón M, Jiménez A, Lopez-Bloya A, Gómez J, et al. Angiotensin II AT1 receptor antagonists and platelet activation. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2001) 16(suppl_1):45–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/16.suppl_1.45

112. Liu G, Liang B, Song X, Bai R, Qin W, Sun X, et al. P-selectin increases angiotensin II-induced cardiac inflammation and fibrosis via platelet activation. *Mol Med Rep.* (2016) 13:5021–8. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.5186

113. Li DJ, Huang F, Ni M, Fu H, Zhang LS, Shen FM. α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor relieves angiotensin II-induced senescence in vascular smooth muscle cells by raising nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide-dependent SIRT1 activity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2016) 36:1566–76. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.307157

114. Chen JK, Zhao T, Ni M, Li DJ, Tao X, Shen FM. Downregulation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in two-kidney one-clip hypertensive rats. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. (2012) 12:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-12-38

115. Courties A, Boussier J, Hadjadj J, Yatim N, Barnabei L, Péré H, et al. Regulation of the acetylcholine/ α 7nAChR anti-inflammatory pathway in COVID-19 patients. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-91417-7

116. Alexandris N, Lagoumintzis G, Chasapis CT, Leonidas DD, Papadopoulos GE, Tzartos SJ, et al. Nicotinic cholinergic system and COVID-19: in silico evaluation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists as potential therapeutic interventions. *Toxicol Rep.* (2021) 8:73–83. doi: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2020.12.013

117. Seitz T, Szeles JC, Kitzberger R, Holbik J, Grieb A, Wolf H, et al. Percutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation reduces inflammation in critical covid-19 patients. *Front Physiol.* (2022) 13:897257. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.897257

118. Wu H, Li L, Su X. Vagus nerve through α 7 nAChR modulates lung infection and inflammation: models, cells, and signals. *Biomed Res Int.* (2014) 2014:283525. doi: 10.1155/2014/283525

119. Caravaca AS, Gallina AL, Tarnawski L, Shavva VS, Colas RA, Dalli J, et al. Vagus nerve stimulation promotes resolution of inflammation by a mechanism that involves Alox15 and requires the α 7nAChR subunit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2022) 119:e2023285119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2023285119

120. van Maanen MA, Vervoordeldonk MJ, Tak PP. The cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway: towards innovative treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2009) 5:229–32. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2009.31

121. Qin Z, Xiang K, Su DF, Sun Y, Liu X. Activation of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway as a novel therapeutic strategy for COVID-19. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 11:3870. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.595342

122. Kaniusas E, Szeles JC, Kampusch S, Alfageme-Lopez N, Yucuma-Conde D, Li X, et al. Non-invasive auricular vagus nerve stimulation as a potential treatment for covid19-originated acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Front Physiol*. (2020) 11:890. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00890 123. Jankauskaite L, Malinauskas M, Mickeviciute GC. HMGB1: a potential target of nervus vagus stimulation in pediatric SARS-CoV-2-induced ALI/ARDS. *Front Pediatr.* (2022) 10:884539. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.884539

124. Wang H, Yu M, Ochani M, Amelia CA, Tanovic M, Susarla S, et al. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature*. (2003) 421:384–8. doi: 10.1038/nature01339

125. Vieira-Alves I, Coimbra-Campos LMC, Sancho M, da Silva RF, Cortes SF, Lemos VS. Role of the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *Front Physiol.* (2020) 11:1719. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.621769

126. Saeed RW, Varma S, Peng-Nemeroff T, Sherry B, Balakhaneh D, Huston J, et al. Cholinergic stimulation blocks endothelial cell activation and leukocyte recruitment during inflammation. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:1113–23. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040463

127. Steinlein O. New functions for nicotinic acetylcholine receptors? *Behav Brain Res.* (1998) 95:31–5. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4328(97)00207-6

128. Schedel A, Thornton S, Schloss P, Klüter H, Bugert P. Human platelets express functional alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:928–34. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.218297

129. Wilund KR, Rosenblat M, Chung HR, Volkova N, Kaplan M, Woods JA, et al. Macrophages from alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice demonstrate increased cholesterol accumulation and decreased cellular paraoxonase expression: a possible link between the nervous system and atherosclerosis development. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2009) 390:148–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.09.088

130. Kooijman S, Meurs I, van der Stoep M, Habets KL, Lammers B, Berbée JFP, et al. Hematopoietic α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor deficiency increases inflammation and platelet activation status, but does not aggravate atherosclerosis. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2015) 13:126–35. doi: 10.1111/jth.12765

131. Wessler I, Kirkpatrick CJ. Acetylcholine beyond neurons: the nonneuronal cholinergic system in humans. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2008) 154:1558– 71. doi: 10.1038/bjp.2008.185

132. Deutsch VR, Pick M, Perry C, Grisaru D, Hemo Y, Golan-Hadari D, et al. The stress-associated acetylcholinesterase variant AChE-R is expressed in human CD34 hematopoietic progenitors and its C-terminal peptide ARP promotes their proliferation. *Exp Hematol.* (2002) 30:1153–61. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00900-1

133. Pick M, Perry C, Lapidot T, Guimaraes-Sternberg C, Naparstek E, Deutsch V, et al. Stress-induced cholinergic signaling promotes inflammation-associated thrombopoiesis. *Blood.* (2006) 107:3397–406. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3240

134. Pick M, Flores-Flores C, Grisaru D, Shochat S, Deutsch V, Soreq H. Bloodcell-specific acetylcholinesterase splice variations under changing stimuli. *Int J Dev Neurosci.* (2004) 22:523–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.07.016

135. Aziz-Aloya R ben, Sternfeld M, Soreq H. Chapter 16: promoter elements and alternative splicing in the human ACHE gene. *Prog Brain Res.* (1993) 98:147–53. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(08)62392-4

136. Bugert P, Klüter H. Profiling of gene transcripts in human platelets: an update of the platelet transcriptome. *Platelets*. (2009) 17:503–4. doi: 10.1080/09537100600901491

137. Bugert P, Dugrillon A, Günaydin A, Eichler H, Klüter H. Messenger RNA profiling of human platelets by microarray hybridization. *Thromb Haemost.* (2003) 90:738–48. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1613622

138. Heijnen H, van der Sluijs P. Platelet secretory behaviour: as diverse as the granules ... or not? *J Thromb Haemostasis.* (2015) 13:2141–51. doi: 10.1111/jth.13147

139. Blair P, Flaumenhaft R. Platelet α -granules: basic biology and clinical correlates. Blood Rev. (2009) 23:177. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2009.04.001

140. Bennett JA, Ture SK, Schmidt RA, Mastrangelo MA, Cameron SJ, Terry LE, et al. Acetylcholine inhibits platelet activation. *J Pharmacol Exp Therap.* (2019) 369:182–7. doi: 10.1124/jpet.118.253583

141. Bennett J, Cameron SJ. Acetylcholine inhibits platelet activation and regulates hemostasis. *BioRxiv*, 324319.

142. Jeske WP, Walenga JM, Szatkowski E, Ero M, Herbert JM, Haas S, et al. Effect of glycoprotein IIb/IIIa antagonists on the HIT serum induced activation of platelets. *Thromb Res.* (1997) 88:271–81. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(97) 00254-5

143. Sase K, Michel T. Expression of constitutive endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human blood platelets. *Life Sci.* (1995) 57:2049–55. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(95)02191-K

144. Gries A, Bode C, Peter K, Herr A, Böhrer H, Motsch J, et al. Inhaled nitric oxide inhibits human platelet aggregation, P-selectin expression,

and fibrinogen binding in vitro and in vivo. Circulation. (1998) 97:1481-7. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.97.15.1481

145. Chung A, Wildhirt SM, Wang S, Koshal A, Radomski MW. Combined administration of nitric oxide gas and iloprost during cardiopulmonary bypass reduces platelet dysfunction: a pilot clinical study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* (2005) 129:782–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2004.06.049

146. Escher R, Breakey N, Lämmle B. Severe COVID-19 infection associated with endothelial activation. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 190:62. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.014

147. Litvinov RI, Evtugina NG, Peshkova AD, Safiullina SI, Andrianova IA, Khabirova AI, et al. Altered platelet and coagulation function in moderate-to-severe COVID-19. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–14. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-95397-6

148. Molins B, Pea E, de La Torre R, Badimon L. Monomeric C-reactive protein is prothrombotic and dissociates from circulating pentameric C-reactive protein on adhered activated platelets under flow. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2011) 92:328–37. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr226

149. Slevin M, Iemma RS, Zeinolabediny Y, Liu D, Ferris GR, Caprio V, et al. Acetylcholine inhibits monomeric C-reactive protein induced inflammation, endothelial cell adhesion, and platelet aggregation; a potential therapeutic? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2124. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02124

150. Flaumenhaft R. Platelets and thrombopoiesis: stressed platelets ASK1 for a MAPK. *Blood*. (2017) 129:1066. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-01-760546

151. Li Z, Xi X, Du X. A mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent signaling pathway in the activation of platelet integrin alpha IIbbeta3. *J Biol Chem.* (2001) 276:42226–32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M106129200

152. Battagello DS, Dragunas G, Klein MO, Ayub ALP, Velloso FJ, Correa RG. Unpuzzling COVID-19: tissue-related signaling pathways associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection and transmission. *Clin Sci (Lond).* (2020) 134:2137-60. doi: 10.1042/CS20200904

153. Grimes JM, Grimes K. p38 MAPK inhibition: a promising therapeutic approach for COVID-19. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2020) 144:63. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2020.05.007

154. Mike A, Castro NG, Albuquerque EX. Choline and acetylcholine have similar kinetic properties of activation and desensitization on the alpha7 nicotinic receptors in rat hippocampal neurons. *Brain Res.* (2000) 882:155-68. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02863-8

155. Alkondon M, Pereira EFR, Cortes WS, Maelicke A, Albuquerque EX. Choline is a selective agonist of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the rat brain neurons. *Eur J Neurosci.* (1997) 9:2734–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1997.tb01702.x

156. Shen B, Yi X, Sun Y, Bi X, Du J, Zhang C, et al. Proteomic and metabolomic characterization of COVID-19 patient sera. *Cell.* (2020) 182:59–72.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.032

157. Sanchez-Lopez E, Zhong Z, Stubelius A, Sweeney SR, Booshehri LM, Antonucci L, et al. Choline uptake and metabolism modulate macrophage IL-1 β and IL-1 β production. *Cell Metab.* (2019) 29:1350–62.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.03.011

158. Chowdhury P, Pathak P. Neuroprotective immunity by essential nutrient "Choline" for the prevention of SARS CoV2 infections: an in silico study by molecular dynamics approach. *Chem Phys Lett.* (2020) 761:138057. doi: 10.1016/j.cplett.2020.138057

159. Bennett JA, Mastrangelo MA, Ture SK, Smith CO, Loelius SG, Berg RA, et al. The choline transporter Slc44a2 controls platelet activation and thrombosis by regulating mitochondrial function. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17254-w

160. Germain M, Chasman DI, de Haan H, Tang W, Lindström S, Weng LC, et al. Meta-analysis of 65,734 individuals identifies TSPAN15 and SLC44A2 as two susceptibility loci for venous thromboembolism. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2015) 96:532–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.01.019

161. Hinds DA, Buil A, Ziemek D, Martinez-Perez A, Malik R, Folkersen L, et al. Genome-wide association analysis of self-reported events in 6135 individuals and 252 827 controls identifies 8 loci associated with thrombosis. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2016) 25:1867–74. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw037

162. Flesch BK, Reil A. Molecular genetics of the human neutrophil antigens. *Transf Med Hemother.* (2018) 45:300–9. doi: 10.1159/000491031

163. Constantinescu-Bercu A, Grassi L, Frontini M, Salles-Crawley II, Woollard KJ, Crawley JTB. Activated $\alpha iib\beta 3$ on platelets mediates flow-dependent netosis via slc44a2. *Elife*. (2020) 9:53353. doi: 10.7554/eLife.53353

164. Kenny M, Schoen I. A handshake between platelets and neutrophils might fuel deep vein thrombosis. *Platelets*. (2020) 31:624–6. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2020.1769053

165. Richter K, Mathes V, Fronius M, Althaus M, Hecker A, Krasteva-Christ G, et al. Phosphocholine—an agonist of metabotropic but not of ionotropic functions of α 9-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1038/srep28660

166. Hecker A, Küllmar M, Wilker S, Richter K, Zakrzewicz A, Atanasova S, et al. Phosphocholine-modified macromolecules and canonical nicotinic agonists inhibit ATP-induced IL-1 β release. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:2325–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400974

167. Cundell DR, Gerard NP, Gerard C, Idanpaan-Heikkila I, Tuomanen EI. Streptococcus pneumoniae anchor to activated human cells by the receptor for platelet-activating factor. *Nature*. (1995) 377:435–8. doi: 10.1038/377 435a0

168. Iuchi H, Ohori J, Kyutoku T, Ito K, Kurono Y. Role of phosphorylcholine in Streptococcus pneumoniae and nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae adherence

to epithelial cells. Auris Nasus Larynx. (2019) 46:513-9. doi: 10.1016/j.anl.2018. 11.003

169. Pang B, Winn D, Johnson R, Hong W, West-Barnette S, Kock N, et al. Lipooligosaccharides containing phosphorylcholine delay pulmonary clearance of nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae*. *Infect Immun*. (2008) 76:2037–43. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01716-07

170. Ring A, Weiser JN, Tuomanen EI. Pneumococcal trafficking across the blood-brain barrier. Molecular analysis of a novel bidirectional pathway. *J Clin Invest.* (1998) 102:347–60. doi: 10.1172/JCI 2406

171. Petty AC, Scrutton MC. Release of choline metabolites from human platelets: evidence for activation of phospholipase D and of phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C. *Platelets.* (2009) 4:23–9. doi: 10.3109/09537109309013192

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Saravanan Subramaniam, Boston University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Lara Roberts, King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom Radhika Gangaraju, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Sarah Daniels daniels.sarah79@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 29 August 2022 ACCEPTED 03 October 2022 PUBLISHED 18 October 2022

CITATION

Daniels S, Wei H, van Tongeren M and Denning DW (2022) Are platelet volume indices of clinical use in COVID-19? A systematic review. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1031092. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1031092

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Daniels, Wei, van Tongeren and Denning. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Are platelet volume indices of clinical use in COVID-19? A systematic review

Sarah Daniels^{1,2*}, Hua Wei^{1,2}, Martie van Tongeren^{1,2} and David W. Denning^{2,3}

¹Division of Population Health, Health Services Research and Primary Care, School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom, ²Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom, ³Division of Evolution, Infection and Genomics, School of Biological Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, United Kingdom

Background: The incidence of thrombotic complications is high in COVID-19 patients with severe disease. As key regulators of thrombus formation, platelets likely play a crucial role as mediators of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 associated pathogenesis. Studies have reported that parameters reflecting platelet size, known as platelet volume indices (PVI), are raised in patients with thrombosis and can predict poor outcomes. This systematic review evaluates the potential for PVI to be used as a predictor of COVID-19 morbidity and mortality.

Methods: English and Chinese databases were searched electronically to identify studies reporting data on mean platelet volume, platelet distribution width or platelet-large cell ratio in COVID-19 patients. Included articles underwent a quality rating and descriptive narrative analysis.

Results: Thirty-two studies were included in the systematic review. The results show a general trend for PVI to be raised in severe COVID-19 patients and non-survivors, with 14 studies reporting significant differences of baseline PVI between severe and mild disease. Nonetheless, longitudinal studies showed varying PVI trends over the course of the disease and evidence for PVI to be associated with disease progression was limited. The quality rating of 12 studies was poor, 16 were rated fair and four were good. Most studies were retrospective in design, used small study populations and did not consider confounding factors that influence platelet volume. Studies also contained technical flaws in PVI measurement, limiting the reliability of the results.

Conclusion: The evidence on the clinical usefulness of PVI is greatly limited by the lack of prospective evaluation, together with technical problems in measuring PVI. Carefully designed prospective studies are warranted.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/ display_record.php?RecordID=304305, identifier CRD42022304305.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, mean platelet volume, platelet distribution width, platelet large cell ratio, thrombosis

Background

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) disease is caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). While most cases of COVID-19 are mild, some develop severe viral pneumonia with respiratory failure, that can result in death. Severe disease is predominantly observed in the elderly and those with underlying health conditions such as hypertension, diabetes and coronary heart disease (1). An unexpectedly high incidence of thrombosis has been reported (2, 3), and severity of COVID-19 disease is associated with elevated inflammatory markers and markers of coagulation such as D-dimer, fibrinogen and von Willebrand factor (1, 4). Moreover, COVID-19 autopsies have shown evidence of widespread microthrombosis in the lungs and other organs (5).

Circulating platelets play a central role in hemostasis and thrombosis, and platelets significantly contribute to immune responses during viral infection in a process termed "immunothrombosis" (6). Platelet hyperreactivity may contribute to immunothrombosis often seen in patients with COVID-19 (7). COVID-19 patients have higher levels of P-selectin expression in resting and activated platelets, elevated circulating platelet-leukocyte aggregates, increased aggregation, and thromboxane generation (8, 9). In addition, mild thrombocytopenia is observed in COVID-19 patients, and a progressive decline of platelet counts (PLT) was significantly associated with increased mortality (10). Moreover, pulmonary megakaryocytes are increased in COVID-19 patients with acute lung injury (11). Since the lung is considered an active site of megakaryopoiesis, a prothrombotic status leading to platelet activation, aggregation and consumption may trigger a compensatory pulmonary response (11).

Platelet activation markers are considered to be useful tools in evaluating risk factors of thrombosis in a variety of clinical conditions (12). While there are many methods used to test platelet activation for research purposes, most of the existing techniques are expensive, require trained personnel and take time to perform, limiting their use in clinical practice (12).

Circulation of larger, younger platelets reflect platelets activity and considered to be useful predictors of thrombotic events (13, 14). Platelet size can be assessed during a routine clinical blood test using automated hematology analyzers. Platelet volume indices (PVI) are a group of parameters that are routinely measured using automated hematology analyzers and include mean platelet volume (MPV), platelet distribution width (PDW) and platelet-large cell ratio (P-LCR). Their wide availability and low cost makes them appealing biomarkers for clinical research. Moreover, increased MPV is associated with thrombocytopenia, a hematological change often exhibited in COVID-19 patients (15). It has been proposed that megakaryocytes increase the production of large immature platelets as a compensatory mechanism for platelet consumption resulting from pulmonary microthrombi formation (16).

The aim of this systematic review is to evaluate the usefulness of PVI as clinical biomarkers for COVID-19 disease prognosis.

Methods

Search strategy

A review protocol was published on PROSPERO (ID: CRD42022304305). The review is reported in line with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines. We carried out a systematic search of the literature from Medline, Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) for all literature published up to 8th October 2021. Searches were limited to English language. Relevant studies were identified for all reported studies of associations between COVID-19 and platelet indices reflecting platelet size using the terms: "covid" OR "coronavirus" OR "ncov" OR "sars" OR "sars-cov" AND "mean platelet volume" OR "platelet distribution width" OR "platelet large cell ratio". As an emerging research field a search of the preprint databases, MedRixv and BioRixy, was also conducted for all literature published from 1st January 2020 to 8th October 2021' using phrase terms for "mean platelet volume," "platelet distribution width," and "platelet large cell ratio." The China Knowledge Resource Integrated (CNKI) database was searched for literature up to 18th October 2021, using the search terms "血小板(platelet)" AND "COVID-19". Hand searching was also performed in the reference lists of relevant articles to identify additional eligible studies. See Supplementary material 1 for details of the search strategy.

Inclusion/exclusion criteria

Studies were included in this review if they met the criteria as follows:

Inclusion criteria: (1) Adult patients with laboratoryconfirmed COVID-19; (2) PVI biomarker (i.e., MPV, PDW and/or P-LCR); (3) investigation of an association between a PVI and disease severity and/or mortality in COVID-19;

Abbreviations: CBC, Complete Blood Count; CENTRAL, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials; CNKI, China Knowledge Resource Integrated; COVID-19, Coronavirus disease 2019; EDTA, Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; fL, Femtoliters; ICU, Intensive care unit; IQR, Interquartile range; LMR, Lymphocyte/mean platelet volume ratio; MPV, Mean platelet volume; MPR, Mean platelet volume/platelet count ratio; PDW, Platelet distribution width; P-LCR, Platelet-large cell ratio; PLT, Platelet count; PRISMA, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses; PVI, Platelet volume indices; SARS-CoV-2, Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2.

(4) blood tests performed at baseline for prognosis of severe disease or mortality [can be reported as 0–3 days of hospital or intensive care unit (ICU) admission or first test taken];
(5) we included only studies reporting PVI as continuous measures collected at baseline, comprising means or medians with measures of precision, e.g., standard deviation, standard error, confidence intervals or interquartile range (IQR);
(6) original (experimental) research including randomized controlled trials, case-control studies, cohort studies, cross-sectional, case reports and series of cases; (7) articles in English or Chinese language.

Exclusion criteria: (1)under 18-year-olds (2)reviews, meta-analyses, conference abstracts, editorials, guidelines, commentaries, protocols (3) animal-based experiments; (4) in vitro studies; (5) unrelated studies; (6) studies focused on specific patient populations, e.g., diabetic or cancer patients; (7) no details of time of blood test; (8) no blood test taken at hospital or ICU admission; (9) with articles incomplete PVI data.

Study selection

All records identified by the database search were screened by title and abstract. Chinese literature was translated into English by the Chinese speaking reviewer, HW. A random sample of 20% of the title/abstracts were screened from the literature and discussed between two authors (SD and HW), and the remaining abstracts were screened independently by SD. Studies considered relevant were evaluated in full text according to the prespecified inclusion and exclusion criteria. A random sample of 20% of the full text articles were screened and discussed between two authors (SD and HW), and the remaining full text articles were screened by SD.

Data extraction

One reviewer (SD) extracted data from each study and compiled summary tables. A second reviewer (HW) randomly selected about 50% of the data extraction to check the accuracy. Any discrepancies identified were discussed and resolved between SD and HW and reflected in the remaining 50%. For all included studies, the following data was extracted: lead author, publication year, country, study design, study population (including age and % females), sample number, severity definition, day/time of blood test, subject exclusion if anti-platelet medication taken \leq 10 days prior to test (yes or no), baseline PVI measurements and measures of effect.

Quality assessment

All included articles were quality assessed using the National Institutes of Health's Quality Assessment Tools for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies (17). The quality assessment was independently conducted by one reviewer (SD). A second reviewer (HW) randomly selected about 50% of the data extraction to check the accuracy. Any discrepancies identified were discussed and resolved between SD and HW and reflected in the remaining 50%. Each study was rated as poor, fair or good based on the details that were reported and consideration of the concepts for minimizing bias.

Data synthesis and analysis

Given the heterogeneity of the clinical outcomes and PVI measurement, and the poor-fair quality of most studies (see section Results), we chose not to conduct a meta-analysis, and instead the study results are presented as a descriptive narrative analysis. Detailed evidence tables were created, and studies summarized by the reviewers. The technical limitations of the included studies are discussed.

Results

Study characteristics

We identified a total of 236 records from the OVID (Medline, Embase, and CENTRAL) search, 132 records from the Web of Science database, 133 records from PubMed, 196 records from the MedRxiv database, 107 from CNKI and five records from references searches. Of these, 329 were duplicates. Four-hundred and twenty-five records were title and abstract screened, and 96 were taken to full-text review. Sixty-four studies were excluded at the full-text review stage and 32 studies were included in the systematic review (Figure 1).

The baseline characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 1. Fourteen studies were retrospective cohort, and five were prospective cohort studies. Six were cross-sectional and seven were longitudinal, observational studies. The largest number of studies were from Turkey (n = 10), followed by China (n = 8), and most were single-center studies (n = 27). Wu et al. (18) was an international multi-center study, but we extracted data for patients recruited from one center. Two studies were identified from preprint databases (19, 20) and three were published as letters (21–23). The disease outcomes for 21 studies were severity of COVID-19, and 12 studies assessed mortality. Two studies provided a comparison of patient groups combining severity and mortality (21, 24). Many studies classified disease severity as patients who were admitted to an ICU or presented with at least one of the clinical manifestations listed in national



guidelines for severe or critical diagnosis of COVID-19 (19, 24–36). Only three studies reported subjects with similar ages between groups (p > 0.05) (30, 37, 38), and seven studies reported significantly different male:female ratios (p < 0.05) (18, 22, 37, 39–42). Only two excluded patients on antiplatelet drugs > 10 days prior to the blood test (31, 34) and another study adjusted for antiplatelet therapy in the data analysis (21). Values for platelet indices reported at hospital or ICU admission are listed in Tables 2, 3.

Although there was a trend toward lower PLT in the severe and non-survivor groups for most studies, it was reported to be significantly lower in five studies of severe patients vs. mild disease (18, 27, 31, 40, 42) and four studies of non-survivors vs. survivors (20, 22, 24, 39). A longitudinal study reported a higher PLT in non-survivors compared to survivors at the early stages of the disease, while the opposite was evident at the end of the follow-up (46). Only one study reported a mean PLT for severe COVID-19 patients that was within the mild thrombocytopenia range $(100-150 \times 10^9)$ (18). In non-survivors, Rolla et al. (22) reported mild thrombocytopenia and Kilercik et al. (24) reported moderate thrombocytopenia (50–99 × 10⁹).

Quality assessment

Twelve studies were rated poor, 16 were rated fair and four were good (Supplementary material 2). Most studies clearly specified the location, study time period and demographics of the selected participants. Nonetheless, there are several reasons for rating the studies based on potential bias. Most studies were retrospective in design. Consequently, most researchers had no control over the exposure assessment, therefore many TABLE 1 Study characteristics.

		Stud	dy		Clinical	outcome	Non	-severe/surv	ivor	Seve	re/non-	survivor	the tw	arison of o groups value)	Quality rating
References	year	Country	Study design	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	No.	Age	% female	Age	% female	
Ak et al. (25)	2021	Turkey	Retro., cohort, single center study	Admission	Non-severe according to findings evaluated during hospitalization	Severe disease defined	380	61.15 ± 16.5	46.8	73	64.82 ± 12.1	41.1	<0.001*	0.498*	Fair
					Severe survivors (defined as above)	Non-survivors (from the severe survivors group)	73	64.82 ± 12.1	41.1	22	49.52 ± 14.9	36.4	<0.001*	0.498*	
Al-Nimer et al. (26)	2021	Iraq	Retro., cross., single center study	Admission	Recovered from illness and discharged		45	NR	NR	64	NR	NR	NR	NR	Fair
Alnor et al. (27)	2021	Denmark	Retro., cohort, dual center study	Admission	Non-severe	ICU admission and/or death	58	NR	NR	16	NR	NR	NR	NR	Fair
Asan et al. (<mark>28</mark>)	2021	Turkey	Retro., cohort, single center study	<24 h of admission	Non-ICU admission	ICU admission according to listed criteria	668	41.0 [5.7]	52.7	27	69.0 [21.0]	44.4	< 0.001	NR	Fair
Barrett et al. (21)	2020	USA	Pros., cohort, single center study (letter)	<24 h of admission	Hospitalized patients without thrombotic event or death	Hospitalized patients who had a thrombotic event or died	68	63.5 [48.5–73.0]	39.7	32	69.5 [63.0– 80.0]	37.5	0.002	1.0	Poor
Barrett et al. (29)	2021	USA	Retro., long., single center study	0–28 days	Without critical illness	Critical illness defined as requiring mechanical ventilation or transfer to the ICU	NR~	NR	NR	NR~	NR	NR	NR	NR	Good
					Discharged	Death	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	
Bauer et al. (30)	2021	Germany	Pros., cohort, single center study	Admission	Non-ICU treatment	ICU admission	10	63.7 [52.5-71.0]	60	7	71.9 [57.5– 76.8]	71	0.27	1.0	Fair
Comer et al. (31)	2021	Ireland	Retro., cohort, single center study	Day 0 and day 7 of hospital admission or transfer to ICU	Non-ICU admission	ICU admission	20	69.25 ± 17.7	35	34	59.4 ± 10.5	38	NR	NR	Poor

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1031092

Daniels et al.

TABLE 1 (Continued)

		Stud	dy		Clinical	outcome	Nor	n-severe/surv	ivor	Seve	re/non-	survivor	the two	arison of o groups value)	Quality rating
References	year	Country	Study design	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	No.	Age	% female	Age	% female	
de la Rica et al. (38)	2020	Spain	Retro., cohort, single center study	<24 h of admission	Non-ICU according to Son Latzer University Hospital for COVID-19 management	ICU according to Son Latzer University Hospital for COVID-19 management	27	66.30 ± 14.90	33	21	65.57 ± 12.87	33	0.856	1	Fair
Ding et al. (43)	2020	China	Retro., cohort, single center study	Admission	Non-severe defined according to the coronavirus pneumonia diagnosis and treatment program, and the criteria of clinical classification	Severe defined according to the coronavirus pneumonia diagnosis and treatment program, and the criteria of clinical classification	57	46 [35–60]	57.9	15	67 [55–76]	40	NR	NR	Poor
Dogan et al. (32)	2021	Turkey	Retro., cohort,single center study	Admission	Non-ICU defined according to the Turkish Ministry of Health COVID-19 guidelines	ICU defined according to the Turkish Ministry of Health COVID-19 guidelines	131	NR	NR	20	NR	NR	NR	NR	Fair
Eraybar et al. (41)	2021	Turkey	Retro., cohort, single center study	First admission	Survivor	Non-survivor defined as 28-day mortality	905	NR	53.7	33	NR	36.4	NR	0.05	Poor
Giusti et al. (23)	2020	Italy	Retro., cohort, single center study (letter)	Admission	Discharged	Non-discharged	117	59.9 ± 14.0	36.8	92	73.6± 11.6	35.9	< 0.001	0.895	Poor
					Survivor	Non-survivor	178	63.5 ± 14.0	37.1	31	$\begin{array}{c} 63.5 \pm \\ 14.0 \end{array}$	32.3	< 0.001	0.607	
Guclu et al. (44)	2020	Turkey	Retro.,cohort, single center study	Day of admission	Patients with room air oxygen saturation ≥90%	Patients with room air oxygen saturation < 90%	81	56.52 ± 15.95	45.7	134	69.04 ± 14.26	43.3	< 0.001	0.732	Fair
					Survivor	Non-survivor	159	61.15 ± 16	45.3	56	73.34 ± 12.58	41.1	< 0.001	0.697	

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

(Continued)

		Stu	dy		Clinical	outcome	Non	-severe/surv	ivor	Seve	re/non-sur	vivor	the two	arison of o groups value)	Quality rating
References	Year	Country	Study design	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	No.	Age	% female	Age	% female	
Higuera-De- La-Tijera et al. (33)	2021	Mexico	Pros., cohort, single center study	Admission	Patients with COVID-19 pneumonia without severity criteria for ICU admission (evaluated by intensive care medical staff)	ICU admission (evaluated by intensive care medical staff)	139	49.1 ± 12.8	32.4	27	58.6 ± 12.7	25.9	0.001	0.51	Fair
Incir et al. (34)	2021	Turkey	Pros., cohort, single center study	First day of admission	Non-severe defined as patients not requiring oxygen support	Severe defined as the mechanical ventilation requirement, admission to the intensive care unit (ICU), and death	110	45 [18−89] ^ψ	50	44	63 [20-91] ^ψ	17	0.003	0.607	Good
Jamshidi et al. (20)	2021	Iran	Retro., cohort,multi- center study	1–3 days of ICU admission	Survivor	Non-survivor	105	58.0 [47.0–73.0]	46.7	158	72.5 [64.0– 80.75]	53.3	<0.001	NR	Poor
Karaasla-n et al. (<mark>45</mark>)	2021	Turkey	Retro., cohort, multi center study	Admission	Survivor	Non-survivor	182	50.6 ± 15.4	50	24	$\begin{array}{c} 69.7 \pm \\ 16.0 \end{array}$	50	< 0.001	NR	Poor
Kilercik et al. (24)	2021	Turkey	Retro., long., single center study	0–30 days	Non-critical and critical survivors. Followed the COVID-19 directory of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey for listed criteria.	Critical non-survivors. Followed the COVID-19 directory of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey for listed criteria.	82	$49.2 \pm 15.1 \\ and \\ 58.6 \pm 16.4$	37.8	15	69.2 ± 10.6	20	<0.001*	NR	Good

(Continued)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1031092

		Stu	dy		Clinical	outcome	Non	-severe/surv	ivor	Seve	re/non-s	survivor	the tw	arison of o groups value)	Quality rating
References	Year	Country	Study design	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	No.	Age	% female	Age	% female	
Ko et al. (<mark>39</mark>)	2020	China	Retro., cross., multi center study	<24 h of admission	Survivor	Non-survivor	195	50.39 ± 15.00	52.8	212	68.90 ± 11.93	38.3	<0.001\$	<0.001#	Poor
Lanini et al. (46)	2020	Italy	Pros., long., single center study	0-21 days	Survivor. Patients who recovered and were discharged from hospital or who were still hospitalized within 30 days after symptoms onset	within 30 days after onset of symptoms.	338	<60 yrs 95.73% >60 yrs 84.19%	87.7	41	<60 yrs 4.279 >60 yrs 15.81		NR	NR	Fair
Mao et al. (35)	2021	China	Retro., long., single center study	0->25 days	Moderate disease according to the Chinese management guidelines for COVID-19 (7th edition) released by the NHCC	Severe or critically ill according to the Chinese management guidelines for COVID-19 t (7th edition) released by the NHCC	82	62 (53-68)	45	45	68 (61–73)	23	0.003	0.684	Fair
Mertoglu et al. (47)	2021	Turkey	Retro., long., single center study	Day of admission	Non-ICU admission	ICU admission	532	47.5 [32–64.75]	42.5	23	59.0 [41.0– 75.0]	43.5	0.011	0.925	Fair
Ouyang et al. (48)	2020	China	Retro., long., single center study	First test after incharge	Survivor COVID-19 patients discharged, transferred for further treatment or due to the presence of improved symptoms or the closure of this emergency hospital	Non-survivor. COVID-19 patients who died by 18 March 2020	82	55.7 [¢]	NR	25	63.5 [¢]	NR	0.018	NR	Fair
Rolla et al. (22)	2021	Italy	Pros., cohort, single center study (letter)	Admission	Survivor	Non-survivor	152	62 [51-73]	43	31	80 [74-85]	19	<0.001	0.022	Poor

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

		Stu	dy		Clinical	outcome	Non	-severe/survi	vor	Seven	e/non-	survivor	the two	arison of o groups value)	Quality rating
References	Year	Country	Study design	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	No.	Age	% female	Age	% female	
San et al. (49)	2021	Turkey	Cross.; single center study	Admission	Non-severe based on clinical manifestation	Severe based on a slightly modified interim guidance of the World Health Organization was used.	344	42 ±_23	44.2	44	67.5± 13.75	38.6	<0.0001	0.59	Fair
Song et al. (19)	2020	China	Retro., cross., single center study	First inhospital results	and Control Program	Severe and critical disease based on the New Coronavirus Pneumonia Prevention	31	48.0 [37.0–59.0]	48.4	42	55.5 [48.0– 64.3]	28.6	0.039	0.083	Poor
Tsui et al. (40)	2020	China	Retro., cross., multi center study	At admission and day 5	Satisfactory: progressing well and likely to be discharged	Critical: require intubation, or ECMO	502 and 485	35.6 ± 16.8 and 37.6 ± 17.5	41.4 and 52.2	50	60.6 ± 14.0	36	<0.0001*	0.0011*	Poor
Waris et al. (36)	2021	Pakistan	Retro., cross., single center study	2nd day of admission	Mild and moderate disease according to the NHCC guidelines	Severe and critical disease according to the NHCC guidelines	76	43.24 and 49.1	30.2	25	56.6 and 62.1	32	NR	NR	Fair
Wu et al. (18)	2020	China	Retro., cohort, single center study		If none of the "severe disease" criteria were met during the whole hospitalization process	Severe disease if one of the listed criteria were met, including	217	42.0 [33.0–59.0]	58.5	82	62.0 [53.0– 71.8]	42.7	<0.001	0.019	Poor

(Continued)

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1031092

													the two $(P-v_i)$	the two groups (<i>P</i> -value)	the two groups rating (P-value)
References		Country	Year Country Study design Time of blood te:	Time of blood test	Non-severe/ survivor	Severe disease/ non-survivor	No.	Age	% female	% No. Age male	Age	% female	Age	% female	
Xiong et al. (42)	2020	China	Retro., long., single center study	Day 1-14	Mild/non-severe. Severe and critical. Clinical classification Clinical classification at admission based on at admission based on APACHE II, SOFA and	Mild/non-severe. Severe and critical. Clinical classification Clinical classification at admission based on APACHE II, SOFA and APACHE II, SOFA and	355	47 [34–61] and 65 166 and 62 [52– 53 and 139 70] 33 And 67 [54–	65	166 and 139	62 [52- 70] And 67 [54-	53 and 33	<0.001* <0.001*	<0.001*	Fair
Zhong and Peng (37)	2021	China	Retro., cohort, dual center study	Admission	CURB-65 criteria MPR < 7.44	CURB-65 criteria MPR > 7.44 Severe pneumonia of	59	41.0 [34.0-58.0]	57.6	26	76] 51.0 [35.5-	26.9	0.064	0.009	Good
						CUVID-19 defined by clinical manifestation					[c.80				

did not fully describe the methods used to measure the platelet parameters. Fourteen studies provided the number of eligible patients and the total number included in the study (25, 27, 28, 33-35, 37-42, 45, 46), of which three had a participation rate < 50% (33, 41, 45). Possible bias related to participation rate could not be ascertained in the remaining 18 studies. Moreover, only two studies (26, 33) included a justification for sample size, hence, most authors were unable to make a valid inference about the population being studied.

Pre-analytical and analytical variables, such as the anticoagulant used, the time between blood collection, storage temperature and instrument type are known to significantly affect MPV measurements (50). For example, platelets collected into ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) anticoagulant undergo time-dependent platelet swelling and activation. Only eight (25%) of included studies reported the anticoagulant used (EDTA for all of them) (21, 24, 26, 27, 30, 34, 36, 37) and four (13%) reported the time to analysis (24, 28, 34, 37). A larger proportion of studies (41%) reported the analyzer used to measure PVI (21, 22, 24, 27-30, 32, 34, 36, 37, 43, 47), with the Sysmex XN series reported most frequently.

PVI may be influenced by various demographic factors including age, although no conclusive data are available on this topic (51). Of the 32 included studies, 12 considered age as a confounding variable and adjusted statistically for its impact on the relationship between PVI and disease severity or mortality (21, 23, 24, 28, 29, 33, 37, 38, 42, 44, 46, 47).

PVI as biomarkers of severity in **COVID-19** patients

Baseline PVI measurements

Nineteen studies compared the baseline levels of MPV in COVID-19 patients at hospital admission (18, 21, 23, 25, 27, 28, 30-36, 38, 40, 42-44, 47, 49), of which nine reported a significantly higher MPV in the severe COVID-19 patients compared with non-severe patients (18, 21, 23, 31, 32, 34, 42, 43, 49). Of nine studies that assessed PDW in COVID-19 patients (18, 19, 27, 34-36, 38, 42, 44), one study reported a significantly higher PDW in the severe group compared to the non-severe group at admission (34). Of seven studies assessing P-LCR in COVID-19 patients (18, 27, 34-36, 42, 47), three reported significantly higher P-LCR in the severe patient group at admission (34, 42, 47).

Two studies measured PVI on different days of hospital admission. A retrospective cohort study (44) reported a nonsignificant mean MPV at day 0 in COVID-19 patients with room air oxygen saturation < 90%, but significantly higher MPV at day 3, though this significance was marginal (p = 0.043). No significantly different PDW was observed for both days. Comer et al. (31) observed higher median MPV in ICU patients

[ABLE 1 (Continued)

long, longitudinal; MPR, Mean platelet volume/platelet count ratio; NHCC, National Health Commission of China; NR, not reported; Pros., prospective; Retro., Retrospective; SOFA,

illness;

ICU, Intensive care unit; ILI, influenza-like

sequential Organ Failure Assessn

oxygenation;

TABLE 2 Values of platelet indices in the COVID-19 patient severe and non-severe groups at admission.

First author	Year	Platelet indices	Non-severe patients	Severe patients	Comparison of the two groups (<i>p</i> -value
Ak et al. (25)	2021	PLT	203 ± 77.52	179 ± 81.46	NR
		MPV	9.6 ± 1.08	10 ± 1.16	NR
lnor et al. (27)	2021	PLT	188 [161-271]	174 [127-203]	0.037
		MPV	10.5 [9.6–10.9]	10.9 [10.1-11.8]	0.126
		PDW	12.1 [10.5-13.2]	13.0 [11.6-14.5]	0.097
		P-LCR	28.5 [22.9-32.7]	31.1 [25.9-39.4]	0.093
san et al. (28)	2021	PLT	221 ± 60	198 ± 61	0.081
		MPV	9.9 ± 4.2	10.1 ± 1.6	0.241
		MPR	0.044 ± 0.018	0.053 ± 0.028	0.049
auer et al. (30)	2021	PLT	187.0 [161.0-233.0]	208.0 [167.0-233.0]	1.0
		MPV	10.2 [9.9–10.6]	10.5 [10.1-10.6]	0.49
omer et al. (31)	2021	PLT	242 [105–488] ^ω	213 [40–550] ^ω	0.6
		MPV	9.8 [8.7–13] ^ω	10.8 [9–13] ^ω	0.015
e la Rica et al. (<mark>38</mark>)	2020	PLT	228.02 ± 108.82	209.56 ± 77.97	0.678
		MPV	7.92 ± 1.25	8.18 ± 1.19	0.596
		PDW	16.81 ± 1.24	16.99 ± 0.97	0.333
ing et al. (43)	2020	PLT	180 [149-227]	160 [134-216]	0.515
		MPV	9.1 [7.1–10.0]	9.7 [9.2–11.6]	0.017
ogan et al. (32)	2021	PLT	234 ± 74	235 ± 94	0.933
ogan et an (02)	2021	MPV	10.30 [9.70–10.90]	11.05 [10.35-11.75]	0.0042
iusti et al. (23)	2020	PLT	191 [156-235]	183 [141-217]	0.088
(1051 et ul. (20)	2020	MPV	10.4 [9.9–11.1]	10.9 [10.5–11.9]	0.001
uclu et al. (44)	2020	PLT	10.4[9.9-11.1] 187.4 ± 59.82	208.63 ± 135.72	0.573
	2020	MPV	9.18 ± 1.24	9.61 ± 1.76	0.129
		PDW	9.13 ± 1.24 17.37 ± 2.32	17.72 ± 2.52	0.123
iguera-De-La-Tijera et al. (33)	2021	PLT	17.37 ± 2.32 226.4 ± 86.2	17.72 ± 2.32 219.7 ± 73.1	0.77
iguera-De-La-Tijera et al. (55)	2021	MPV	220.4 ± 30.2 8.4 ± 0.9	219.7 ± 73.1 8.9 ± 0.9	0.11
cir et al. (34)	2021	PLT	244 [155–460] ^ω	196 [150–636] ^ω	0.065
icii et al. (34)	2021	MPV	10.8 ± 1.10		< 0.003
				12.1 ± 1.22	
		PDW	12.4 [7.50–24.5] ^ω	15.6 [10.3–21.9] ^ω	0.001
	2021	P-LCR	31.4 ± 8.84	40.5 ± 9.30	0.001
iertoglu et al. (47)	2021	PLT	233.0 [193.0-278.0]	219.0 [176.0-312.0]	0.872
		MPV	10.1 [9.5–10.7]	10.8 [9.6–11.7]	0.052
. 1 (10)	2021	P-LCR	25.60 [21.0-30.61]	32.70 [22.8-38.0]	0.033
an et al. (49)	2021	PLT	210 ± 96	199.5 ± 127	0.95
		MPV	8.2 ± 1.2	8.6±1.75	0.003
		MPR	0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.03	0.453
		LMR	6.42 ± 4.01	8.84 ± 5.5	<0.0001
ong et al. (19)	2020	PLT	178.0 [127.0-239.0]	189.0 [154.0-231.0]	0.321
		PDW	12.8 [10.7–13.9]	12.3 [11.0–13.5]	0.643
sui et al. (40)	2020	PLT	Stable: 0.60 ± 0.19	Critical: 0.54 ± 0.19	0.0094 *
			Satisfactory: 0.58 ± 0.20		
		MPV	Stable: 0.88 ± 0.12	Critical: 0.88 ± 0.10	0.9139
			Satisfactory: 0.87 \pm 0.15		
Varis et al. (36)	2021	PLT	Mild: 217.03	Severe: 205.55	0.16*
			[191.52-240.55]	[120.38-290.72]	

(Continued)

First author	Year	Platelet indices	Non-severe patients	Severe patients	Comparison of the two groups (<i>p</i> -value)
			Moderate: 223.73	Critical: 165.06	
			[185.93-261.54]	[123.44-206.67]	
		MPV	Mild: 9.02 [8.60-9.43]	Severe: 9.34 [8.62-10.6]	0.31*
			Moderate: 12.60	Critical: 9.74	
			[5.93-19.26]	[9.15-10.33]	
		PDW	Mild: 12.18	Severe: 12.53	0.31*
			[11.81-12.56]	[11.31-13.75]	
			Moderate: 13.70	Critical: 12.21	
			[10.92-16.48]	[12.05-14.37]	
		P-LCR	Mild: 23.08	Severe: 23.52	0.39*
			[21.28-24.87]	[18.36-28.68]	
			Moderate: 25.40	Critical: 26.49	
			[21.12-29.68]	[22.29-30.69]	
Wu et al. (18)	2020	PLT	174.0 [140.8-214.5]	149.0 [116.5-188.8]	<0.001
		MPV	9.8 [9.2–10.6]	10.2 [9.4–10.09]	0.016
		PDW	12.9 [10.7-16.3]	12.4 [10.8-15.8]	0.371
		P-LCR	24.0 [19.7-30.1]	26.8 [21.1-32.3]	0.028
Xiong et al. (42)	2020	PLT	Mild and non-severe:	Severe: 193.0	<0.001*
			187.0 [153.0-235.0]	[154.0-248.0]	
				Critical: 122.0	
				[91.0-168.0]	
		MPV	Mild and non-severe:	Severe: 9.60	<0.001*
			9.70 [9.00-10.40]	[8.93-10.30]	
				Critical: 10.15	
				[9.30-11.0]	
		PDW	Mild and non-severe:	Severe: 15.90	0.9*
			15.70 [10.80-16.33]	[10.62-16.50]	
				Critical: 13.40	
				[10.70-16.40]	
		P-LCR	Mild and non-severe:	Severe: 22.95	<0.001*
			23.30 [18.93-29.20]	[18.22-28.78]	
				Critical: 26.20	
				[21.08-34.30]	

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation, median [min-max range] (marked with a ω) or median [interquartile range]. Units for platelet indices are PLT: 10⁹/L; MPV: fL; PDW: %; P = LCR: %. LMR, lymphocyte/mean platelet volume ratio; MPR, mean platelet volume/platelet count ratio; MPV, mean platelet volume; NS, not significant; P-LCR, platelet-large cell ratio; PLT, platelet dount; PDW, platelet distribution width. *Comparison of three or more patient groups. Significant *p*-values (\leq 0.05) in bold.

compared with non-ICU patients at day 7 vs. day 0 (p = 0.0014 and p = 0.015, respectively). It should be noted, however, that this difference was due to the MPV decreasing in the non-ICU patients at day 7, rather than the MPV increasing in the ICU patients.

Longitudinal analysis

Three retrospective longitudinal studies evaluating PVI in non-severe and severe COVID-19 patients reported conflicting results. A Chinese study of non-severe/mild, moderate and critical patients (42), identified significantly higher median MPV and P-LCR in the more severe groups ($p \le 0.001$) from day 1 to day 14 of hospitalization. PDW significantly increased from day 3 onwards. In contrast, a Turkish study (47) observed higher median MPV and P-LCR in ICU patients compared to non-ICU patients except > 7–8 days. Severe or critically ill COVID-19 patients without existing hematologic disease, were reported to have significantly higher mean MPV and P-LCR at \ge 25 days after hospitalization ($p \le 0.01$) compared to moderate patients, with no significant difference prior to this (35). However, they reported no significant difference

First author	Year	Platelet indices	Survivors	Non-survivors	Comparison of the two groups (<i>p</i> -value)
Ak et al. (25)	2021	PLT	179 ± 81.46	191.5 ± 100.3	NR
		MPV	10 ± 1.16	9.4 ± 1.64	NR
Al-Nimer et al. (26)	2021	MPV	8.9 ± 0.1	9.1 ± 0.1	0.310
		PDW	41.6 ± 1.2	41.4 ± 1.2	0.921
Barrett et al. $(21)^{\omega}$	2020	PLT	205.0 [164.8-253.8]	187.5 [147.5-257.5]	0.385
		MPV	10.55 [10.1-11.2]	11.00 [10.5-11.9]	0.022
Eraybar et al. (41)	2021	MPV	9.60 [9.00-10.30]	9.70 [9.20-11.10]	>0.05
		LMR	0.21 [0.15-0.29]	0.12 [0.07-0.20]	<0.001
Giusti et al. (23)	2020	PLT	189 [149-233]	174 [111-204]	0.127
		MPV	10.5 [10.0-11.3]	11.4 [10.6-12.4]	<0.001
Guclu et al. (44)	2020	PLT	207.69 ± 123.06	180.59 ± 78.14	0.094
		MPV	9.34 ± 1.37	9.77 ± 2.11	0.189
		PDW	17.44 ± 2.35	18.02 ± 2.69	0.040
Jamshidi et al. (20)	2021	PLT	196.0 [151.5-260.0]	179.0 [125.0-255.0]	0.04
		MPV	9.7 [9.175-10.5]	10.0 [9.3-10.7]	0.3
		PDW	12.8 [11.5-14.0]	13.2 [11.4–14.7]	0.32
		P-LCR	24.4 [19.85-29.3]	26.7 [21.05-30.825]	0.07
Karaaslan et al. (45)	2021	PLT	199.93 ± 79.6	199.42 ± 124.9	0.97
		MPV	9.60 ± 1.4	9.72 ± 1.0	0.57
Ko et al. (39)	2020	PLT	212.48 ± 82.00	159.45 ± 86.54	<0.0001*
		MPV	10.63 ± 0.87	11.16 ± 0.94	<0.0001*
		PDW	12.29 ± 2.02	13.59 ± 2.64	<0.0001*
		P-LCR	29.60 ± 7.08	33.88 ± 7.42	<0.0001*
Lanini et al. (46)	2020	PLT	n/a	n/a	0.019%
		MPV	n/a	n/a	0.001%
Ouyang et al. (48)	2020	PLT	214.66 ± 91.61	178.77 ± 93.70	0.1
- 20 1 1		MPV	9.23 ± 1.05	10.01 ± 1.15	0.003
		PDW	16.18 ± 0.42	16.63 ± 0.49	<0.001
		P-LCR	21.60 ± 7.00	26.75 ± 7.69	0.003
Rolla et al. (22)	2021	PLT	186.50 [152.25-226.50]	148.00 [125.00-197.00]	0.005
		MPV	10.50 [9.90–11.00]	11.40 [10.70–12.10]	<0.001
		P-LCR	28.5 [23.35-33.20]	35.90 [31.20-42.40]	<0.001

TABLE 3 Values of platelet indices in the COVID-19 patient survivor and non-survivor groups at admission.

Data presented as mean \pm standard deviation or median [interquartile range]. Units for platelet indices are PLT: 10^9 /L; MPV: fL; PDW: %; P = LCR: %. LMR, Lymphocyte/mean platelet volume ratio; MPV, mean platelet volume; P-LCR, platelet-large cell ratio; PLT, platelet count; PDW, platelet distribution width. *Author calculated from raw data using Welch's unpaired *t*-test for continuous data. ^{ω}Study outcomes were death and/or thrombosis event. Significant *p*-values (≤ 0.05) in bold. [%]Temporal difference between the patient groups.

between patient groups for PDW for the entire course of the disease.

Measures of association

After adjustment for variables including age, comorbidities and prior medication, Barrett et al. (29) reported that patients with the highest MPV tertile at baseline had higher odds of requiring mechanical ventilation or transfer to the ICU (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.3–1.8). Importantly, they show that this association remains significant in patients without thrombocytopenia, demonstrating that the high MPV was independent of low PLT. A prospective cohort study of 14 patients who experienced a thrombotic event, reported that MPV was not associated with thrombosis after adjustment for multiple variables including age, sex, anti-platelet therapy and PLT (21). Multivariate logistic regression to assess the effect of age and gender, found that P-LCR was not significant in determining admission to the ICU (47). Likewise, univariant logistic regression identified no association with MPV and ICU requirement in COVID-19 patients (32).

Other PVI

Zhong and Peng (37) investigated the relationship between mean platelet volume/platelet count ratio (MPR) and the

prognosis of COVID-19. They found that high baseline MPR (>7.44 fL) was significantly associated with severe pneumonia in COVID-19 patients. Contrary to this, MPR was not found to be a significant hematological marker for severity in a cross-sectional study (49) and retrospective cohort study (28). San et al. reported a significantly higher median lymphocyte/mean platelet volume ratio (LMR) in severe patients ($p \le 0.0001$) (49), though multivariate logistic regression revealed that it was not an independent risk factor for severe disease.

PVI as biomarkers of mortality in COVID-19 patients

Baseline PVI measurements

Eleven studies assessed baseline MPV in COVID-19 patients who survived and died (20–23, 25, 26, 39, 41, 44, 45, 48). Of which, six studies reported a significantly higher MPV in nonsurvivors at hospital admission (21–23, 39, 44, 48). Five studies assessed baseline PDW in COVID-19 mortality (20, 26, 39, 44, 48), and three reported higher PDW in non-survivors at admission (39, 44, 48). P-LCR at hospital admission was assessed in only four included studies (20, 22, 39, 48), and three reported significantly higher P-LCR in non-survivors (22, 39, 48).

Guclu et al. (44) reported that deceased COVID-19 patients had non-significant MPV when compared to survivors on the first day of hospital admission (p = 0.005), but significantly higher MPV on the third day. Conversely, they found significantly higher PDW in the non-survivor group at both admission and the third day (day 0: p = 0.040; day 3: p = 0.006).

Longitudinal analysis

Varying trends were observed for the longitudinal studies. A retrospective study of 98 patients identified a significantly higher MPV, PDW and P-LCR in non-survivors for the first test of the hospital stay (48). MPV and P-LCR increased over the course of the disease, with non-survivors showing an average MPV that was above the normal reference range for the last test. In contrast, the temporal trends analysis appears to show PDW decreasing in the survivors over time.

A comprehensive study of 379 COVID-19 patients over 21 days reported patterns of temporal variations for MPV (46). Tests showed significantly higher MPV in survivors compared with non-survivors at the beginning of the disease (p < 0.001). While the opposite was observed at the end of the follow-up, with MPV significantly higher in non-survivors than in survivors (p < 0.001). Over time, MPV tended to normalize in survivors and steadily increase in non-survivors, exceeding the upper normal limit value (11 fL) by the seventh day after symptoms' onset. Paradoxically, age was not significantly associated with higher MPV, which contrasted with other included studies.

Lastly, a retrospective study that observed 97 patients over 30 days of hospitalization (24), reported a significantly higher MPV, PDW and P-LCR in critical non-survivors compared with non-critical and critical survivors (p = 0.014, p = 0.011, and p = 0.006, respectively). As the disease progressed, all PVI gradually increased, with the differences among the groups remaining significant over time (p < 0.05). Moreover, trends analysis of MPV showed a distinctive divergence for all three groups after 10 days.

Measures of association

A prospective cohort study of 183 COVID-19 patients reported that MPV and P-LCR were shown not to be independent predictors of in-hospital mortality in multivariate analysis (22). In contrast, a prospective cohort study of 100 patients, reported MPV was significantly associated with allcause mortality after adjustment for multiple variables such as age, sex, anti-platelet therapy and PLT (OR 2.33, 95% CI 1.27– 4.67) (21). Guclu et al. showed that an increase of 1-unit MPV difference (between 1st and 3rd day), significantly increases the probability of death within 28 days (OR 1.762, 95% CI 1.272–2.440) (44).

Discussion

For patients with severe COVID-19 infection, early decision making is critical for successful clinical management to prevent the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome and possible death. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first comprehensive systematic review to evaluate the usefulness of PVI as early predictors for severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients based on the current literature.

The quality assessment demonstrated that currently most studies published in this field are poor, fair at best. As such, we decided that the premises of meta-analysis were not met, and that the data used to generate the composite outcome would not be reliable. For this reason, we chose to perform a narrative analysis, summarizing the study results and exploring the limitations of the current research and recommendations for future work in this field.

While our systematic review showed a general trend for PVI to be higher in severe patients or non-survivors, it is evident that there are differing baseline results for the individual studies with 14 studies having reported significantly higher PVI ($p \le 0.05$). Furthermore, longitudinal analysis showed both increasing and decreasing trends during disease progression. PVI taken at the emergency room could be useful to guide decisions on immediate treatment. Additionally, monitoring PVI trends over time could be used to guide other aspects of therapy and to determine disease outcome. Nonetheless, we cannot markedly conclude that COVID-19 patients with elevated PVI are more

likely to develop severe illness or are at higher risk of dying due to the variation in results.

Interestingly, some studies reported non-significant levels of PDW in severe patients but significantly higher MPV or P-LCR, either at admission or during the course of the disease (35, 42, 44). Studies evaluating the effect of storage time on platelet volume due to platelet swelling, identified a decrease in PDW and an increase in MPV (52, 53), indicating that PDW is a better indicator of platelet activation than MPV, since it was not elevated during single platelet distention caused by platelet swelling. It is possible that platelet swelling has occurred in these studies, though we can only surmise this has occurred due to absence of details on time to analysis and anticoagulant used.

Studies reporting that significantly higher PVI in severe or non-surviving patients was present at admission, also demonstrated that the platelet parameters were not independent predictors of disease progression (22, 47, 49), with age being the variable most likely to predict ICU requirement and mortality (23, 28). Patients with COVID-19 who enter a critical condition or die are mostly elderly, male and have comorbidities, with hypertension, diabetes and coronary artery disease being the most common (1, 54). PVI have been shown to be influenced by age, sex, hypertension, diabetes and coronary heart disease in some studies (55-60). Few included studies adjusted for confounding variables when assessing the association of PVI with COVID-19 disease, even though many reported significantly different ages and sex proportions when comparing the groups. Future studies should be designed to measure PVI in COVID-19 cohorts matching for age and gender. Giusti et al. (23) proposed a model, in which age and three routine coagulation parameters, including MPV, are measured to predict prognosis of hospitalized patients. Conceivably PVI could be used alongside other clinical and/or laboratory parameters to predict prognosis of COVID-19 disease rather than acting as a stand-alone biomarker.

A published letter has reported a significant association between MPV and combined severe illness and mortality in COVID-19 patients using pooled analysis of 18 studies (61). Preanalytical and analytical variables were not considered however, and the statistical heterogeneity was extremely high (91%). Our review has identified many caveats in the current research which likely accounts for this heterogeneity including differences in participant characteristics, hematology analyzer, timing of the blood test, and clinical endpoints. As such we infer that the lack of robust standardization, along with the retrospective design and low patient numbers, renders the current research on PVI in COVID-19 patients inconclusive.

There is an inverse relationship between MPV and PLT in healthy adults (62). Increased MPV denotes an increase in circulating young platelets as a response to thrombocytopenia, possibly because of platelet consumption due to microthrombotic events in small vessels (63). Research has demonstrated that COVID-19 patients with thrombocytopenia have a significantly higher MPV and P-LCR, compared with COVID-19 patients with retained PLT (15). The general trend reported in our included studies showed a reduction in PLT at hospital admission, combined with increased PVI. Other studies have reported that patients with severe COVID-19 disease have a PLT only 23×10^9 /L to 31×10^9 /L lower than those with non-severe disease (64, 65). Bearing in mind that severely ill patients with systemic immune and coagulation activation maintain reasonable PLT, a compensatory platelet production response by the bone marrow at the early stage of the disease is probable. Notwithstanding, Barrett et al. (29) demonstrated that high MPV was independent of low PLT in COVID-19 patients. Therapies used early in the COVID-19 pandemic that cause thrombocytopenia, such as hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin, are given to COVID-19 patients at onset of disease (66, 67), possibly contributing to lower PLT in the later stages of the disease. Prospective studies that adjust for treatment could enable researchers to evaluate if thrombocytopenia is caused by disease progression and/or therapies.

It is important to note that research has shown platelet heterogeneity to be present from formation, and size may not necessarily reflect platelet age or activity. Platelet characteristics, including RNA content, may be dynamic over time (68–70). Thus, it is possible that platelet size heterogeneity predates COVID-19 infection. It also could reflect an inflammatory state due to other infection or co-morbidities. Therefore, the direction of effect cannot be inferred from the retrospective studies we review here, and the nature of this association must be elucidated by further prospective cause–effect analysis.

Research has shown that the median time for COVID-19 disease deterioration is 11 days to developing severe illness and entering a critical stage of severe pneumonia and organ damage (71). This corresponds with trends analysis by Kilercik et al. (24) who showed a distinctive divergence in MPV after 10 days when comparing non-survivors and survivors. Therefore, we propose that future work should comprise appropriately powered, prospective studies that analyze PVI trends over time, with consideration for confounders such as age, sex, co-morbidities and therapies. Notably, the majority of the included studies are from cohorts early in the pandemic before specific therapy was available, such as steroids, antivirals and vaccination, and with earlier COVID variants. Thus, the role of PVI biomarkers from early in the pandemic requires re-evaluation in the context of these factors with COVID-19 pneumonia now less common.

Conclusion

While there is a trend toward higher PVI in severe COVID-19 patients and non-survivors, the contradictory findings of this systematic review suggest that further work is required to evaluate the potential usefulness of PVI for early prognosis of

64

10.3389/fcvm.2022.1031092

COVID-19. Most importantly, the technical concerns need to be addressed to fully demonstrate its use in clinical practice. Although some studies reported significant associations between clinical outcome and PVI, a causal relationship could not be inferred. Future studies should be prospective in design so that researchers can assess multiple outcomes at different time frames. They should give comprehensive methodology which includes careful study design, controlled measurement of platelet parameters, full reporting of how the data were acquired, and appropriate statistical considerations for confounding factors.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

SD made substantial contributions to the design of the study, with support from HW, DD, and MT. SD and HW carried out the full search and screened the literature for inclusion and exclusion and performed the data extraction and quality assessment. SD performed the analysis and interpretation of the data and drafted the first version. Substantial revisions were provided by HW, DD, and MT. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This review was supported by the UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) and National Institute for Health and Care

References

1. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

 Cohen SL, Gianos E, Barish MA, Chatterjee S, Kohn N, Lesser M, et al. Prevalence and predictors of venous thromboembolism or mortality in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. *Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 121:1043– 53. doi:10.1055/a-1366-9656

3. Klok FA, Kruip M, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers D, Kant KM, et al. Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:145–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013

4. Panigada M, Bottino N, Tagliabue P, Grasselli G, Novembrino C, Chantarangkul V, et al. Hypercoagulability of COVID-19 patients in intensive care unit: a report of thromboelastography findings and other parameters of hemostasis. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1738–42. doi: 10.1111/jth.14850

5. Rapkiewicz AV, Mai X, Carsons SE, Pittaluga S, Kleiner DE, Berger JS, et al. Megakaryocytes and platelet-fibrin thrombi characterize multi-organ thrombosis at autopsy in COVID-19: a case series. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2020) 24:100434. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100434

Research (NIHR), Grant Ref: MC_PC_19083. The funder did not contribute to the study design, analysis or writing of the report.

Acknowledgments

We thank Jecko Thachil (Manchester Royal Infirmary) for useful discussions at the study development stage. We thank Kenneth Wong (The Chinese University of Hong Kong) for providing data.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1031092/full#supplementary-material

6. Koupenova M, Clancy L, Corkrey HA, Freedman JE. Circulating platelets as mediators of immunity, inflammation, and thrombosis. *Circ Res.* (2018) 122:337–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310795

7. Du F, Liu B, Zhang S. COVID-19: the role of excessive cytokine release and potential ACE2 down-regulation in promoting hypercoagulable state associated with severe illness. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2021) 51:313–29. doi: 10.1007/s11239-020-02224-2

8. Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet gene expression and function in patients with COVID-19. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.20200 07214

9. Hottz ED, Azevedo-Quintanilha IG, Palhinha L, Teixeira L, Barreto EA, Pão CRR, et al. Platelet activation and platelet-monocyte aggregate formation trigger tissue factor expression in patients with severe COVID-19. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1330–41. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007252

10. Yang X, Yang Q, Wang Y, Wu Y, Xu J, Yu Y, et al. Thrombocytopenia and its association with mortality in patients with COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1469–72. doi: 10.1111/jth.14848

11. Valdivia-Mazeyra MF, Salas C, Nieves-Alonso JM, Martín-Fragueiro L, Bárcena C, Muñoz-Hernández P, et al. Increased number of pulmonary megakaryocytes in COVID-19 patients with diffuse alveolar damage: an autopsy study with clinical correlation and review of the literature. *Virchows Arch.* (2021) 478:487–96. doi: 10.1007/s00428-020-02926-1

12. Kannan M, Ahmad F, Saxena R. Platelet activation markers in evaluation of thrombotic risk factors in various clinical settings. *Blood Rev.* (2019) 37:100583. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2019.05.007

13. Thompson CB, Jakubowski JA, Quinn PG, Deykin D, Valeri CR. Platelet size and age determine platelet function independently. *Blood.* (1984) 63:1372–5. doi: 10.1182/blood.V63.6.1372.1372

14. Huang HL, Chen CH, Kung CT, Li YC, Sung PH, You HL, et al. Clinical utility of mean platelet volume and immature platelet fraction in acute coronary syndrome. *Biomed J.* (2019) 42:107–15. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2018.12.005

15. Liu Y, Sun W, Guo Y, Chen L, Zhang L, Zhao S, et al. Association between platelet parameters and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019: retrospective cohort study. *Platelets.* (2020) 31:490–6. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2020.1754383

16. Thachil J. What do monitoring platelet counts in COVID-19 teach us? J Thromb Haemost. (2020) 18:2071–2. doi: 10.1111/jth.14879

17. National Heart LaBI. *Study Quality Assessment Tool.* Available online at: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools (accessed November 6, 2021).

18. Wu G, Yang P, Xie Y, Woodruff HC, Rao X, Guiot J, et al. Development of a clinical decision support system for severity risk prediction and triage of COVID-19 patients at hospital admission: an international multicentre study. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 56:2001104. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01104-2020

19. Song C-Y, Xu J, He J-Q, Lu Y-Q. COVID-19 early warning score: a multi-parameter screening tool to identify highly suspected patients. *medRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.03.05.20031906

20. Jamshidi E, Asgary A, Tavakoli N, Zali A, Esmaily H, Jamaldini SH, et al. Using machine learning to predict mortality for COVID-19 patients on day zero in the ICU. *medRxiv*. (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.02.04.21251131

21. Barrett TJ, Lee AH, Xia Y, Lin LH, Black M, Cotzia P, et al. Platelet and vascular biomarkers associate with thrombosis and death in coronavirus disease. *Circ Res.* (2020) 127:945–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317803

22. Rolla R, Vidali M, Puricelli C, Scotta AM, Pergolini P, Dianzani U, et al. Reduced activity of B lymphocytes, recognised by Sysmex XN-2000TM haematology analyser, predicts mortality in patients with coronavirus disease 2019. *Int J Lab Hematol.* (2021) 43:e5–8. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13331

23. Giusti B, Gori AM, Alessi M, Rogolino A, Lotti E, Poli D, et al. SARS-CoV-2 induced coagulopathy and prognosis in hospitalized patients: a snapshot from Italy. *Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 120:1233–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1712918

24. Kilercik M, Demirelce Ö, Serdar MA, Mikailova P, Serteser M. A new haematocytometric index: predicting severity and mortality risk value in COVID-19 patients. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0254073. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0254073

25. Ak C, Sayar S, Ozdil K, Polat ZP, Kilic ET. Clinical and laboratory factors associated with severe disease course in Turkish patients with COVID-19 infection. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2021) 23:e283. doi: 10.32592/ircmj.2021.23.2.283

26. Al-Nimer MSM, Merza TA, Mohammed KYMY, Mohammed HA. Blood cells indices are determinants of the covid-19 outcome: a cross-sectional study from kurdistan region-iraq. *Electron J Gen Med.* (2021) 18:em304. doi: 10.29333/ejgm/11013

27. Alnor A, Sandberg MB, Toftanes BE, Vinholt PJ. Platelet parameters and leukocyte morphology is altered in COVID-19 patients compared to non-COVID-19 patients with similar symptomatology. *Scand J Clin Lab Investig.* (2021) 81:213– 7. doi: 10.1080/00365513.2021.1894601

28. Asan A, Ustundag Y, Koca N, Simsek A, Sayan HE, Parildar H, et al. Do initial hematologic indices predict the severity of covid-19 patients? *Turkish J Med Sci.* (2021) 51:39-44. doi: 10.3906/sag-2007-97

29. Barrett TJ, Bilaloglu S, Cornwell M, Burgess HM, Virginio VW, Drenkova K, et al. Platelets contribute to disease severity in COVID-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 19:3139–53. doi: 10.1111/jth.15534

30. Bauer W, Galtung N, Somasundaram R, Neuwinger N, Langer E, Tauber R, et al. A matter of caution: coagulation parameters in COVID-19 do not differ from patients with ruled-out SARS-CoV-2 infection in the emergency department. *TH Open.* (2021) 5:E43–55. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1722612

31. Comer SP, Cullivan S, Szklanna PB, Weiss L, Cullen S, Kelliher S, et al. COVID-19 induces a hyperactive phenotype in circulating platelets. *PLoS Biol.* (2021) 19:e3001109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3001109

32. Dogan HO, Bolat S, Buyuktuna SA, Sariismailoglu R, Cetinkaya N, Caylak H, et al. The use of laboratory parameters and computed tomography score

to determine intensive care unit requirement in COVID-19. *Turkish J Biochem.* (2021) 46:157–66. doi: 10.1515/tjb-2020-0359

33. Higuera-De-La-Tijera F, Camacho S, Perez-Hernandez JL, Servin-Caamano A, Reyes-Herrera D, Flores-Lopez A, et al. The Age-AST-D Dimer (AAD) regression model predicts severe COVID-19 disease. *Dis Markers.* (2021) 2021:6658270. doi: 10.1155/2021/6658270

34. Incir S, Komesli Z, Somay K, Baygul A, Tasdemir ZA, Palaoglu KE, et al. Immature platelet fraction: is a novel early predictive marker for disease severity in patients with Covid-19 pneumonia? *Turkish J Biochem.* (2021) 46:359–66. doi: 10.1515/tjb-2021-0070

35. Mao J, Dai R, Du RC, Zhu Y, Shui LP, Luo XH. Hematologic changes predict clinical outcome in recovered patients with COVID-19. *Ann Hematol.* (2021) 100:675–89. doi: 10.1007/s00277-021-04426-x

36. Waris A, Din M, Khalid A, Abbas Lail R, Shaheen A, Khan N, et al. Evaluation of hematological parameters as an indicator of disease severity in Covid-19 patients: Pakistan's experience. *J Clin Lab Anal.* (2021) 35:e23809. doi: 10.1002/jcla.23809

37. Zhong Q, Peng J. Mean platelet volume/platelet count ratio predicts severe pneumonia of COVID-19. J Clin Lab Anal. (2021) 35:e23607. doi: 10.1002/jcla.23607

38. de la Rica R, Borges M, Aranda M, Del Castillo A, Socias A, Payeras A, et al. Low albumin levels are associated with poorer outcomes in a case series of COVID-19 patients in Spain: a retrospective cohort study. *Microorganisms*. (2020) 8:1106. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8081106

39. Ko H, Chung H, Kang WS, Park C, Kim DW, Kim SE, et al. An artificial intelligence model to predict the mortality of COVID-19 patients at hospital admission time using routine blood samples: development and validation of an ensemble model. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e25442. doi: 10.2196/25442

40. Tsui ELH, Lui CSM, Woo PPS, Cheung ATL, Lam PKW, Tang VTW, et al. Development of a data-driven COVID-19 prognostication tool to inform triage and step-down care for hospitalised patients in Hong Kong: a population-based cohort study. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak.* (2020) 20:323. doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01338-0

41. Eraybar S, Yuksel M, Aygun H, Ay MO, Kaya H, Bulut M. Lymphocyte/mean platelet volume ratio, a new marker; is it effective in predicting the prognosis of COVID-19 cases? *Bratislavske lekarske listy.* (2021) 122:413–7. doi:10.4149/BLL_2021_068

42. Xiong P, Sun W, Zhu M, Zhu M, Li J, Yu L. Clinical characteristics of 660 patients with COVID-19. J Pract Med. (2020) 36:1710–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-5725.2020.13.004

43. Ding X, Yu Y, Lu B, Huo J, Chen M, Kang Y, et al. Dynamic profile and clinical implications of hematological parameters in hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2020) 58:1365–71. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0411

44. Guclu E, Kocayigit H, Okan HD, Erkorkmaz U, Yurumez Y, Yaylaci S, et al. Effect of COVID-19 on platelet count and its indices. *Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira*. (2020) 66:1122–7. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.66. 8.1122

45. Karaaslan T, Kuzgun GS, Ecder SA, Karatoprak C, Karaaslan E, Gunduz M, et al. Markers predicting critical illness and mortality in covid-19 patients: a multicentre retrospective study risk factors of critical illness and mortality. *Ann Clin Anal Med.* (2021) 12 (Suppl. 2):S159–S65. doi: 10.4328/ACAM.20404

46. Lanini S, Montaldo C, Nicastri E, Vairo F, Agrati C, Petrosillo N, et al. COVID-19 disease - temporal analyses of complete blood count parameters over course of illness, and relationship to patient demographics and management outcomes in survivors and non-survivors: a longitudinal descriptive cohort study. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0244129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0244129

47. Mertoglu C, Huyut MT, Arslan Y, Ceylan Y, Coban TA. How do routine laboratory tests change in coronavirus disease 2019? *Scand J Clin Lab Investig.* (2021) 81:24–33. doi: 10.1080/00365513.2020.1855470

48. Ouyang SM, Zhu HQ, Xie YN, Zou ZS, Zuo HM, Rao YW, et al. Temporal changes in laboratory markers of survivors and non-survivors of adult inpatients with COVID-19. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:952. doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05678-0

49. San I, GemcIoGlu E, DavutoGlu M, CatalbaS R, KarabuGa B, Kaptan E, et al. Which hematological markers have predictive value as early indicators of severe COVID-19 cases in the emergency department? *Turkish J Med Sci.* (2021) 51:2810–21. doi: 10.3906/sag-2008-6

50. Jackson SR, Carter JM. Platelet volume: laboratory measurement and clinical application. *Blood Rev.* (1993) 7:104–13. doi: 10.1016/S0268-960X(05)80020-7

51. Noris P, Melazzini F, Balduini CL. New roles for mean platelet volume measurement in the clinical practice? *Platelets.* (2016) 27:607-12. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2016.1224828

52. Vagdatli E, Gounari E, Lazaridou E, Katsibourlia E, Tsikopoulou F, Labrianou I. Platelet distribution width: a simple, practical and specific marker of activation of coagulation. *Hippokratia*. (2010) 14:28–32. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2843567/pdf/hippokratia-14-28.pdf

53. Van Cott EM, Fletcher SR, Kratz A. Effects of the blood-collection tube material and long-term storage on platelet activation parameters on the ADVIA 120/2120 hematology system. *Lab Hematol.* (2005) 11:71–5. doi: 10.1532/LH96.04070

54. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1061–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585

55. Khandekar MM, Khurana AS, Deshmukh SD, Kakrani AL, Katdare AD, Inamdar AK. Platelet volume indices in patients with coronary artery disease and acute myocardial infarction: an Indian scenario. *J Clin Pathol.* (2006) 59:146–9. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2004.025387

56. Slavka G, Perkmann T, Haslacher H, Greisenegger S, Marsik C, Wagner OF, et al. Mean platelet volume may represent a predictive parameter for overall vascular mortality and ischemic heart disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2011) 31:1215–8. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.221788

57. Ding Q, Wang F, Guo X, Liang M. The relationship between mean platelet volume and metabolic syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a retrospective study. *Medicine*. (2021) 100:e25303. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000025303

58. Varol E, Akcay S, Icli A, Yucel H, Ozkan E, Erdogan D, et al. Mean platelet volume in patients with prehypertension and hypertension. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc.* (2010) 45:67–72. doi: 10.3233/CH-2010-1327

59. Lippi G, Meschi T, Borghi L. Mean platelet volume increases with aging in a large population study. *Thromb Res.* (2012) 129:e159–60. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2011.12.031

60. Santimone I, Di Castelnuovo A, De Curtis A, Spinelli M, Cugino D, Gianfagna F, et al. White blood cell count, sex and age are major determinants of heterogeneity of platelet indices in an adult general population: results from the MOLI-SANI project. *Haematologica*. (2011) 96:1180-8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.043042

61. Lippi G, Henry BM, Favaloro EJ. Mean platelet volume predicts severe COVID-19 illness. *Semin Thromb Hemostasis*. (2021) 47:456–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1727283

62. Giles C. The platelet count and mean platelet volume. *Br J Haematol.* (1981) 48:31–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1981.00031.x

63. Hille L, Lenz M, Vlachos A, Grüning B, Hein L, Neumann FJ, et al. Ultrastructural, transcriptional, and functional differences between human reticulated and non-reticulated platelets. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:2034–46. doi: 10.1111/jth.14895

64. Henry BM, de Oliveira MHS, Benoit S, Plebani M, Lippi G. Hematologic, biochemical and immune biomarker abnormalities associated with severe illness and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a metaanalysis. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2020) 58:1021–8. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0369

65. Lippi G, Plebani M, Henry BM. Thrombocytopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a metaanalysis. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2020) 506:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020. 03.022

66. Butt MU, Jabri A, Elayi SC. Azithromycin-induced thrombocytopenia: a rare etiology of drug-induced immune thrombocytopenia. *Case Rep Med.* (2019) 2019:6109831. doi: 10.1155/2019/6109831

67. Demir D, Öcal F, Abanoz M, Dermenci H. A case of thrombocytopenia associated with the use of hydroxychloroquine following open heart surgery. *Int J Surg Case Rep.* (2014) 5:1282–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2014. 11.052

68. Thompson CB, Love DG, Quinn PG, Valeri CR. Platelet size does not correlate with platelet age. *Blood.* (1983) 62:487–94. doi: 10.1182/blood.V62.2.487.487

69. Behnke O, Forer A. From megakaryocytes to platelets: platelet morphogenesis takes place in the bloodstream. *Eur J Haematol Suppl.* (1998) 61:3–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.1998. tb01052.x

70. Clancy L, Beaulieu LM, Tanriverdi K, Freedman JE. The role of RNA uptake in platelet heterogeneity. *Thromb Haemost.* (2017) 117:948-61. doi: 10.1160/TH16-11-0873

71. Chen SL, Feng HY, Xu H, Huang SS, Sun JF, Zhou L, et al. Patterns of deterioration in moderate patients with COVID-19 from Jan 2020 to Mar 2020: a multi-center, retrospective cohort study in China. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:567296. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020. 567296

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christoph Reinhardt, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany

REVIEWED BY Lukas Graf, Zentrum für Labormedizin (ZLM), Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Ishac Nazy nazyi@mcmaster.ca

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 09 September 2022 ACCEPTED 04 October 2022 PUBLISHED 24 October 2022

CITATION

Jevtic SD, Arnold DM, Modi D, Ivetic N, Bissola A-L and Nazy I (2022) Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia: Updates in pathobiology and diagnosis. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1040196. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1040196

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jevtic, Arnold, Modi, Ivetic, Bissola and Nazy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia: Updates in pathobiology and diagnosis

Stefan D. Jevtic¹, Donald M. Arnold^{1,2,3}, Dimpy Modi^{1,2}, Nikola Ivetic¹, Anna-Lise Bissola^{1,4} and Ishac Nazy^{1,2*}

¹Department of Medicine, Michael G. DeGroote School of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ²McMaster Centre for Transfusion Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ³Canadian Blood Services, Hamilton, ON, Canada, ⁴Department of Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a viral respiratory infection caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome virus (SARS-CoV-2). Vaccines that protect against SARS-CoV-2 infection have been widely employed to reduce the incidence of symptomatic and severe disease. However, adenovirus-based SARS-CoV-2 vaccines can cause a rare, thrombotic disorder termed vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). VITT often develops in the first 5 to 30 days following vaccination and is characterized by thrombocytopenia and thrombosis in unusual locations (e.g., cerebral venous sinus thrombosis). The diagnosis is confirmed by testing for anti-PF4 antibodies, as these antibodies are capable of platelet activation without any cofactor. It can be clinically challenging to differentiate VITT from a similar disorder called heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT), since heparin is commonly used in hospitalized patients. VITT and HIT have similar pathobiology and clinical manifestations but important differences in testing including the need for PF4-enhanced functional assays and the poor reliability of rapid immunoassays for the detection of anti-platelet factor 4 (PF4) antibodies. In this review we summarize the epidemiology of VITT; highlight similarities and differences between HIT and VITT; and provide an update on the clinical diagnosis of VITT.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, platelet, antigen-antibody complex, immune complex, thrombosis, thrombocytopenia, heparin, vaccine

Introduction

Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) is a recently-described hematological disorder that emerged during the mass coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccination programs (1). The incidence of VITT ranges from 1 in 26,500 to 263,000 people after the administration of an adenoviral vector vaccine, with an overall incidence of ~ 1 in 100,000 (2). VITT is similar to heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT), which is a side effect of heparin exposure, that is also characterized by thrombocytopenia and thrombosis (3, 4). VITT often presents with a severe clinical illness, yet the diagnosis can be missed since it is rare and clinical manifestations are non-specific. Laboratory testing is essential for VITT diagnosis and

is based on similar concepts as HIT testing but with important differences. These differences include the type of screening immunoassay used and the need for specialized functional assays.

In this review we provide a pragmatic overview of VITT. We review the differences in clinical presentation between HIT and VITT; VITT pathophysiology; and unique aspects of laboratory investigations.

Clinical characteristics of VITT

VITT is characterized by new-onset thrombocytopenia and thrombosis following vaccination with an adenoviral COVID-19 vaccine (1, 3). Examples of these include the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 [AstraZeneca-Oxford] and Ad21.COV2.S [Johnson & Johnson/Janssen] vaccines. VITT patients have a medium time to symptom onset of 15 days post-vaccination (ranging from 7 to 61 days) based on a Canadian cohort of 43 patients (5). The median age of this cohort was 52 years old (ranging from 29 to 73 years old) with no apparent sex-related differences (5). Patients present with thrombocytopenia and the majority have concurrent thrombosis (85.7%) (5). Rarely, patients can present without thrombocytopenia, as occurred in 2/35 patients in the Canadian cohort. Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) has been reported as the most common site of thrombosis (36.8%); other locations include deepvein thrombosis of the lower extremity (23.7%); pulmonary embolism (31.6%); and splanchnic vein thrombosis (19%) (1, 3, 5, 6). Appropriate imaging based on symptom presentation (e.g., MRI venogram for severe headache) should be completed to confirm thrombosis.

A complete blood count, D-dimer, coagulation tests [international normalized ratio (INR), partial thromboplastin time (PTT)], and liver enzymes should be ordered in suspected VITT patients. The median platelet count in VITT ranges from 25,000 to 47,000 based on several reports (3, 7, 8). Ddimer levels are often markedly elevated and may worsen with disease progression (9). If the D-dimer level is <2,000fibrinogen equivalent units (or four times the upper limit of normal), VITT is unlikely and alternate diagnoses should be considered (10). Coagulation testing (INR, aPTT, fibrinogen) are used to monitor for consumptive coagulopathy that can occur with severe or late presentations. Elevated liver enzymes (aspartate transaminase, alanine transaminase, and alkaline phosphatase) or liver function abnormalities may suggest underlying splanchnic vein thrombosis. While these initial investigations can support the diagnosis, specialized testing is ultimately required for confirmation (see Diagnostic Testing below).

A recent report described eleven VITT patients who presented to hospital with no thrombosis on initial assessment. All eleven patients had thrombocytopenia and severe headache following adenoviral vaccination (4). They also had biochemical features suggestive of VITT (thrombocytopenia, elevated Ddimer) with high anti-PF4/heparin IgG levels confirming the diagnosis. Two patients had CVST and seven did not develop thrombosis. This highlights the fact that VITT may present with isolated thrombocytopenia and, rarely, thrombosis with platelet count levels that are in the normal range. Treatment should not be delayed if clinical suspicion is high (e.g., strongly positive anti-PF4 testing with a high optical density).

Pathobiology of VITT and HIT

A review of VITT pathobiology is essential to understand the clinical application of specialized screening and diagnostic tests. VITT is a prothrombotic, autoimmune disorder that is a result of pathologic anti-PF4 antibodies (11–13). These antibodies target the cationic protein, PF4, that is normally released from platelets during coagulation (14, 15). Anti-PF4 antibodies bind to PF4 on platelet surfaces to form immune complexes that subsequently activate platelets through the $Fc\gamma$ RIIa receptor (16, 17). This results in significant release of intracellular molecules, including serotonin (see Serotonin Release Assay below), with resulting thrombocytopenia and thrombosis. It is postulated that monocytes and neutrophils are also activated, in a similar manner to HIT, but this has yet to be confirmed (18–20).

Similarly, HIT is mediated through anti-PF4 antibodies, but the antibody characteristics and mechanism of platelet activation are different than VITT. HIT occurs following heparin exposure and the immune complex is dependent on this hapten. Heparin, a negatively charged molecule, serves as a scaffold to bridge PF4 molecules. This facilitates anti-PF4/heparin antibody immune complex formation. Heparin binds to a unique site on the PF4 protein that has been well characterized through alanine scanning mutagenesis studies (21, 22). Anti-PF4 antibodies (VITT) bind directly to this heparin-binding site on PF4 and thus do not require heparin as a hapten. Indeed, heparin appears to inhibit VITT anti-PF4 antibody binding to PF4 in vitro since they both bind to the same region (22, 23). The trigger for anti-PF4 antibody production is unclear but several reports have speculated that the negatively charged surface of the adenovirus vector or other vaccine components bind PF4 to stimulate antibody production and activation, similar to heparin (13, 24). These distinct molecular differences, including heparin-dependence and anti-PF4 antibody specificity, have important implications for VITT testing.

Diagnostic testing

Screening tests-rapid immunoassays and enzyme immunoassays

Screening tests for VITT were initially adapted from HIT assays due to the similarities in pathobiology and

antibody specificity. The two broad categories of testing include enzyme immunoassays (EIAs) and rapid assay (25). These immunoassays rely on antibody recognition of PF4, either alone or in complex with a negatively charged scaffold such as heparin (PF4/heparin) or polyvinylsulfate (PVS, PF4/PVS) (26-29). Rapid assays, as the name implies, offer faster turnaround time compared to EIAs and do not require sample batching. For HIT, both the EIA and rapid assays have a high sensitivity (90-99%) but low specificity (~50-70%) for "pathogenic" anti-PF4/heparin antibodies (25, 30-36). Reduced specificity is due to false positive results from patients with "non-pathogenic" anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. These "non-pathogenic" forms are unable to bind the appropriate site on PF4 required for immune complex formation and subsequent platelet activation and thus do not manifest with HIT (21, 35). Although rapid assays have similar efficacy in HIT testing, this does not hold true in the context of VITT, as will be discussed below.

EIAs quantify the optical density emitted from anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in patient serum when mixed with a secondary antibody. They consist of microtiter plates containing antigen complexes (PF4/heparin) bound to the well surface. Patient sera is added to the well and anti-PF4/heparin antibodies bind to the antigen. A secondary antibody (anti-human IgG) that can emit light is added and the degree of transmission is quantified. Commercially available EIAs for HIT detect either all immunoglobulin classes (polyspecific, i.e., IgG/A/M) or IgGonly antibodies. When used for VITT testing, commercial EIA has been reported to have a sensitivity of 100% and the specificity of commercial, in-house, and anti-P4F/heparin ranging between 95.6 and 97.4% (5). Various rapid assays are commercially available for the diagnosis of HIT including the LIA, chemiluminescence immunoassay (CLIA), particle gel immunoassay (PaGIA), and lateral flow assay (LFA). The LIA measures light transmission of a sample containing PF4/PVScoated latex nanoparticles mixed with a HIT-mimicking antibody (30, 31). This antibody agglutinates the nanoparticles, thus resulting in low light transmission through the sample. When patient plasma containing anti-PF4/heparin antibodies is added, there is competition for binding to the nanoparticles. This disrupts the agglutination and results in higher light transmission. Therefore, the amount of patient anti-PF4/heparin antibodies is directly related to the degree of light transmission. The CLIA also utilizes PF4/PVS coated particles to capture anti-PF4/heparin antibodies and then measures the emitted light of an isoluminol-labeled anti-human IgG secondary antibody (25). Similarly, the ID-PaGIA measures the ability of patient sera to agglutinate beads coated with PF4/heparin complexes (32). Lastly, LFAs capture antibodies bound to PF4/PVS when as patient samples migrate with buffer across a test strip, appearing as a visible colored line when positive (37). Rapid assays thus represent an attractive option for HIT testing because of their ease of use, rapid turnaround time (<1 h), and superior performance compared to standard EIAs (slightly

lower sensitivity, but greater specificity) (30, 33). However, rapid assays should not be used for VITT testing due to their inferior sensitivity (high false-positive rate) compared to EIA (12, 37).

Platton et al. (11) tested 23 suspected or probable VITT patients using six commercially available EIAs and four rapid assays. IgG-specific EIAs had comparable diagnostic performances to the polyspecific EIAs, with 5/6 tests showing >90% sensitivity. On the other hand, the rapid tests performed poorly in VITT: three of the four rapid assays had diagnostic sensitivities between 0 and 5.9% while the fourth had a sensitivity of 45.5% (13). Another study also found similarly poor detection of anti-PF4 antibodies in VITT patients with the following assays: ID-PaGIA (3/12, 25% detected), CLIA/HemosIL AcuStar HIT-IgG (8%), and LFA/Milenia QuickLine HIT-Test (0%) (37). Using the same samples, two commercial EIAs (ZYMUTEST HIA IgG-EIA and Immucor PF4 IgG-EIA) were shown to better identify anti-PF4 antibodies in 11/12 (92%) and 12/12 (100%) VITT patients. The superiority of EIAs was confirmed in another study of 9 VITT patients that showed reduced accuracy of rapid assays for VITT antibodies (12). All rapid assays tested in this study were negative for anti-PF4 antibodies whereas the three EIAs used showed variable results depending on the antigen target. Only the PF4-PVS EIA (Lifecodes PF4 IgG, Immucor) successfully identified high titres of anti-PF4 antibodies in 7/9 patients. The PF4/heparin EIA (Asserachrom HPIA, Stago) identified anti-PF4 antibodies in 5/9 suspected patients while the platelet-lysate/heparin EIA (Zymutest HIA IgG, Hyphen) only identified antibodies in 4/9 suspected patients. Finally, a multi-center UK study evaluating anti-PF4 EIAs and rapid assays showed rapid assays to have inferior performance compared to EIAs for identifying anti-PF4 VITT antibodies (38).

Therefore, while rapid assays are often used to rule-out the presence of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in HIT, they perform poorly in VITT. EIAs are the preferred screening assays as they can accurately identify anti-PF4 VITT antibodies. The Lifecodes Immucor PF4-EIA has demonstrated the best performance in this regard. Reference laboratories should be able to perform more than one type of EIA, given that no single assay detects all VITT sera. Future work should look to evaluate the diagnostic capabilities of EIAs to further substantiate their usefulness as a diagnostic test for VITT due to the limited sample size of these studies. However, functional platelet activating assays remain the gold-standard test for laboratory confirmation of VITT.

Functional assays (HIPA/PEA/SRA)

Functional platelet activation assays are required to confirm the diagnosis of HIT after a positive screen for anti-PF4/heparin antibodies with the EIA or rapid assays (39). Functional assays thus reduce false positive results due to non-pathogenic antibodies (34, 40). Examples of HIT functional assays include the heparin-induced platelet aggregation assay (HIPA), heparininduced multiple electrode aggregometry (HIMEA), PF4dependent P-selectin expression assay (PEA), and the serotonin release assay (SRA) (39, 41-43). The HIPA, PEA and SRA rely on the use of fresh donor platelets that are mixed with patient serum, while the HIMEA is a whole blood-based assay (see Table 1). In the case of the HIPA, HIEMA and SRA, varying exogenous heparin doses are used to confirm heparindependence or independence. The assays mostly differ in their measured endpoints of platelet activation: HIPA measures platelet aggregation via turbidity change (assessed visually), while the HIMEA measures aggregation by electrical impedance; the PEA measures P-selectin expression on the platelet surface; and the SRA measures radioactive serotonin release from platelet granules (34, 39, 41-43, 47). These assays can also be used to identify HIT patients who may safely receive heparin products following treatment. For example, in a HIT patient treated with intravenous immunoglobulin, the SRA (functional) test will be negative despite a persistently positive EIA (48).

Functional HIT assays were quickly implemented for VITT testing once it was discovered that patients had anti-PF4 antibodies (45). However, standard functional assays often produced false-negative results in VITT. Therefore, a modification of the functional assay is needed by adding exogenous PF4 instead of heparin (1, 22, 44). In classic HIT, exogenous heparin serves as a scaffold to complex PF4 and induce a conformational change such that it can be recognized by anti-PF4/heparin HIT antibodies (40). This results in a "heparin-dependent" platelet activation, as evidenced in the SRA (39, 44). In contrast, heparin was found to reduce the sensitivity of platelet activation assays in VITT and produced a false-negative SRA. However, the addition of exogenous PF4 significantly increased the sensitivity of HIT assays and produced an activation pattern similar to HIT. The heparinmediated inhibition (at pharmacological concentrations, i.e., 0.1 to 0.5 IU/mL heparin) of platelet activation in VITT can be explained by the recent finding that the majority of anti-PF4 VITT antibodies bind to the heparin-binding site on PF4 (22). Therefore, heparin should be avoided in VITT functional platelet testing and exogenous PF4 should be added (49). In one study, the addition of heparin to the PF4-enhanced HIPA assay reduced the sensitivity from 100 to 20% of clinically diagnosed VITT samples (5). In another study, sensitivity was reduced from 100 to 46.2% when heparin was added to the PF4-enhanced SRA (1). Interestingly, both the PEA and the PF4-induced flow cytometry-based platelet activation assay (PIFPA) already require PF4 and do not use heparin in their reactions (46). Both assays measure P-selectin expression via flow cytometry for their activation endpoints; the main differences between the PFIPA and PEA is the use of a whole blood-based assay compared to washed platelet-based assay, respectively.

TABLE 1 Summary of platelet functional assays in HIT and VITT.

	HIT		VITT analog	
Assay	Methodology	Assay	Difference in methodology	Reported results for clinical VITT
Serotonin release assay	• Measures release of radioactive serotonin	PF4-SRA	Modified SRA with no heparin and	3/3 (44)
(SRA)	from activated platelets		washed platelets preincubated with	5/5 (22)
	• Washed platelets treated with heparin and patient sera		PF4	
Heparin-induced platelet	• Visual detection of platelet aggregation	PIPA	Modified HIPA with no heparin	28/28 (1)
activation assay	• Washed platelets treated with heparin and		and washed platelets preincubated	
(HIPA)	patient sera		with PF4	
Heparin-induced	• Platelet aggregation measured by changes	HEMA	Modified HEMA with no heparin	4/5 *(<mark>45</mark>)
multiple electrode	in electrical impedance.			50/52 **(<mark>8</mark>)
Aggregometry	• Whole blood mixed with heparin and			
(HIMEA)	patient sera			
PF4-dependent	• Expression of P-selectin <i>via</i> flow cytometry	PIFPA***	Expression of P-selectin via flow	16/16 (<mark>46</mark>)
P-selectin expression	• Washed platelets treated with patient sera		cytometry	
assay (PEA)	and PF4		Whole blood assay with	
			PF4 preincubation before sera	
			addition	

*Negative sample was ruled inconclusive. **Negative samples were patients undergoing IVIG. ***Closest analogue. All samples tested were positive for anti-PF4 antibodies.

71
PF4-enhanced functional assays can confirm whether anti-PF4 antibodies are capable of platelet activation and whether persistent anti-PF4 antibodies continue to be pathogenic. This was highlighted in a recent study of 69 patients with thrombocytopenia and thrombosis syndrome (TTS, an epidemiologic classification that includes VITT) (8). The sensitivity and specificity of functional platelet assays in this cohort were 96 and 78%, respectively. The two patients who yielded false negative platelet activation had receive intravenous immunoglobulin prior to blood collection, which is known to interfere with these assays (44). This suggests that functional assays may even approach 100% sensitivity if appropriate clinical context and pre-analytical variables are used, and with optimal assay reactivity. Rarely, PF4 supplementation may be required as demonstrated by "SRA-negative HIT" patient sera (47, 50). In one study, four of eight VITT patients (50%) with thrombocytopenia but without thrombosis also tested strongly positive for anti-PF4, platelet-activating antibodies. Functional assays can thus confirm the diagnosis in patients with atypical VITT presentation (e.g., thrombocytopenia alone on initial presentation). However, given that the excellent operating characteristics of the EIAs, functional assays are not required to confirm the diagnosis of VITT. This contrasts with HIT where the screening test has a low specificity and confirmatory functional assays are needed to confirm the diagnosis.

Functional assays can also potentially identify disease resolution in the context of persistent anti-PF4 antibodies following VITT. In a longitudinal study of 35 VITT patients, 32 (91%) continued to test positive on anti-PF4/heparin IgG EIA, albeit with significantly reduced optical density results (51). In those who had follow-up >12 weeks, the majority (14/15, 93%) became negative in the platelet-activation assays. The remaining patient exhibited recurrent thrombocytopenia with persistently high-titre anti-PF4/heparin IgG and positive platelet-activation. Therefore, platelet functional assays may be used to monitor disease activity longitudinally in patients with ongoing symptoms or evidence of disease recurrence. It is still unclear whether persistent EIA positivity indicates potential for recurrent disease.

VITT functional assays are thus a useful adjunct and diagnostic tool for patient cases that are atypical or require longitudinal monitoring. When testing well clinically defined VITT patient samples, VITT functional assays have reliable and accurate detection. Neither the PF4 serotonin release assay (PF4- SRA), the PF4-induced platelet activation assay (PIPA), or flow-cytometry based assay (PIFPA) missed any of the clinically diagnosed VITT samples, whereas the HEMA missed three samples in two different studies. Of these three samples, one was inconclusive while the other two were patients undergoing IVIG treatment (Table 1) (1, 8, 44–46). Given the relative novelty of VITT and rapidity at which these assays were developed, the majority of studies featured small, well-selected patient

populations. No significant large-scale comparative studies have been done to compare the functional assays to each other as of this publication. It is because of this small sample population that the sensitivity and specificity of these tests has not been well defined; however, by all initial indications the assays appear to be strong diagnostic tools for VITT and should be considered when EIA testing is not available or additional supportive testing is required.

Discussion

VITT is a prothrombotic disorder that has been characterized through application of existing knowledge related to HIT. Although these disorders share many similarities, clinicians should be aware of several important differences: First, HIT antibodies and VITT antibodies have different binding sites on PF4. Second, anti-PF4/heparin EIAs have high sensitivity and high specificity for the VITT diagnosis, whereas the specificity is low for HIT. Third, rapid diagnostic assays developed for HIT often yield false-negative results for VITT and should not be used as a diagnostic test for VITT.

Author contributions

SJ, DA, DM, NI, A-LB, and IN were all involved in the conceptualization, writing, and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Funding was received from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR 452655) awarded to IN.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:2092–101. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104840

2. Pai M. Epidemiology of VITT. Semin Hematol. (2022) 59:72-5. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2022.02.002

3. Pavord S, Scully M, Hunt BJ, Lester W, Bagot C, Craven B, et al. Clinical features of vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia and thrombosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:1680–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2109908

4. Salih F, Schönborn L, Kohler S, Franke C, Möckel M, Dörner T, et al. Vaccine-induced thrombocytopenia with severe headache. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:2103–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2112974

5. Bissola AL, Daka M, Arnold DM, Smith JW, Moore JC, Clare R, et al. The clinical and laboratory diagnosis of vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood Adv.* (2022) 6:4228–35. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007766

6. Klok FA, Pai M, Huisman MV, Makris M. Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Lancet Haematol.* (2021) 9:E73–80. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00306-9

7. Franchini M, Liumbruno GM, Pezzo M. COVID-19 vaccine-associated immune thrombosis and thrombocytopenia (VITT): diagnostic and therapeutic recommendations for a new syndrome. *Eur J Haematol.* (2021) 107:173–80. doi: 10.1111/ejh.13665

8. Thiele T, Weisser K, Schönborn L, Funk MB, Weber G, Greinacher A, et al. Laboratory confirmed vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia: Retrospective analysis of reported cases after vaccination with ChAdOx-1 nCoV-19 in Germany. *Lancet Reg Health - Eur.* (2022) 12:100270. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100270

9. Favaloro EJ. Laboratory testing for suspected COVID-19 vaccine-induced (immune) thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Int J Lab Hematol.* (2021) 43:559–70. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13629

10. Greinacher A, Langer F, Makris M, Pai M, Pavord S, Tran H, et al. Vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT): Update on diagnosis and management considering different resources. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2022) 20:149– 56. doi: 10.1111/jth.15572

11. Platton S, Bartlett A, MacCallum P, Makris M, McDonald V, Singh D, et al. Evaluation of laboratory assays for anti-platelet factor 4 antibodies after ChAdOx1 nCOV-19 vaccination. *J Thromb Haemost JTH.* (2021) 19:2007–13. doi: 10.1111/jth.15362

12. Vayne C, Rollin J, Gruel Y, Pouplard C, Galinat H, Huet O, et al. PF4 Immunoassays in Vaccine-Induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:376–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2106383

13. Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, Wesche J, Handtke S, Wolff M, et al. Insights in ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. (2021) 138:2256–68. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021013231

14. Moore S, Pepper DS, Cash JD, Platelet antiheparin activity. The isolation and characterisation of platelet factor 4 released from thrombin-aggregated washed human platelets and its dissociation into subunits and the isolation of membrane-bound antiheparin activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (1975) 379:370–84. doi: 10.1016/0005-2795(75)90143-9

15. Poncz M, Surrey S, LaRocco P, Weiss MJ, Rappaport EF, Conway TM, et al. Cloning and characterization of platelet factor 4 cDNA derived from a human erythroleukemic cell line. *Blood.* (1987) 69:219–23. doi: 10.1182/blood.V69.1.219.bloodjournal691219

16. Hughes M, Hayward CP, Warkentin TE, Horsewood P, Chorneyko KA, Kelton JG. Morphological analysis of microparticle generation in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (2000) 96:188–94. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.1.188.013k12_188_194

17. Brandt S, Krauel K, Gottschalk KE, Renné T, Helm CA, Greinacher A, et al. Characterisation of the conformational changes in platelet factor 4 induced by polyanions: towards in vitro prediction of antigenicity. *Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 112:53–64. doi: 10.1160/TH13-08-0634

18. Perdomo J, Leung HHL, Ahmadi Z, Yan F, Chong JJH, Passam FH, et al. Neutrophil activation and NETosis are the major drivers of thrombosis in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1322. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09160-7

19. Tutwiler V, Madeeva D, Ahn HS, Andrianova I, Hayes V, Zheng XL, et al. Platelet transactivation by monocytes promotes thrombosis in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (2016) 127:464–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-539262

20. Rauova L, Cines DB, Poncz M. Defining the role of monocytes in heparininduced thrombocytopenia (HIT): insights from a murine HIT model. *Blood.* (2007) 110:280. doi: 10.1182/blood.V110.11.280.280

21. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Kelton JG, Smith JW, Horsewood P, Clare R, et al. Characterization of platelet factor 4 amino acids that bind pathogenic antibodies in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost JTH.* (2019) 17:389–99. doi: 10.1111/jth.14369

22. Huynh A, Kelton JG, Arnold DM, Daka M, Nazy I. Antibody epitopes in vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopaenia. *Nature*. (2021) 596:565–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03744-4

23. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Michael JV, Clare R, Smith JW, Daka M, et al. Characteristics of VITT antibodies in patients vaccinated with Ad26.COV2.S. *Blood Adv.* (2022). doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007336. [Epub ahead of print].

24. Baker AT, Boyd RJ, Sarkar D, Teijeira-Crespo A, Chan CK, Bates E, et al. ChAdOx1 interacts with CAR and PF4 with implications for thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome. *Sci Adv.* (2021) 7:eabl8213. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abl8213

25. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JAI, Smith JW, Li N, Moore JC, Arnold DM, et al. Combination of two complementary automated rapid assays for diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1435–46. doi: 10.1111/jth.14794

26. Visentin GP, Moghaddam M, Beery SE, McFarland JG, Aster RH. Heparin is not required for detection of antibodies associated with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia/thrombosis. *J Lab Clin Med.* (2001) 138:22–31. doi: 10.1067/mlc.2001.115525

27. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JI, Moore JC, Sigouin CS, Kelton JG. Quantitative interpretation of optical density measurements using PF4-dependent enzyme-immunoassays. *J Thromb Haemost JTH.* (2008) 6:1304–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03025.x

28. Amiral J, Bridey F, Dreyfus M, Vissoc AM, Fressinaud E, Wolf M, et al. Platelet factor 4 complexed to heparin is the target for antibodies generated in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost.* (1992) 68:95–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1656329

29. Newman PM, Chong BH. Further characterization of antibody and antigen in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol.* (1999) 107:303–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01717.x

30. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JAI, Linkins LA, Arnold DM, Nazy I. Performance characteristics of an automated latex immunoturbidimetric assay [HemosIL [®] HIT-Ab (PF4-H)] for the diagnosis of immune heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Res.* (2017) 153:108–17. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2017.03.010

31. Refaai MA, Conley G, Ortel TL, Francis JL. Evaluation of a rapid and automated heparin-induced thrombocytopenia immunoassay. *Int J Lab Hematol.* (2019) 41:478–84. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13029

32. Meyer O, Salama A, Pittet N, Schwind P. Rapid detection of heparininduced platelet antibodies with particle gel immunoassay (ID-HPF4). *Lancet.* (1999) 354:1525-6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)03625-9

33. Althaus K, Hron G, Strobel U, Abbate R, Rogolino A, Davidson S, et al. Evaluation of automated immunoassays in the diagnosis of heparin induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Res.* (2013) 131:e85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2013.01.005

34. Warkentin TE. Laboratory diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Int J Lab Hematol. (2019) 41:15-25. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.12993

35. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JAI, Horsewood P, Simpson PJ, Moore JC, Kelton JG. Impact of the patient population on the risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (2000) 96:1703-8. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.5.1703.h8001703_1703_1708

36. Althaus K, Strobel U, Warkentin TE, Greinacher A. Combined use of the high heparin step and optical density to optimize diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of an anti-PF4/heparin enzyme-immunoassay. *Thromb Res.* (2011) 128:256–60. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2011.05.003

37. Sachs U, Hesberg J, Santoso S, Bein G, Bakchoul T. Evaluation of a new nanoparticle-based lateral-flow immunoassay for the exclusion of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT). *Thromb Haemost.* (2011) 106:1197–202. doi: 10.1160/TH11-06-0390

38. Reilly-Stitt C, Kitchen S, Jennings I, Horner K, Jones R, Makris M, et al. Anti-PF4 testing for vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia and thrombosis and heparin induced thrombocytopenia: results from a UK national external

quality assessment scheme exercise april 2021. J Thromb Haemost JTH. (2021) 19:2263-7. doi: 10.1111/jth.15423

39. Sheridan D, Carter C, Kelton J. A diagnostic test for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood.* (1986) 67:27–30. doi: 10.1182/blood.V67.1.27.27

40. Minet V, Dogné JM, Mullier F. Functional assays in the diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a review. *Molecules.* (2017) 22:617. doi: 10.3390/molecules22040617

41. Galea V, Khaterchi A, Robert F, Gerotziafas G, Hatmi M, Elalamy I. Heparin-induced multiple electrode aggregometry is a promising and useful functional tool for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia diagnosis: confirmation in a prospective study. *Platelets.* (2013) 24:441–7. doi: 10.3109/09537104.2012. 724736

42. Padmanabhan A, Jones CG, Curtis BR, Bougie DW, Sullivan MJ, Peswani N, et al. A novel PF4-dependent platelet activation assay identifies patients likely to have heparin-induced thrombocytopenia/thrombosis. *Chest.* (2016) 150:506–15. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2016.02.641

43. Greinacher A, Michels I, Kiefel V, Mueller-Eckhardt C. A rapid and sensitive test for diagnosing heparin-associated thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost.* (1991) 66:734–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-16 46493

44. Bourguignon A, Arnold DM, Warkentin TE, Smith JW, Pannu T, Shrum JM, et al. Adjunct immune globulin for vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:720–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2107051

45. Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT, et al. Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:2124–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2104882

46. Handtke S, Wolff M, Zaninetti C, Wesche J, Schönborn L, Aurich K, et al. A flow cytometric assay to detect platelet-activating antibodies in VITT after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. *Blood.* (2021) 137:3656–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.2021012064

47. Warkentin TE, Nazy I, Sheppard JAI, Smith JW, Kelton JG, Arnold DM. Serotonin-release assay-negative heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Am J Hematol.* (2020) 95:38–47. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25660

48. Warkentin TE, Climans TH, Morin PA. Intravenous Immune Globulin to Prevent Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378:1845– 8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1801799

49. Nazi I, Arnold DM, Warkentin TE, Smith JW, Staibano P, Kelton JG. Distinguishing between anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies that can and cannot cause heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2015) 13:1900–7. doi: 10.1111/jth.13066

50. Pandya KA, Johnson EG, Davis GA, Padmanabhan A. Serotonin release assay (SRA)-negative HIT, a newly recognized entity: Implications for diagnosis and management. *Thromb Res.* (2018) 172:169–71. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.10.022

51. Schönborn L, Thiele T, Kaderali L, Greinacher A. Decline in pathogenic antibodies over time in VITT. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:1815–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2112760

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Luca Spiezia, University of Padua, Italy

REVIEWED BY Afnan Hamdy, Department of Chemistry, Egypt Chiara Simion, University of Padua, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE

Timothy D. Warner t.d.warner@qmul.ac.uk Mauro Giacca mauro.giacca@kcl.ac.uk

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS

Marilena Crescente, Department of Life Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, United Kingdom

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[§]These authors share senior authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 06 August 2022 ACCEPTED 29 November 2022 PUBLISHED 04 January 2023

CITATION

Cappelletto A, Allan HE, Crescente M, Schneider E, Bussani R, Ali H, Secco I, Vodret S, Simeone R, Mascaretti L, Zacchigna S, Warner TD and Giacca M (2023) SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein activates TMEM16F-mediated platelet procoagulant activity. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1013262. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1013262

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cappelletto, Allan, Crescente, Schneider, Bussani, Ali, Secco, Vodret, Simeone, Mascaretti, Zacchigna, Warner and Giacca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein activates TMEM16F-mediated platelet procoagulant activity

Ambra Cappelletto^{1‡}, Harriet E. Allan^{2‡}, Marilena Crescente^{2†‡}, Edoardo Schneider¹, Rossana Bussani³, Hashim Ali¹, Ilaria Secco¹, Simone Vodret⁴, Roberto Simeone⁵, Luca Mascaretti⁵, Serena Zacchigna^{3,4}, Timothy D. Warner^{2*§} and Mauro Giacca^{1*§}

¹British Heart Foundation Centre of Research Excellence, School of Cardiovascular Medicine & Sciences, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ²Barts and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry, Blizard Institute, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, ³Department of Medical, Surgical and Health Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy, ⁴International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology (ICGEB), Trieste, Italy, ⁵Dipartimento di Medicina Trasfusionale Giuliano-Isontino, Azienda Sanitaria Universitaria Giuliano Isontina (ASUGI), Trieste, Italy

Thrombosis of the lung microvasculature is a characteristic of COVID-19 disease, which is observed in large excess compared to other forms of acute respiratory distress syndrome and thus suggests a trigger for thrombosis that is endogenous to the lung. Our recent work has shown that the SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein activates the cellular TMEM16F chloride channel and scramblase. Through a screening on >3,000 FDA/EMA approved drugs, we identified Niclosamide and Clofazimine as the most effective molecules at inhibiting Spike-induced TMEM16 activation. As TMEM16F plays an important role in stimulating the procoagulant activity of platelets, we investigated whether Spike directly affects platelet activation and pro-thrombotic function and tested the effect of Niclosamide and Clofazimine on these processes. Here we show that Spike, present either on the virion envelope or on the cell plasma membrane, promotes platelet activation, adhesion and spreading. Spike was active as a sole agonist or, even more effectively, by enhancing the function of known platelet activators. In particular, Spikeinduced a marked procoagulant phenotype in platelets, by enhancing Ca^{2+} flux, phosphatidylserine externalization on the platelet outer cell membrane, and thrombin generation. Eventually, this increased thrombin-induced clot formation and retraction. Both Niclosamide and Clofazimine blocked this Spike-induced procoagulant response. These findings provide a pathogenic mechanism to explain lung thrombosis-associated with severe COVID-19 infection. We propose that Spike, present in SARS-CoV-2 virions or exposed on the surface of infected cells in the lungs, enhances the effects of inflammation and leads to local platelet stimulation and subsequent activation of the coagulation cascade. As platelet TMEM16F is central in this process, these findings reinforce the rationale of repurposing Niclosamide for COVID-19 therapy.

KEYWORDS

platelets, SARS-CoV-2, TMEM16F, coagulation, Niclosamide, Clofazimine, COVID-19, Spike

1 Introduction

Thrombosis is a defining characteristic of advanced COVID-19 lung disease. Recent meta-analyses reveal that elevated D-dimers, fibrinogen and thrombosis-associated biomarkers are present in over 20% of patients with COVID-19 and in at least 50% of patients requiring intensive care (1-5). At the histological level, our own post-mortem analysis of 41 patients with COVID-19 revealed the presence of microthrombosis in the lungs of 83% of patients requiring intensive care and 75% of all the other patients (6). This high prevalence resonates with that of several other recent pathology investigations (7–11). While a thrombotic response is common in other causes of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), the magnitude of this response appears a hallmark of COVID-19. A post-mortem study reported that severe vascular injury, including alveolar microthrombi, was nine times more prevalent in COVID-19 lungs than in patients with influenza (7).

At least three observations suggest that lung thrombosis in COVID-19 is triggered by local events. First, thrombi and fibrin deposition in the lungs are asynchronous, by which recent thrombi infiltrated by inflammatory cells are close to older thrombi, in advanced stage of fibrotic organization (6). Second, the presence of macro- or micro-vascular thrombosis is only sporadically detected in other organs (6–11). Third, patients with severe COVID-19 have high levels of D-dimer and fibrinogen, but do not show an increase in prothrombin time or a decrease in antithrombin levels and rarely develop disseminated intravascular coagulation (12); this argues against thrombosis as a consequence of a systemic consumptive coagulopathy.

This pulmonary intravascular coagulopathy (13) has variously been attributed to endothelial dysfunction (6, 14), or the hyperinflammatory state that accompanies SARS-CoV-2 infection (15–19), or immunothrombosis, by which neutrophils and monocytes activate the coagulation cascade as a host immune defense against infection (20–22), including the release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (23, 24). While these mechanisms most likely contribute to the local pro-thrombotic state, they still do not explain why lung thrombosis is particularly frequent in COVID-19 compared to other causes of ARDS.

Several observations point to a specific involvement of platelets in the pathogenesis of COVID-19 thrombosis.

A common characteristic of patients with advanced COVID-19 disease is thrombocytopenia (5, 25–27); COVID-19 lungs show increased number of pulmonary megakaryocytes, which could be indicative of increased local megakaryopoiesis in response to platelet consumption (28); SARS-CoV-2 infection is associated with platelet hyperreactivity, including increased P-selectin expression, platelet activation and spreading on both fibrinogen and collagen, and elevated levels of circulating platelet-neutrophil, -monocyte, and -T-cell aggregates (29–32). The actual molecular mechanisms leading to this platelet hyperactivity during SARS-CoV-2 infection, coupled with local thrombosis, remain largely elusive and is likely multifactorial.

In the course of SARS-CoV-2 infection, the viral envelope Spike protein exerts a fundamental function by mediating virus entry into the cells. In particular, the Spike surface unit (S1) binds the ACE2 cellular receptor (33), which facilitates docking of the virion onto the surface of the target cells. A subsequent activation step carried out by a cellular protease cleaves Spike at the S1/S2 boundary and thus exposes the S2 portion, which promotes membrane fusion and virion content internalization. In the case of SARS-CoV-2, the protease priming event and subsequent fusion can occur at the plasma membrane thanks to the involvement of the TMPRSS2 (33) or furin (34, 35) proteases, hence the capacity of virus-infected cells, which expose Spike on their surface, to form large syncytia with other infected or non-infected cells that express the ACE2 receptor.

While studying the molecular properties of SARS-CoV-2 Spike, we discovered a novel mechanism that regulates Spikemediated cellular syncytia formation. We screened two libraries of EMA/FDA-approved small molecules to search for drugs that inhibit syncytia formation (36). As the most effective drugs, this screening identified Niclosamide, a synthetic salicylanilide developed in the 1950s as a molluscicide against snails (37) and later approved for tapeworm infection, and Clofazimine, an antibiotic used for the combination treatment of leprosy (38) and, more recently, for drug-resistant tuberculosis (39). Of relevance for platelets, we discovered that Niclosamide blocks the formation of syncytia by inhibiting the cellular Ca²⁺-dependent chloride channel and scramblase TMEM16F, thus preventing the externalization of phosphatidylserine (PS) onto the outer leaflet of the cell plasma membrane (36). TMEM16F is essential for lipid scrambling in platelets during blood coagulation (40, 41), as externalized PS serves as an anchoring site for the assembly of the tenase and prothrombinase complex, which jointly enhance the rate of thrombin generation by several orders of magnitude (42).

Based on these observations, it was tempting for us to speculate that Spike-driven activation of platelets in SARS-CoV-2 infected lungs could be causally involved in the thrombotic process. Here we show that Spike, exposed on either the envelope of virions or the surface of cells, induces a procoagulant phenotype in platelets, which is blocked by both Niclosamide and Clofazimine.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Human blood collection and isolation of platelets

All investigations in this study conform to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. All human subjects provided their informed written consent.

Studies using human platelets were approved by St Thomas's Hospital, London, UK Research Ethics Committee (ref. 07/Q0702/24). Blood was collected by venepuncture into tri-sodium citrate (3.2%; Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) from healthy volunteers (aged 25-40), who had abstained from non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug consumption for the preceding 14 days. Platelet rich plasma (PRP) was obtained by centrifugation of whole blood (175 \times g, 15 min, 25°C). Further purification of platelets was achieved by centrifugation of PRP at 1,000 \times g for 10 min at 25°C in the presence of apyrase (0.02 U/mL, Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) and prostacyclin (PGI2; 2 µM, Tocris Bioscience, Bristol, United Kingdom) followed by resuspension in modified Tyrode's HEPES buffer (134 mmol/L NaCl, 2.9 mM KCl, 0.34 mmol/L Na₂HPO₄, 12 mmol/L NaHCO₃, 20 mmol/L HEPES, and 1 mmol/L MgCl₂; pH 7.4; Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) with glucose (0.1% w/v; Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) and bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States). Washed platelets were adjusted to a concentration of 3×10^8 /ml, allowed to rest of 30 min and then supplemented with 2 mM CaCl₂ (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States).

2.2 Patients

Patients' lung samples were obtained from post-mortem analysis of a cohort of patients who died of COVID-19 at the University Hospital in Trieste, Italy, after intensive care support (6). All patients scored positive for SARS-CoV-2 by RT-PCR tests on nasopharyngeal swab and presented symptoms (fever, cough, and dyspnea) as well as imaging data indicative of interstitial pneumonia related to COVID-19 disease. All patients eventually died of clinical acute respiratory distress syndrome related to COVID-19 infection. Further clinical details on these patients are reported in Bussani et al. (6). The use of these samples was approved by the Joint Ethical Committee of the Regione Friuli Venezia Giulia, Italy (re. 0019072/P/GEN/ARCS).

2.3 Cell culture

HEK-293T and Vero cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States, 4.5 g/L) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States).

2.4 Pseudotyped viral particles

For Spike pseudotyped lentiviral particle production, we generated the expression plasmid pEC120-S-D19-V5, in which the 19aa at the Spike C terminus, acting as an ER-retention signal (43), are replaced by a V5 epitope tag. The modified DNA segment was obtained by recombinant PCR and cloned into the pEC117-Spike-V5 vector (36). Pseudotyped viral particles were produced by transfecting HEK293T cell (2.5×10^6) in a 100 mm-dish with 10 µg pLVTHM/GFP (Addgene #12247), 7.5 µg psPAX2 (Addgene #12260), and 6 µg pMD2.G (Addgene #12259) or pEC120-S-D19-V5. The culture medium was collected after 48 h and concentrated three times using Vivaspin columns with 100 kDa cutoff (GE HealthCare, Chicago, IL, United States, #28932363). Aliquots were stored at -80° C.

For titration, RNA from pseudoparticle preparations was isolated using the Viral RNA isolation Kit (Takara, Tokyo, Japan). Viral RNA genome content was quantified using the Lenti-X qRT-PCR Titration Kit (Takara, Tokyo, Japan) and the Quant-X One-Step qRT-PCR TB Green Kit (Takara, Tokyo, Japan).

To assess pseudoparticle infectivity, HEK293T cells were bulk transfected with an ACE2-expressing plasmid and then seeded in a 96-well plate (3×10^3 cells per well). The subsequent day, 5 µL viral particles carrying the G-protein of the Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV-G) or 10 µL particles carrying SARS-CoV-2 Spike were added to each well [the difference in volume was meant to partially compensate for the different transduction efficiency of the two viral preparations (44)]. The plate was fixed at 48 h, stained with Hoechst (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, United States) and imaged.

2.5 Platelet aggregation with pseudotyped viral particles and cells

Platelet aggregation was performed as previously described (45) with minor modifications. Briefly, washed platelets were incubated with VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles (1:10) for 10 min followed by stimulation with collagen related peptide

(CRP; 0.3 μ g/mL), collagen (0.3 μ g/mL, Takeda, Tokyo, Japan) or vehicle. Plates were shaken for 5 min (1,200 rpm, 37°C; BioShake IQ, QInstruments, Jena, Germany), and absorbance was measured at 595 nm using a microplate reader (Sunrise, Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland). Aggregation was calculated as percentage change in absorbance.

For platelet aggregation on Spike-expressing cells, Vero cells were kept in culture in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and transfected with a plasmid coding for either GFP (pZac-GFP) or V5-tagged Spike (pSARS-COV-2-S). After detachment, 20,000 cells were co-incubated with 5 \times 10^5 pre-labeled platelets (1:2,000 Cell Tracker Deep Red Dye, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) in 96-well plates, and shaken at 200 rpm for 10 min at 37°C. The plate was centrifuged at 300 g for 10 min and fixed by 4% final paraformaldehyde (PFA, VWR, Radnor, PA, United States). The plate was permeabilized with 0.5% Triton (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) for 10 min, blocked with 1% BSA for 1 h at room temperature (RT) and stained with anti-GFP (1:1,000) or anti-V5 tag (1:500) antibodies for 2 h at RT. After washing three times with 1xPBS, anti-rabbit 488 or anti-mouse 488 secondary antibodies (1:500) were incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Then, plates were washed three times with 1xPBS and incubated with Cell Mask (1:2,000; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) for 30 min at RT. After further washing with 1xPBS, Hoechst (1:5,000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) was added. Images (20 × magnification) were acquired using a Perkin Elmer Operetta CLS High Content Fluorescent microscope. Analysis was performed using the ImageJ software (Fiji).

2.6 Platelet adhesion and spreading

Washed platelets $(3 \times 10^8/\text{mL})$ were allowed to adhere to type I Horm collagen (100 µg/mL; Takeda, Tokyo, Japan) coated plates, for 90 min at 37°C. Samples were fixed with 0.2% PFA for 10 min followed by permeabilization with 0.2% Triton (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) for 5 min. Samples were washed with 1xPBS and stained with AlexaFluor 488 Phalloidin (1:2,000). Images (63 × magnification) were acquired using a Perkin Elmer Operetta CLS High Content Fluorescent microscope. Analysis was performed using the ImageJ software (Fiji).

2.7 Flow cytometry

For externalized phosphatidylserine (PS) analysis, washed platelets were incubated with VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles (1:10) for 10 min followed by activation with collagen ($30 \mu g/ml$) and thrombin (0.5 units, Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) or vehicle for 15 min (350 rpm, 37° C; BioShake IQ). Platelets were stained with Annexin V-Pacific Blue (1:50; BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States) and CD61-APC (1:100; BioLegend, San Diego, CA, United States) in annexin binding buffer for 20 min (350 rpm, 37° C; BioShake IQ). For Ca2⁺ levels analysis, washed platelets were stained with Fluo-4 AM (5 μ M, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) for 30 min at 37° C followed by incubation with pseudoparticles (1:10) for 10 min. Platelet samples were activated with vehicle or collagen (30 μ g/ml) for 15 min.

In both cases, samples were diluted with modified Tyrode's HEPES buffer and analyzed on the ACEA Novocyte 3,000 (ACEA Biosciences, San Diego, CA, United States). Analysis was performed using the FlowJo software v.10 (TreeStar, Ashland, OR, United States).

2.8 Thrombin measurement

Thrombin activity was measured using a Thrombin Activity Assay Kit (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Briefly, PRP was incubated with VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles (1:10) for 10 min at 37°C, followed by stimulation with collagen (30 μ g/ml) for 20 min (350 rpm, 37°C). PRP was diluted 1:10 with thrombin assay buffer, and 50 μ l of thrombin substrate was added to each well. Thrombin activity was assessed by measuring the conversion of thrombin substrate into its fluorogenic state using a CLARIOstar fluorescent plate reader (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) with 350/450 nm excitation and emission filter. Analysis was performed using MARS analysis software.

2.9 Clot retraction

Platelet rich plasma (PRP) was diluted 1:1 with modified Tyrode's HEPES buffer, supplemented with $CaCl_2$ (2 mM) and 10 μ l of whole blood. PRP was incubated with VSV-G (1:10), Spike pseudoparticles (1:10), His-tag recombinant SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein S1/S2 (S-ECD) (1 ng/ml; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States; aa11-1208; RP-87680) or Flagtag recombinant SARS-CoV-2 Spike RBD (1 ng/ml; Bio-Techne, Minneapolis, MN, United States, 10689-CV-100) for 10 min at 37°C, followed by stimulation with thrombin (0.5 units). Clot retraction was measured over 90 min, taking an image every 15 min. Analysis was performed using ImageJ (NIH).

2.10 Effect of drugs on Spike-induced platelet function

The effect of drugs was tested in the presence of 1 μ M Niclosamide (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) or 5 μ M Clofazimine (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) for 10 min. Niclosamide (Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States, N0560000) and Clofazimine

(Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States, Y0000313) stocks were prepared at 10 mM by resuspending in DMSO. Fresh dilutions were prepared for each experiment. In all the experiments, DMSO (vehicle) was used in controls at the same concentration as in the drug treated samples.

2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 9.0. Unless stated, data followed a Gaussian distribution. Statistical significance between pairs was determined using unpaired Student's *t*-test, two tails; statistical significance among three groups of more was determined with one-way ANOVA, two tails, with Dunnett's *post-hoc* analysis for multiple comparisons.

2.12 Antibodies

Immunofluorescence analysis was performed for actin (AlexaFluor 488 Phalloidin, #A12379, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States), GFP (#ab6556, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) V5 tag (#37-7,500, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States), TMEM16F (ab256302, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom), and ACE2 (ab87436 and ab15348, both from Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Fluorescent secondary antibodies were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States. Immunohistochemistry for platelets was performed with antibody 760–4,249 (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) against CD61.

Immunoblots were performed with primary antibodies against Spike (#GTX632604, Genetex, San Antonio, TX, United States), TMEM16F (#HPA038958, Sigma-Aldrich, Burlington, MA, United States) and tubulin (Cell Signaling, #3873S). Anti-rabbit and anti-mouse HRP-conjugated antibody were obtained from Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

2.13 Immunohistochemistry

Post-mortem samples from patients were fixed in 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin. Antigen retrieval and antibody pre-treatment were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Immunohistochemistry for platelets (CD61 antigen) was performed on one-micron sections. Tissue staining was with Bluing Reagent (Ventana 760–2,037).

2.14 Immunoblotting

To detect Spike in pseudoparticles, concentrated Spike and VSV-G pseudoparticles (40 $\mu L)$ were diluted in $4\times$

protein loading dye. For the detection of TMEM16F by immunoblotting, platelets (9 \times $10^8/mL)$ were lysed in 2% SDS and quantified by using the PierceTM BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States). Samples (15-20 µg) were resolved by electrophoresis in 4-20% gradient polyacrylamide gels (Mini-PROTEAN, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States) and transferred to Trans-blot (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States). Membranes were blocked in TBST (PBS + 0.1% Tween-20) with 5% skim milk (#9999, Cell Signaling) for 1 h at room temperature. Blots were then incubated (4°C, overnight) with primary antibodies against Spike (1:1,000), TMEM16F (1:1,000) or tubulin (1:10,000). Blots were then washed three times with TBST. Membranes were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with anti-rabbit HRPconjugated antibody (1:5,000) or anti-mouse HRP-conjugated antibody (1:10,000). After washing three times with TBST (10 min each), blots were developed with ECL (Amersham).

2.15 Real-time PCR

RNA was extracted from washed platelets lysed with Trizol and purified using the RNeasy kit from Qiagen, Hilden, Germany (ID: 74004), following the manufacturer's instruction. cDNA was obtained by retrotranscribing 0.5 μ g of RNA. ACE2 expression was evaluated using primer pair: Forward primer CAAGAGCAAACGGTTGAACAC; Reverse primer CCAGAGCCTCTCATTGTAGTCT. The results shown refer to the sequences published in Manne et al. (31).

2.16 Data sharing

For original data, please contact Professor MG (mauro.giacca@kcl.ac.uk) or Professor TW (t.d.warner@qmul.ac.uk).

3 Results

3.1 SARS-CoV2 Spike potentiates platelet aggregation and adhesion

COVID-19 lung pathology is characterized by extensive local thrombosis. Our own analysis of post-mortem samples from patients who died of COVID-19 indicated that thrombosis of the lung micro- and macro- vasculature was present in 29/41 (71%) of all patients and in 83% of patients in intensive care units (6). Staining of lung sections with an antibody recognizing the platelet CD61 glycoprotein revealed that these thrombi are massively infiltrated by aggregated platelets (representative images for five patients in **Figure 1A**).

To understand whether platelet activation could be induced by SARS-CoV-2 Spike on the plasma membrane of infected cells,



Spike enhances platelet activation. (A) Histopathological evidence of platelet aggregates in the thrombotic microvasculature of SARS-COV-2-infected lungs from four COVID-19 patients. Numeric codes identify patients. Platelets were stained using an anti-CD61 glycoprotein antibody. Scale bar: 100 µm. (B) Experimental scheme to study platelet activation and aggregate formation. Vero cells transfected to express either Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) or SARS-COV-2 Spike were incubated with pre-labeled washed platelets and shaken at *(Continued)*

FIGURE 1 (Continued)

200 rpm for 10 min at 37°C. The plate was centrifuged, fixed, and stained with Cell Mask and antibodies recognizing either GFP or Spike. (C) Representative images showing platelet aggregates. Vero cells stained with Cell Mask are in blue; labeled platelets are in red; GFP or Spike are in green. Scale bar, 20 μ m. (D) Number of aggregates larger than 40,000 px². Results are from n = 3 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM, statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). (E) Violin plot showing the size of the aggregates found in all the experiments performed. Statistical significance is indicated (unpaired Student's t-test). (F) Experimental scheme for platelet activation in suspension. (G–I) Percentage of platelet aggregation when incubated with vehicle (G), stimulated with collagen (H) or CRP (I). Results are from N = 6 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). (J) Number of adherent platelets per field. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments each performed in duplicate. Each dot represents the mean of six images quantified. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). (K) Percentage of the area covered by adherent platelets. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments performed in duplicate; each dot represents the mean of six images quantified. (L) Representative images of platelets adhering on collagen. Images were acquired using a high content fluorescent microscope followed by analysis using the ImageJ software (Fiji). Platelets were stained with F-actin (in red). Scale bar, 5 μ m.

we incubated Vero cells transfected to express Spike (Wuhan strain) or GFP control with washed human platelets (1×10^5) , which had previously been stained with the lipophilic dye CellTracker (scheme in **Figure 1B**). Transfection efficiency was verified by immunostaining for the transgenes (>40% efficiency in both cases). We observed that the cells expressing Spike significantly increased both the number of platelet aggregates and their overall aggregate area (**Figures 1D**, **E**, respectively; P < 0.001 in both cases; representative images in **Figure 1C**).

As far as the receptor that mediates these Spike activities in platelets, we could detect the ACE2 mRNA in platelets of three normal donors that we analyzed, albeit at levels that were lower than those of respiratory Calu-3 cells (**Supplementary Figure 1A**). When platelets of two of these donors were assessed by immunofluorescence, both ACE2 (visualized with two different antibodies) and TMEM16F were readily detectable (**Supplementary Figure 1B**).

Next, we wanted to assess whether Spike could also activate platelets in a cell-free context. We generated GFP-expressing lentiviral vectors pseudotyped with either SARS-CoV-2 Spike $(\Delta 19)$ or the vascular stomatitis virus (VSV) G protein as a control. The vector preparations had comparable genome titres (Supplementary Figure 1C) and Spike was detected in the vector lysates by immunoblotting (Supplementary Figure 1D). Both pseudotyped preparations were effective at transducing HEK293/ACE2 reporter cells (quantification and representative images in Supplementary Figures 1E, F). As indicators for activation, we measured platelet aggregation and adhesion (scheme in Figure 1F). The Spike pseudoparticles significantly enhanced platelet aggregation (from $21 \pm 4\%$ in VSV-G controls to $28 \pm 3\%$ in Spike-treated platelets; n = 6, P < 0.01; Figure 1G). There was no effect of VSV-G particle-treated compared to untreated platelets (Supplementary Figures 1G, H). Spike pseudotyped virions also increased aggregation induced by either collagen (29 \pm 4 vs. 34 \pm 3%; n = 6, P < 0.01 in VSV-G vs. Spike; n = 6, P < 0.01) or collagen-related peptide (CRP; 40 ± 7 vs. $57 \pm 9\%$; n = 6, P < 0.01; Figures 1H, I, respectively).

In addition to potentiating platelet aggregation, Spike also increased platelet adhesion and spreading. The Spike viral particles augmented both the number of platelets adhering on collagen (113 \pm 3 vs. 169 \pm 9 platelets per field in VSV-G vs.

Spike; n = 3, P < 0.01) and the area covered by the adherent platelets (3% vs. $5 \pm 1\%$ in VSV-G vs. Spike; n = 3, P < 0.05); Figures 1J, K, respectively; representative images in Figure 1L. Also in this case, there was no significant difference between VSV-G particle-treated and untreated platelets (Supplementary Figure 1I).

Taken together, these observations indicate that Spike on either the virion envelope or the cell plasma membrane enhances platelet aggregation and adhesion.

3.2 SARS-CoV2 Spike induces a procoagulant response in platelets

As Spike activates TMEM16F (36) and this scramblase stimulates the procoagulant activity of platelets (40–42), we wanted to study platelet PS externalization upon treatment with Spike (Figure 2A). We observed that the dual stimulation of platelets with collagen and thrombin in the presence of Spike virions increased both the percentage of annexin V-positive platelets (7.0 vs. $10 \pm 1\%$ in VSV-G vs. Spike; n = 4, P < 0.05) and the amount of platelet-bound annexin V [1,524 \pm 98 vs. 1,755 \pm 82 arbitrary units (AU) in VSV-G vs. Spike; n = 4, P < 0.01; Figures 2B, C, respectively; representative flow cytometry profiles are in Figure 2D].

Given the relevance of Ca²⁺ signaling in platelet activation and procoagulant activity, next we investigated the effect of Spike on Ca²⁺ flux (Figure 2E). We observed that, in platelets activated with collagen, Spike increased the levels of the Fluo-4 indicator, which is sensitive to cytosolic Ca²⁺ (16,756 \pm 2,115 AU vs. 19,281 \pm 1,952 AU in VSV-G vs. Spike; n = 4, P < 0.05; Figure 2F; representative flow cytometry plots are in Figure 2G). This increase was only observed in the presence of extracellular Ca²⁺ (Supplementary Figure 2). This indicates that Spike-mediated platelet activation is not related to Ca²⁺ release from the platelet intracellular stores or, should release occur, this is not amplified and sustained by store-operated Ca²⁺ entry.

Considering these results, we wanted to assess whether Spike also affected clot formation and retraction, which are the last



FIGURE 2

Spikes activates the procoagulant activity of platelets. **(A)** Experimental scheme to study platelet activation by pseudovirions. Washed platelets were incubated with 1:10 diluted VSV-G or Spike for 10 min, followed by incubation with collagen (30 μ g/ml) and thrombin (0.5 units) for 15 min. Platelets were stained with Annexin V-Pacific Blue and CD61-APC for 20 min at 37°C and then analyzed by flow cytometry. **(B,C)** Percentage and mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of annexin V positive platelets upon activation with Spike or VSV-G pseudovirions. Results are from n = 4 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). AU, arbitrary units. **(D)** Representative flow cytometry plots. The boxed area shows the percentage of platelets positive platelets after the two treatments. For each flow cytometry plot, the first gating was based on CD61/FSC to define the platelet population. Thus, the Aneexin V plot excludes any *(Continued)*

FIGURE 2 (Continued)

microvesicles which may have been present within the sample. (E) Experimental scheme to study Ca²⁺ flux in platelets. Washed platelets were stained with Fluo-4 for 30 min, followed by incubation with VSV-G or Spike pseudovirions diluted 1:10 for 10 min. Platelet samples were then incubated with collagen (30 µg/ml) for 15 min and then analyzed by flow cytometry. (F) Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Fluo-4 (AU, arbitrary units) in platelets stimulated with Spike or VSV-G pseudovirions. Results are from n = 4 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). (G) Representative flow cytometry plots. The boxed area shows the percentage of platelets positive for Fluo-4 fluorescence following incubation with VSV-G or Spike. The histogram on the right shows the distribution of Fluo-4 fluorescence after the two treatments. (H) Experimental scheme for the clot retraction assay following stimulation of platelets with Spike. PRP was supplemented with CaCl₂ and 10 µl of whole blood, then incubated with 1:10 diluted VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles, recombinant Spike or recombinant RBD (1 ng/mL) for 10 min at 37°C, followed by incubation with thrombin. Clot retraction was measured over 90 min, taking an image every 15 min. (I,K) Clot retraction of PRP pre-incubated with PBS, VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles. Representative images immediately after the addition of thrombin and after 45 min are in panel (I), the percentage of clot retraction over a 90 min observation period is in panel (J). The graph in (K) shows the time to 50% clot retraction. All data are mean \pm SEM from n = 5independent experiments. Statistical significance is indicated in panel (K) (one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc correction for multiple comparisons). (L,M) Clot retraction of PRP pre-incubated with PBS, recombinant Spike (1 ng/mL) or recombinant receptor binding domain (RBD, 1 ng/mL). The percentage of clot retraction over the 90 min observation period is in panel (L). The graph in panel (M) shows the time to 50% clot retraction in the three experimental conditions. All data are mean \pm SEM from n = 3 independent experiments. Statistical significance is indicated in panel (K) (one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-hoc correction for multiple comparisons). (N) Experimental scheme to study thrombin generation upon platelet treatment with Spike pseudovirions. PRP was incubated with 1:10 diluted VSV-G or Spike pseudovirions for 10 min at 37°C, followed by stimulation with collagen (30 µg/mL) for 15 min (350 rpm, 37°C) and the addition of a fluorogenic thrombin substrate. Thrombin activity was assessed by measuring the conversion of thrombin substrate into its fluorogenic state using a CLARIOstar fluorescent plate reader with 350/450 nm excitation and emission filter. Analysis was performed using MARS analysis software. (O) Concentration of thrombin formed during a 30 min-time period. Results are from n = 5 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM.

steps in the coagulation cascade (Figure 2H). We observed that Spike markedly enhanced thrombin-induced clot retraction (representative images in Figure 2I; complete time point set in **Supplementary Figure 3**). The kinetics of clot formation in the presence of Spike was faster compared to both VSV-G-treated or control platelets (Figure 2J; difference in Area Under the Curve, AUC: P < 0.001 for both controls), with a time to 50% clot retraction of 16 ± 5 min compared to 42 ± 5 min after treatment with VSV-G; n = 4, P < 0.05 (Figure 2K). The same result was also obtained by measuring the clot retraction after incubating platelets with recombinant proteins corresponding to full-length Spike or to the Spike receptor binding domain (RBD) (Figures 2L, M for kinetic analysis and time to 50% clot retraction, respectively; P < 0.05 in both cases).

We also observed that the kinetics of thrombin generation following stimulation with collagen (scheme in Figure 2N) was markedly increased by incubation with the Spike virions $(1.5 \pm 0.4 \text{ ng vs. } 19.4 \pm 3.1 \text{ ng thrombin concentration in VSV-G}$ vs. Spike at 30 min; n = 5, AUC difference: P < 0.01; Figure 2O). There was no significant difference between untreated and VSV-G-treated platelets at any time point (not shown).

Collectively, these results indicate that Spike increases platelet Ca^{2+} flux, PS exposure and thrombin-induced clot retraction, all of which are markers of the procoagulant function in platelets.

3.3 Drugs inhibiting Spike-induced syncytia formation also block the effect of Spike on platelets

Our previous screening work has identified Niclosamide and Clofazimine as the two most potent drugs that inhibit Spike-induced cell fusion by targeting TMEM16F (36). We confirmed that this scramblase is well expressed in platelets (immunoblotting from six normal donors in **Supplementary Figure 4A**) and thus hypothesized that Niclosamide and Clofazimine could inhibit Spike-induced platelet activation (scheme in **Figure 3A**).

Pre-treatment of platelets with either drug, followed by incubation with VSV-G or Spike pseudotyped particles, reduced platelet aggregation upon stimulation with CRP (shown in **Figure 3B** for Niclosamide—from 42 ± 2 to 33%; P < 0.05, and in **Figure 3C** for Clofazimine; from 34 ± 3 to $23 \pm 2\%$; P < 0.01). Clofazimine also inhibited aggregation in the absence of CRP treatment (from 31 ± 1 to $18 \pm 3\%$; P < 0.01). There was no effect when the drugs were used in the presence of the VSV-G pseudotypes (**Supplementary Figures 4B, C**).

We next sought to understand whether Niclosamide and Clofazimine affected Spike-induced platelet adhesion on collagen. Pre-treatment with either drug significantly reduced the total number of adherent platelets (representative images and quantification in **Figures 3D, E**; 169 \pm 9 platelets/field in vehicle-treated samples vs. 118 \pm 7 and 88 \pm 2 platelets/field in Niclosamide and Clofazimine-treated platelets, respectively; n = 3, P < 0.01 in both cases). Pre-treatment with neither Niclosamide nor Clofazimine affected platelet adhesion in VSV-G controls (**Supplementary Figure 4D**).

Finally, we assessed the spreading stage of adherent platelets as an indicator of drug efficacy. In VSV-G-treated samples, most platelets showed a rounded shape with no or single filopodia (filopodia patterns are in **Figure 3F**). Platelet activation by Spike increased the percentage of platelets with multiple filopodia and of platelets showing a fully spread phenotype (**Figure 3G**). Treatment with either Niclosamide and Clofazimine reversed this Spike-induced phenotype (n = 3 per condition; P < 0.05 for



FIGURE 3

Niclosamide and Clofazimine inhibits Spike-induced activation of platelets. (A) Experimental scheme to assess the effect of drugs on platelet activation. Washed platelets were incubated with Niclosamide, Clofazimine (C) or vehicle for 10 min, then incubated with 1:10 diluted Spike or VSV-G pseudoparticles for further 10 min. Aggregation and adhesion were evaluated as described in Figure 1. (B,C) Percentage of platelet aggregation upon treatment with Spike in the presence of either Niclosamide (B) or Clofazimine (C), and respective DMSO controls, with or without CRP. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's t-test). (D) Representative images of platelets adhering on collagen (magnification in the right panels). Platelets are stained in red for F-actin. Scale bar, 5 μ m. (E) Number of adherent platelets per field. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments performed in duplicate. Each dot represents the mean of six quantified images. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (upaired Student's t-test). (F) Representative images of platelet morphological changes. Adherent platelets were classified into four morphological categories representing different stages of platelet adhesion and activation: platelets with 0-1, 3-5, more than five protrusions or fully spread platelets, as indicated by the representative images under the graph. Scale: 1μ m. (G) Platelet morphological changes upon Spike and drug treatment. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments are form n = 3 independent experiments are form n = 3 independent experiments performed in duplicate. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (unpaired Student's t-test). (F) Representative images under the graph. Scale: 1μ m. (G) Platelet morphological changes upon Spike and drug treatment. Results are from n = 3 independent experiments performed in duplicate. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is s

both platelet phenotype distribution between VSV-G and Spike and for the effect of either drug vs. Spike).

3.4 Niclosamide and Clofazimine block Spike-induced platelet procoagulant activity

Given the reduction in aggregation and adhesion, we next investigated whether Niclosamide and Clofazimine also inhibited the procoagulant response to Spike (scheme in **Figure 4A**). Pre-treatment of platelets with either drug reduced PS exposure (2,467 \pm 125 Annexin V AU vs. 1,627 \pm 55 AU in Spike vs. Niclosamide for mean fluorescent

intensity; 2,064 ± 343 AU vs. 1,341 ± 113 AU in Spike vs. Clofazimine; n = 4, P < 0.05 in both cases; representative flow cytometry plots and quantification in Figures 4B, C; the difference in the percentages of fluorescent cells was also statistically different for both drugs–not shown). The levels of Spike-induced intracellular Ca²⁺ were reduced by both drugs (scheme in Figure 4D; Fluo-4 fluorescence: 20,014 ± 2,627 AU vs. 16,607 ± 2,278 AU in Spike vs. Niclosamide for mean fluorescent intensity; 15,605 ± 2,083 AU vs. 13,804 ± 1,816 AU in Spike vs. Clofazimine; n = 4, P < 0.05 in both cases; Figures 4E, F). In a consistent manner and for both drugs, the percentages of fluorescent cells also showed statistically significant differences (not shown).



Niclosamide and Clofazimine reduce annexin V reactivity and intracellular calcium in platelets. (A) Experimental scheme to assess annexin V reactivity upon Spike stimulation and drug treatment. Platelets were pre-incubated with Niclosamide (NIC, 1 μ M) or Clofazimine (CLO, 5 μ M) for 10 min, followed by incubation with collagen (30 μ g/ml) and thrombin (0.5 units) for 15 min. Platelets were then stained with Annexin V-Pacific Blue and CD61-APC and analyzed by flow cytometry. (B) Effect of Niclosamide on annexin V reactivity. Representative flow cytometry plots are on the left, quantification on the right. The boxed areas show the percentage of washed platelets positive for annexin V upon treatment with the drug or vehicle (DMSO at the same concentration and for the drug) and incubation with VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles, followed by stimulation with collagen and thrombin. The graph shows the Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of annexin V positive platelets (AU, arbitrary units). Results are from *n* = 4 independent experiments. Data are mean ± SEM. Statistical significance is indicated (paired Student's *t*-test). (C) Same as panel (B) upon treatment with Clofazimine. (D) Experimental scheme to assess Ca²⁺ influx upon Spike stimulation and drug treatment. Platelets were stained with Fluo-4 for 30 min and then pre-incubated with Niclosamide (NIC, 1 μ M) or Clofazimine (CLO, 5 μ M) for 10 min, followed by incubation with collagen (30 μ g/ml) and thrombin (0.5 units) for 15 min. Platelets were then assessed for fluorescence by flow cytometry. (E) Representative flow cytometry plots are on the left, quantification on the right. The boxed areas show the percentage of washed platelets positive for Fluo-4 upon treatment with the drug or vehicle (DMSO at the same concentration and for the drug) and incubation with collagen and thrombin. The graph shows the Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Fluo-4 (AU, arbitrary units). Results are from *n* = 4 independent experiments and are expressed as mean ± SEM. Statis

Both Niclosamide and Clofazimine reduced the rate of thrombin-stimulated clot retraction (experimental scheme in Figure 5A, representative images in Figures 5B, C, respectively; complete time courses in Supplementary Figures 5A, D). In the presence of either drug, the kinetics of Spike-induced clot formation was reduced (Figures 5D, E, respectively; AUC difference: P < 0.001 and P < 0.05 for the two drugs, respectively). The time to 50% clot retraction increased from 27 ± 4 min to 76 ± 6 min in the presence of Niclosamide and from 27 ± 7 min vs. 72 ± 17 min in the presence of Clofazimine (n = 3, P < 0.05 in both cases; Figures 5F, G). Of interest, Niclosamide had no significant effect on the rate of thrombin-stimulated clot retraction in the absence of Spike, namely upon addition of PBS or treatment with

VSV-G pseudovirions (Supplementary Figures 5B, C, respectively). This is consistent with the conclusion that Niclosamide specifically blocks Spike-induced platelet activation through TMEM16F, in agreement with its role as a specific TMEM16F inhibitor. In the case of Clofazimine, partial inhibition of thrombin-stimulated clot retraction was also observed in the absence of Spike (Supplementary Figures 5E, F), albeit at a lower extent than upon stimulation with Spike. This could indicate that Clofazimine also acts through additional platelet activation pathways.

Finally, we assessed the effect of the two drugs on the kinetics of thrombin generation following stimulation with collagen in the presence of virions with Spike (scheme in **Figure 5H**). Both drugs markedly decreased thrombin formation (62%



FIGURE 5

Niclosamide and Clofazimine block procoagulant activation of platelets. (A) Experimental scheme to study the effect of drugs on the clot retraction assay following stimulation of platelets with Spike. PRP, supplemented with CaCl₂ and 10 μ l of whole blood, were incubated with Niclosamide or Clofazimine for 10 min, then treated with 1:10 diluted VSV-G or Spike pseudoparticles for additional 10 min. Clot retraction was measured over 90 min from the addition of thrombin, taking an image every 15 min. (B,C) Representative images of clot retraction when platelets were treated with Spike and either Niclosamide (B) or Clofazimine (C), immediately after the addition of thrombin and after 45 min. (D,E) Percentage of clot retraction over 90 min, when platelets were treated with Spike and either Niclosamide (B) or Clofazimine (C), immediately after the addition of thrombin and after 45 min. (D,E) Percentage of clot retraction over 90 min, when platelets were treated with Spike and either Niclosamide (L) or Clofazimine (M). Results are from n = 4 independent experiments. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. (F,G) Time to 50% clot retraction when platelets were treated with Spike and either Niclosamide (L) or Clofazimine (M). Results are from n = 4 independent experiments. Data are mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance is shown (paired Student's t-test). (H) Experimental scheme to study the effect of drugs on thrombin generation upon platelet treatment with Spike pseudovirions. PRP was incubated with 1:10 diluted VSV-G or Spike for 10 min at 37°C, followed by incubation with collagen (30 μ g/mL) for 15 min and the addition of a fluorogenic thrombin substrate. Thrombin activity was assessed by the measurement of the conversion of the thrombin substrate into its fluorogenic state. (I,J) Concentration of thrombin formed during a 30 min-time period in PRP treated with Spike and pre-conditioned or not with Niclosamide or Clofazimine. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

decrease vs. Spike at 30 min for Niclosamide, 55% decrease for Clofazimine; n = 5, P < 0.01 at all time points from 10 to 30 min; **Figures 5I, J**; AUC difference: P < 0.01 in both cases).

4 Discussion

There is broad evidence of platelet dysregulation during SARS-CoV-2 infection, by which platelets are hyperreactive in several of their phenotypes. Manne et al. reported that platelets from COVID-19 patients aggregate faster, showing increased spreading over fibrinogen/collagencoated surfaces and increased P-selectin expression, despite integrin activation was reduced (31). Zaid et al. observed that platelets from COVID-19-positive patients showed increased aggregation, adhesion, and microvesiculation to subthreshold concentration of thrombin (32). Nicolai et al. reported that cases of intermediate severity showed an exhausted platelet phenotype, while patients severely affected with COVID-19 were characterized by excessive platelet activation in comparison with healthy controls and non-COVID-19 pneumonia (46). Finally, Zhang et al. observed platelet hyperreactivity based on increased integrin aIIbβ3 activation and P-selectin expression (47).

Here we show that exposure of platelets to SARS-CoV-2 Spike promotes platelet activation and adhesion, and enhances Ca²⁺ release and PS exposure to drive increased thrombin generation. Externalized, negatively charged PS can act as a platform for assembly of the tenase and prothrombinase complex, which massively amplify thrombin generation (42). In addition, increased PS exposure could contribute to inflammation and immune reactivity. These phenotypes in platelets, and in particular the procoagulant activity of Spike, were blocked by Niclosamide, a TMEM16A and TMEM16F inhibitor (48). The relevance of TMEM16F for the procoagulant phenotype of platelets is underscored by the phenotypes of Scott patients [reviewed in Nurden et al. (49)] and PF4-Cre-conditioned TMEM16F-null mice (41), both of which have a normal platelet count and do not show obvious defects in platelet activation but indeed display a reduced procoagulant phenotype in association with reduced thrombin generation.

The effects of Spike were present when we used this protein as a sole agonist, but was markedly enhanced in the presence of known platelet activators. This observation suggests that Spike, in the lungs of severely infected individuals, could contribute to the pro-thrombotic state, by cooperating with hyperinflammation (15–19), endothelial dysfunction (6, 14) and NETosis (23, 24) in determining thrombosis. This could explain the prevalence of thrombosis in the lungs of COVID-19 patients with severe disease, which is significantly higher than in other forms of ARDS.

In our experiments, SARS-CoV-2 Spike stimulated platelets both when present on the virion envelope or upon expression on the cell plasma membrane. When and in what compartment would platelet become in direct contact with the SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein in patients? There are at least three possibilities. First, through direct viral infection of endothelial cells. There is evidence of endothelial cell infection by SARS-CoV-2 by viral RNA analysis (7, 14), while we and others have detected Spike by immunostaining on endothelial cells in SARS-CoV-2 lungs of COVID-19 patients at post-mortem analysis (6, 50, 51). Second, SARS-CoV-2 can be found in the blood (52) and viral production is particularly robust in the lung and lower tract respiratory epithelium of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients, leading to the continuous production of infectious particles (53). Our own work has shown that SARS-CoV-2 RNA is detectable in plasma or serum of COVID-19 ICU patients when neutralizing antibody response is low. RNAemia was associated with higher 28-day ICU mortality (54). Third, and probably most relevant, the hyperinflammatory environment in the infected lungs can promote the disruption of the endothelial barrier, which would allow platelets to enter the infected lung tissue and get in contact with infected pneumocytes. These infected cells (36) persist for prolonged periods during infection while expressing viral antigens, including Spike. Cell surface expression of Spike leads to fusion of the infected cells with neighboring cells expressing the ACE2 receptor, as SARS-CoV-2 Spike, in contrast to the homologous protein from SARS-CoV, contains a furin cleavage site that allows protein activation while the protein is produced during the ER-Golgi transit or when at the cell surface (55-57). The syncytia formed because of these characteristics can be found in over 90% of patients with severe infection and express detectable amounts of Spike on their surface (36). These infected cells and syncytia represent a platform for platelet activation and the consequent induction of thrombosis.

In our experiments, Spike was also active when administered as a recombinant protein, which raises the question as to what the mechanism is for Spike-mediated platelet activation. Based on our previous observations on the activation of TMEM16F by Spike (36), we can envisage at least two mechanistic possibilities. Activation could occur directly upon binding of Spike to its receptor, leading to the direct activation of TMEM16F on the platelet membrane. Alternatively, activation of TMEM16F could be triggered by the increase on Ca²⁺ we observe after stimulation with Spike. In other cell types, Spike-mediated TMEM16 activation increases the amplitude of spontaneous Ca^{2+} signals (36), which is in line with previous reports showing that both TMEM16A and TMEM16F augment intracellular Ca²⁺ by increasing the filling of ER stores and augmenting IP3R-induced Ca^{2+} release (58). Two of the experiments that we report here, however, favor the former possibility, namely that Spike-induced platelet activation is consequent to a molecular event occurring at the membrane level. First, activation of platelets did not occur when the medium was depleted of extracellular Ca^{2+} , likely indicating that intracellular Ca^{2+} stores are not required for activation. Second, and most important, platelet activation also occurred upon treatment with the isolated spike RBD domain. These observations are in favor of a direct TMEM16F activation event occurring upon binding of Spike at the plasma membrane level.

As far as the platelet Spike-binding receptor is concerned, this remains still controversial. A couple of reports failed to detect ACE2 in platelets from both COVID-19 patients and healthy individuals (31, 32). Other investigators, however, have reported expression of ACE2 on platelets from both healthy individuals and mice by RT-PCR (47), and also expression of the ACE2 protein by immunodetection (59). In our own experiments, we could readily detect expression of ACE2 in the healthy donors we analyzed, from whom platelets were collected for our experiments. Irrespective of the actual expression of ACE2, however, all the studies so far conducted, including those reporting against ACE2 expression, are concordant in showing platelet activation in SARS-CoV-2 infection, and several of these studies have also confirmed that the viral genome can be found within platelets (31, 32, 59). Should ACE2 not be the relevant receptor, there may be ACE2-independent mechanisms whereby SARS-CoV-2 directly interacts with, and possibly enters, platelets [reviewed in ref: (60)].

Both Niclosamide and Clofazimine were remarkably effective at inhibiting Spike-induced platelet activation. In the case of Niclosamide, this in line with the inhibition of TMEM16F and the known role that this protein plays in amplifying the rate of platelet procoagulant activity (42). Niclosamide acted at concentrations in the low hundred nanomolar range, which are even lower than those needed to inhibit syncytia (36). Niclosamide is a synthetic salicylanilide developed in the 1950s as a molluscicide against snails (37) and subsequently approved for use in humans, where it has been employed for over 50 years to treat tapeworm infections (61). Solubility of the currently available oral formulation is relatively low, but there is anyhow evidence of significant systemic absorption, with plasma levels that can reach 1-20 µM (62). Besides inhibiting TMEM16 proteins, multiple evidence indicates that this drug can exert pleiotropic effects in mammalian cells, which include modulation of the Wnt/β catenin and Notch signaling pathways, repression of mTORC1 and inhibition of STAT3 and NF-kB transcriptional regulators [reviewed in Chen et al. (63)]. Some of these various functions could explain the effects of Niclosamide on platelet aggregation, adhesion and spreading, which are not directly relatable to TMEM16F activation. In this respect, however, it should be noted that the magnitude of these effects, albeit their statistical significance, is markedly lower than that of the inhibition of platelet pro-coagulant activity.

Finally, an interesting open question is whether the mechanism for Spike-induced platelet activation could be

causally linked to the thrombocytopenia in the course of COVID-19 (5, 25–27). Decreased platelet levels due to clearance in the spleen are reported in other conditions of PS overexposure (64), including mice with reduced levels of Bcl-xL (64). Recent evidence links this feature specifically to TMEM16F and extracellular Ca²⁺ influx, as mice with sphingomyelin synthase one deficiency show marked thrombocytopenia due to increased PS exposure consequent to excessive TMEM16F activation (65). Based on these observations, we speculate that thrombocytopenia during severe COVID-19 may be consequent to abnormal platelet activation through Spike-mediated TMEM16F stimulation.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Joint Ethical Committee of the Regione Friuli Venezia Giulia, Italy (re. 0019072/P/GEN/ARCS). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

AC, ES, HA, and IS performed the molecular and cellular biology experiments and generated pseudovirions. HEA and MC performed experiments with human platelets. SV, RS, and LM participated in experiments on Spike-expressing cells. SZ contributed to conceiving the project. TW and MG conceived the project, coordinated the work, and wrote the manuscript. All authors read and edited the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by grants from the King's College London King's Together Programme and National Institute for Health Research Biomedical Research Centre at Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London for COVID-19 research, with the contribution of the British Heart Foundation (BHF) Programme Grant RG/19/11/34633. MG was also supported by the European Research Council (ERC) Advanced Grant 787971 "CuRE". HEA, MC, and AC were supported by grants from the British Heart Foundation (RG/19/8/34500, PG/17/40/33028, and RG/19/11/34633).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Xiong X, Chi J, Gao Q. Prevalence and risk factors of thrombotic events on patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thromb J.* (2021) 19:32. doi: 10.1186/s12959-021-00284-9

2. Jenner W, Gorog D. Incidence of thrombotic complications in COVID-19 : on behalf of ICODE: the international COVID-19 thrombosis biomarkers colloquium. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2021) 52:999–1006. doi: 10.1007/s11239-021-02475-7

3. Zhang L, Yan X, Fan Q, Liu H, Liu X, Liu Z, et al. D-dimer levels on admission to predict in-hospital mortality in patients with Covid-19. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18:1324–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14859

4. Lippi G, Favaloro E. D-dimer is associated with severity of coronavirus disease 2019: a pooled analysis. *Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 120:876–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1709650

5. Chaudhary R, Garg J, Houghton DE, Murad MH, Kondur A, Chaudhary R, et al. Thromboinflammatory biomarkers in COVID-19: systematic review and meta-analysis of 17,052 patients. *Mayo Clin Proc Innov Qual Outcomes*. (2021) 5:388–402. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2021.01.009

6. Bussani R, Schneider E, Zentilin L, Collesi C, Ali H, Braga L, et al. Persistence of viral RNA, pneumocyte syncytia and thrombosis are hallmarks of advanced COVID-19 pathology. *Lancet EBioMedicine*. (2020) 61:103104. doi: 10.1016/j. ebiom.2020.103104

7. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:120–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432

 Carsana L, Sonzogni A, Nasr A, Rossi RS, Pellegrinelli A, Zerbi P, et al. Pulmonary post-mortem findings in a series of COVID-19 cases from northern Italy: a two-centre descriptive study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:1135–40. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30434-5

 Fox SE, Akmatbekov A, Harbert JL, Li G, Brown JQ, Heide RS. Pulmonary and cardiac pathology in African American patients with COVID-19: an autopsy series from New Orleans. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:681–6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30243-5

10. Buja LM, Wolf DA, Zhao B, Akkanti B, McDonald M, Lelenwa L, et al. The emerging spectrum of cardiopulmonary pathology of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): report of 3 autopsies from Houston, Texas, and review of autopsy findings from other United States cities. *Cardiovasc Pathol.* (2020) 48:107233. doi: 10.1016/j.carpath.2020.107233

11. Wichmann D, Sperhake J, Lütgehetmann M, Steurer S, Edler C, Heinemann A, et al. Autopsy findings and venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:268–77. doi: 10.7326/M20-2003

12. Giannis D, Ziogas I, Gianni P. Coagulation disorders in coronavirus infected patients: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-1, MERS-CoV and lessons from the past. *J Clin Virol.* (2020) 127:104362. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104362

13. McGonagle D, O'Donnell JS, Sharif K, Emery P, Bridgewood C. Immune mechanisms of pulmonary intravascular coagulopathy in COVID-19 pneumonia. *Lancet Rheumatol.* (2020) 2:e437–45. doi: 10.1016/S2665-9913(20) 30121-1

14. Varga Z, Flammer A, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel A, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1417–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fcvm.2022.1013262/full#supplementary-material

15. McKechnie J, Blish C. The innate immune system: fighting on the front lines or fanning the flames of COVID-19? *Cell Host Microbe.* (2020) 27:863–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.05.009

16. Zhou Z, Ren L, Zhang L, Zhong J, Xiao Y, Jia Z, et al. Heightened innate immune responses in the respiratory tract of COVID-19 patients. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2020) 27:883–90.e882. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.04.017

17. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

18. Blanco-Melo D, Nilsson-Payant BE, Liu W, Uhl S, Hoagland D, Møller R, et al. Imbalanced host response to SARS-CoV-2 drives development of COVID-19. *Cell.* (2020) 181:1036–45.e1039. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.026

19. Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, Cao Y, Huang D, Wang H, et al. Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. *J Clin Invest.* (2020) 130:2620–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI137244

20. Engelmann B, Massberg S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:34–45. doi: 10.1038/nri3345

21. Bonaventura A, Vecchié A, Dagna L, Martinod K, Dixon DL, Tassell BW, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and immunothrombosis as key pathogenic mechanisms in COVID-19. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2021) 21:319–29. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-0 0536-9

22. Stark K, Massberg S. Interplay between inflammation and thrombosis in cardiovascular pathology. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2021) 18:666–82. doi: 10.1038/s41569-021-00552-1

23. Zuo Y, Yalavarthi S, Shi H, Gockman K, Zuo M, Madison JA, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps in COVID-19. *JCI Insight.* (2020) 5:e138999. doi: 10.1172/jci. insight.138999

24. Barnes BJ, Adrover JM, Baxter-Stoltzfus A, Borczuk A, Cools-Lartigue J, Crawford JM, et al. Targeting potential drivers of COVID-19: neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Exp Med.* (2020) 217:e20200652. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200652

25. Lippi G, Plebani M, Henry B. Thrombocytopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: a meta-analysis. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2020) 506:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.03.022

26. Bikdeli B, Madhavan MV, Jimenez D, Chuich T, Dreyfus I, Driggin E, et al. COVID-19 and thrombotic or thromboembolic disease: implications for prevention, antithrombotic therapy, and follow-up. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2020) 75:2950–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.04.031

27. Mackman N, Antoniak S, Wolberg AS, Kasthuri R, Key NS. Coagulation abnormalities and thrombosis in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 and other pandemic viruses. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2020) 40:2033–44. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.314514

28. Valdivia-Mazeyra MF, Salas C, Nieves-Alonso JM, Martín-Fragueiro L, Bárcena C, Muñoz-Hernández P, et al. Increased number of pulmonary megakaryocytes in COVID-19 patients with diffuse alveolar damage: an autopsy study with clinical correlation and review of the literature. *Virchows Arch.* (2021) 478:487–96. doi: 10.1007/s00428-020-02926-1

29. Bongiovanni D, Klug M, Lazareva O, Weidlich S, Biasi M, Ursu S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection is associated with a pro-thrombotic platelet phenotype. *Cell Death Dis.* (2021) 12:50. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03333-9

30. Canzano P, Brambilla M, Porro B, Cosentino N, Tortorici E, Vicini S, et al. Platelet and endothelial activation as potential mechanisms behind the thrombotic complications of COVID-19 patients. *JACC Basic Transl Sci.* (2021) 6:202–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2020.12.009

31. Manne BK, Denorme F, Middleton EA, Portier I, Rowley JW, Stubben C, et al. Platelet gene expression and function in patients with COVID-19. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1317–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007214

32. Zaid Y, Puhm F, Allaeys I, Naya A, Oudghiri M, Khalki L, et al. Platelets can associate with SARS-Cov-2 RNA and are hyperactivated in COVID-19. *Circ Res.* (2020) 127:1404–18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.317703

Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell*. (2020) 181:271–80.e278. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2020.02.052

34. Coutard B, Valle C, Lamballerie XD, Canard B, Seidah NG, Decroly E. The spike glycoprotein of the new coronavirus 2019-nCoV contains a furin-like cleavage site absent in CoV of the same clade. *Antiviral Res.* (2020) 176:104742. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104742

35. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Pohlmann SA. Multibasic cleavage site in the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 is essential for infection of human lung cells. *Mol Cell.* (2020) 78:779–84.e775. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2020.04.022

36. Braga L, Ali H, Secco I, Chiavacci E, Neves G, Goldhill D, et al. Drugs that inhibit TMEM16 proteins block SARS-CoV-2 spike-induced syncytia. *Nature*. (2021) 594:88–93. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03491-6

37. Gonnert R, Schraufstatter E. A new molluscicide: molluscicide Bayer 73. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Congress Tropical Medicine Malaria, Sept 5-13, 1958. Lisbon (1959).

38. Waters M. The six disease of WHO. Br Med J. (1981) 283:1320-2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.283.6302.1320

39. Deun AV, Maug AK, Salim MA, Das PK, Sarker MR, Daru P, et al. Short, highly effective, and inexpensive standardized treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:684–92. doi: 10.1164/rccm. 201001-0077OC

40. Yang H, Kim A, David T, Palmer D, Jin T, Tien J, et al. TMEM16F forms a Ca2+-activated cation channel required for lipid scrambling in platelets during blood coagulation. *Cell.* (2012) 151:111–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.036

41. Zhang Y, Li H, Li X, Wu J, Xue T, Wu J, et al. TMEM16F-mediated platelet membrane phospholipid scrambling is critical for hemostasis and thrombosis but not thromboinflammation in mice-brief report. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2016) 36:2152–7. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.307727

42. Lhermusier T, Chap H, Payrastre B. Platelet membrane phospholipid asymmetry: from the characterization of a scramblase activity to the identification of an essential protein mutated in Scott syndrome. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2011) 9:1883–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04478.x

43. Cattin-Ortolá J, Welch LG, Maslen SL, Papa G, James LC, Munro S. Sequences in the cytoplasmic tail of SARS-CoV-2 spike facilitate expression at the cell surface and syncytia formation. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:5333. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25589-1

44. Tandon R, Mitra D, Sharma P, McCandless MG, Stray SJ, Bates JT, et al. Effective screening of SARS-CoV-2 neutralizing antibodies in patient serum using lentivirus particles pseudotyped with SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:19076. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76135-w

45. Armstrong PC, Dhanji A, Truss NJ, Zain ZN, Tucker AT, Mitchell JA, et al. Utility of 96-well plate aggregometry and measurement of thrombi adhesion to determine aspirin and clopidogrel effectiveness. *Thromb Haemost.* (2009) 102:772– 8. doi: 10.1160/TH09-04-0215

46. Nicolai L, Leunig A, Brambs S, Kaiser R, Weinberger T, Weigand M, et al. Immunothrombotic dysregulation in COVID-19 pneumonia is associated with respiratory failure and coagulopathy. *Circulation*. (2020) 142:1176–89. doi: 10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048488

47. Zhang S, Liu Y, Wang X, Yang L, Li H, Wang Y, et al. SARS-CoV-2 binds platelet ACE2 to enhance thrombosis in COVID-19. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2020) 13:120. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00954-7

48. Miner K, Labitzke K, Liu B, Wang P, Henckels K, Gaida K, et al. Drug repurposing: the anthelmintics niclosamide and nitazoxanide are potent TMEM16A antagonists that fully bronchodilate airways. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:51. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00051

49. Nurden P, Stritt S, Favier R, Nurden AT. Inherited platelet diseases with normal platelet count: phenotypes, genotypes and diagnostic strategy. *Haematologica*. (2021) 106:337–50. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2020. 248153

50. Liu F, Han K, Blair R, Kenst K, Qin Z, Upcin B, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infects endothelial cells in vivo and in vitro. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2021) 11:701278. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2021.701278

51. Magro CM, Mulvey J, Kubiak J, Mikhail S, Suster D, Crowson AN, et al. Severe COVID-19: a multifaceted viral vasculopathy syndrome. *Ann Diagn Pathol.* (2021) 50:151645. doi: 10.1016/j.anndiagpath.2020.151 645

52. Kral AH, Lambdin BH, Wenger LD, Davidson PJ. Evaluation of an unsanctioned safe consumption site in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:589-90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2015435

53. Murphy K. SARS CoV-2 detection from upper and lower respiratory tract specimens: diagnostic and infection control implications. *Chest.* (2020) 158:1804–5. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.07.061

54. Gutmann C, Takov K, Burnap SA, Singh B, Ali H, Theofilatos K, et al. SARS-CoV-2 RNAemia and proteomic trajectories inform prognostication in COVID-19 patients admitted to intensive care. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:3406. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-23494-1

55. Glowacka I, Bertram S, Müller MA, Allen P, Soilleux E, Pfefferle S, et al. Evidence that TMPRSS2 activates the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein for membrane fusion and reduces viral control by the humoral immune response. *J Virol.* (2011) 85:4122–34. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02 232-10

56. Matsuyama S, Nagata N, Shirato K, Kawase M, Takeda M, Taguchi F. Efficient activation of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein by the transmembrane protease TMPRSS2. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:12658–64. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 01542-10

57. Shulla A, Heald-Sargent T, Subramanya G, Zhao J, Perlman S, Gallagher T. A transmembrane serine protease is linked to the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus receptor and activates virus entry. *J Virol.* (2011) 85:873–82. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02062-10

58. Cabrita I, Benedetto R, Fonseca A, Wanitchakool P, Sirianant L, Skryabin BV, et al. Differential effects of anoctamins on intracellular calcium signals. *FASEB J.* (2017) 31:2123–34. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600797RR

59. Koupenova M, Corkrey HA, Vitseva O, Tanriverdi K, Somasundaran M, Liu P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 initiates programmed cell death in platelets. *Circ Res.* (2021) 129:631–46. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.121.319117

60. Campbell R, Boilard E, Rondina M. Is there a role for the ACE2 receptor in SARS-CoV-2 interactions with platelets? *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 19:46–50. doi: 10.1111/jth.15156

61. Kappagoda S, Singh U, Blackburn B. Antiparasitic therapy. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2011) 86:561–83. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2011.0203

62. Andrews P, Thyssen J, Lorke D. The biology and toxicology of molluscicides, Bayluscide. *Pharmacol Ther.* (1982) 19:245–95. doi: 10.1016/0163-7258(82)9 0064-X

63. Chen W, Mook R Jr, Premont RT, Wang J. Niclosamide: beyond an antihelminthic drug. *Cell Signal.* (2018) 41:89–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2017. 04.001

64. Wagner KU, Claudio E, Rucker E III, Riedlinger G, Broussard C, Schwartzberg PL, et al. Conditional deletion of the Bcl-x gene from erythroid cells results in hemolytic anemia and profound splenomegaly. *Development*. (2000) 127:4949–58. doi: 10.1242/dev.127.22.4949

65. Fujii Y, Taniguchi M, Nagaya S, Ueda Y, Hashizume C, Watanabe K, et al. A novel mechanism of thrombocytopenia by PS exposure through TMEM16F in sphingomyelin synthase 1 deficiency. *Blood Adv.* (2021) 5:4265–77. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020002922

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Saravanan Subramaniam, Boston University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Peng Hong, Downstate Health Sciences University, United States Kanakanagavalli Shravani Prakhya, University of Kentucky, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE James P. Maloney ⊠ james.maloney@cuanschutz.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 27 September 2022 ACCEPTED 09 December 2022 PUBLISHED 06 January 2023

CITATION

Arguinchona LM, Zagona-Prizio C, Joyce ME, Chan ED and Maloney JP (2023) Microvascular significance of TGF- β axis activation in COVID-19. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 9:1054690. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.1054690

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Arguinchona, Zagona-Prizio, Joyce, Chan and Maloney. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Microvascular significance of TGF- β axis activation in COVID-19

Lauren M. Arguinchona¹, Caterina Zagona-Prizio¹, Megan E. Joyce², Edward D. Chan^{2,3,4} and James P. Maloney²*

¹School of Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ²Division of Pulmonary Sciences and Critical Care Medicine, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States, ³Rocky Mountain Regional Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Aurora, CO, United States, ⁴National Jewish Health, Denver, CO, United States

As 2023 approaches, the COVID-19 pandemic has killed millions. While vaccines have been a crucial intervention, only a few effective medications exist for prevention and treatment of COVID-19 in breakthrough cases or in unvaccinated or immunocompromised patients. SARS-CoV-2 displays early and unusual features of micro-thrombosis and immune dysregulation that target endothelial beds of the lungs, skin, and other organs. Notably, anticoagulation improves outcomes in some COVID-19 patients. The protein transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β1) has constitutive roles in maintaining a healthy microvasculature through its roles in regulating inflammation, clotting, and wound healing. However, after infection (including viral infection) TGF-B1 activation may augment coagulation, cause immune dysregulation, and direct a path toward tissue fibrosis. Dysregulation of TGF- β signaling in immune cells and its localization in areas of microvascular injury are now well-described in COVID-19, and such events may contribute to the acute respiratory distress syndrome and skin micro-thrombosis outcomes frequently seen in severe COVID-19. The high concentration of TGF-B in platelets and in other cells within microvascular thrombi, its ability to activate the clotting cascade and dysregulate immune pathways, and its pro-fibrotic properties all contribute to a unique milieu in the COVID-19 microvasculature. This unique environment allows for propagation of microvascular clotting and immune dysregulation. In this review we summarize the physiological functions of TGF- β and detail the evidence for its effects on the microvasculature in COVID-19. In addition, we explore the potential role of existing TGF- β inhibitors for the prevention and treatment of COVID-19 associated microvascular thrombosis and immune dysregulation.

KEYWORDS

fibrosis-pulmonary-histopathology-diagnosis, SARS-CoV-2, acute respiratory disease syndrome (ARDS), thrombosis, TGF- β 1, TSP1/THBS1, COVID-19

Introduction

The transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β) superfamily consists of 33 known mammalian proteins classified into subfamilies that include bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), growth differentiation factors (GDFs), activins, inhibins, and three TGF-β isoforms (TGF-β1, TGF-β2, and TGF-β3) (1). TGFβ1 is a ubiquitous pleiotropic cytokine expressed by numerous cell types and is well-known for its regulation of inflammation and wound healing. TGF-B1 is the dominant protein expressed in most tissues (including immune cells) whereas expression of TGF- $\beta 2$ and TGF- $\beta 3$ are more restricted. In this review "TGF-\beta" will refer to TGF-\beta1 unless otherwise specified. The amino acid sequence of TGF-\beta1 is markedly conserved between species, with 100% sequence homology between human, simian, bovine, porcine, murine, and chicken proteins. TGF-B1 shares moderate sequence homology with TGF-\u00b32 and TGF-\u00b33, with some overlapping functions. The phenotypes of null mice for each of these isoforms are strikingly different, suggesting key functions are distinct for each isoform. TGF-\u00b31 null mice have the most severe phenotype, dying at 2 weeks of life from widespread inflammation, while TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 3 null mice each succumb to developmental abnormalities soon after birth (2-4).

In its most common form, TGF- β is inactive, or "latent" (L-TGF- β), being covalently bound to the latency-associated peptide (LAP) derived from the 5' end of its gene transcript, which shields its receptor binding sites. This forms the small latent complex (SLC). TGF- β is secreted by most cells in this SLC

form. LAP can also form a disulfide bond with the latent TGF- β binding protein (LTBP, from different genes for each TGF- β isoform) forming the large latent complex (LLC) (Figure 1). Interestingly, mice null for LTBP also suffer from widespread inflammation (5). Latency of TGF- β is essential to sequester its pluripotent effects while also maintaining a state where it can be rapidly activated (such as during tissue injury and acute inflammation). These inactive complexes can be manipulated through a variety of pathways that lead to release of active TGFβ, including non-covalent interactions with thrombospondin-1 (TSP1) or integrins, or proteolytic degradation of the LAP by enzymes such as metalloproteinases (5-9). TSP1 is able to conformationally alter LAP through its "KRFK" motif (lysine arginine phenylalanine lysine), one of the few molecular known to activate the latent form of TGF- β (10). Other such "keys" are contained in motifs of $\alpha\nu\beta6$ and $\alpha\nu\beta8$ integrins, which typically require membrane or matrix anchoring to bind to RGD amino acid motifs (arginine glycine aspartic acid) in LAP and deform its shape (11). This post-translational regulation of all TGF- β isoforms is the main determinant of their availability, rather than from changes in gene expression. The lung is one organ with high latent TGF-β expression and protein levels, both within structural and immune cells and intercalated into the extracellular matrix (after cell secretion) (Figure 1; 12). Thus in most tissues but particularly in the lungs, inflammatory and other stimuli can rapidly release active TGF- β from its latent stores (13). TGF- β release in this scenario is context-dependent, but often is a key event leading to a post-inflammatory tissue healing phase of illness (1). In some contexts TGF- β has anti-inflammatory effects, whereas in other contexts persistent stimulation by TGF- β may lead to tissue fibrosis (14).

TGF- β is a mediator of thrombosis

The initial physiological response in mammals to vascular injury is hemostasis which begins with platelet aggregation at the wound site. Platelets are the most abundant source of human TGF- β 1 (40–100 times the level of TGF- β 1 compared with other cells), and this protein is stored in its latent form in platelet alpha granules (15). Coagulation factors V, XI, and XIII, and the TGF- β activator protein TSP1 are also stored in the alpha granules (15, 16). Therefore, measuring TGF- β levels in blood samples is complex due to much higher TGF-*β* levels in serum (coagulated blood) compared to that in plasma (anticoagulated blood) (17). Thus, comparison of serum TGF- β levels between populations or during illnesses may be confounded by platelet counts, intrinsic platelet aggregation properties, and/or use of antiplatelet agents (17, 18). Both latent forms of TGF- β are released from platelets with the LLC and SLC conformations comprising 65 and 35%, respectively (19, 20). These latent TGF- β forms are then likely activated by co-secreted platelet enzymes (like furin), co-secreted proteins (TSP1), shear stress (which can double in

Abbreviations: ACE2, angiotensin converting enzyme 2; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; BMP, bone morphogenetic proteins; ECM, extracellular matrix; EMT, epithelial to mesenchymal transition; ENaC, apical sodium channel; FN1, fibronectin; GARP, glycoprotein-A repetitions predominant (cell surface molecule); FOXP3, forehead box P3 protein (transcription factor); GDF, growth differentiation factors; HIF-1a, hypoxia inducible factor alpha; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IPF, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; KRFK, lysine arginine phenylalanine lysine; HPL, human peripheral lung; ICU, intensive care unit; LAP, latency-associated peptide; LLC, large latent complex; LTBP, latent TGF- β binding protein; L-TGF- β , latent transforming growth factor-beta; M2, macrophage phenotype, anti-inflammatory; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; MIS-C, multisystem inflammatory syndrome of children; NET, neutrophil extracellular traps; NK, natural killer; NOX4, NADPH oxidase 4; ORF8, protein encoded by open reading frame 8 of SARS-CoV-2 genome; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1; PASC, post-acute syndrome of COVID; PHD2, prolyl hydroxylase 2; RGD, arginine glycine aspartate amino acid motif; SARS, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus of 2004 (2003-5); SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SIN3A, SIN3 transcription regulator family member A; SLC, small latent complex; SMAD, suppressor of mothers against decapentaplegic; TF, tissue factor; TGF-B, transforming growth factor-beta; TGF-BI, transforming growth factor-beta inhibitors; TGFBIp, TGF beta induced protein; TGFBRI, transforming growth factor-beta receptor I, aka ALK5; TGFBRII, transforming growth factor-beta receptor II; Th2, type 2 immune response; TLR, toll-like receptors; Tregs, T regulatory cells; TSP1, thrombospondin-1; WXXW, tryptophan, any amino acid, any amino acid, tryptophan motif.



a thrombosing vasculature), or inflammation-induced enzymes like metalloproteinases (20, 21). Altered release of TGF- β from platelets has been described in several inflammatory diseases (17, 22). Notably, some cancers appear to "hijack" platelets and use TGF- β and other proteins to promote tumor growth and provide a permissive tumor environment (23).

Platelets express TGF-B receptors, so they can respond to TGF- β in an autocrine or paracrine manner (24). In normal platelets, exogenous TGF-β1 induces platelet aggregation (25). Exogenous TGF-β1 may also induce a procoagulant state via release of vascular or platelet stores of Factor XII, tissue factor, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-I (PAI-I) (26-28). In SARS-CoV-2 infected lung epithelial cells, the PAI-I gene (SERPINE1) is strongly upregulated (29). TGF- β also indirectly augments platelet activation via induction of TGF- β induced protein (TGFBIp) in platelets, respiratory epithelial cells, endothelial cells, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and monocytes. TGFBIp is secreted and is also stored in the extracellular matrix, accumulating at sites of inflammation. TGFBIp has RGD sequences and fasciclin 1 domains that appear to bind to platelet surface integrins and activate platelets. Transgenic mice that overexpress TGFBIp are more prone to pulmonary embolism (30). Interestingly, platelets also maintain a small amount of L-TGF- β on their external surface bound to the glycoprotein-A repetitions predominant (GARP) protein. However, GARPbound TGF- β seems more important for immune interactions rather than for coagulation (31).

Transgenic mouse models have given substantial insight into the role of platelet-derived TGF- $\beta 1$ in coagulation. TSP1 null mice lose the major non-integrin mechanism by which L-TGF- β is activated. These mice have less active TGF- β in both platelets and in healing wounds, defects in platelet aggregation and wound healing, and markedly less platelet TGF-B release during aggregation (32). TGF- β 1 null mice are difficult to study due to their demise in utero or shortly after birth, but conditional knockout of TGF-\u00c61 in megakaryocytes (platelet precursors) reveals lower blood TGF-B1 levels and a bleeding diathesis with decreased platelet aggregation from fibrinogen receptor binding defects (25). In summation, existing evidence places TGF- β as an important orchestrator of coagulation whose role may loom larger during wound healing following inflammation. The key studies supporting this conclusion are summarized in Table 1.

TGF- β has critical roles in inflammation and immune regulation

Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β 1) is the major TGF- β isoform involved in the regulation of immunity (12).

References	Key findings				
Assoian et al. (15)	Identification of $\mathrm{TGF}\beta$; description of high expression in human platelets				
Huber et al. (23)	Human platelet $TGF\beta$ is principally in the latent form and is resistant to protease digestion				
Grainger et al. (19)	Human platelet TGF β exists as both the LLC and SLC forms; plasmin releases additional TGF β from clots				
Crawford et al. (16)	TGFβ in platelets is bound to thrombospondin-1 (an key activator of latent TGFβ)				
Hoying et al. (25)	TGFβ enhances platelet aggregation via effects on the fibrinogen receptor				
Dong et al. (28)	TGFβ activity correlates with PAI-I expression in vascular endothelium; TGFβ increases PAI-I expression in vascular cells				
Lev et al. (24)	Platelets have TGF ^β receptors; TGF ^β 1 does not cause direct platelet aggregation but modulates ADP-induced aggregation				
Ahamed et al. (21)	Shear stress causes activation of circulating latent TGF ^β (present in the LLC form), <i>in vivo</i> clotting releases TGF ^β				
Kim et al. (30)	TGFβ indirectly activates platelets through platelet TGFβ induced protein, which potently increases <i>in vivo</i> clotting				
Jablonska et al. (26)	TGFβ induces coagulation factor XII via a SMAD binding element in its gene promoter				
Meyer et al. (18)	Targeted genetic ablation of platelet TGFβ decreases cardiac fibrosis after injury and decreases circulating TGFβ				
Maloney et al. (17)	Platelet TGFβ release is decreased in chronic inflammatory lung disease (cystic fibrosis)				
Saito et al. (27)	Platelet TGFβ induces tissue factor expression				

TABLE 1 Key evidence for transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) as a mediator of thrombosis.

All listed studies are cited in the references section. TGF-β, transforming growth factor beta; LLC, large latent complex; PAI-I, plasminogen activator inhibitor; SLC, small latent complex; SMAD, small mothers against decapentaplegic (transcription factor named as an anagram after homologies with fly and worm genes).

Augmented TGF-\u03b31 signaling drives a local suppression of the host immune system via direct inhibition of effector immune cells such as T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and dendritic cells. This effect is amplified by activation of immune suppressor T cells known as T regulatory cells (Tregs) (33). Tregs further suppress T effector cell, dendritic cell, and NK cell function-thus limiting their responses to invading pathogens and blunting inflammation (34-36). Much of this occurs due to direct effects of SMAD transcription factors. TGF-β1 binding to its receptors leads to intracellular phosphorylation of SMAD3 and SMAD4 transcription factors, which then enter the nucleus and affect expression of multiple genes that leads to an inhibition of inflammatory responses (37). Notably, stimulated Tregs also secrete TGF-\u00c61 with paracrine effects on neighboring cells, and keep a small amount of L-TGF-B1 on their surface bound to the GARP protein (31). On balance, these TGF- β 1 driven pathways dampen inflammation on route to wound healing. The importance of these predominantly anti-inflammatory pathways is illustrated by the inflammatory phenotype of the TGF- β 1 null mouse, which dies several weeks after birth from widespread inflammation in multiple organs (2).

However, TGF- β 1 is pleiotropic and can also stimulate immune responses and drive inflammation through the Th17 pathway, particularly in the context of high IL-6 activity (38). TGF- β 1 and IL-6 cooperatively drive induction of Th17 cells and secretion of proinflammatory IL-17 (39). Th17 pathway activation may also contribute to tissue fibrosis (40). Furthermore, IL-17 is a potent neutrophil chemokine and increased absolute neutrophil number, percentage of neutrophils, and neutrophil: lymphocyte ratio in the blood of COVID-19 patients are predictive of progression to severe disease (41).

TGF- β dysregulation in ARDS and pulmonary fibrosis

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was strong evidence that TGF- β 1 is a key driver in the pathophysiology of the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and in chronic fibrotic lung diseases such as idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF). In the early phases of ARDS, inflammatory signals likely release active TGF-\u00b31 from latent stores in the lung extracellular. Released TGF-B1 can immediately inhibit alveolar fluid reabsorption through rapid endocytosis of the apical sodium channel (ENAc) at the airway surface of alveolar type II cells and drive oxidant stress through NADPH oxidase 4 (NOX4) induction (42-44). TGF-β1 also downregulates prolyl hydroxylase 2 (PHD2), and thereby stabilizes the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor alpha (HIF-1α) leading to further upregulation of hypoxia-inducible genes such as mediators of endothelial permeability (45). TGF-\beta1 null mice die of multiorgan inflammation, including lung inflammation with features of ARDS. Thus, the complete absence of TGF- β 1 and its related immune suppressive functions also favors lung inflammation, suggesting that TGF-B1 dysregulation in either direction has effects on inflammation. Interestingly, TSP1 null mice display milder chronic lung inflammation as their principal phenotype and can be rescued to a near-normal state by administration of short peptides of the L-TGF-β1 activating motif from TSP1, suggesting that TGF- β activation may be the most important constitutive function of TSP1 (16).

Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β 1) staining is prominent in human ARDS lung, and TGF- β 1 concentrations are elevated in ARDS bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) specimens, but are minimal in BAL of healthy controls (42, 46–49). Continued TGF- β signaling akin to what occurs in IPF may drive a small subgroup of patients to develop fibroproliferative ARDS and permanent fibrosis. To date, no TGF- β 1 targeted clinical trials have been published in non-COVID ARDS.

Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-\u00b31) has a clear pathologic role in the chronic disease pathophysiology of IPF. TGF- β 1 staining is prominent in the IPF lung, and active TGF-B1 concentrations are elevated in IPF BAL specimens, far exceeding TGF-\u00b32 and TGF-\u00b33 levels (whereas free TGF- β 3 levels are highest in healthy lung BAL) (50). Transient adenoviral over-expression of TGF-B1 in mouse lungs causes progressive pulmonary fibrosis that becomes severe by day 60, whereas TGF-B3 overexpression displays mild histologic fibrosis that mostly resolves by day 60 (51). Of the TGF-1 β isoforms, TGF- β 1 has the most robust effects on differentiation of fibroblasts into activated myofibroblasts by epithelial to mesenchymal transition, upregulating TGF-β receptors, increasing connective tissue growth factor, driving collagen synthesis, and inhibiting degradation of collagenous intercellular matrix (1, 51). To date, two clinical trials of anti-TGF- β drugs in IPF have failed to show a significant clinical benefit (an anti-TGF-β antibody, and an oral integrin blocker; unpublished), while one oral agent (epigallocatechin-3-gallate) showed benefit in a single center study (52).

Viral evasion of host immune recognition is aided by "TGF- β hijacking"

The principal fitness advantage of SARS-CoV-2 occurs through gain-of-function mutations of its spike protein that enhance infectivity *via* stronger binding to the angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) cell entry receptor. While the main immune alteration in response to severe SARS-CoV-2 infection is the tendency toward a pro-inflammatory state, in part triggered by the spike protein, it is less clear how SARS-CoV-2 can escape immune detection during early infection. This leads to its unique asymptomatic carriage in many hosts, only to cause inflammatory illness much later post-exposure than other respiratory viruses.

Curiously, mechanisms to increase TGF- β tissue levels have been exploited by microbes for eons as a path to evade host immune detection, to increase infectivity, and to achieve latency/chronic infection. All of these paths augment a microbe's reproductive fitness. Even an animal as primitive as a sea anemone employs TSP1 motifs to regulate the activation of L-TGF- β that permits its primitive immune system to tolerate symbiotic algae colonization. Mutation of these motifs leads to rejection of algae and death of the anemone (35, 53). L-TGF- β 1 is highly expressed in airway and alveolar epithelium, alveolar macrophages, and in the lung intercellular matrix where inhaled microbes encounter host defenses during their pulmonary phase (12). Augmented TGF- β 1 signaling initially drives a local suppression of the host immune system *via* direct inhibition of effector immune cells like T cells and dendritic cells, an effect amplified by activation of immune suppressor Tregs. Tregs further suppress the function of T effector cells, dendritic cells, and NK cells–thus limiting their responses to the invading pathogen (34–36). These effects typically occur due to direct binding of SMAD transcription factors, activated by TGF- β receptors, to gene promoters of IL-2, IL-10, forkhead box P3 protein (FOXP3) and other key immune cytokines and transcription factors (37). TGF- β 1 also drives class switching of plasma cells from IgM and IgG to IgA antibody formation even outside mucosal barriers. Since IgA does not fix complement, it is less effective at directing immune responses to an invading pathogen (54).

Augmentation and exploitation of host TGF- β activity (known as "TGF-β hijacking") by microbes occurs by various mechanisms. Since no known pathogen synthesizes TGF-β, host TGF-B must be hijacked from the host. The hepatitis C virus increases host TGF- β and TSP1 gene expression, increasing activation of latent TGF-β (55). Trypanosoma cruzi also increases host TSP1 (56). The influenza virus produces a protease that degrades LAP and thereby releases active TGF-B (57). The SARS 2004 (aka SARS-CoV) virus nucleocapsid protein associates with the TGF-ß intracellular signaling transcription factors SMAD2 and SMAD3 and augments TGF- β induced gene transcription (58). Malaria and cryptosporidium parasites produce a TSP-like protein that activates latent TGF-B through TSP1-like WXXW domains (tryptophan, any amino acid, any amino acid, tryptophan) that inhibit the LAP-TGF- β interaction (59, 60). Schistosoma induces host monocyte TSP1 to activate pulmonary TGF- β as a contributor to the pulmonary vascular disease typical with this chronic infection (61, 62). Mitigating the TGF- β exploitation by these microbes consistently leads to decreased infectivity. For example, transgenic mice specifically lacking bronchial epithelial cell TGF-\u00c61 display robust protection from influenzainduced weight loss, airway inflammation, and tissue injury; these airway null mice also have a heightened antiviral immune response (63). There is emerging evidence that SARS-CoV-2 has also evolved to exploit TGF- β and increase its infectivity. Parallel immunoprecipitation studies of SARS-CoV-2 or SARS-CoVinfected human respiratory epithelial cells (A549) reveal a strong and exclusive interaction of the open reading frame 8 (ORF8) protein of SARS-CoV-2 with TGF-\u00c61, TGF-\u00b22, TGFBR2, LTBP1 (and thus latent TGF- β 1) that was not seen with SARS-CoV infection. The mechanism for these interactions is unclear, as the small ORF8 protein has no known amino acid sequences for activating LAP, LTBP, or for TGF-β isoform binding such as KRFK, RGD, or WXXW motifs. Whether the ORF8 interaction leads to TGF- β 1 activation is unknown (29). Moreover, the TGF-B induced genes fibronectin (FN1) and plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-I, SERPINE1 gene) were prominently upregulated, but this was not seen with SARS-CoV infected cells. Another study found that phosphorylation and activation of the TGF- β pathway is prominent in SARS-CoV-2 infection (64). These findings suggest that exploitation of host TGF- β is a key mechanism of SARS-CoV-2 infection, and that inhibition of this pathway is a promising treatment for SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Well-characterized immune responses that occur during SARS-CoV-2 infection include aberrant activity of both the innate and adaptive immune systems (65). Cell-mediated innate immunity functions by activating toll like receptors (TLRs) and triggering interferon (IFN) production at sites of infection (66). Cytokines released by pro-inflammatory macrophages also play a key role in antiviral defense, activating T cells which then produce IFN-gamma and cytokines that activate more macrophages, driving a loop of anti-viral inflammation (67, 68). One hypothesis is that interference with IFN production is a key perturbation that allows SARS-CoV-2 to replicate freely during early infection. In later stages of severe disease, a rebound IFN response can be exaggerated-leading to cytokine storm and inflammation. Complement is also activated in SARS-CoV-2 and animal studies have shown that inhibition of complement may be beneficial during infection (69). The formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) is critical to the disruption of the microvasculature, with an imbalance in formation and degradation driving inflammation and occlusive NET-derived immunothrombosis (70). Adaptive immunity also plays a key role, with B cells producing multiple classes of antibodies. The production of these antibodies does not occur until at least day 7-8 of infection, and delays in antibody production have been associated with more severe COVID-19 illness (54). T cells are also activated with a predominance of CD4+ and CD8+ cells. Novel T cell responses are seen in SARS-CoV-2 infection, with increased T cell death by apoptosis and increased syncytia activity, presumably induced by SARS-CoV-2, which when internalized can kill T cells. It has also been observed that highly active CD16+ T cells are linked to microvascular endothelial cell injury and these cells can persist after acute infection which may contribute to long COVID. Other key players include profibrotic CD163-expressing monocyte derived macrophages, and NK cells that exhibit impaired anti-fibrotic function (65). This review will focus on the multi-faceted TGF- β response seen with SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Linking TGF- β activation with thrombo-inflammatory responses in COVID-19

SARS-CoV was a much less prevalent coronavirus that also demonstrated TGF- β dysregulation, with frequent ARDS and pulmonary fibrosis, but it caused less than a thousand deaths (71). Using human peripheral lung epithelial (HPL) cell models infected with SARS-CoV, Zhao et al. found high levels of

TGF- β expression, leading to increased plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) related tissue fibrosis (58). This mechanism of TGF- β induced expression of PAI-1 has been well-described in prior models of lung fibrosis (72). In this same model of HPL cells, low levels of SMAD3/4 TGF- β induced apoptosis were found, leading to persistence of virus infected cells. The SARS-CoV papain-like protease was also shown to induce TGF- β signaling including fibrotic pathways in lung epithelial cells and blood monocytes (73, 74). Elevated levels of TGF- β 1 in blood and high expression in autopsied lung were also reported in SARS 2003 patients (75, 76). Therefore, it is thought that TGF- β played an important role in the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV by promoting replication and proliferation of the virus and contributing to coagulation dysregulation and lung fibrosis.

SARS-CoV-2 infection has also been associated with dysregulation of the TGF- $\!\beta$ pathway, resulting in increased TGF-B levels and pathway activity. Signatures of increased TGF-β activity in COVID-19 patients include increased plasma and serum TGF-B1 levels (77, 78), increased RNA levels of TGF β -induced protein in the blood of ARDS patients (79), plasmablast and monocyte TGF-B signatures in blood (80), increased IgA class switching pathognomonic of a TGF-β effect (81), and TGF- β mediated suppression of circulating NK cells (78). Furthermore, increased blood TGF-β levels were characteristically correlated with increased disease severity (80, 82). Strikingly, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) from COVID-19 patients suppress T effector cells but this effect can be blocked with a neutralizing antibody to TGF-B, and this TGF-B antibody also rescued interferon responses in MDSC to SARS-CoV-2 antigens, where the number of MDSC also correlated with plasma TGF- β 1 levels (83).

Another function of TGF-B is to dampen excessive immune responses and maintain homeostasis. This effect is unfortunately aberrant in SARS-CoV-2 infection due to the timing of its expression. In the sera of patients with severe COVID-19 infections, TGF-B gene expression was found to peak during the first 2 weeks of infection (78). At this time, NK cells, a key part of the innate immune system with activity against RNA viruses, were found to be inhibited in a TGF-\beta-dependent fashion. After pretreatment with TGF-β blocking antibodies, NK cell function recovered (78). This shows that it is not only the expression, but also the timing of TGF-B responses that allows the virus to proliferate, undetected and undisturbed by the immune system. In parallel, TGFβ1 could also contribute to inflammation through Th17 pathway activation in an IL-6 rich environment such as in the pulmonary phase of COVID-19 (67, 84-86). Interestingly, a subset of SARS-CoV-2 infections leads to a multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C; can also occur in adults) similar to Kawasaki's disease-a disease associated with common genetic variation in the TGF-B pathway (87, 88).

Evidence of TGF- β as a mediator of lung microvascular injury and thrombosis during COVID-19

Most COVID-19 deaths occur from ARDS. While ARDS was also the major cause of death in SARS 2004, our understanding of lung pathophysiology in the SARS 2004 pandemic was limited by its brief duration and limited mortality (89). Due to its longer pandemic duration and an extensive number of investigations, substantial insights into COVID-19 ARDS have been made. Many of these insights resulted from its comparison to data from investigations of ARDS due to influenza, bacterial, and other etiologies (designated here as non-COVID ARDS). Compared to non-COVID ARDS, COVID-19 ARDS has evidence of more extensive microvascular thrombosis (in skin and lung) and a higher propensity to cause lung fibrosis (90, 91).

Microvascular clotting and venous thromboembolism are more common in COVID ARDS (90). Empiric treatment dose anticoagulation has been shown to benefit hospitalized COVID-19 patients outside of intensive care units (ICU), but not in severely-ill patients-suggesting that full dose anticoagulation may come too late in these patients to be of benefit (this subgroup still benefits from prophylactic anticoagulation) (92). The severity of microvascular clotting in COVID-19 ARDS has been surprising, with extensive clotting in lung and skin far surpassing that seen in non-COVID ARDS, with no clear explanations (93, 94).

In one study, postmortem lung samples and antemortem plasma samples were collected from a cohort of COVID-19 ARDS patients. In these samples, TGF-B expression and blood TGF-B1 levels paralleled PAI-1 expression in fibrotic areas of lung and in the endothelium of alveolar septal capillaries and blood vessels (95). PAI-1, a potent inhibitor of fibrinolysis, would be expected to promote clotting in these regions (28). This correlation of TGF- β with PAI-1 highlights an imbalance between prothrombotic and antifibrinolytic pathways in COVID-19. In autopsy studies of patients who died from COVID-19 versus those who died of causes without ARDS, there was a significant increase in expression of TGF- β 1 in COVID-19 lungs (96). This TGF- β increase was associated with activation of the Th2 pathway, since increased immune expression of sphingosine-1 (M2 macrophages) and IL-4 were found. M2 macrophages are known to stimulate TGF-β which, in turn, potentiates tissue fibrosis and ineffective pathways for viral clearance. Most COVID-19 autopsy studies have not reported TGF- β staining.

Elevated blood TGF- β 1 levels are described in multiple reports of COVID-19 cohorts and may also be a biomarker of COVID ARDS severity. Colarusso et al. described higher plasma TGF- β 1 levels and higher stimulated release of TGF- β 1 from blood monocytes in patients with signs of lung fibrosis on imaging (97, 98). Ghazavi et al. found increased serum TGF- β 1 levels in COVID-19 patients that correlated

positively with disease severity and serum IL-17 (82). Serum TGF-\u03b31 levels have also been show to correlate with circulating monocyte phenotype in severe COVID-19 (99). In another study, blood levels of TGF-\beta-induced protein (TGF-βIp) were markedly elevated in severe COVID-19 (79). This protein is of particular interest as its transgenic overexpression worsens pulmonary emboli in a murine model of venous thromboembolism (30). The cause of increased blood TGFβ1 and activity in COVID-19 is likely in large part related to elevated pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidant stress. IL-1 and IL-17 are proinflammatory cytokines that are typically elevated in blood of severe COVID-19 patients. IL-6 increases TGF- β 1 expression, and IL-17 increases TGF- β receptor II expression (100, 101). TGF-\beta-induced epithelialto-mesenchymal transition (EMT) via upregulation of NOX4 expression and activity that is augmented by intracellular oxidant stress (102). Thus, inhibition of TGF- β production by IL-6 may be one mechanism underlying the survival benefit seen with IL-6 inhibitor administration during severe COVID-19 (84). Likewise, corticosteroids improve survival in hypoxic COVID-19 patients, and steroid effects include suppression of TGF- β 1 gene expression (103, 104).

Assessment of airspace levels of TGF- β or airway immune cell TGF- $\!\beta$ expression during COVID-19 ARDS have been limited to a few reports based on understandable desire to limit aerosolization of sputum from COVID-19 patients to research or clinical personnel. While multiple groups have reported on RNA expression or inflammatory cell distributions within BAL fluid from mechanically ventilated COVID-19 patients, to our knowledge none have reported an assessment of TGF- β protein levels in BAL fluid or other respiratory specimens. Grant et al. collected BAL from 88 COVID-19 patients and reported RNA sequencing results on 10 specimens and cell subset analyses by flow cytometry; in this study TGF- β was not reported as a dysregulated gene nor was a TGF- β driven gene signature reported among findings of T cell and macrophage drive alveolar inflammation (68). Ronit et al. studied lymphocyte subsets and a limited cytokine panel from BAL of four COVID-19 patients and found an inflammatory pattern, but TGF-B was not a target of the assays (105). Xiong et al. reported that RNA sequencing results from two COVID-19 BAL specimens demonstrated significantly increased TGF-B2 gene expression in BAL cells compared to three healthy controls (106). Zhou et al. reported RNA sequencing results from cells of eight COVID-19 BAL specimens compared to healthy control and non-COVID pneumonia patients, but TGF- β genes were not reported as dysregulated. Ferreira-Gomes et al. reported day 31 and day 46 BAL cell analysis from one mechanically-ventilated COVID-19 ARDS patient and found persistently high TGF-B protein in T cells (80). Since TGF- β availability is regulated at the posttranscriptional level, measurement of active TGF-B levels in lung secretions and lung tissue will be important to assess.

Cell-based models of respiratory epithelial cell infection with SARS-CoV-2 have provided additional insights into the role of TGF- β in epithelial cell injury. In an interactome study, human A549 lung epithelial cells transfected with individual SARS-CoV-2 proteins showed a prominent and exclusive binding of the viral ORF8 protein with TGF- β 1-2 isoforms, TGF- β receptor 2 (TGF β R2), and L-TGF- β (29). This finding was unexpected, as the small ORF8 protein has no known protein sequences for LAP, LTBP, or TGF- β isoform binding such as KRFK, RGD, or WXXW motifs (107, 108). Moreover, known TGF- β 1 induced genes fibronectin and PAI-1 were upregulated.

A recent animal model of COVID-19 used the MA10 mouse strain to evaluate longitudinal changes in lung pathology with a non-lethal SARS-CoV-2 dosing approach. This model revealed a post-transcriptional pattern of increased alveolar TGF- β 1 pathway signaling (such as fibronectin and type I collagen upregulation) at days 15 and 30 post-infection. Moreover, increased TGF- β 1 gene transcription was seen in areas of residual fibrosis at 15–120 days after clearance of viral infection (109).

Evidence of TGF- β as a mediator of skin microvascular injury and thrombosis during COVID-19

COVID-19 is associated with variable dermatologic presentations with vasculopathies being common. The rich capillary supply network of skin and its safe and feasible biopsy have given important insights into the microthrombotic and inflammatory features of COVID-19. Of particular interest is the ability of skin biopsies to give information on living COVID-19 patients. In comparison, study of tissues such as lung or heart microvascular injury during COVID-19 are mostly limited to animal or human autopsy studies.

Prevalence estimates for COVID-19 skin disease are confounded by the predominance of case reports, nevertheless, data from reviews suggest that dermatologic microvascular damage may be present in up to 20-25% of cases, and in almost all severe cases (110). Of these, the most frequently reported conditions are chilblain-like vasculitic acral lesions (pernio-like lesions, "COVID toe") and reticular lesions such as livedo reticularis and retiform purpura, typically associated with microvascular clotting (110). Several pathophysiologic mechanisms have been implicated in the development of these cutaneous microvascular lesions. In one study, microthrombosis was seen in 87% of premortem skin biopsies of severe COVID-19 cases with ARDS, but no microthrombi were seen in the premortem skin biopsies of mild COVID-19 cases or in skin from ARDS patients with non-COVID etiologies (111). As to inflammatory mediators in COVID-19 affected skin, terminal complement C5b-9 and MASP2 (lectin complement pathway) deposition are prominent in skin biopsies of severely ill COVID-19 patients with livedoid or purpuric cutaneous reactions that clinically suggest vasculitis. Strikingly, deposition of C5b-9 has

also been demonstrated in biopsies of apparently normal skinwhere its deposition tracks COVID-19 severity (highest in COVID-19 ARDS), while such C5b-9 deposition is absent from the skin of patients with non-COVID ARDS (69, 111). This complement deposition damages the endothelium resulting in further clotting cascade activation and a pro-coagulative state, likely explaining the tight correlation of complement deposition with micro-thrombosis. Complement activation has also been demonstrated in acro-ischemic chilblain-like lesions frequently seen in milder COVID-19 cases and in younger patients (112).

Prominent expression of the transcription factor SIN3A has been demonstrated in premortem skin biopsies of severe COVID-19 patients, where it also correlates with disease severity (111). The potential significance of this finding in the context of TGF-B is that SIN3A is known to colocalize with SMAD transcription factors on TGF-B driven gene promoters, suggesting it may have a cooperative effect with TGF-B on the genesis of microvascular injury during COVID-19 (113). To our knowledge, no biopsy studies have directly evaluated levels of skin TGF-β protein or RNA expression in COVID-19. At autopsy, skin is among the highest ACE2 receptor expressing organs in COVID-19 patients (second only to the lungs) (69). Binding of spike protein ("pseudovirus") to dermal microvessel ACE2 also correlates strongly as a signal for subsequent complement deposition and inflammation (110, 114). These reports demonstrate unique pathophysiologic features linked with cutaneous microvascular damage, overall disease severity, and patient outcomes. This evidence suggests an interplay of several inflammatory pathways in the pathogenesis of microvascular skin conditions in COVID-19. Further high-quality clinical studies are needed to fully elucidate the pathophysiology of these microvascular manifestations as well as their clinical significance in relation to overall COVID-19 severity and treatment options. Importantly, skin biopsies in living subjects remain a feasible and minimally invasive technique to better understand the longitudinal microvascular pathophysiology of COVID-19, particularly related to investigation of TGF-ß pathways. Importantly, anti-TGF-B therapies have been shown to have dramatic effects on TGF-β driven genes in analyses of skin biopsy from clinical trial subjects with scleroderma (115). Analysis of skin biopsies from COVID-19 patients treated with anti-TGF-ß therapies also promise to be a useful, safe, and feasible window in understanding the effects of these therapies on microvascular injury due to inflammation and clotting.

These data show that TGF- β is a key mediator in the pathogenicity of COVID-19 and likely vital to the virus's asymptomatic carriage that contributes to high viral loads and increased viral spread, delayed progression to severe illness, and transition in a subset of patients into a pro-inflammatory, pro-fibrotic final phase of illness with prominent microvascular clotting. A summary of the key evidence for this paradigm during COVID-19 illness is listed in **Table 2** and illustrated by **Figure 2**.

References	Key findings				
Park et al. (79)	TGFβIp acetylated at Lysine 676 is a diagnostic marker of severity in SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia				
Sacchi et al. (83)	Polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell IFN- λ production during SARS-CoV-2 peptide stimulation throug TGF β mechanisms				
Ghazavi et al. (82)	Serum TGFß levels increase with increasing disease severity in patients with COVID-19				
Kvedaraite et al. (99)	Serum TGF ^β levels correlate with circulating monocyte phenotype in severe COVID-19				
Ferreira-Gomes et al. (80)	SARS-CoV-2 triggers an immune response instructed by TGFβ, including IgA class switching				
D'Agnillo et al. (95)	TGFβ1 staining co-localizes with PAI-1 in pulmonary blood vessels and developing fibrotic lesions in COVID-19 lung tissue				
Witkowski et al. (78)	Serum levels of TGFβ peak during the first 2 weeks of severe COVID-19 infection and inhibit NK cell function				
Colarusso et al. (97)	Higher TGF ^β levels predict an increased relative risk of lung fibrosis-like changes in post-COVID patients				
Vaz de Paula et al. (96)	Immuno-expression of TGF\$1 is increased in lung tissue of patients who died of COVID-19				
Dinnon et al. (109)	Transcriptomic analysis of diseased alveolar regions shows up-regulated signaling by the TGFB receptor complex in mouse-adapted SARS-CoV-2				
Colarusso et al. (98)	TGFβ has higher stimulated release in post-COVID patients with signs of lung fibrosis on chest computed tomography scans				

TABLE 2 Key evidence for transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) as a mediator of COVID-19 immune dysregulation and thrombosis.

All listed studies are cited in the references section. $TGF-\beta$, transforming growth factor beta; LLC, large latent complex; NK, natural killer; PAI-I, plasminogen activator inhibitor; $TGF\beta$ Ip, $TGF\beta$ induced protein.



TGF- β pathway inhibitors may ameliorate TGF- β driven thrombosis and immune dysregulation in COVID-19

Given the substantial evidence that SARS-CoV-2 stimulates host TGF- β pathways, TGF- β antagonism arises as a potential therapeutic target for improving outcomes during

COVID-19 illness. Such an approach was suggested by multiple investigators early in the COVID-19 pandemic (80, 108, 116, 117). Over a dozen TGF- β inhibitors (TGF- β i) have been evaluated in human clinical trials of cancer and inflammatory diseases. Thus given the evidence presented above, the TGF- β i space is ripe for immediate repurposing for animal "proof of principle" studies and subsequent clinical trials of COVID-19 (**Table 3**; 118). A number of robust animal models exist for COVID-19, allowing rapid assessment of candidate TGF- β i for efficacy and safety to identify agents worth promoting to human clinical trials (119–122).

To date, the majority of TGF-Bi have failed to benefit primary outcomes in phase I-II clinical trials of various cancers and inflammatory diseases (123-127). For some agents, recognition of concerning adverse events limited further development (127, 128). None of these studies evaluated thrombosis as an outcome. These existing TGF-Bi target multiple points in the TGF- β pathway (Table 3). TGF- β receptor inhibitors are typically small molecule oral drugs that inhibit intracellular TGF-β receptor I (TGFBRI, also known as ALK5) or TGF-B receptor II (TGFBRII) kinase activity, including catechin polyphenol derivatives of green tea extracts (52, 126). Antibodies to TGF-β ligand (both to individual and to all TGF- β isoforms) also exist, as do ligand traps (124, 129–131). Agents targeted at preventing L-TGF-B activation such as integrin inhibitors have already entered clinical trials of inflammatory diseases (125), and antibodies and small molecules blocking L-TGF- β are in preclinical development (132, 133). Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin-II receptor blockers such as losartan has been evaluated in clinical trials of COVID-19 (NCT04312009 and NCT04312009) given their low cost, worldwide availability as approved drugs for hypertension and heart failure, and their potential modulation of surface expression of the ACE2 receptor where the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein binds for its cellular uptake route. These agents are also known to have off-target effects via decreased TGF-\beta signaling through inhibiting synthesis of TSP1 and other mediators that increase active TGF- β (134). They have been used to slow TGFβ mediated thoracic aortic aneurysm progression in Marfan's disease with evidence for improved outcomes (135). To date, losartan has not been shown to improve outcomes in COVID-19 (136). As these agents are not specifically directed at TGF- β , they are not a subject of this review.

Antisense RNA agents targeting TGF-\u00b31 or TGF-\u00b32 are also in development or in clinical trials (137). Notably, while only one of these agents is FDA-approved, in most cases these agents could undergo a rapid production phase as most have already completed phase I trials. These would be reasonable agents to test in animal models of COVID-19, selecting promising agents for further evaluation in human trials. One TGF-ßi, luspatercept, is an FDA-approved TGF- β "trap" that is already marketed worldwide in a subcutaneous formulation to decrease red cell transfusion needs in thalassemia. In thalassemia, marrow production of red blood cells is inhibited by TGF- β (129). Pirfenidone and nintedanib are an antifibrotic agents that have anti-TGF- β properties and are approved in many countries for the treatment of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Pirfenidone works in part by inhibiting furin, an enzyme that activates TGF- β from its precursor form. Furin is also necessary for SARS-CoV-2 internalization (138). A phase 2 trial of pirfenidone in 146 inpatients with acute COVID-19 (NCT04282902) did

not meet its primary endpoint for change in pulmonaryrelated quality of life scoring at week 4, but improvements in secondary outcomes such as decreased proinflammatory cytokines, decreased coagulation biomarkers, and decreased hospital days were reported (139). Pirfenidone is currently in a phase II clinical trial for post-COVID-19 pulmonary fibrosis (NCT04607928). Nintedanib is also being evaluated in post-COVID fibrosis in several phase III-IV trials (NCT04541680 and NCT04619680). To date, only one clinical trial of a specific TGF-ßi for use during COVID-19 illness has begun and is ongoing. This trial tests the effect of trabedersen, an antisense RNA for TGF-B2 (137). Trabedersen has been repurposed for evaluation in COVID-19, a decade after an initial clinical trial in brain tumors did not show improved outcomes (140). The ongoing phase 2 double blind placebocontrolled trial in South America of hospitalized severe COVID-19 patients involves a 7-day intravenous infusion of trabedersen or placebo in combination with the oral anti-malarial drug artemisinin (which binds to TGF- β R2) (141); results have not been published (NCT04801017).

Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) inhibition will also have direct or indirect effects on other cytokines that should on balance be beneficial during COVID-19 illness. TGF- β 1 drives proinflammatory Th17 cell production (38), and Th17 cell number and activity (including IL-17 and IL-23 secretion) are increased during COVID-19 illness (86, 142). TGF- β 1 also indirectly upregulates HIF-1 α induced genes *via* decreased expression of PHD2, which leads to an increase in intracellular HIF-1 α levels (since PHD2 normally leads to hydroxylation and ubiquitination/destruction of HIF-1 α) (45). Thus, HIF-1 α driven genes such as vascular endothelial growth factor, erythropoietin, heme oxygenase-1, and glucose transporter 1 would be expected to decrease with TGF- β i.

Scope and limitations of using TGF- β inhibitors and antisense RNA agents

The best timing of administration of TGF- β i in this paradigm remains unclear. Existing data suggests that SARS-CoV-2 exploitation of TGF- β and related immune evasion most likely occurs during early infection (week 1) when a milder illness is present. During this early stage, an immune reconstitution driven by TGF- β i administration would strengthen anti-viral immunity and be less likely to have adverse effects. However, even after the onset of fever and a proinflammatory state or cytokine storm in more severe COVID-19 cases (correlating with immune recognition of infection, typically week 2 post-infection), evidence of ongoing TGF- β activity persists-such as IgA antibody class switching, high TGF- β blood levels, Th17 pathway activation, and the onset of lung fibrosis (54, 80, 86, 97, 105, 143). Thus, TGF- β pathway activity may remain high over most of TABLE 3 Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-β) pathway inhibitors (approved, currently in clinical trials, or preclinical) potentially relevant to COVID-19 prevention or treatment.

Drug	Manufacturer	Route	Mechanism	Status diseases	Clinical trials	Clinical trial stage/Findings (as of 8/2022)
GSK3008348	Glaxo	Inhaled	ανβ6 integrin inhibitor	Investigational lung fibrosis	NCT02612051 NCT03069989 NCT02612051	Phase I Ongoing or completed/ Unpublished
PLN-74809	Pliant Therapeutics	Oral	Small molecule ανβ6/ανβ1 integrin inhibitor	Investigational lung fibrosis cholangitis	NCT04072315 NCT04396756 NCT04480840	Phase IIa Ongoing or completed/ Unpublished
MORF-720	Morphic (AbbVie)	Oral	Small molecule ανβ6, 4β7 integrin inhibitors	Pre-clinical fibrosis cancer	NA	NA
LY2157299 (Galunisertib)	Eli Lilly	Oral	Small molecule, TGFβRIi	Investigational cancer	Of 25 trials: NCT02304419 NCT02008318	Phase 1–3 Well-tolerated, benefit seen in phase 2 studies
LY573636 (Tasisulam)	Eli Lilly	IV	Small molecule, TGFβRIi; long half-life	Investigational cancer	Of 13 studies: NCT00992225	Phase 2 Hepatic and marrow toxicity
LY3200882	Eli Lilly	Oral	Small molecule, TGFβRIi	Investigational cancer	Of 4 trials: NCT04031872 NCT02937272	Phase 1–2 Well-tolerated
Vactosertib (TEW7197)	Bristol Myers Squibb (Forbius)	Oral	Small molecule, TGFβRIi	Investigational cancer	Of 17 trials: NCT03074006 NCT04515979	Phase 2 Ongoing or completed/ Unpublished
SRI-35241	Southern Research	IV	Small molecule Inhibits activation of latent TGFβ	Preclinical fibrosis	Preclinical	Preclinical
Epigallocatechin Gallate (ECGC)	Multiple producers	Oral	Green tree extract Catechin Kinase inhibitor	Investigational lung fibrosis many diseases	Of 104 trials: NCT03928847 NCT03928847	Marketed as over-the-counter supplement (FDA approval not required)
AVID200	Bristol Myers Squibb (Forbius)	IV	TGFβ 1/3 trap	Investigational cancer skin fibrosis myelofibrosis	NCT03831438 NCT03834662 NCT03895112	Phase 2 Well-tolerated, biologic effects demonstrated <i>in vivo</i>
Luspatercept	Acceleron (Merck)	SQ	TGFβ trap (ACtRIIb)	FDA-approved myelofibrosis thalassemia	Of 25 trials: NCT02604433 NCT04717414	Marketed after phase 3 trials Improves hemoglobin levels Other indications being tested in clinical trials
Sotatercept (ACE-001)	Acceleron (Merck)	SQ	TGFβ trap (ACtRIIa)	Investigational pulmonary hypertension	Of 21 trials: NCT03496207 NCT04896008	Phase 2
Bintrafusp-α (M7824)	EMD Serrano (Merck-GSK)	IV	Bifunctional Ab: TGFβ-trap, aPDL1	Investigational cancer	Of 46 trials: NCT02517398 NCT04727541	Phase 1–2; ongoing or completed Tolerable (rash, pruritis)
Dalutrafusp-α (GS-1423)	Gilead	IV	Bifunctional Ab: aCD73, TGFβ-Trap	Investigational cancer	NCT03954704	Phase 1, terminated

(Continued)

Drug	Manufacturer	Route	Mechanism	Status diseases	Clinical trials	Clinical trial stage/Findings (as of 8/2022)
Trabedersen AP12009 OT-101	Autotelic (Isarna)	IV topical	Antisense RNA to TGFβ2	Investigational cancer COVID-19 myopia	NCT00844064 NCT00431561 NCT00761280 NCT04801017	Phase 2–3 Ongoing or completed/ Unpublished
ISTH0036	Isarna Therapeutics	Еуе	Antisense RNA to TGFβ1	Investigational glaucoma AMD	NCT02406833	Phase 2, Ongoing
TRK-250	Toray Industries	Inhaled	Antisense RNA to TGFβ1	Investigational Lung fibrosis	NCT03727802	Phase 1, Ongoing
XOMA089	Novartis	IV/SQ	TGFβ 1-3 Ab (all isoforms)	Preclinical	NA	NA
LY2382770	Eli Lilly	SQ	TGFβ1 Ab	Investigational kidney disease	NCT01113801	Phase 2, completed No clinical benefit to date Well-tolerated
Fresolimumab (GC1008)	Sanofi	IV	TGFβ 1-3 Ab (to all isoforms)	Investigational cancer fibrosis	Of 12 trials: NCT00125385 NCT01665391	Phase 2; completed No clinical benefit to date Skin toxicity
SRK-181	Gilead (Scholar-Rock)	IV	Latent-TGFβ1 Ab	Investigational cancer	NCT04291079	Phase 1, Ongoing
NA	Merck (Tilos)	IV	Anti-LAP integrin Ab	Pre-clinical cancer	NA	NA
BG00011 (STX100)	Biogen	SQ	anti-αvβ6 integrin Ab	Investigational Lung fibrosis	NCT01371305	Phase 2, unpublished Trials stopped early 2017
VTX-001	Venn Therapeutics	IV/SQ	anti-αvβ6 integrin Ab	Pre-clinical fibrosis	None to date	NA

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Some pre-clinical agents and other agents with halted development are not shown. Only one drug is FDA-approved (luspatercept), and only one drug is currently in COVID-19 clinical trials (trabedersen). Ab, antibody; ACtRIIa, activin receptor IIa; ACtRIIb, activin receptor IIb; AMD, adult macular degeneration; aPDL1, anti-programmed death ligand 1; IV, intravenous; LAP, latency activating peptide; NA, not applicable; SQ, subcutaneous; TGF- β , transforming growth factor beta; TGF β IR, TGF- β receptor I, also known as ALK5; TGF β R2 trap, Fc-based compound containing copies of TGF- β receptor II; TGF β RIi, TGF- β receptor I inhibitor.

the illness course, particularly in severe cases and during lung fibrosis. During these later inflammatory stages, an immune reconstitution driven by TGF-ßi administration could trigger adverse inflammatory effects. For example, in one study of cancer patients given an antibody to TGF-βRII, a cytokine release syndrome developed that limited further drug development and suggested that immune stimulation occurred with this agent (144). However, such adverse events have been rare with TGF-Bi and may be ameliorated in COVID-19 by concomitant therapies such as steroids and antiinflammatory agents that are already given in hospitalized patients with severe illness requiring oxygen therapy (84, 103). Current studies are insufficient to implicate TGF- β in the "long covid" syndrome, also known as the postacute syndrome of COVID (PASC). However, Colarusso et al. have demonstrated elevated blood levels of TGF-B1 and stimulated blood monocyte release of excessive TGF-B1 in patients with persistent lung abnormalities on computed tomography scans months after clearance of SARS-CoV-2 (97, 98, 145). If clinical trials of TGF-Bi are shown to be effective in acute COVID-19, it will be important to assess their effect on PASC.

Any salutary effects of TGF- β i on COVID-19 induced thrombosis would have to be additional to those already proven for the standard therapeutic anticoagulant heparin (92). Moreover, due to TGF- β 's pluripotent effects on inflammatory and immune mediators, separating out specific TGF- β i effects on thrombosis will be difficult in the greater context of its more direct effects on immune function and inflammation. Moreover, unexpected side effects could occur with TGF- β i given the panoply of genes and processes that TGF- β regulates.

Summary

Thrombosis, inflammation, and immune dysregulation are all key events that contribute to microvascular injury and adverse outcomes during SARS-CoV-2 infection. Increasing evidence suggests that activation of the TGF- β pathway

is a prominent feature of the microvascular clotting and inflammatory injury characteristic of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Given the substantial evolution seen in other viruses and pathogens where enhancement of their fitness is achieved by TGF-B hijacking, a paradigm exists where SARS-CoV-2 elicits initial immune evasion by increasing activation of host TGF-β. Ongoing TGF-β activation then promotes collateral downstream adverse effects during the inflammatory phase of COVID-19 such as continued immune dysregulation, inflammatory injury including Th17 pathway activation, and fibrosis. These reports suggest that TGF-B pathway inhibitors may be a useful approach to improve outcomes in SARS-CoV-2 infection. One such inhibitor is already being tested in a clinical trial of COVID-19, one inhibitor is FDAapproved for another illness, and over a dozen inhibitors are available for repurposing after unsuccessful or ongoing clinical trials in cancer and inflammatory diseases. Evaluation of these inhibitors in animal models of COVID-19 is highly feasible and will be an important first step for "proof of concept" before clinical trials in humans with SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Author contributions

EC and JM created the original figures. All authors wrote the manuscript, edited and contributed to tables and figures, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References

1. Morikawa M, Derynck R, Miyazono K. TGF-beta and the TGF-beta family: context-dependent roles in cell and tissue physiology. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2016) 8:a021873.

2. Kulkarni A, Huh C, Becker D, Geiser A, Lyght M, Flanders K, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (1993) 90:770–4.

3. Sanford L, Ormsby I, Gittenberger-de Groot A, Sariola H, Friedman R, Boivin G, et al. TGFbeta2 knockout mice have multiple developmental defects that are non-overlapping with other TGFbeta knockout phenotypes. *Development.* (1997) 124:2659–70. doi: 10.1242/dev.124.13.2659

4. Kaartinen V, Voncken J, Shuler C, Warburton D, Bu D, Heisterkamp N, et al. Abnormal lung development and cleft palate in mice lacking TGF-beta 3 indicates defects of epithelial-mesenchymal interaction. *Nat Genet.* (1995) 11:415–21. doi: 10.1038/ng1295-415

5. Yoshinaga K, Obata H, Jurukovski V, Mazzieri R, Chen Y, Zilberberg L, et al. Perturbation of transforming growth factor (TGF)-betal association with latent TGF-beta binding protein yields inflammation and tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2008) 105:18758–63. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08054 11105

6. Schultz-Cherry S, Ribeiro S, Gentry L, Murphy-Ullrich J. Thrombospondin binds and activates the small and large forms of latent transforming growth factor-beta in a chemically defined system. *J Biol Chem.* (1994) 269:26775–82.

7. Young G, Murphy-Ullrich J. Molecular interactions that confer latency to transforming growth factor-beta. *J Biol Chem.* (2004) 279:38032–9.

Funding

This work was supported by the NIH HL071618 (JM) and the University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus Chancellor's Fund.

Conflict of interest

JM was the inventor of a pending United States intellectual property patent owned by the University of Colorado entitled "TGF- β 1 inhibitors for preventing and treating SARS-COV-2".

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Mu D, Cambier S, Fjellbirkeland L, Baron J, Munger J, Kawakatsu H, et al. The integrin alpha(v)beta8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMP-dependent activation of TGF-beta1. *J Cell Biol.* (2002) 157:493–507. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200109100

9. Lu M, Munger J, Steadele M, Busald C, Tellier M, Schnapp L. Integrin alpha8beta1 mediates adhesion to LAP-TGFbeta1. *J Cell Sci.* (2002) 115:4641–8. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00145

10. Schultz-Cherry S, Chen H, Mosher D, Misenheimer T, Krutzsch H, Roberts D, et al. Regulation of transforming growth factor-beta activation by discrete sequences of thrombospondin 1. *J Biol Chem.* (1995) 270:7304–10. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.13.7304

11. Munger J, Huang X, Kawakatsu H, Griffiths M, Dalton S, Wu J, et al. The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell.* (1999) 96:319–28.

12. Coker R, Laurent G, Shahzeidi S, Hernandez-Rodriguez N, Pantelidis P, du Bois R, et al. Diverse cellular TGF-beta 1 and TGF-beta 3 gene expression in normal human and murine lung. *Eur Respir J.* (1996) 9:2501–7. doi: 10.1183/ 09031936.96.09122501

13. Brown P, Wakefield L, Levinson A, Sporn M. Physicochemical activation of recombinant latent transforming growth factor-beta's 1, 2, and 3. *Growth Factors*. (1990) 3:35–43. doi: 10.3109/089771990090 37500

14. Travis M, Sheppard D. TGF-beta activation and function in immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2014) 32:51–82.

15. Assoian R, Komoriya A, Meyers C, Miller D, Sporn M. Transforming growth factor-beta in human platelets. Identification of a major storage site, purification, and characterization. *J Biol Chem.* (1983) 258:7155–60.

16. Crawford S, Stellmach V, Murphy-Ullrich J, Ribeiro S, Lawler J, Hynes R, et al. Thrombospondin-1 is a major activator of TGF-beta1 in vivo. *Cell.* (1998) 93:1159–70. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81460-9

17. Maloney J, Narasimhan J, Biller J. Decreased TGF-beta1 and VEGF release in cystic fibrosis platelets: further evidence for platelet defects in cystic fibrosis. *Lung.* (2016) 194:791–8. doi: 10.1007/s00408-016-9925-9

18. Meyer A, Wang W, Qu J, Croft L, Degen J, Coller B, et al. Platelet TGF-beta1 contributions to plasma TGF-beta1, cardiac fibrosis, and systolic dysfunction in a mouse model of pressure overload. *Blood.* (2012) 119:1064–74. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-09-377648

19. Grainger D, Wakefield L, Bethell H, Farndale R, Metcalfe J. Release and activation of platelet latent TGF-beta in blood clots during dissolution with plasmin. *Nat Med.* (1995) 1:932–7. doi: 10.1038/nm0995-932

20. Blakytny R, Ludlow A, Martin G, Ireland G, Lund L, Ferguson M, et al. Latent TGF-beta1 activation by platelets. *J Cell Physiol.* (2004) 199:67–76.

21. Ahamed J, Burg N, Yoshinaga K, Janczak C, Rifkin D, Coller B. In vitro and in vivo evidence for shear-induced activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta1. *Blood.* (2008) 112:3650–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-04-151753

22. Karolczak K, Watala C. Blood platelets as an important but underrated circulating source of TGFbeta. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:4492. doi: 10.3390/ ijms22094492

23. Huber D, Fontana A, Bodmer S. Activation of human platelet-derived latent transforming growth factor-beta 1 by human glioblastoma cells. Comparison with proteolytic and glycosidic enzymes. *Biochem J.* (1991) 277(Pt 1):165–73. doi: 10.1042/bj2770165

24. Lev P, Salim J, Marta R, Osorio M, Goette N, Molinas F. Platelets possess functional TGF-beta receptors and Smad2 protein. *Platelets*. (2007) 18:35–42. doi: 10.1080/09537100600800743

25. Hoying J, Yin M, Diebold R, Ormsby I, Becker A, Doetschman T. Transforming growth factor beta1 enhances platelet aggregation through a non-transcriptional effect on the fibrinogen receptor. *J Biol Chem.* (1999) 274:31008–13. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.43.31008

26. Jablonska E, Markart P, Zakrzewicz D, Preissner K, Wygrecka M. Transforming growth factor-beta1 induces expression of human coagulation factor XII via Smad3 and JNK signaling pathways in human lung fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:11638–51. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.045963

27. Saito M, Ichikawa J, Ando T, Schoenecker J, Ohba T, Koyama K, et al. Plateletderived TGF-beta induces tissue factor expression via the Smad3 pathway in osteosarcoma cells. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2018) 33:2048–58. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.3537

28. Dong C, Zhu S, Wang T, Yoon W, Goldschmidt-Clermont P. Upregulation of PAI-1 is mediated through TGF-beta/Smad pathway in transplant arteriopathy. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. (2002) 21:999–1008.

29. Stukalov A, Girault V, Grass V, Karayel O, Bergant V, Urban C, et al. Multilevel proteomics reveals host perturbations by SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV. *Nature*. (2021) 594:246–52. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03493-4

30. Kim H, Kim P, Bae S, Son H, Thoudam D, Kim J, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta-induced protein (TGFBIp/beta ig-h3) activates platelets and promotes thrombogenesis. *Blood.* (2009) 114:5206–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-212415

31. Tran D, Andersson J, Wang R, Ramsey H, Unutmaz D, Shevach E. GARP (LRRC32) is essential for the surface expression of latent TGF-beta on platelets and activated FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2009) 106:13445–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901944106

32. Lawler J, Sunday M, Thibert V, Duquette M, George E, Rayburn H, et al. Thrombospondin-1 is required for normal murine pulmonary homeostasis and its absence causes pneumonia. *J Clin Invest.* (1998) 101:982–92. doi: 10.1172/JCI1684

33. Li M, Sanjabi S, Flavell R. Transforming growth factor-beta controls development, homeostasis, and tolerance of T cells by regulatory T cell-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Immunity.* (2006) 25:455–71. doi: 10.1016/j. immuni.2006.07.011

34. Barral A, Barral-Netto M, Yong E, Brownell C, Twardzik D, Reed S. Transforming growth factor beta as a virulence mechanism for Leishmania braziliensis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (1993) 90:3442–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.8. 3442

35. Sanjabi S, Oh S, Li M. Regulation of the immune response by TGF-beta: from conception to autoimmunity and infection. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2017) 9:a022236.

36. Batlle E, Massague J. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling in immunity and cancer. *Immunity*. (2019) 50:924–40.

37. Wan Y, Flavell R. 'Yin-Yang' functions of transforming growth factor-beta and T regulatory cells in immune regulation. *Immunol Rev.* (2007) 220:199–213. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2007.00565.x

38. Gutcher I, Donkor M, Ma Q, Rudensky A, Flavell R, Li M. Autocrine transforming growth factor-beta1 promotes in vivo Th17 cell differentiation. *Immunity.* (2011) 34:396–408. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.005

39. Voo K, Wang Y, Santori F, Boggiano C, Wang Y, Arima K, et al. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2009) 106:4793–8.

40. Tsai H, Velichko S, Hung L, Wu R. IL-17A and Th17 cells in lung inflammation: an update on the role of Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17R signaling in host defense against infection. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2013) 2013:267971. doi: 10.1155/2013/267971

41. Lu Y, Sun K, Guo S, Wang J, Li A, Rong X, et al. Early warning indicators of severe COVID-19: a single-center study of cases from Shanghai, China. *Front Med* (*Lausanne*). (2020) 7:432. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00432

42. Peters D, Vadasz I, Wujak L, Wygrecka M, Olschewski A, Becker C, et al. TGF-beta directs trafficking of the epithelial sodium channel ENaC which has implications for ion and fluid transport in acute lung injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2014) 111:E374–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1306798111

43. Pittet J, Griffiths M, Geiser T, Kaminski N, Dalton S, Huang X, et al. TGF-beta is a critical mediator of acute lung injury. J Clin Invest. (2001) 107:1537–44.

44. Yan F, Wang Y, Wu X, Peshavariya H, Dusting G, Zhang M, et al. Nox4 and redox signaling mediate TGF-beta-induced endothelial cell apoptosis and phenotypic switch. *Cell Death Dis.* (2014) 5:e1010. doi: 10.1038/cddis. 2013.551

45. McMahon S, Charbonneau M, Grandmont S, Richard D, Dubois C. Transforming growth factor beta1 induces hypoxia-inducible factor-1 stabilization through selective inhibition of PHD2 expression. *J Biol Chem.* (2006) 281:24171–81. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M604507200

46. Budinger G, Chandel N, Donnelly H, Eisenbart J, Oberoi M, Jain M. Active transforming growth factor-beta1 activates the procollagen I promoter in patients with acute lung injury. *Intensive Care Med.* (2005) 31:121–8. doi: 10.1007/s00134-004-2503-2

47. Fahy R, Lichtenberger F, McKeegan C, Nuovo G, Marsh C, Wewers M. The acute respiratory distress syndrome: a role for transforming growth factor-beta 1. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2003) 28:499–503.

48. Jenkins R, Su X, Su G, Scotton C, Camerer E, Laurent G, et al. Ligation of protease-activated receptor 1 enhances alpha(v)beta6 integrin-dependent TGFbeta activation and promotes acute lung injury. *J Clin Invest.* (2006) 116:1606–14. doi: 10.1172/JCI27183

49. Forel J, Guervilly C, Farnarier C, Donati S, Hraiech S, Persico N, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta1 in predicting early lung fibroproliferation in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *PLoS One*. (2018) 13:e0206105. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206105

50. Khalil N, Parekh T, O'Connor R, Antman N, Kepron W, Yehaulaeshet T, et al. Regulation of the effects of TGF-beta 1 by activation of latent TGF-beta 1 and differential expression of TGF-beta receptors (T beta R-I and T beta R-II) in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Thorax.* (2001) 56:907–15. doi: 10.1136/thorax.56. 12.907

51. Ask K, Bonniaud P, Maass K, Eickelberg O, Margetts P, Warburton D, et al. Progressive pulmonary fibrosis is mediated by TGF-beta isoform 1 but not TGF-beta3. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2008) 40:484–95.

52. Chapman H, Wei Y, Montas G, Leong D, Golden J, Trinh B, et al. Reversal of TGFbeta1-driven profibrotic state in patients with pulmonary fibrosis. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:1068–70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1915189

53. Neubauer E, Poole A, Neubauer P, Detournay O, Tan K, Davy S, et al. A diverse host thrombospondin-type-1 repeat protein repertoire promotes symbiont colonization during establishment of cnidarian-dinoflagellate symbiosis. *Elife.* (2017) 6:e24494. doi: 10.7554/eLife.24494

54. Sterlin D, Mathian A, Miyara M, Mohr A, Anna F, Claer L, et al. IgA dominates the early neutralizing antibody response to SARS-CoV-2. *Sci Transl Med.* (2021) 13:eabd2223.

55. Presser L, Haskett A, Waris G. Hepatitis C virus-induced furin and thrombospondin-1 activate TGF-beta1: role of TGF-beta1 in HCV replication. *Virology.* (2011) 412:284–96. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.051

56. Simmons K, Nde P, Kleshchenko Y, Lima M, Villalta F. Stable RNA interference of host thrombospondin-1 blocks Trypanosoma cruzi infection. *FEBS Lett.* (2006) 580:2365–70. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2006.03.054

57. Schultz-Cherry S, Hinshaw V. Influenza virus neuraminidase activates latent transforming growth factor beta. J Virol. (1996) 70:8624–9.

58. Zhao X, Nicholls J, Chen Y. Severe acute respiratory syndromeassociated coronavirus nucleocapsid protein interacts with Smad3 and modulates transforming growth factor-beta signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2008) 283:3272–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M708033200

59. Omer F, de Souza J, Corran P, Sultan A, Riley E. Activation of transforming growth factor beta by malaria parasite-derived metalloproteinases and a thrombospondin-like molecule. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:1817–27. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20030713

60. Putignani L, Possenti A, Cherchi S, Pozio E, Crisanti A, Spano F. The thrombospondin-related protein CpMIC1 (CpTSP8) belongs to the repertoire of micronemal proteins of Cryptosporidium parvum. *Mol Biochem Parasitol.* (2008) 157:98–101. doi: 10.1016/j.molbiopara.2007.09.004

61. Kumar R, Mickael C, Kassa B, Gebreab L, Robinson J, Koyanagi D, et al. TGFbeta activation by bone marrow-derived thrombospondin-1 causes Schistosomaand hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15494. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15494

62. Kumar R, Mickael C, Kassa B, Sanders L, Hernandez-Saavedra D, Koyanagi D, et al. Interstitial macrophage-derived thrombospondin-1 contributes to hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2019) 116:2021–30. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz304

63. Denney L, Branchett W, Gregory L, Oliver R, Lloyd C. Epithelial-derived TGF-betal acts as a pro-viral factor in the lung during influenza A infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2018) 11:523–35. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.77

64. Bouhaddou M, Memon D, Meyer B, White K, Rezelj V, Correa Marrero M, et al. The global phosphorylation landscape of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Cell.* (2020) 182:685–712.e19.

65. Li Q, Wang Y, Sun Q, Knopf J, Herrmann M, Lin L, et al. Immune response in COVID-19: what is next? *Cell Death Differ*. (2022) 29:1107-22.

66. Wilk A, Rustagi A, Zhao N, Roque J, Martinez-Colon G, McKechnie J, et al. A single-cell atlas of the peripheral immune response in patients with severe COVID-19. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1070–6.

67. Han H, Ma Q, Li C, Liu R, Zhao L, Wang W, et al. Profiling serum cytokines in COVID-19 patients reveals IL-6 and IL-10 are disease severity predictors. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:1123–30.

68. Grant R, Morales-Nebreda L, Markov N, Swaminathan S, Querrey M, Guzman E, et al. Circuits between infected macrophages and T cells in SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. *Nature*. (2021) 590:635–41.

69. Magro C, Mulvey J, Berlin D, Nuovo G, Salvatore S, Harp J, et al. Complement associated microvascular injury and thrombosis in the pathogenesis of severe COVID-19 infection: a report of five cases. *Transl Res.* (2020) 220:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2020.04.007

70. Middleton E, He X, Denorme F, Campbell R, Ng D, Salvatore S, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to immunothrombosis in COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Blood.* (2020) 136:1169–79.

71. Peiris J, Yuen K, Osterhaus A, Stohr K. The severe acute respiratory syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2003) 349:2431–41.

72. Kaminski N, Allard J, Pittet J, Zuo F, Griffiths M, Morris D, et al. Global analysis of gene expression in pulmonary fibrosis reveals distinct programs regulating lung inflammation and fibrosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2000) 97:1778–83.

73. Li S, Wang C, Jou Y, Yang T, Huang S, Wan L, et al. SARS coronavirus papainlike protease induces Egr-1-dependent up-regulation of TGF-beta1 via ROS/p38 MAPK/STAT3 pathway. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:25754. doi: 10.1038/srep25754

74. Li S, Yang T, Wan L, Lin Y, Tsai F, Lai C, et al. Correlation between TGFbeta1 expression and proteomic profiling induced by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus papain-like protease. *Proteomics.* (2012) 12:3193–205. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201200225

75. He L, Ding Y, Zhang Q, Che X, He Y, Shen H, et al. Expression of elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in SARS-CoV-infected ACE2+ cells in SARS patients: relation to the acute lung injury and pathogenesis of SARS. *J Pathol.* (2006) 210:288–97. doi: 10.1002/path.2067

76. Zhang Y, Li J, Zhan Y, Wu L, Yu X, Zhang W, et al. Analysis of serum cytokines in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Infect Immun.* (2004) 72:4410–5.

77. Mann E, Menon M, Knight S, Konkel J, Jagger C, Shaw T, et al. Longitudinal immune profiling reveals key myeloid signatures associated with COVID-19. *Sci Immunol.* (2020) 5:eabd6197.

78. Witkowski M, Tizian C, Ferreira-Gomes M, Niemeyer D, Jones T, Heinrich F, et al. Untimely TGFbeta responses in COVID-19 limit antiviral functions of NK cells. *Nature*. (2021) 600:295–301. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-04142-6

79. Park H, Kim H, Kim H, Yoo Y, Shin H, Choi E, et al. Acetylated K676 TGFBIp as a severity diagnostic blood biomarker for SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. *Sci Adv.* (2020) 6:eabc1564. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abc1564

80. Ferreira-Gomes M, Kruglov A, Durek P, Heinrich F, Tizian C, Heinz G, et al. SARS-CoV-2 in severe COVID-19 induces a TGF-beta-dominated chronic immune response that does not target itself. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:1961. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22210-3

81. Yu H, Sun B, Fang Z, Zhao J, Liu X, Li Y, et al. Distinct features of SARS-CoV-2-specific IgA response in COVID-19 patients. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 56:2001526. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01526-2020

82. Ghazavi A, Ganji A, Keshavarzian N, Rabiemajd S, Mosayebi G. Cytokine profile and disease severity in patients with COVID-19. *Cytokine*. (2021) 137:155323.

83. Sacchi A, Grassi G, Bordoni V, Lorenzini P, Cimini E, Casetti R, et al. Early expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibits SARS-CoV-2 specific T-cell response and may predict fatal COVID-19 outcome. *Cell Death Dis.* (2020) 11:921. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-03125-1

84. WHO Rapid Evidence Appraisal for COVID-19 Therapies (REACT) Working Group, Shankar-Hari M, Vale C, Godolphin P, Fisher D, Higgins J, et al. Association between administration of IL-6 antagonists and mortality among patients hospitalized for COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2021) 326:499–518.

85. Zhang X, Tan Y, Ling Y, Lu G, Liu F, Yi Z, et al. Viral and host factors related to the clinical outcome of COVID-19. *Nature*. (2020) 583:437-40. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2355-0

86. De Biasi S, Meschiari M, Gibellini L, Bellinazzi C, Borella R, Fidanza L, et al. Marked T cell activation, senescence, exhaustion and skewing towards TH17 in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:3434. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-17292-4

87. Shimizu C, Jain S, Davila S, Hibberd M, Lin K, Molkara D, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathway in patients with Kawasaki disease. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet.* (2011) 4:16–25.

88. Dionne A, Son M, Randolph A. An update on multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children related to SARS-CoV-2. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2022) 41:e6–9.

89. Yang Y, Peng F, Wang R, Guan K, Jiang T, Xu G, et al. The deadly coronaviruses: the 2003 SARS pandemic and the 2020 novel coronavirus epidemic in China. *J Autoimmun.* (2020) 109:102434.

90. Moores L, Tritschler T, Brosnahan S, Carrier M, Collen J, Doerschug K, et al. Prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of VTE in patients with coronavirus disease 2019: CHEST guideline and expert panel report. *Chest.* (2020) 158:1143–63. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.05.559

91. Carsana L, Sonzogni A, Nasr A, Rossi R, Pellegrinelli A, Zerbi P, et al. Pulmonary post-mortem findings in a series of COVID-19 cases from northern Italy: a two-centre descriptive study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:1135–40. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30434-5

92. ATTACC Investigators, ACTIV-4A Investigators, REMAP-CAP Investigators, Lawler P, Goligher E, Berger J, et al. Therapeutic anticoagulation with heparin in noncritically Ill patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:790–802.

93. Magro C, Mulvey J, Kubiak J, Mikhail S, Suster D, Crowson A, et al. Severe COVID-19: a multifaceted viral vasculopathy syndrome. *Ann Diagn Pathol.* (2021) 50:151645.

94. Polak S, Van Gool I, Cohen D, von der Thusen J, van Paassen J. A systematic review of pathological findings in COVID-19: a pathophysiological timeline and possible mechanisms of disease progression. *Mod Pathol.* (2020) 33:2128–38.

95. D'Agnillo F, Walters K, Xiao Y, Sheng Z, Scherler K, Park J, et al. Lung epithelial and endothelial damage, loss of tissue repair, inhibition of fibrinolysis, and cellular senescence in fatal COVID-19. *Sci Transl Med.* (2021) 13:eabj7790. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abj7790

96. Vaz de Paula C, Nagashima S, Liberalesso V, Collete M, da Silva F, Oricil A, et al. COVID-19: immunohistochemical analysis of TGF-beta signaling pathways in pulmonary fibrosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 23:168.

97. Colarusso C, Maglio A, Terlizzi M, Vitale C, Molino A, Pinto A, et al. Post-COVID-19 patients who develop lung fibrotic-like changes have lower circulating levels of IFN-beta but higher levels of IL-1alpha and TGF-beta. *Biomedicines.* (2021) 9:1931. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9121931

98. Colarusso C, Terlizzi M, Maglio A, Molino A, Candia C, Vitale C, et al. Activation of the AIM2 receptor in circulating cells of post-COVID-19 patients with signs of lung fibrosis is associated with the release of IL-1alpha, IFN-alpha and TGF-beta. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:934264. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022. 934264

99. Kvedaraite E, Hertwig L, Sinha I, Ponzetta A, Hed Myrberg I, Lourda M, et al. Major alterations in the mononuclear phagocyte landscape associated with COVID-19 severity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2021) 118:e2018587118. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.2018587118

100. Zhang X, Topley N, Ito T, Phillips A. Interleukin-6 regulation of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta receptor compartmentalization and turnover enhances TGF-beta1 signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:12239–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M413284200

101. Fabre T, Kared H, Friedman S, Shoukry N. IL-17A enhances the expression of profibrotic genes through upregulation of the TGF-beta receptor on hepatic stellate cells in a JNK-dependent manner. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:3925–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400861

102. Cucoranu I, Clempus R, Dikalova A, Phelan P, Ariyan S, Dikalov S, et al. NAD(P)H oxidase 4 mediates transforming growth factor-beta1-induced differentiation of cardiac fibroblasts into myofibroblasts. *Circ Res.* (2005) 97:900–7. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000187457.24338.3D

103. Group R, Horby P, Lim W, Emberson J, Mafham M, Bell J, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:693–704.

104. Wen F, Kohyama T, Skold C, Zhu Y, Liu X, Romberger D, et al. Glucocorticoids modulate TGF-beta production. *Inflammation*. (2002) 26:279–90.

105. Ronit A, Berg R, Bay J, Haugaard A, Ahlstrom M, Burgdorf K, et al. Compartmental immunophenotyping in COVID-19 ARDS: a case series. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2021) 147:81–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.09.009

106. Xiong Y, Liu Y, Cao L, Wang D, Guo M, Jiang A, et al. Transcriptomic characteristics of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in COVID-19 patients. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:761–70.

107. Maloney J, Stearman R, Bull T, Calabrese D, Tripp-Addison M, Wick M, et al. Loss-of-function thrombospondin-1 mutations in familial pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2012) 302:L541–54. doi: 10. 1152/ajplung.00282.2011

108. Carvacho I, Piesche M. RGD-binding integrins and TGF-beta in SARS-CoV-2 infections - novel targets to treat COVID-19 patients? *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2021) 10:e1240. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1240

109. Dinnon K III, Leist S, Okuda K, Dang H, Fritch E, Gully K, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection produces chronic pulmonary epithelial and immune cell dysfunction with fibrosis in mice. *Sci Transl Med.* (2022) 14:eabo5070. doi: 10. 1126/scitranslmed.abo5070

110. Gawaz A, Guenova E. Microvascular skin manifestations caused by COVID-19. *Hamostaseologie*. (2021) 41:387–96.

111. Laurence J, Nuovo G, Racine-Brzostek S, Seshadri M, Elhadad S, Crowson A, et al. Premortem skin biopsy assessing microthrombi, interferon type I antiviral and regulatory proteins, and complement deposition correlates with coronavirus disease 2019 clinical stage. *Am J Pathol.* (2022) 192:1282–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath. 2022.05.006

112. Frumholtz L, Bouaziz J, Battistella M, Hadjadj J, Chocron R, Bengoufa D, et al. Type I interferon response and vascular alteration in chilblain-like lesions during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Br J Dermatol.* (2021) 185:1176–85. doi: 10.1111/bjd.20707

113. Wilkinson D, Tsai W, Schumacher M, Barton M. Chromatin-bound p53 anchors activated Smads and the mSin3A corepressor to confer transforminggrowth-factor-beta-mediated transcription repression. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2008) 28:1988–98. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01442-07

114. Varga Z, Flammer A, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel A, et al. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1417–8.

115. Rice L, Padilla C, McLaughlin S, Mathes A, Ziemek J, Goummih S, et al. Fresolimumab treatment decreases biomarkers and improves clinical symptoms in systemic sclerosis patients. *J Clin Invest.* (2015) 125:2795–807. doi: 10.1172/ JCI77958

116. Chen W. A potential treatment of COVID-19 with TGF-beta blockade. Int J Biol Sci. (2020) 16:1954–5. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.46891

117. Uckun F, Saund S, Windlass H, Trieu V. Repurposing anti-malaria phytomedicine artemisinin as a COVID-19 drug. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 12:649532. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.649532

118. Kim B, Malek E, Choi S, Ignatz-Hoover J, Driscoll J. Novel therapies emerging in oncology to target the TGF-beta pathway. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2021) 14:55.

119. Dinnon K III, Leist S, Schafer A, Edwards C, Martinez D, Montgomery S, et al. A mouse-adapted model of SARS-CoV-2 to test COVID-19 countermeasures. *Nature*. (2020) 586:560–6.

120. Imai M, Iwatsuki-Horimoto K, Hatta M, Loeber S, Halfmann P, Nakajima N, et al. Syrian hamsters as a small animal model for SARS-CoV-2 infection and countermeasure development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2020) 117:16587–95.

121. Munoz-Fontela C, Dowling W, Funnell S, Gsell P, Riveros-Balta A, Albrecht R, et al. Animal models for COVID-19. *Nature.* (2020) 586:509–15.

122. Winkler E, Bailey A, Kafai N, Nair S, McCune B, Yu J, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection of human ACE2-transgenic mice causes severe lung inflammation and impaired function. *Nat Immunol.* (2020) 21:1327–35.

123. Morris J, Tan A, Olencki T, Shapiro G, Dezube B, Reiss M, et al. Phase I study of GC1008 (fresolimumab): a human anti-transforming growth factor-beta (TGFbeta) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e90353. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0090353

124. Voelker J, Berg P, Sheetz M, Duffin K, Shen T, Moser B, et al. Anti-TGF-beta1 antibody therapy in patients with diabetic nephropathy. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2017) 28:953–62. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015111230

125. Maden C, Fairman D, Chalker M, Costa M, Fahy W, Garman N, et al. Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of GSK3008348, a novel integrin alphavbeta6 inhibitor, in healthy participants. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2018) 74:701–9. doi: 10.1007/s00228-018-2435-3

126. Kelley R, Gane E, Assenat E, Siebler J, Galle P, Merle P, et al. A phase 2 study of galunisertib (TGF-beta1 receptor type I inhibitor) and sorafenib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol.* (2019) 10:e00056. doi: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000056

127. Farah M, Nelson K, Tetzlaff M, Nagarajan P, Torres-Cabala C, Prieto V, et al. Lichen planus related to transforming growth factor beta inhibitor in a patient with metastatic chondrosarcoma: a case report. *J Cutan Pathol.* (2020) 47:490–3. doi: 10.1111/cup.13645

128. Lacouture M, Morris J, Lawrence D, Tan A, Olencki T, Shapiro G, et al. Cutaneous keratoacanthomas/squamous cell carcinomas associated with neutralization of transforming growth factor beta by the monoclonal antibody fresolimumab (GC1008). *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2015) 64:437–46. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1653-0

129. Cappellini M, Taher A. The use of luspatercept for thalassemia in adults. *Blood Adv.* (2021) 5:326–33.

130. Vincenti F, Fervenza F, Campbell K, Diaz M, Gesualdo L, Nelson P, et al. A Phase 2, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study of fresolimumab in patients with steroid-resistant primary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Kidney Int Rep.* (2017) 2:800–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2017.03.011

131. Strauss J, Gatti-Mays M, Cho B, Hill A, Salas S, McClay E, et al. Bintrafusp alfa, a bifunctional fusion protein targeting TGF-beta and PD-L1, in patients with human papillomavirus-associated malignancies. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2020) 8:e001395. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001395

132. Suto M, Gupta V, Mathew B, Zhang W, Pallero M, Murphy-Ullrich J. Identification of Inhibitors of thrombospondin 1 activation of TGF-beta. *ACS Med Chem Lett.* (2020) 11:1130–6.

133. Welsh B, Faucette R, Bilic S, Martin C, Schurpf T, Chen D, et al. Nonclinical development of SRK-181: an anti-latent TGFbeta1 monoclonal antibody for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors. *Int J Toxicol.* (2021) 40:226–41.

134. Diop-Frimpong B, Chauhan V, Krane S, Boucher Y, Jain R. Losartan inhibits collagen I synthesis and improves the distribution and efficacy of nanotherapeutics in tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2011) 108:2909–14. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018892108

135. van Andel M, Indrakusuma R, Jalalzadeh H, Balm R, Timmermans J, Scholte A, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes of losartan in patients with Marfan syndrome: follow-up of the multicentre randomized controlled COMPARE trial. *Eur Heart J.* (2020) 41:4181–7. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa377

136. Puskarich M, Ingraham N, Merck L, Driver B, Wacker D, Black L, et al. Efficacy of losartan in hospitalized patients with COVID-19-induced lung injury: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2022) 5:e222735. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.2735

137. Jaschinski F, Rothhammer T, Jachimczak P, Seitz C, Schneider A, Schlingensiepen K. The antisense oligonucleotide trabedersen (AP 12009) for the targeted inhibition of TGF-beta2. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol.* (2011) 12:2203–13.

138. Hamidi S, Kadamboor Veethil S, Hamidi S. Role of pirfenidone in TGFbeta pathways and other inflammatory pathways in acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-Cov-2) infection: a theoretical perspective. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2021) 73:712–27. doi: 10.1007/s43440-021-00255-x

139. Zhang F, Wei Y, He L, Zhang H, Hu Q, Yue H, et al. A trial of pirfenidone in hospitalized adult patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019. *Chin Med J* (*Engl*). (2021) 135:368–70. doi: 10.1097/CM9.00000000001614

140. Bogdahn U, Hau P, Stockhammer G, Venkataramana N, Mahapatra A, Suri A, et al. Targeted therapy for high-grade glioma with the TGF-beta2 inhibitor trabedersen: results of a randomized and controlled phase IIb study. *Neuro Oncol.* (2011) 13:132–42. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noq142

141. Tian R, Li Y, Wang X, Li J, Li Y, Bei S, et al. A Pharmacoinformatics analysis of artemisinin targets and de novo design of hits for treating ulcerative colitis. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:843043. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.843043

142. Sadeghi A, Tahmasebi S, Mahmood A, Kuznetsova M, Valizadeh H, Taghizadieh A, et al. Th17 and Treg cells function in SARS-CoV2 patients compared with healthy controls. *J Cell Physiol*. (2021) 236:2829–39.

143. George P, Wells A, Jenkins R. Pulmonary fibrosis and COVID-19: the potential role for antifibrotic therapy. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:807–15.

144. Tolcher A, Berlin J, Cosaert J, Kauh J, Chan E, Piha-Paul S, et al. A phase 1 study of anti-TGFbeta receptor type-II monoclonal antibody LY3022859 in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2017) 79:673–80. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-3245-5

145. Crook H, Raza S, Nowell J, Young M, Edison P. Long covid-mechanisms, risk factors, and management. *BMJ.* (2021) 374:n1648. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1 648
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Luca Spiezia, University of Padua, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Alina Gonzalez-Quevedo, Instituto de Neurología y Neurocirugía, Cuba Angelo Di Vincenzo, University of Padua, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Jialan Shi ⊠ jialan_shi@dfci.harvard.edu; ⊠ shi73661@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 06 October 2022 ACCEPTED 23 January 2023 PUBLISHED 07 February 2023

CITATION

Xiang M, Wu X, Jing H, Novakovic VA and Shi J (2023) The intersection of obesity and (long) COVID-19: Hypoxia, thrombotic inflammation, and vascular endothelial injury. *Front. Cardiovasc. Med.* 10:1062491. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1062491

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Xiang, Wu, Jing, Novakovic and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The intersection of obesity and (long) COVID-19: Hypoxia, thrombotic inflammation, and vascular endothelial injury

Mengqi Xiang¹, Xiaoming Wu¹, Haijiao Jing¹, Valerie A. Novakovic² and Jialan Shi^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Hematology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, Harbin Medical University, Harbin, China, ²Department of Research, Veterans Affairs Boston Healthcare System and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ³Department of Medical Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

The role of hypoxia, vascular endothelial injury, and thrombotic inflammation in worsening COVID-19 symptoms has been generally recognized. Damaged vascular endothelium plays a crucial role in forming in situ thrombosis, pulmonary dysfunction, and hypoxemia. Thrombotic inflammation can further aggravate local vascular endothelial injury and affect ventilation and blood flow ratio. According to the results of many studies, obesity is an independent risk factor for a variety of severe respiratory diseases and contributes to high mechanical ventilation rate, high mortality, and slow recovery in COVID-19 patients. This review will explore the mechanisms by which obesity may aggravate the acute phase of COVID-19 and delay long COVID recovery by affecting hypoxia, vascular endothelial injury, and thrombotic inflammation. A systematic search of PubMed database was conducted for papers published since January 2020, using the medical subject headings of "COVID-19" and "long COVID" combined with the following keywords: "obesity," "thrombosis," "endothelial injury," "inflammation," "hypoxia," "treatment," and "anticoagulation." In patients with obesity, the accumulation of central fat restricts the expansion of alveoli, exacerbating the pulmonary dysfunction caused by SARS-CoV-2 invasion, inflammatory damage, and lung edema. Abnormal fat secretion and immune impairment further aggravate the original tissue damage and inflammation diffusion. Obesity weakens baseline vascular endothelium function leading to an early injury and pre-thrombotic state after infection. Enhanced procoagulant activity and microthrombi promote early obstruction of the vascular. Obesity also prolongs the duration of symptoms and increases the risk of sequelae after hospital discharge. Persistent viral presence, long-term inflammation, microclots, and hypoxia may contribute to the development of persistent symptoms, suggesting that patients with obesity are uniquely susceptible to long COVID. Early interventions, including supplemental oxygen, comprehensive antithrombotic therapy, and anti-inflammatory drugs, show effectiveness in many studies in the prevention of serious hypoxia, thromboembolic events, and systemic inflammation, and are therefore recommended to reduce intensive care unit admission, mortality, and sequelae.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, long COVID, hypoxia, thrombotic inflammation, vascular endothelial injury

Introduction

As we all know, obesity is an independent risk factor for severe or lethal complications of many diseases. Features such as weight load, low-grade inflammation, neuroendocrine factors, metabolic abnormalities, and nursing difficulties all play a role (1-4). The mechanical action of central fat affects the compliance of the respiratory system. Patients with obesity have higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory cells infiltrating adipose tissue, along with leptin resistance and low levels of antiinflammatory adiponectin, which can modulate immune responses, affecting tissues and organs throughout the body. Additionally, obesity is often accompanied by diseases such as insulin resistance, abnormal lipid metabolism, high blood pressure, fatty liver, and coronary heart disease. These are independent risk factors in many diseases and may have additive effects. In the influenza A (H1N1) pandemic, the delayed antiviral response in obese patients exacerbated disease and increased mortality, while prolonged influenza A shedding and chronic inflammation contributed to poor recovery (3, 4). Despite recent worldwide efforts to study the cross-population of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and obesity, little is known about how obesity adversely affects COVID-19 symptoms and long COVID sequelae (5–13).

A large number of cohort and case-control studies have shown that high body mass index (BMI) is a risk factor for increased disease severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients. This is primarily measured as increased prevalence of severe and critical illness, hospitalization rate, mechanical ventilation rate, intensive care unit (ICU) hospitalization rate, and in-hospital mortality (Table 1). In our pooled study, compared with normal-weight individuals, patients with a high BMI had a 1.35-fold increased risk of severe illness and a 2.35-fold increased risk of critical illness (14, 15). Data published by the American Heart Association, which included clinical information of 7,606 confirmed patients, showed that 61% of hospitalized patients were overweight while only 28% were normal weight (9). Individuals who were overweight or obese had a higher risk of invasive mechanical ventilation (IMV), with an adjusted risk ratio (aRR) of 1.12 [95% confidence interval (CI) 1.05-1.19] and 2.08 (95% CI 1.89-2.29), respectively. There was also a strong correlation between increased BMI and death (16). The risk of ICU admission in individuals with obesity ranged from 1.06 to 1.89 (6, 14, 16). In long COVID, higher BMI was associated with longer symptom duration and delayed recovery. Palaiodimos et al. showed that the in-hospital mortality rate of patients with BMI \geq 35 kg/m² was approximately twice that of patients with BMI between 25 and 34 kg/m² (34.8 vs. 17.2%) (17). In another study, aRR for patients with a BMI of 30-34.9 kg/m² was 1.08 (95% CI 1.02-1.14) and 1.61 (95% CI 1.47-1.76) for patients with BMI \geq 45 kg/m² compared to patients of normal weight (16). The obesity rate of non-survivors and survivors was 27.1 and 13.5%, respectively (18). The adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) of prolonged symptoms in patients with BMI 25-30 kg/m² and those with BMI > 30 kg/m² were 1.07 (95% CI 1.04–1.10) and 1.10 (95% CI 1.07–1.14), respectively (11). Individuals with a BMI of $>30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ were less likely to recover within 1 year after discharge (12, 13).

In addition, in acute COVID-19, higher BMI is associated with deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism events. A study showed that after multivariate adjustment analysis, patients with Class II obesity (BMI $35.0-39.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) had a higher risk of thromboembolism than participants with normal BMI [hazard ratio (HR) 2.01, 95% CI 1.30-3.12] (9). Hypoxia, vascular endothelial injury, and thrombotic inflammation play a well-recognized role in exacerbating COVID-19 symptoms. The combination of insufficient cavity ventilation and poor pulmonary perfusion leads to severe respiratory distress symptoms (shortness of breath with the respiratory rate \geq 30 times/min) or respiratory failure (19). Even with prompt mechanical ventilation, there can be a failure to reverse pulmonary conditions due to ventilation-perfusion mismatch (20) whereas maintaining normal oxygen saturation improves survival (21, 22). Biomarkers of vascular endothelial injury and platelet activation [such as von Willebrand factor (vWF) antigen, soluble E-selectin, soluble P-selectin, angiopoietin (Ang) 2, and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1] were maintained at high levels in hospitalized patients, and to a greater extent in ICU patients (23, 24). During the acute phase of COVID-19, pulmonary interstitial inflammatory infiltration and elevated levels of inflammatory markers (such as cytokines, chemokines, lactate dehydrogenase, C-reactive protein, ferritin, and procalcitonin) have also been reported in multiple imaging studies (25-27). Thromboembolic events accelerate the progression to severe disease in COVID-19, and even in recovering patients, microthrombi and pulmonary blood flow restriction have been reported (28, 29). Patients with obesity are more likely to exhibit vascular injury and develop hypoxemia and thrombotic inflammation during the acute phase of COVID-19. Therefore, obesity can aggravate of COVID-19 by affecting endothelial cells, inflammatory response, hypercoagulation, and thrombosis (30, 31). This review focuses on the relationship between hypoxemia, vascular endothelial injury, and thrombotic inflammation, the synergistic effect of obesity and acute COVID-19, the influence of obesity on long COVID, and suggestions for treatment.

Hypoxia, vascular endothelial injury, and thrombotic inflammation in COVID-19

In one study of more than 900,000 COVID-19 patients followed for 90 days, the cumulative incidence of venous thromboembolism ranged from 0.2 to 0.8% and was as high as 4.5% in hospitalized cases (32). Another observational study involving more than 1 million COVID-19 cases showed that SARS-CoV-2 infection significantly increased the risk of thromboembolic events, with a 3fold and 7-fold increase in the risk of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, respectively, even in mild cases, although the risk was greater in severe cases. The heightened risk of venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism lasted as long as 3-6 months (33). Damaged vascular endothelium is a crucial cofactor in forming in situ thrombosis. Biomarkers of endothelial activation and the formation of endothelial-derived extracellular vesicles were consistently observed in both acute and long COVID (23, 34, 35). Injured vascular endothelium exposes collagen, which binds to glycoprotein Ib/IX/V complex on the platelet membrane through the bridging molecule vWF to enhance platelet adhesion. The levels of protective factors (prostacyclin, nitric oxide, and NTPDase-1) decreased, weakening the inhibition of platelet activation, aggregation and expansion, thus forming a pro-thrombotic environment. Activated platelet phenotypes have

TABLE 1 Studies reporting on the outcomes of obese patients with COVID-19.

References	Study population	BMI (kg/m ²)	Outcomes
Simonnet et al. (140)	124 patients admitted to ICU	30 < BMI ≤ 35 (47.6%) BMI > 35 (28.2%)	The proportion of patients requiring mechanical ventilation ($p < 0.01$): BMI > 35 (85.7%) 30 < BMI \leq 35 (75%) 25 < BMI \leq 30 (60.4%) BMI < 25 (47.1%)
Lighter et al. (141)	3,615 SARS-CoV-2 positive patients	$30 \le BMI < 35 (21\%)$ BMI $\ge 35 (16\%)$	Critical disease: BMI of 30–34 is 1.8 times more than normal. BMI > 35 is 3.6 times more than normal.
Cai et al. (142)	383 confirmed inpatients	$\begin{split} 18.5 &\leq \text{BMI} \leq 23.9 \ (53.1\%) \\ 24.0 &\leq \text{BMI} \leq 27.9 \ (32.0\%) \\ \text{BMI} \geq 28 \ (10.7\%) \end{split}$	Probability of developing severe cases: BMI: 18.5–23.9 (19.2%) BMI: 24.0–27.9 (29.3%) BMI \geq 28 (39.0%) (p = 0.001)
Hamer et al. (7)	334,329 cases of samples 640 confirmed inpatients	BMI > 25 (66.6%)	Possibility of hospitalization compared to normal weight: BMI: 25–30 (OR 1.39) BMI: 30–35 (OR 1.70) BMI > 35 (OR 3.3)
Giacomelli et al. (18)	233 confirmed inpatients	BMI > 30 (16.3%)	Obesity rate among survivors (13.5%) Obesity rate among non-survivors (27.1%) Mortality of BMI > 30 (aHR 3.04)
Huang et al. (6)	A summary of 33 articles	Not reported	Univariate analysis of COVID-19 patients with obesity: Risk of hospitalization (OR 1.76, $p = 0.003$) Risk of ICU admission (OR 1.67, $p < 0.001$) Risk of death (OR 1.37, $p = 0.014$) Risk of IMV (OR 2.19, $p < 0.001$)
Palaiodimos et al. (17)	200 confirmed inpatients	BMI < 25 (19%) BMI: 25−34 (58%) BMI ≥ 35 (23%)	In-hospital mortality rate: BMI < 25 (31.6%) BMI: 25-34 (17.2%) $BMI \ge 35 (34.8\%)$ Intubation rate: BMI < 25 (18.4%) BMI: 25-34 (16.4%) $BMI \ge 35 (34.8\%)$
Kass et al. (143)	265 patients admitted to ICU	BMI < 26 (25%) BMI > 34.7 (25%)	Younger individuals admitted to hospital were more likely to be obese.
Bhatraju et al. (144)	24 patients admitted to ICU	BMI: 18–25 (3) BMI: 25–30 (7) BMI > 30 (13)	BMI > 30 (85% required mechanical ventilation and 62% died) BMI < 30 (64% required mechanical ventilation and 36% died)
Petrilli et al. (145)	4,103 confirmed patients	BMI > 30 (26.8%)	Rate of obesity among hospitalized patients: 39.8% BMI > 40 kg/m ² is the biggest risk factor for hospitalization (OR 6.2)
Goyal et al. (<mark>146</mark>)	393 confirmed inpatients	BMI > 30 (35.8%)	Obesity accounted for 43.3% of patients requiring invasive ventilation. Obesity accounted for 31.9% of non-invasive ventilation patients.
Caussy et al. (14)	340 patients with severe condition	BMI > 30 (25%)	After standardization of age and sex, compared to the average French person: The incidence of obesity in severe COVID-19 is 1.35 times higher ($p = 0.0034$). The prevalence of obesity in the ICU is 1.89 times higher ($p = 0.0011$).
Du et al. (15)	109,881 patients with COVID-19 in the meta-analysis	Not reported	The observational studies showed that patients with a BMI \geq 30 kg/m ² were 2.35 times more likely to develop critical COVID-19 and had a 2.68-fold risk for mortality, compared with patients with a BMI < 30 kg/m ² . Random-effects dose-response meta-analysis showed that the incidence of critical cases and mortality augmented by 9 and 6% for each 1 kg/m ² increase in BMI, respectively.
Tartof et al. (147)	6,916 patients with COVID-19	BMI: 18.5–24 ($n = 1,240$) BMI: 25–29 ($n = 2,207$) BMI: 30–39 ($n = 2,537$) BMI: 40–44 ($n = 372$) BMI ≥ 45 ($n = 262$)	Compared with patients with $18.5 \le BMI < 24 \text{ kg/m}^2$, those with BMI of 40–44 kg/m ² and greater than 45 kg/m ² had relative risks of 2.68 and 4.18, respectively.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

References	Study population	BMI (kg/m ²)	Outcomes
Hendren et al. (9)	7,606 patients hospitalized with COVID-19	Underweight, BMI < 18.5 $(n = 194)$ Normal, BMI: 18.5–24.9 $(n = 1,793)$ Overweight, BMI: 25.0–29.9 $(n = 2,308)$ Class I obesity, BMI: 30.0–34.9 $(n = 1,623)$ Class II obesity, BMI: 35.0–39.9 $(n = 846)$ Class III obesity, BMI \geq 40.0 $(n = 842)$	Higher risks of in-hospital death or mechanical ventilation than normal weight group (18.5–24.9 kg/m ²): Class I obesity, BMI 30.0–34.9 kg/m ² (OR 1.28) Class II obesity, BMI 35.0–39.9 kg/m ² (OR 1.57) Class III obesity, BMI \geq 40.0 kg/m ² (OR 1.80)
Kompaniyets et al. (16)	148,494 patients with COVID-19	Underweight, BMI < 18.5 ($n = 79,988$, 2.5%) Healthy weight, BMI: 18.5–24.9 ($n = 829,474, 25.6\%$) Overweight, BMI: 25–29.9 ($n = 936,132$, 28.9%) Obesity, BMI ≥ 30 ($n = 1,397,055, 43.1\%$)	$\label{eq:response} \begin{array}{l} a RRs \mbox{ for hospitalization for patients with different BMI compared} \\ with healthy-weight cohort: \\ Hospitalization: \\ BMI 30-34.9 \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.07 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.05-1.09) \\ BMI \geq 45 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.33 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.30-1.37) \\ Death: \\ BMI 30-34.9 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.08 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.02-1.14) \\ BMI \geq 45 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.61 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.02-1.14) \\ BMI \geq 45 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.06 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.03-1.10) \\ BMI \geq 45 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.16 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.11-1.20) \\ IMV: \\ BMI 25-29.9 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 1.12 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.05-1.19) \\ BMI \geq 45 \ \mbox{ kg/m}^2: 2.08 \ (95\% \ CI \ 1.89-2.29) \\ \end{array}$
Yamashita et al. (10)	1,236 patients with COVID-19	Mean body: 67.6 kg Mean BMI: 24.0 kg/m ²	COVID-19 patients with VTE showed a higher body weight (81.6 vs. 64.0 kg, $p = 0.005$) and BMI (26.9 vs. 23.2 kg/m ² , $P = 0.04$) compared with those without.
Thompson et al. (89)	1.1 million individuals with COVID-19 diagnostic codes in electronic healthcare records	Acute COVID-19 $(n = 1,064,491)$ Not obese $(n = 800,439)$ Obese I, BMI $(30-34.9)$ $(n = 151,782)$ Obese II $(35-39.9)$ $(n = 67,470)$ Obese III $(40+)$ $(n = 44,800)$ Long COVID $(n = 4,189)$ Not obese $(n = 2,694)$ Obese I $(30-34.9)$ $(n = 787)$ Obese II $(35-39.9)$ $(n = 411)$ Obese III $(40+)$ $(n = 297)$	Overweight/obesity was associated with increased odds of symptoms lasting for 4+ weeks (OR 1.24, 95% CI 1.01–1.53) but not with symptoms lasting 12+ weeks specifically (OR 0.95, 95% CI 0.70–1.28).
Subramanian et al. (11)	486,149 adults with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection	BMI < 18.5 (<i>n</i> = 13,261, 2.7%) BMI: 18.5–25 (<i>n</i> = 148,295, 30.5%) BMI: 25–30 (<i>n</i> = 138,771, 28.5%) BMI > 30 (<i>n</i> = 121,943, 25.1%)	Compared with patients with normal BMI, patients with a BMI of 25–30 kg/m ² reported an aHR of 1.07 (95% CI 1.04–1.10) for prolonged symptoms and those with a BMI of $>$ 30 kg/m ² reported an aHR of 1.10 (95% CI 1.07–1.14).
PHOSP-COVID Collaborative Group (12)	924 post-COVID participants who had a 1-year visit	BMI < 30 kg/m^2 ($n = 349, 40.3\%$) BMI $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ($n = 517, 59.7\%$)	In multivariable analysis, BMI \geq 30 kg/m ² (OR 0.50, 95% CI 0.34–0.74, $p = 0.0007$) was an independent factor associated with being less likely to recover at 1 year.
Wynberg et al. (13)	342 COVID-19 patients during the first 12 months after illness onset	Underweight or normal weight, BMI < 25 (140, 41%) Overweight, BMI: 25–30 (108, 32%) Obese, BMI > 30 (82, 24%)	In the 1-year post-COVID recovery study, the obese patients recovered 38% more slowly than participants with normal BMI (aHR 0.62, 95% CI = 0.39–0.97). Recovery was slower in those with a BMI \geq 30 kg/m ² compared to BMI < 25 kg/m ² (HR 0.62, 95% CI = 0.39–0.97).
Xie et al. (99)	18,818 outpatients with COVID-19	Mean BMI: 27.64	In patients with COVID-19, obesity was independently associated with higher risk, with aHR of 1.83 (95% CI, 1.28–2.61).
Lacavalerie et al. (104)	51 chronic post-COVID-19 patients	Non-obese 18, Mean BMI: 25 Obese 33, Mean BMI: 34	Obese patients with chronic COVID-19 develop exaggerated ventilatory drive and impaired oxygenation at peak exercise, lower lung volumes, reduced ventilatory reserve (25 vs. 40, $p = 0.011$) and lower peripheral capillary oxygen saturation (96 vs. 98, $p = 0.036$).

COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; BMI, body mass index; OR, odds ratio; aHR, adjusted hazard ratio; aRRs, adjusted risk ratio; VTE, venous thrombus embolism; CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio.

been observed in convalescent patients after mild SARS-CoV-2 infection (36). Disruption of homeostasis leads to high intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration and the subsequent activation of Ca^{2+} -dependent scramblase on the cell membrane. The resulting increased phosphatidylserine (PS) exposure on the outer membrane of injured vascular endothelial cells promotes activation of the intrinsic tenase complex and the formation of the prothrombinase complex (37,

38). The number of PS⁺ peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients at the initial stage of COVID-19 diagnosis was higher than that of healthy controls (**39**). Moreover, tissue factor (TF) is also decrypted by PS, promoting the activation of the exogenous tenase complex. Anti-TF cannot completely inhibit the coagulation cascade, but lactadherin can inhibit coagulation in multiple ways by competing for PS binding sites (**40**). In the early stages of

COVID-19, immune cells recognize and clear a small amount of virus without inducing severe inflammatory reactions, and laboratory tests show no significant changes or only decreases in peripheral blood white blood cell counts (41). In more severe cases, drastic replication and release of SARS-CoV-2 result in accumulation of immune cells in the lung tissue. Cytokines initiate the associated transduction pathways and trigger a cascade of inflammation that leads to cytokine storms (42–44). In addition, when immune cells remove pathogens, they release a large number of PS⁺ microvesicles. Thrombus and inflammation interact to further damage the vascular endothelium. Fogarty et al. recently reported that significantly elevated intermediate monocytes and activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were associated with sustained EC activation and poor hemostatic function in long COVID (45).

Vascular endothelial dysfunction and structural destruction also contribute to the development of hypoxemia. SARS-CoV-2 enters the alveolar interstitium and infects the capillary endothelial cells at the thin part of the air-blood barrier. The injured capillary endotheliocytes begin to contract and narrow the microcirculation. Moreover, due to the binding of SARS-CoV-2 and angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), the available ACE2 is reduced, and the conversion of Ang II to Ang 1-7 is suppressed, causing vasoconstriction, inflammation promotion, enhanced vascular permeability, and pulmonary edema (46-48). ACE2 knockout mouse models exhibit more severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (49), and ACE2/Ang-(1-7) inhibition has been implicated in endothelial dysfunction or endotheliitis in COVID-19 stroke patients (50). The combination of damaged endothelial cells and vasoconstriction results in stenosis or obstruction in the tiny alveolar capillaries, interfering with normal gas exchange and promoting hypoxemia. Ackermann et al. found extensive alveolar capillary microthrombi, microangiopathy, and perivascular T-cell infiltration in the lungs of patients who died from COVID-19. The incidence of microvascular thrombosis in COVID-19 patients was 9 times higher than that in H1N1 patients (p < 0.001) and the number of new blood vessels was 2.7 times that of H1N1 patients (p < 0.001) (51). Neovascularization, capillary remodeling, microvascular sclerosis, and uneven vessel wall lead to the formation of local eddy currents, which promote platelet activation and PS exposure. Several studies have detected microclots in blood samples from long COVID patients and observed manifestations of poor blood flow in the vessels downstream of microthrombus-blocked capillaries (28, 29). At the same time, hypoxia can further damage the vascular endothelium through the release of free radicals, reactive oxygen species, and lipid hydroperoxide. The resulting decrease in adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-dependent translocation enzyme function influences membrane phospholipid stability and perturbs the normal function of endothelial cells.

Hypoxia and thrombosis can also be mutually aggravating, in addition to having common promoters. Hypoxia reduces ATP production, inhibits ATP-dependent translocase (flippase and floppase), and prevents the reversion of PS into the inner cell membrane. In addition to the vascular endothelial cells, various types of blood cells (such as red blood cells, platelets, neutrophils, lymphocytes, and monocytes) also exhibit abundant PS exposure, upregulating the coagulation cascade and accelerating thrombogenesis. PS is also exposed on the surface of the microvesicles released by these cells during apoptosis. The presence of pulmonary microcirculation thrombosis leads to pulmonary capillary hypertension, which increases the pressure difference between the two sides of the air-blood barrier. Driven by the pressure difference and the damaged alveolar structure, water molecules, albumin, and platelets enter the alveolar cavity, inducing increased blood viscosity and aggravated vascular stasis. In severe cases, macromolecules such as globulins and red blood cells also appear in the alveolar lumen. The increased fluid causes a decrease in the effective alveolar volume and exacerbates dyspnea and hypoxemia.

Obesity and acute COVID-19

Limited alveolar dilatation

In individuals with obesity (especially central obesity), adipose accumulation in the chest wall and abdomen restricts the lungs' expansion and impedes diaphragm movement, resulting in a decrease in lung volume (52, 53). Visceral fat also increases airway resistance. Additionally, since alveolar ventilation and pulmonary blood flow progress from the apex to the bottom of the lung, compression of the lower part has more significant effects on lung function. Studies have shown that obesity itself can lead to respiratory impairment, with decreases in expiratory reserve capacity, functional capacity, forced vital capacity, functional residual capacity, expiratory reserve capacity, and total lung volume (2, 54).

Chronic low-grade inflammation aggravates tissue damage and inflammation diffusion

Wherever SARS-CoV-2 goes, it recruits a variety of immune cells, and later inducing the release of cytokines, including monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-1 (IL-1), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), and IL-6 (55-60). As adipocytes swell to store excess energy, close interactions between adipocytes and host immune cells enhance lipolysis, resulting in abnormal adipocyte secretion (more leptin and less adiponectin), insulin resistance, and persistent low-level inflammation (61-63). Mitochondrial dysfunction and reactive oxygen species production induced by hyperglycemia promote vigorous generation of cytokines (such as TNF-α, IL-1, IL-6, IL-18, and interferon γ) (64, 65). In addition to the increase in proinflammatory mediators, anti-inflammatory regulatory substances (such as adiponectin, IL-4, IL-10, IL-33, and Tregs) are reduced. In terms of host defense, obesity suppresses the adaptive immune system against the influenza virus, suggesting that this could also be true for COVID-19 (Figure 1A; 1, 66). Although the immune system actively clears the pathogens, it does not produce completely specific anti-viral immune response, increasing the likelihood of viral escape. The abnormal obese state throughout the body promotes the inflammatory cascade, endothelial dysfunction and thrombosis, which worsens local tissue damage and facilitates the distant spread of SARS-CoV-2 (62, 67-69). Some scholars have proposed that the imbalance of the intestinal microenvironment and host immune system may mediate infection susceptibility in obese individuals (70).



FIGURE 1

Pathophysiological changes of air-blood barrier in obese patients with COVID-19. (A) Adipose tissue has the potential to serve as a reservoir for SARS-CoV-2. (B) Immunocytes infiltrate adipose tissue, producing inflammatory mediators and adipokines, accompanied by a weakened specific immune response. (C) Under the combined effects of virus invasion, inflammation of adipocytes and lipid deposition, vascular endothelial destruction occurs prematurely, and the vascular wall structure is destroyed. The expression of protease activated receptor 1 (PAR-1), tissue factor (TF), P selectin, and phosphatidylserine (PS) on endothelial cells is up-regulated. (D) PS exposure on vascular endotheliocyte, erythrocyte, platelet, neutrophil, and lymphocyte appears earlier and participates in thrombosis. Adapted from "Adipocyte (white)," by BioRender.com (2022). Retrieved from https://app.biorender.com/biorender-templates.

Endothelial dysfunction induces a pre-existing damaged and prothrombotic state

The primary function of vascular endothelial cells is to ensure unobstructed blood flow and maintain a barrier between the circulatory system and surrounding tissues. However, in patients with obesity, the level of adiponectin and nitric oxide is too low to effectively maintain this ordinary protective function. Because of obesity-related chronic inflammation, immunocytes infiltrate adipose tissue and release inflammatory factors, exerting adverse effects on peripheral vascular endothelial cells (5). Additionally, the high incidence of hyperlipidemia (increased low-density lipoprotein, triglyceride, and cholesterol) results in atherosclerotic plaque formation that renders the underlying vascular endothelium more susceptible to damage (46). Overall, although individuals with obesity have relatively mild endothelial dysfunction which rarely causes severe adverse effects, this impaired protective effect leaves them more susceptible to developing severe complications from other diseases. Under the dual impact of obesity and SARS-CoV-2, viruses can more easily invade vascular endotheliocytes due to early phase weakening of the air-blood barrier. As the disease progresses to the middle stages, endothelial dysfunction becomes prominent, leading to more vulnerable and rigid pulmonary vessels (**Figure 1B**). Hypoxemia is further exacerbated by pulmonary edema caused by the enhanced permeability of the alveolar membrane. Although endothelial change is not specific, endothelium-induced thrombosis plays a significant role in COVID-19 (71). Vascular endothelium expresses more protease activated receptor 1 (PAR-1), TF, P selectin, and membrane PS, and releases microvesicles, vWF, and clotting factor VIII (72). This alteration, together with increased soluble thrombomodulin and the surface chemokines, causes platelet overactivation and thrombosis (73).

Enhanced procoagulant activity blocks vascular perfusion

After adjustment for age, sex, and race/ethnicity, class II obesity (BMI 35.0-39.9 kg/m²) was associated with a higher risk of thromboembolism compared with normal BMI (HR 2.01, 95% CI 1.30-3.12) (9). A retrospective multicenter cohort study showed that the BMI of COVID-19 patients with venous thrombus embolism (VTE) (26.9 vs. 23.2 kg/m², p = 0.04) was higher than that of patients without VTE (10). Autopsy results showed fibrin deposition and thrombosis in both macro and micro pulmonary vessels. In patients with obesity, increased levels of fibrinogen, vWF and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 causes hypercoagulability (66, 74). Endothelial cell dysfunction appears prematurely under the effect of high inflammation promoted by both obesity and SARS-CoV-2, further inducing PS exposure on the outer layer of endotheliocytes and forming microthrombi (Figure 1C). It has been reported that most of the PS⁺ microvesicles in COVID-19 patients are from the endothelium and platelets (75). Althaus et al. found higher levels of PS exposure on platelets from ICU patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection than in the non-severe group, and that PS exposure was associated with organ failure and elevated D-dimer (76). Because of the high viscosity and slow blood flow in patients with obesity, platelets are more likely to adhere to vascular endothelial cells and participate in coagulation function. In addition, the surrounding inflammatory state caused by the infiltration of immune cells into adipocytes damages the vascular endothelium, increasing the prevalence of procoagulant platelets, leading to thrombin formation. More importantly, these microthrombi can contribute to extrapulmonary thrombosis, leading to ischemia and necrosis of the corresponding organs (77). In addition, excess fat tissue produces high levels of angiotensin, which is rapidly converted into Ang II. Ang II accumulation changes local hemodynamics primarily through pulmonary vasoconstriction, constituting a prethrombus environment (78). In the later stage, fibrinolysis is inhibited by the depletion of fibrinolytic factors, decreasing the clearance of cross-linked fibrin and thrombi (79, 80). As a result of early blocked pulmonary blood perfusion, ineffective luminal ventilation occurs even while the alveolar structure is undamaged. Later, after diffuse alveolar injury, there is a lower proportion of air-blood exchange.

Obesity and long COVID

Viral persistence

Adipose tissue has the potential to serve as a reservoir for viruses (**Figure 1D**). Damouche et al. detected replicative human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in adipose $CD4^+$ T cells in six patients with antiretroviral therapy-controlled HIV, which contributing to viral persistence and long-term immune activation (81, 82). Another study in mice infected with H5N1 has found high virus titers in adipose tissue, including tissue attached to thymus, spleen, kidney, and heart (83). Evidence of SARS-CoV-2 infecting adipose tissue has also been found in patients with COVID-19. Martínez-Colón et al. have detected SARS-CoV-2 in adipose tissue around the heart and intestines of patients who died from COVID-19. In vitro experiments in which adipose tissue was cultured with SARS-CoV-2-containing solution showed that the virus infected and replicated within adipocytes (84). It is controversial whether adipose tissue mediates SARS-CoV-2 infection through the high expression of ACE2 (85, 86). Some studies have proposed that ACE2 RNA can occasionally be detected in fresh mature adipocytes, although no ACE2 protein is detected, suggesting that there may be other ways to mediate viral invasion (84, 87, 88). However, the detrimental effects of obesity on recovery from COVID are widely recognized. Overweight/obesity was associated with increased odds of symptoms lasting for 4+ weeks in longitudinal studies [odds ratio (OR) 1.24, 95% CI 1.01-1.53], and long COVID code in electronic health records (OR 1.31, 95% CI 1.21-1.42) (89). A retrospective matched-cohort study showed that patients with $BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ had a 10% relative increased risk (aHR 1.10, 95% CI 1.07-1.14) of reporting prolonged symptoms compared to patients with a normal BMI (11). The PHOSP-COVID Collaborative Group found that obesity (patients with BMI $> 30 \text{ kg/m}^2 \text{ vs. BMI} < 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$) is an independent factor associated with not feeling fully recovered 1 year after hospital discharge in both severe (70.8 vs. 29.2%) and very severe recovery clusters (64.0 vs. 36.0%) (12). In the 1-year post-COVID recovery study, the patients with obesity recovered 38% more slowly than participants with normal BMI, when controlling for the effects of age, sex, and comorbidities (aHR 0.62, 95% CI 0.39-0.97) (13). These finding raise the possibilities of exploring the specificity of long COVID symptoms in patients with obesity. More research is needed into whether adipose tissue provides a reservoir for the virus to re-emerge from during long COVID.

Long-term inflammation

The cytokine storm induced during the acute phase by SARS-CoV-2 can develop into long-term systemic inflammation (65, 90, 91). At autopsy, infection-driving inflammation was found in almost all SARS-CoV-2-infected adipose tissue samples (84). The virus infects the immune cells in the adipose tissue and recruits a large number of inflammatory mediators, affecting the surrounding normal cells and causing inflammation to spread. Studies of high-resolution computed tomography lung scans of individuals recovering from COVID 6-12 months after discharge commonly showed ground-glass opacity (GGO) associated with pulmonary inflammatory exudation (92, 93). A prospective observational study demonstrated that higher C-reactive protein concentration was related to the more severe post-hospital cohort, and IL-6 was significantly increased in the moderate disease cluster compared with the mild cohort. Systemic inflammatory characteristics (e.g., serum C-reactive protein concentration > 5 mg/L) have no overall change between 5 months and 1 year (81.1 vs. 79.7%) (12) post-infection. In HIV infection, adipose tissue is thought to be a contributing factor to chronic immune activation/inflammation, with macrophages and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in adipose tissue showing intense activation characteristics (81). Adipocytes and immune cells, acting as inflammatory partners, are also likely to promote and perpetuate persistent inflammation in long COVID (94-96). Moreover, the vascular endothelium of patients with obesity has a high risk of injury

due to lipid deposition, and the presence of microthrombi stimulates the vascular wall, facilitating the formation of aseptic inflammation.

Microclots

Although difficult to detect, the formation of microthombi can have a severe detrimental effect on microcirculation and can contribute to organ dysfunction such as impairment of respiratory function and renal function injury. Pretorius et al. detected fibrin amyloid microclots and activated platelets in blood samples from all 80 enrolled long COVID individuals by fluorescence microscopy (28). A prospective cohort study that analyzed hematological data from patients discharged from hospital with COVID-19 showed a decrease in mean D-dimer at 60 days of discharge compared with admission, but still elevated above baseline (900.71 vs. 1,350) (97). Townsend et al. evaluated coagulation markers in patients 4 months after initial COVID-19 diagnosis and statistically showed that 25.3% of patients had elevated D-dimer levels (>500 ng/ml), although prothrombin time and activated partial thromboplastin time returned to normal in >90% of patients (98). However, in many cases, microthrombus cannot be ruled out even if coagulation and thrombus-related indicators are normal. It has been reported that, while the results of blood tests and lung X-rays were basically normal, SPECT/CT of discharged patients indicated poor pulmonary blood flow caused by microthrombi blocking the microcirculation (29). Microclots are not easy to be detected. Often, when laboratory and imaging results are abnormal, microclots have affected organ function and need to be removed quickly. Therefore, it is necessary to focus on the indicators that may be related to the prothrombotic state to prevent the formation of microthrombi. Several studies have shown increased levels of vascular endothelial activation markers in long COVID (such as vWF antigen, vWF propeptide, and soluble thrombomodulin). In vitro studies have shown that convalescent plasma can damage vascular endothelial cells suggesting that the vascular endothelial cells can be continuously activated and in a pro-thrombotic state (34, 35). McCafferty et al. consistently observed that in samples from patients both in the acute and long COVID contained platelets with an activated phenotype (expressing activation markers CD62P and PAC1) (36). High PS level is also associated with poor prognosis in the convalescent period. It is reported that the levels of PS⁺ microvesicles⁺ peripheral blood mononuclear cells in the blood of patients with long COVID-19 are higher than those in the healthy cohort (39). Higher BMI was associated with deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, and Xie et al. showed that individuals with obesity were at higher clinical risk for post-COVID-19 VTE events than non-obese patients (aHR 1.83, 95% CI 1.28-2.61) (99).

Hypoxia

Cardiopulmonary response to exercise may remain limited after hospital discharge in COVID-19 patients with obesity. Under the influence of airflow, fluid in the alveoli evaporates, leaving plasma proteins to form hyaline membranes, which can eventually develop into lung fibrosis and consolidation (20, 100). Studies have shown that convalescent patients still have symptoms of dyspnea, radiographic findings of interstitial lung infiltration and GGO, and impaired lung function at 1 year after discharge. In these individuals, the proportion of the diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide < 80% is associated with disease severity (92, 93, 101-103). Patients admitted with nasal catheters or mechanical ventilation were more likely to have diffusion disorders after discharge than patients who did not require supplemental oxygen (OR 4.60) (93). Meanwhile, obesity can have additional effects on the pulmonary sequelae in long COVID. Analysis of an observational study found that patients with obesity and chronic COVID-19 displayed exaggerated ventilatory drive and impaired oxygenation at peak exercise, accompanied by lower lung volume, decreased ventilation reserve (25 vs. 40, p = 0.011), and lower peripheral capillary oxygen saturation values (96 vs. 98, p = 0.036) 6 months after hospital discharge (104). The PHOSP-COVID Collaborative Group compared patient-reported outcomes between 5 months and 1 year and demonstrated that FEV1% < 80% predicted only minimal change, while cognitive impairment significantly improved (12). Compared with non-COVID-19 participants with obesity, post-COVID patients with obesity had significantly reduced oxygen pulse (66 vs. 76, p = 0.003), indicating poor cardiac function in convalescence (104). Both hypoxia and thrombotic inflammation can affect myocardial metabolism, resulting in loss of normal systolic and diastolic functions of the damaged myocardium, pulmonary congestion, and insufficient systemic circulation blood volume. Furthermore, due to the reduced effective lung volume, the blood in the pulmonary microcirculation cannot adequately carry oxygen, inducing reduced oxygen saturation. These effects may persist into the recovery period.

Therapy

Respiratory support

Hendren et al. showed that COVID-19 participants who were overweight and class I to III obese had a higher risk of requiring mechanical ventilation after multivariate analysis (OR 1.28, 1.54, 1.88, and 2.08, respectively) (9). In a Seattle study of 105 hospitalized patients with COVID-19, the survival rate was 98.9% in patients with oxygen saturation greater than 90%, while only 35 in 51 (68.63%) patients with arterial oxygen saturation < 90% survived. Ensuring sufficient blood oxygen saturation can effectively improve the survival rate of patients (21, 22). However, ventilation does not remove the etiological factors or produce lung healing; it merely keeps patients alive until their biological mechanisms can overcome SARS-CoV-2 (101). Many COVID-19 patients have almost no difficulty breathing until arterial oxygen partial pressure drops below 60 mmHg. The resulting dyspnea and shortness of breath are common symptoms which prompt patients' initial visit, and thus the patient's condition is often remarkably advanced (105-107). With further progression, pulmonary hyaline membrane or lung consolidation complicate gas exchange even with ventilation support (108). Therefore, even patients with mild symptoms should receive oxygen inhalation through a nasal catheter at 5 L/min upon admission, to maintain at least 95% peripheral oxygen saturation (21, 109, 110). In more serious cases, oxygen storage mask (initial flow 8-15 L/min) should be utilized and if there is no improvement after 1-2 h, progressive treatments [such as High-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy, non-invasive ventilation, invasive ventilation, and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation

(ECMO)] should be performed (111). In patients with obesity, particular attention should be paid to suitable methods (ECMO is contraindicated in patients with BMI > 45 kg/m²) and the risk of iatrogenic infection due to mechanical ventilation. Without the moisture and temperature regulation effects of nasal mucosa, inhaled gas can exert intense irritation to the airway, making it prone to infection. Nursing difficulties and persistent inflammatory state can both contribute to increased susceptibility to associated infection.

Comprehensive antithrombotic therapy

A study involving 176,137 hospitalized COVID-19 cases found a difference in case fatality between patients with and without pulmonary embolism (28.7 vs. 17.7%) (112). In addition to directly affecting microcirculation, thrombosis can also lead to increased local intravascular pressure, aggravated pulmonary exudation, and pulmonary dysfunction. Severe hypoxemia and pulmonary hypertension can even lead to myocardial dysfunction. Therefore, it is possible to prevent disease progression if comprehensive treatment can be taken early in the disease to relieve the hypercoagulable state (including antiplatelet and anticoagulation), and if necessary to dissolve (micro) thrombi (113, 114). Early comprehensive antithrombotic therapies aim to maintain unobstructed blood flow and ensure adequate alveolar blood perfusion, without resulting in pulmonary arterial hypertension. It also seeks to delay the onset of pulmonary edema, thereby reducing the incidence of respiratory distress and respiratory failure. Unobstructed blood circulation also promotes the clearance of viruses and damaged blood cells, thus inhibiting the spread of inflammatory reactions and preventing disease progression. When the damaged vascular endothelium results in the exposure of basement membrane collagen, platelets react to the endothelium injury, interweave with fibrin, and become the starting point of thrombus formation. Inhibition of platelet adhesion, aggregation, and release can also be used as therapeutic targets, through the use of aspirin (75-100 mg/d), clopidogrel (75 mg, qd), and dipyridamole (100 mg, tid), thereby inhibiting the formation of intrinsic and extrinsic tenase and prothrombinase complexed caused by PS exposure on outer cell membranes (115). Santoro et al. found that in-hospital use of antiplatelet drugs was associated with lower mortality after multivariate adjustment [relative risk (RR) 0.39, 95% CI 0.32–0.48, p < 0.01] (116). Anticoagulant drugs, which are the most commonly used and studied drugs in clinical practice, can prevent thrombosis by inhibiting coagulation factors and activating antithrombin III. Results from multiple randomized controlled trials have shown that the use of therapeutic heparin in noncritically hospitalized COVID-19 patients reduces the number of days requiring organ support, the incidence of VTE and 28-day mortality events, and the proportion requiring respiratory support or IMV, compared with standard-dose thromboprophylaxis cohorts (117-120). However, a similar meta-analysis of non-critically ill patients with COVID-19 found that therapeutic thromboprophylaxis had a higher incidence of bleeding than standard-dose anticoagulation, including major bleeding (HR 1.86, 95% CI 1.04-3.33) and minor bleeding (HR 5.23, 95% CI 1.54-17.77) (121). Using thrombotic events (arterial and/or venous) as the primary endpoint, Spyropoulos et al. found a benefit of therapeutic anticoagulation in non-critically ill patients with elevated D-dimer (RR 0.46, 95% CI 0.27-0.81) (119). High D-dimer levels can predict poor prognosis of COVID-19. D-dimer levels have been found to be generally higher in critically ill patients than in mild patients (2.4 vs. 0.5 mg/L) (122). Standard doses of thromboprophylaxis are recommended for adults who are critically ill during hospitalization (123). Although guidelines for clinical inpatients recommend only standard or therapeutic doses, intermediate doses (defined as low molecular weight heparin bid or increased weight-based dosing that is less than the recommended therapeutic dose) are often used in clinical trials (123, 124). Drug distribution and metabolic clearance in patients with obesity may necessitate adjustments to dosing. The clinical effect of moderately increasing anticoagulant dose still needs to be investigated by highquality trials (78, 125). For patients with body weight > 90 kg or BMI \geq 30 kg/m², enoxaparin 30–40 mg bid or UFH 7500 IU bid/tid can be used as a prophylactic dose, and enoxaparin can be used at a therapeutic dose of 1mg/kg bid. With regard to treatment of outpatients with COVID-19, there is currently no evidence to support the routine use of antithrombotic agents such as aspirin, factor Xa inhibitors, or low molecular weight heparin for the prevention of arterial/venous thrombosis or COVID-19 progression, and several studies were stopped early due to lower-than-expected primary event rates (126). Currently, the omicron variant is milder in pathogenicity, with a lower hospitalization rate, lower mortality rate, and shorter duration of acute symptoms than the delta variant, but with rapid bronchial replication and high transmissibility (127, 128). In the new round of COVID-19 transmission led by omicron variant, in addition to high-risk groups such as the elderly and people with underlying diseases or immune deficiencies, individuals with obesity (BMI \geq 30) are also more likely to develop critical illness than the general population. For those without anticoagulant contraindications, the time of anticoagulation should be seized. Timely and sufficient anticoagulant treatment can effectively relieve hypercoagulability, prevent the occurrence of symptomatic thrombotic events, and improve the prognosis of patients with obesity.

Other treatments

Systemic corticosteroids are recommended for patients with severe and critical illness but should be used with caution in patients with diabetes or underlying immune deficiency (129). In a randomized, controlled clinical study, dexamethasone (6 mg per day for 10 days) reduced mortality in patients requiring oxygen support, both on IMV (29.3 vs. 41.4%; RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.51-0.81) and non-IMV (23.3 vs. 26.2%, RR 0.82, 95% CI 0.72-0.94) (130). Intravenous dexamethasone plus standard care increased the number of ventilator-free days within 28 days in patients with COVID-19 related acute respiratory distress syndrome (6.6 vs. 4.0, p = 0.04) (131). Tocilizumab (4-8 mg/kg IV, single dose) is also recommended as an anti-inflammatory drug in many guidelines and is usually recommended in patients with peripheral capillary oxygen saturation \leq 94% on room air and CRP \geq 75 mg/L. It inhibits IL-6 signaling by reducing the binding of soluble and membranebound receptors (sIL-6R and mIL-6R) of IL-6 to block T cell activation, plasmocyte immunoglobulin secretion, and macrophage activity (132-134). Results of a meta-analysis showed a 12% reduction in mortality in the tocilizumab group compared with a control group that did not receive tocilizumab (RR 0.27, 95% CI 0.12-0.59) (135). JAK inhibitors (such as baricitinib), which blocks the signaling of inflammatory and immune responses, is also used in severely ill patients with pneumonia and hypoxia (136). Other medications may also be considered. Remdisivir, an adenosine analog, binds to

new strands of viral RNA and leads to premature termination of virus replication, improving recovery and reducing adverse events (137). Statins, which improve immune system function and fight inflammation and oxidative stress, could also be an option in the treatment of COVID-19 (138). Cytokine storm is associated with a higher risk of multiple organ failure and death. During severe and critical episodes, anti-granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and IL-6 inhibitors can reduce inflammation severity, clear cytokines, and reduce disease risk (139). While it is possible to target cytokine storms in theory, it does not play a significant role in clinical practice and can be used as a complementary therapy (64).

Precaution

Patients with obesity are more likely to experience hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes before admission, and the incidence of various comorbidities is high during their hospitalization. It is unlikely that even prompt treatment after hospital admission can normalize the rate of mechanical ventilation and the ICU occupancy in patients with obesity to the level of normal-weight patients. Therefore, for patients with obesity, daily weight management before COVID-19 diagnosis is critical in preventing COVID-19 and mitigating risk. A healthy diet and proper exercise help support immune health. As with everyone else, use of personal protective equipment and avoiding crowds are also important risk reducing strategies.

Conclusion

The ongoing worldwide epidemic of COVID-19 is a problem that every country faces. Preventing the progression of COVID-19 to severe disease and reducing the incidence of sequelae are two major priorities for disease management. COVID-19 patients with obesity exhibit increased thrombotic inflammation and hypoxia, which are associated with mechanical compression, persistent inflammation, vascular endothelial damage, and hypercoagulable state. Obesity also contributes to the development and persistence of sequelae in long COVID, and may be involved in persistent viral presence, chronic inflammation, microclots, and hypoxemia, although reliable evidence

References

1. Sattar N, McInnes IB, McMurray JJV. Obesity is a risk factor for severe COVID-19 infection: multiple potential mechanisms. *Circulation*. (2020) 142:4–6. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.047659

2. Peters U, Suratt BT, Bates JHT, Dixon AE. Beyond BMI: obesity and lung disease. Chest. (2018) 153:702-9. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.07.010

3. Rubin R. Obesity and influenza A shedding. JAMA. (2018) 320:1230. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13078

4. Honce R, Schultz-Cherry S. Impact of obesity on influenza A virus pathogenesis, immune response, and evolution. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1071. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2019.01071

5. Sharma A, Garg A, Rout A, Lavie CJ. Association of obesity with more critical illness in COVID-19. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2020) 95:2040–2. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.06.046

6. Huang Y, Lu Y, Huang YM, Wang M, Ling W, Sui Y, et al. Obesity in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Metabolism.* (2020) 113:154378. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154378

from larger, high-quality studies is still needed. Although vaccines are important in preventing severe disease, effective treatment of COVID-19 is still critical, given continued viral mutation and the limited effectiveness of vaccines. Early intervention, including timely oxygen supplementation, prevention of microthrombi, and relief of the spread and persistent effects of inflammation can prevent or reverse disease progression and reduce the occurrence of sequelae.

Author contributions

MX wrote the manuscript and drew the figure and table. XW and HJ searched the manuscript and provided comments. JS proposed the project, designed the study, and revised the structure. VN reviewed the text and polished the language. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We thank all participants for their contribution to our study and the reviewers for the suggestions provided. The figure was created with BioRender.com.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Hamer M, Gale CR, Kivimäki M, Batty GD. Overweight, obesity, and risk of hospitalization for COVID-19: a community-based cohort study of adults in the United Kingdom. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2020) 117:21011–3. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 2011086117

8. Stefan N, Birkenfeld AL, Schulze MB, Ludwig DS. Obesity and impaired metabolic health in patients with COVID-19. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2020) 16:341–2. doi: 10.1038/s41574-020-0364-6

9. Hendren NS, de Lemos JA, Ayers C, Das SR, Rao A, Carter S, et al. Association of body mass index and age with morbidity and mortality in patients hospitalized with COVID-19: results from the American heart association COVID-19 cardiovascular disease registry. *Circulation*. (2021) 143:135–44. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.05 1936

10. Yamashita Y, Maruyama Y, Satokawa H, Nishimoto Y, Tsujino I, Sakashita H, et al. Incidence and clinical features of venous thromboembolism in hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Japan. *Circ J.* (2021) 85:2208–14. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-21-0169

11. Subramanian A, Nirantharakumar K, Hughes S, Myles P, Williams T, Gokhale KM, et al. Symptoms and risk factors for long COVID in non-hospitalized adults. *Nat Med.* (2022) 28:1706–14. doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01909-w

12. PHOSP-COVID Collaborative Group. Clinical characteristics with inflammation profiling of long COVID and association with 1-year recovery following hospitalisation in the UK: a prospective observational study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2022) 10:761–75. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(22)00127-8

13. Wynberg E, van Willigen HDG, Dijkstra M, Boyd A, Kootstra NA, van den Aardweg JG, et al. Evolution of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) symptoms during the first 12 months after illness onset. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2022) 75:e482–90. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab759

14. Caussy C, Pattou F, Wallet F, Simon C, Chalopin S, Telliam C, et al. Prevalence of obesity among adult inpatients with COVID-19 in France. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2020) 8:562–4. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30160-1

15. Du Y, Lv Y, Zha W, Zhou N, Hong X. Association of body mass index (BMI) with critical COVID-19 and in-hospital mortality: a dose-response meta-analysis. *Metabolism.* (2021) 117:154373. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154373

16. Kompaniyets L, Goodman AB, Belay B, Freedman DS, Sucosky MS, Lange SJ, et al. Body mass index and risk for COVID-19-related hospitalization, intensive care unit admission, invasive mechanical ventilation, and death - United States, march-december 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* (2021) 70:355–61. doi: 10.15585/mmwr. mm7010e4

17. Palaiodimos L, Kokkinidis DG, Li W, Karamanis D, Ognibene J, Arora S, et al. Severe obesity, increasing age and male sex are independently associated with worse in-hospital outcomes, and higher in-hospital mortality, in a cohort of patients with COVID-19 in the Bronx, New York. *Metabolism.* (2020) 108:154262. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2020.154262

18. Giacomelli A, Ridolfo AL, Milazzo L, Oreni L, Bernacchia D, Siano M, et al. 30day mortality in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 during the first wave of the Italian epidemic: a prospective cohort study. *Pharmacol Res.* (2020) 158:104931. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104931

19. Archer SL, Sharp WW, Weir EK. Differentiating COVID-19 pneumonia from acute respiratory distress syndrome and high altitude pulmonary edema: therapeutic implications. *Circulation*. (2020) 142:101–4. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120. 047915

20. Maiuolo J, Mollace R, Gliozzi M, Musolino V, Carresi C, Paone S, et al. The contribution of endothelial dysfunction in systemic injury subsequent to sars-cov-2 infection. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:9309. doi: 10.3390/ijms21239309

21. Xie J, Covassin N, Fan Z, Singh P, Gao W, Li G, et al. Association between hypoxemia and mortality in patients with COVID-19. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2020) 95:1138–47. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.04.006

22. Attaway AH, Scheraga RG, Bhimraj A, Biehl M, Hatipoðlu U. Severe covid-19 pneumonia: pathogenesis and clinical management. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n436. doi: 10.1136/ bmj.n436

23. Goshua G, Pine AB, Meizlish ML, Chang CH, Zhang H, Bahel P, et al. Endotheliopathy in COVID-19-associated coagulopathy: evidence from a single-centre, cross-sectional study. *Lancet Haematol.* (2020) 7:e575–82. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20) 30216-7

24. Vassiliou AG, Keskinidou C, Jahaj E, Gallos P, Dimopoulou I, Kotanidou A, et al. ICU admission levels of endothelial biomarkers as predictors of mortality in critically ill COVID-19 patients. *Cells.* (2021) 10:186. doi: 10.3390/cells10010186

25. Zhao Y, Qin L, Zhang P, Li K, Liang L, Sun J, et al. Longitudinal COVID-19 profiling associates IL-1RA and IL-10 with disease severity and RANTES with mild disease. *JCI Insight*. (2020) 5:e139834. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.139834

26. Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, Cao Y, Huang D, Wang H, et al. Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. *J Clin Invest*. (2020) 130:2620–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI137244

27. Dorward DA, Russell CD, Um IH, Elshani M, Armstrong SD, Penrice-Randal R, et al. Tissue-specific immunopathology in fatal COVID-19. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2021) 203:192–201. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202008-3265OC

28. Pretorius E, Venter C, Laubscher GJ, Kotze MJ, Oladejo SO, Watson LR, et al. Prevalence of symptoms, comorbidities, fibrin amyloid microclots and platelet pathology in individuals with Long COVID/Post-Acute Sequelae of COVID-19 (PASC). *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2022) 21:148. doi: 10.1186/s12933-022-01579-5

29. Couzin-Frankel J. Clues to long COVID. Science. (2022) 376:1261-5. doi: 10.1126/ science.add4297

30. Flint SW, Tahrani AA. COVID-19 and obesity-lack of clarity, guidance, and implications for care. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2020) 8:474–5. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30156-X

31. Bello-Chavolla OY, Bahena-López JP, Antonio-Villa NE, Vargas-Vázquez A, González-Díaz A, Márquez-Salinas A, et al. Predicting mortality due to SARS-CoV-2: a mechanistic score relating obesity and diabetes to COVID-19 outcomes in Mexico. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 105:dgaa346. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa346

32. Burn E, Duarte-Salles T, Fernandez-Bertolin S, Reyes C, Kostka K, Delmestri A, et al. Venous or arterial thrombosis and deaths among COVID-19 cases: a European network cohort study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2022) 22:1142–52. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00223-7

33. Katsoularis I, Fonseca-Rodríguez O, Farrington P, Jerndal H, Lundevaller EH, Sund M, et al. Risks of deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, and bleeding after covid-19: nationwide self-controlled cases series and matched cohort study. *BMJ*. (2022) 377:e069590. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-069590

34. Fogarty H, Townsend L, Morrin H, Ahmad A, Comerford C, Karampini E, et al. Persistent endotheliopathy in the pathogenesis of long COVID syndrome. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 19:2546–53. doi: 10.1111/jth.15490

35. Rauch A, Dupont A, Goutay J, Caplan M, Staessens S, Moussa M, et al. Endotheliopathy is induced by plasma from critically ill patients and associated with organ failure in severe COVID-19. *Circulation*. (2020) 142:1881–4. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.050907

36. McCafferty C, Van Den Helm S, Letunica N, Attard C, Karlaftis V, Cai T, et al. Increased platelet activation in SARS-CoV-2 infected non-hospitalised children and adults, and their household contacts. *Br J Haematol.* (2021) 195:90–4. doi: 10.1111/bjh. 17629

37. Bevers EM, Williamson PL. Getting to the outer leaflet: physiology of phosphatidylserine exposure at the plasma membrane. *Physiol Rev.* (2016) 96:605–45. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00020.2015

38. Xie R, Gao C, Li W, Zhu J, Novakovic V, Wang J, et al. Phagocytosis by macrophages and endothelial cells inhibits procoagulant and fibrinolytic activity of acute promyelocytic leukemia cells. *Blood.* (2012) 119:2325–34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-06-362186

39. Rausch L, Lutz K, Schifferer M, Winheim E, Gruber R, Oesterhaus EF, et al. Binding of phosphatidylserine-positive microparticles by PBMCs classifies disease severity in COVID-19 patients. *J Extracell Vesicles*. (2021) 10:e12173. doi: 10.1002/jev2.1 2173

40. Langer F, Ruf W. Synergies of phosphatidylserine and protein disulfide isomerase in tissue factor activation. *Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 111:590–7. doi: 10.1160/TH13-09-0802

41. Wiersinga WJ, Rhodes A, Cheng AC, Peacock SJ, Prescott HC. Pathophysiology, transmission, diagnosis, and treatment of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a review. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:782–93. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.12839

42. Hu B, Huang S, Yin L. The cytokine storm and COVID-19. J Med Virol. (2021) 93:250-6. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26232

43. Selva KJ, Chung AW. Insights into how SARS-CoV2 infection induces cytokine storms. *Trends Immunol.* (2022) 43:417–9. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2022.04.007

44. Mallapaty S. What triggers severe COVID? Infected immune cells hold clues. *Nature*. (2022) 604:231. doi: 10.1038/d41586-022-00965-z

45. Fogarty H, Ward SE, Townsend L, Karampini E, Elliott S, Conlon N, et al. Sustained VWF-ADAMTS-13 axis imbalance and endotheliopathy in long COVID syndrome is related to immune dysfunction. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 20:2429–38. doi: 10.1111/jth. 15830

46. Sanchis-Gomar F, Lavie CJ, Mehra MR, Henry BM, Lippi G. Obesity and outcomes in COVID-19: when an epidemic and pandemic collide. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2020) 95:1445–53. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.05.006

47. Fyhrquist F, Saijonmaa O. Renin-angiotensin system revisited. J Intern Med. (2008) 264:224–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.01981.x

48. Marshall RP, Gohlke P, Chambers RC, Howell DC, Bottoms SE, Unger T, et al. Angiotensin II and the fibroproliferative response to acute lung injury. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2004) 286:L156–64. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00313.2002

49. Imai Y, Kuba K, Penninger JM. The discovery of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and its role in acute lung injury in mice. *Exp Physiol.* (2008) 93:543–8. doi: 10.1113/ expphysiol.2007.040048

50. Hess DC, Eldahshan W, Rutkowski E. COVID-19-related stroke. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2020) 11:322-5. doi: 10.1007/s12975-020-00818-9

51. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 383:120-8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432

52. Kassir R. Risk of COVID-19 for patients with obesity. Obes Rev. (2020) 21:e13034. doi: 10.1111/obr.13034

53. Poulain M, Doucet M, Major GC, Drapeau V, Sériès F, Boulet LP, et al. The effect of obesity on chronic respiratory diseases: pathophysiology and therapeutic strategies. *CMAJ.* (2006) 174:1293–9. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051299

54. Pépin JL, Timsit JF, Tamisier R, Borel JC, Lévy P, Jaber S. Prevention and care of respiratory failure in obese patients. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4:407–18. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)00054-0

55. Gao YM, Xu G, Wang B, Liu BC. Cytokine storm syndrome in coronavirus disease 2019: a narrative review. *J Intern Med.* (2021) 289:147–61. doi: 10.1111/joim.13144

56. Merad M, Martin JC. Pathological inflammation in patients with COVID-19: a key role for monocytes and macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2020) 20:355–62. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0331-4

57. Dockrell DH, Russell CD, McHugh B, Fraser R. Does autonomous macrophagedriven inflammation promote alveolar damage in COVID-19? *Eur Respir J.* (2022) 25:2201521. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01521-2022

58. Rodrigues RS, Motta Ribeiro G, Barreto MM, Zin WA, de Toledo-Mendes J, Martins PAG, et al. Increased lung immune metabolic activity in COVID-19 survivors. *Clin Nucl Med.* (2022) 47:1019–25. doi: 10.1097/RLU.00000000004376

59. Govender M, Hopkins FR, Göransson R, Svanberg C, Shankar EM, Hjorth M, et al. T cell perturbations persist for at least 6 months following hospitalization for COVID-19. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:931039. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.931039

60. Falck-Jones S, Österberg B, Smed-Sörensen A. Respiratory and systemic monocytes, dendritic cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in COVID-19: implications for disease severity. *J Intern Med.* (2022) 293:130–43. doi: 10.1111/joim.13559

61. Rivas E, Arismendi E, Agustí A, Sanchez M, Delgado S, Gistau C, et al. Ventilation/Perfusion distribution abnormalities in morbidly obese subjects before and after bariatric surgery. *Chest.* (2015) 147:1127–34. doi: 10.1378/chest.14.1749

62. Pan Y, Hui X, Hoo RLC, Ye D, Chan CYC, Feng T, et al. Adipocyte-secreted exosomal microRNA-34a inhibits M2 macrophage polarization to promote obesity-induced adipose inflammation. *J Clin Invest.* (2019) 129:834–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI123069

63. Deng T, Lyon CJ, Bergin S, Caligiuri MA, Hsueh WA. Obesity, inflammation, and cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2016) 11:421–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-012615-044359

64. Klöting N, Blüher M. Adipocyte dysfunction, inflammation and metabolic syndrome. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2014) 15:277-87. doi: 10.1007/s11154-014-9301-0

65. Leisman DE, Ronner L, Pinotti R, Taylor MD, Sinha P, Calfee CS, et al. Cytokine elevation in severe and critical COVID-19: a rapid systematic review, meta-analysis, and comparison with other inflammatory syndromes. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:1233–44. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30404-5

66. Pinney SP, Giustino G, Halperin JL, Mechanick JI, Neibart E, Olin JW, et al. Coronavirus historical perspective, disease mechanisms, and clinical outcomes: JACC focus seminar. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2020) 76:1999–2010. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.08.058

67. Marazuela M, Giustina A, Puig-Domingo M. Endocrine and metabolic aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord.* (2020) 21:495–507. doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09569-2

68. McElvaney OJ, McEvoy NL, McElvaney OF, Carroll TP, Murphy MP, Dunlea DM, et al. Characterization of the inflammatory response to severe COVID-19 illness. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020) 202:812–21. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202005-1583OC

69. Shaikh SR, MacIver NJ, Beck MA. Obesity dysregulates the immune response to influenza infection and vaccination through metabolic and inflammatory mechanisms. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2022) 42:67–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-062320-115937

70. Falagas ME, Kompoti M. Obesity and infection. Lancet Infect Dis. (2006) 6:438–46. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70523-0

71. Mackman N, Antoniak S, Wolberg AS, Kasthuri R, Key NS. Coagulation abnormalities and thrombosis in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 and other pandemic viruses. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2020) 40:2033–44. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120. 314514

72. Cho Y, Shore SA. Obesity, asthma, and the microbiome. *Physiology*. (2016) 31:108–16. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00045.2015

73. Godoy LC, Goligher EC, Lawler PR, Slutsky AS, Zarychanski R. Anticipating and managing coagulopathy and thrombotic manifestations of severe COVID-19. *CMAJ.* (2020) 192:E1156–61. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.201240

74. Shimomura I, Funahashi T, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Kotani K, Nakamura T, et al. Enhanced expression of PAI-1 in visceral fat: possible contributor to vascular disease in obesity. *Nat Med.* (1996) 2:800–3. doi: 10.1038/nm0796-800

75. Balbi C, Burrello J, Bolis S, Lazzarini E, Biemmi V, Pianezzi E, et al. Circulating extracellular vesicles are endowed with enhanced procoagulant activity in SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Ebiomedicine*. (2021) 67:103369. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2021.103369

76. Althaus K, Marini I, Zlamal J, Pelzl L, Singh A, Häberle H, et al. Antibody-induced procoagulant platelets in severe COVID-19 infection. *Blood.* (2021) 137:1061–71. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020008762

77. Piazza G, Morrow DA. Diagnosis, management, and pathophysiology of arterial and venous thrombosis in COVID-19. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:2548–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020. 23422

78. Apicella M, Campopiano MC, Mantuano M, Mazoni L, Coppelli A, Del Prato S. COVID-19 in people with diabetes: understanding the reasons for worse outcomes. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2020) 8:782–92. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30238-2

79. Couzin-Frankel J. The mystery of the pandemic's 'happy hypoxia'. *Science*. (2020) 368:455–6. doi: 10.1126/science.368.6490.455

80. Kruse JM, Magomedov A, Kurreck A, Münch FH, Koerner R, Kamhieh-Milz J, et al. Thromboembolic complications in critically ill COVID-19 patients are associated with impaired fibrinolysis. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:676. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03401-8

81. Damouche A, Lazure T, Avettand-Fènoël V, Huot N, Dejucq-Rainsford N, Satie AP, et al. Adipose tissue is a neglected viral reservoir and an inflammatory site during chronic HIV and SIV infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1005153. doi: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1005153

82. Couturier J, Suliburk JW, Brown JM, Luke DJ, Agarwal N, Yu X, et al. Human adipose tissue as a reservoir for memory CD4+ T cells and HIV. *AIDS*. (2015) 29:667–74. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000599

83. Nishimura H, Itamura S, Iwasaki T, Kurata T, Tashiro M. Characterization of human influenza A (H5N1) virus infection in mice: neuro-, pneumo- and adipotropic infection. *J Gen Virol.* (2000) 81:2503–10. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-81-10-2503

84. Martínez-Colón GJ, Ratnasiri K, Chen H, Jiang S, Zanley E, Rustagi A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection drives an inflammatory response in human adipose tissue through infection of adipocytes and macrophages. *Sci Transl Med.* (2022) 14:eabm9151. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abm9151 85. Basolo A, Poma AM, Bonuccelli D, Proietti A, Macerola E, Ugolini C, et al. Adipose tissue in COVID-19: detection of SARS-CoV-2 in adipocytes and activation of the interferon-alpha response. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2022) 45:1021–9. doi: 10.1007/s40618-022-01742-5

86. Gómez-Zorita S, Milton-Laskibar I, García-Arellano L, González M, Portillo MP. An overview of adipose tissue ACE2 modulation by diet and obesity. potential implications in COVID-19 infection and severity. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:7975. doi: 10.3390/ijms22157975

87. Zickler M, Stanelle-Bertram S, Ehret S, Heinrich F, Lange P, Schaumburg B, et al. Replication of SARS-CoV-2 in adipose tissue determines organ and systemic lipid metabolism in hamsters and humans. *Cell Metab.* (2022) 34:1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2021.12.002

88. Reiterer M, Rajan M, Gómez-Banoy N, Lau JD, Gomez-Escobar LG, Ma L, et al. Hyperglycemia in acute COVID-19 is characterized by insulin resistance and adipose tissue infectivity by SARS-CoV-2. *Cell Metab.* (2021) 33:2174–88.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet. 2021.09.009

89. Thompson EJ, Williams DM, Walker AJ, Mitchell RE, Niedzwiedz CL, Yang TC, et al. Long COVID burden and risk factors in 10 UK longitudinal studies and electronic health records. *Nat Commun.* (2022) 13:3528. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-30 836-0

90. Anaya JM, Rojas M, Salinas ML, Rodríguez Y, Roa G, Lozano M, et al. Post-COVID syndrome. a case series and comprehensive review. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2021) 20:102947. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2021.102947

91. Fajgenbaum DC, June CH. Cytokine storm. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:2255–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra2026131

92. Huang L, Yao Q, Gu X, Wang Q, Ren L, Wang Y, et al. 1-year outcomes in hospital survivors with COVID-19: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:747–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01755-4

93. Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Gu X, et al. 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:220–32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32656-8

94. Petersen A, Bressem K, Albrecht J, Thieß HM, Vahldiek J, Hamm B, et al. The role of visceral adiposity in the severity of COVID-19: highlights from a unicenter crosssectional pilot study in Germany. *Metabolism.* (2020) 110:154317. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol. 2020.154317

95. Dhurandhar NV, Bailey D, Thomas D. Interaction of obesity and infections. Obes Rev. (2015) 16:1017–29. doi: 10.1111/obr.12320

96. Park HS, Park JY, Yu R. Relationship of obesity and visceral adiposity with serum concentrations of CRP, TNF-alpha and IL-6. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2005) 69:29–35. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2004.11.007

97. Pasini E, Corsetti G, Romano C, Scarabelli TM, Chen-Scarabelli C, Saravolatz L, et al. Serum metabolic profile in patients with long-covid (PASC) syndrome: clinical implications. *Front Med.* (2021) 8:714426. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.714426

98. Townsend L, Fogarty H, Dyer A, Martin-Loeches I, Bannan C, Nadarajan P, et al. Prolonged elevation of D-dimer levels in convalescent COVID-19 patients is independent of the acute phase response. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2021) 19:1064–70. doi: 10.1111/jth.15267

99. Xie J, Prats-Uribe A, Feng Q, Wang Y, Gill D, Paredes R, et al. Clinical and genetic risk factors for acute incident venous thromboembolism in ambulatory patients with COVID-19. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2022) 182:1063–70. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2022. 3858

100. Vardhana SA, Wolchok JD. The many faces of the anti-COVID immune response. *J Exp Med.* (2020) 17:e20200678. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200678

101. Buckner FS, McCulloch DJ, Atluri V, Blain M, McGuffin SA, Nalla AK, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of 105 hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Seattle, Washington. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71:2167–73. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa632

102. Mo X, Jian W, Su Z, Chen M, Peng H, Peng P, et al. Abnormal pulmonary function in COVID-19 patients at time of hospital discharge. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 55:2001217. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01217-2020

103. de Rooij LPMH, Becker LM, Teuwen LA, Boeckx B, Jansen S, Feys S, et al. The pulmonary vasculature in lethal COVID-19 and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis at single cell resolution. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2022) cvac139. [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvac139

104. Lacavalerie MR, Pierre-Francois S, Agossou M, Inamo J, Cabie A, Barnay JL, et al. Obese patients with long COVID-19 display abnormal hyperventilatory response and impaired gas exchange at peak exercise. *Future Cardiol.* (2022) 18:577–84. doi: 10.2217/fca-2022-0017

105. Tobin MJ, Laghi F, Jubran A. Why COVID-19 silent hypoxemia is baffling to physicians. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020) 202:356–60. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202006-2157CP

106. Tobin MJ. Basing respiratory management of COVID-19 on physiological principles. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020) 201:1319–20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202004-1076ED

107. Jouffroy R, Jost D, Prunet B. Prehospital pulse oximetry: a red flag for early detection of silent hypoxemia in COVID-19 patients. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:313. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03036-9

108. Villarreal-Fernandez E, Patel R, Golamari R, Khalid M, DeWaters A, Haouzi P. A plea for avoiding systematic intubation in severely hypoxemic patients with COVID-19-associated respiratory failure. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:337. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03063-6

109. Abou-Arab O, Huette P, Berna P, Mahjoub Y. Tracheal trauma after difficult airway management in morbidly obese patients with COVID-19. *Br J Anaesth.* (2020) 125:e168–70. doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2020.04.004

110. Colla J, Rodos A, Seyller H, Weingart S. Fighting COVID-19 hypoxia with one hand tied behind our back: blanket prohibition of high-flow oxygen and noninvasive positive end-expiratory pressure in US hospitals. *Ann Emerg Med.* (2020) 75:791–2. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2020.04.015

111. Dobler CC, Murad MH, Wilson ME. Noninvasive positive pressure ventilation in patients with COVID-19. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2020) 95:2594–601. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp. 2020.10.001

112. Hobohm L, Sagoschen I, Barco S, Farmakis IT, Fedeli U, Koelmel S, et al. COVID-19 infection and its impact on case-fatality in patients with pulmonary embolism. *Eur Respir J.* (2022) [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00619-2022

113. Chalmers JD, Crichton ML, Goeminne PC, Cao B, Humbert M, Shteinberg M, et al. Management of hospitalised adults with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a European Respiratory Society living guideline. *Eur Respir J.* (2021) 57:2100048. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00048-2021

114. Gomez K, Laffan M, Bradbury C. Debate: should the dose or duration of anticoagulants for the prevention of venous thrombosis be increased in patients with COVID-19 while we are awaiting the results of clinical trials? *Br J Haematol.* (2021) 192:459–66. doi: 10.1111/bjh.17241

115. Kow CS, Hasan SS. The use of antiplatelet agents for arterial thromboprophylaxis in COVID-19. *Rev Esp Cardiol*. (2021) 74:114–5. doi: 10.1016/j.rec.2020.08.009

116. Santoro F, Nuñez-Gil IJ, Vitale E, Viana-Llamas MC, Reche-Martinez B, Romero-Pareja R, et al. Antiplatelet therapy and outcome in COVID-19: the health outcome predictive evaluation registry. *Heart.* (2022) 108:130–6. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2021-319552

117. Attacc Investigators; Activ-4a Investigators; Remap-Cap Investigators, Lawler PR, Goligher EC, Berger JS, et al. Therapeutic anticoagulation with heparin in noncritically ill patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:790–802. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2105911

118. Sholzberg M, Tang GH, Rahhal H, AlHamzah M, Kreuziger LB, Áinle FN, et al. Effectiveness of therapeutic heparin versus prophylactic heparin on death, mechanical ventilation, or intensive care unit admission in moderately ill patients with covid-19 admitted to hospital: RAPID randomised clinical trial. *BMJ*. (2021) 375:n2400. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2400

119. Spyropoulos AC, Goldin M, Giannis D, Diab W, Wang J, Khanijo S, et al. Efficacy and safety of therapeutic-dose heparin vs standard prophylactic or intermediate-dose heparins for thromboprophylaxis in high-risk hospitalized patients with COVID-19: the HEP-COVID randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2021) 181:1612–20. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.6203

120. Lopes RD, de Barros E, Silva PGM, Furtado RHM, Macedo AVS, Bronhara B, et al. Therapeutic versus prophylactic anticoagulation for patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 and elevated D-dimer concentration (ACTION): an open-label, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:2253–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21) 01203-4

121. Ortega-Paz L, Galli M, Capodanno D, Franchi F, Rollini F, Bikdeli B, et al. Safety and efficacy of different prophylactic anticoagulation dosing regimens in critically and non-critically ill patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother.* (2022) 8:677–86. doi: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvab070

122. Gerotziafas GT, Catalano M, Colgan MP, Pecsvarady Z, Wautrecht JC, Fazeli B, et al. Guidance for the management of patients with vascular disease or cardiovascular risk factors and COVID-19: position paper from VAS-European independent foundation in angiology/vascular medicine. *Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 120:1597–628. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1715798

123. Barnes GD, Burnett A, Allen A, Ansell J, Blumenstein M, Clark NP, et al. Thromboembolic prevention and anticoagulant therapy during the COVID-19 pandemic: updated clinical guidance from the anticoagulation forum. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2022) 54:197–210. doi: 10.1007/s11239-022-02643-3

124. Moores LK, Tritschler T, Brosnahan S, Carrier M, Collen JF, Doerschug K, et al. Thromboprophylaxis in patients with COVID-19: a brief update to the CHEST guideline and expert panel report. *Chest.* (2022) 162:213–25. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2022.02.006

125. Mussini C, Falcone M, Nozza S, Sagnelli C, Parrella R, Meschiari M, et al. Therapeutic strategies for severe COVID-19: a position paper from the Italian Society of Infectious and Tropical Diseases (SIMIT). *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2021) 27:389–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.12.011

126. Connors JM, Ridker PM. Antithrombotic prophylaxis for symptomatic outpatients with COVID-19: less is consistently more. *Lancet Haematol.* (2022) 9:e551–3. doi: 10. 1016/S2352-3026(22)00205-8

127. Nyberg T, Ferguson NM, Nash SG, Webster HH, Flaxman S, Andrews N, et al. Comparative analysis of the risks of hospitalisation and death associated with SARS-CoV-2 omicron (B.1.1.529) and delta (B.1.617.2) variants in England: a cohort study. *Lancet.* (2022) 399:1303–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00462-7

128. Menni C, Valdes AM, Polidori L, Antonelli M, Penamakuri S, Nogal A, et al. Symptom prevalence, duration, and risk of hospital admission in individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 during periods of omicron and delta variant dominance: a prospective observational study from the ZOE COVID Study. *Lancet.* (2022) 399:1618–24. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00327-0

129. Who Rapid Evidence Appraisal for Covid-19 Therapies (React) Working Group, Sterne JAC, Murthy S, Diaz JV, Slutsky AS, Villar J, et al. Association between administration of systemic corticosteroids and mortality among critically ill patients with COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:1330–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17023

130. Who Rapid Evidence Appraisal for Covid-19 Therapies (React) Working Group, Sterne JAC, Murthy S, Diaz JV, Slutsky AS, Villar J, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:693–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436

131. Tomazini BM, Maia IS, Cavalcanti AB, Berwanger O, Rosa RG, Veiga VC, et al. Effect of dexamethasone on days alive and ventilator-free in patients with moderate or severe acute respiratory distress syndrome and COVID-19: the CoDEX randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:1307–16. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17021

132. National Institutes of Health. *Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) treatment guidelines*. (2021). Available online at: https://www.Covid19treatmentguidelines.Nih. Gov/ (accessed October 6, 2022).

133. Bartoletti M, Azap O, Barac A, Bussini L, Ergonul O, Krause R, et al. ESCMID COVID-19 living guidelines: drug treatment and clinical management. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2022) 28:222–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2021.11.007

134. Bhimraj A, Morgan RL, Shumaker AH, Lavergne V, Baden L, Cheng VC, et al. Infectious diseases society of america guidelines on the treatment and management of patients with COVID-19. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) ciaa478. [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa478

135. Malgie J, Schoones JW, Pijls BG. Decreased mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 patients treated with tocilizumab: a rapid systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72:e742–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1445

136. Maeshima K, Yamaoka K, Kubo S, Nakano K, Iwata S, Saito K, et al. The JAK inhibitor tofacitinib regulates synovitis through inhibition of interferon- γ and interleukin-17 production by human CD4+ T cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2012) 64:1790–8. doi: 10.1002/art.34329

137. Kaka AS, MacDonald R, Greer N, Vela K, Duan-Porter W, Obley A, et al. Major update: remdesivir for adults with COVID-19 : a living systematic review and metaanalysis for the American College of Physicians Practice Points. *Ann Intern Med.* (2021) 174:663–72. doi: 10.7326/M20-8148

138. Zhang XJ, Qin JJ, Cheng X, Shen L, Zhao YC, Yuan Y, et al. In-hospital use of statins is associated with a reduced risk of mortality among individuals with COVID-19. *Cell Metab.* (2020) 32:176–87.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2020.06.015

139. Remap-Cap Investigators, Gordon AC, Mouncey PR, Al-Beidh F, Rowan KM, Nichol AD, et al. Interleukin-6 receptor antagonists in critically ill patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:1491–502. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2100433

140. Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A, et al. High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. *Obesity.* (2020) 28:1195–9. doi: 10.1002/oby. 22831

141. Lighter J, Phillips M, Hochman S, Sterling S, Johnson D, Francois F, et al. Obesity in patients younger than 60 years is a risk factor for COVID-19 hospital admission. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71:896–7. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa415

142. Cai Q, Chen F, Wang T, Luo F, Liu X, Wu Q, et al. Obesity and COVID-19 severity in a designated hospital in Shenzhen, China. *Diabetes Care*. (2020) 43:1392–8. doi: 10.2337/dc20-0576

143. Kass DA, Duggal P, Cingolani O. Obesity could shift severe COVID-19 disease to younger ages. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1544–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31024-2

144. Bhatraju PK, Ghassemieh BJ, Nichols M, Kim R, Jerome KR, Nalla AK, et al. Covid-19 in critically ill patients in the Seattle Region - case series. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:2012–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2004500

145. Petrilli CM, Jones SA, Yang J, Rajagopalan H, O'Donnell L, Chernyak Y, et al. Factors associated with hospital admission and critical illness among 5279 people with coronavirus disease 2019 in New York City: prospective cohort study. *BMJ.* (2020) 369:m1966. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1966

146. Goyal P, Choi JJ, Pinheiro LC, Schenck EJ, Chen R, Jabri A, et al. Clinical characteristics of Covid-19 in New York city. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:2372-4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2010419

147. Tartof SY, Qian L, Hong V, Wei R, Nadjafi RF, Fischer H, et al. Obesity and mortality among patients diagnosed with COVID-19: results from an integrated health care organization. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:773–81. doi: 10.7326/M20-3742

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Saravanan Subramaniam, Boston University, United States

REVIEWED BY Smita Joshi, University of Kentucky, United States Asha Jose, JSS Academy of Higher Education and Research, India Kanakanagavalli Shravani Prakhya, University of Kentucky, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Pavel Suk Davel.suk@fnusa.cz

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 05 December 2022 ACCEPTED 06 February 2023 PUBLISHED 23 February 2023

CITATION

Rychlíčková J, Šrámek V and Suk P (2023) Use of fondaparinux in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia on veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: A three-patient case series report. *Front. Med.* 10:1112770. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1112770

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rychlíčková, Šrámek and Suk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Use of fondaparinux in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia on veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: A three-patient case series report

Jitka Rychlíčková^{1,2,3}, Vladimír Šrámek^{1,2} and Pavel Suk^{1,2*}

¹International Clinical Research Center, St. Anne's University Hospital Brno, Brno, Czechia, ²Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Faculty of Medicine, Masaryk University, St. Anne's University Hospital Brno, Brno, Czechia, ³Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Masaryk University, Brno, Czechia

Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia is a life-threatening immune-mediated complication of unfractionated heparin therapy. Fondaparinux is a therapeutic alternative, but it has limited evidence for its use in patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO). We present a series of three adult patients with COVID-19 on ECMO who were diagnosed with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia after 7-12 days of unfractionated heparin treatment and were switched to fondaparinux. Fondaparinux was initiated with an intravenous loading dose of 5 mg, followed by a dose of 2.5 mg subcutaneously every 8-12 h. Dosage was adjusted according to daily measured anti-Xa concentration with a target range of 0.4-0.7 mg/L. The total duration of treatment with fondaparinux and ECMO ranged from 13 to 26 days. One major bleeding episode unrelated to fondaparinux therapy was observed, and the transfusions requirement was also low in all patients. The ECMO circuit was changed once in each patient. This series provides a deep insight into the use of fondaparinux over an extended period of time in patients on ECMO. Based on the presented data, fondaparinux can be considered a reasonable and affordable anticoagulant in patients without a high risk of bleeding.

KEYWORDS

fondaparinux, pharmacokinetics, heparin-induced thrombocytopenia, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation, pharmacoeconomics

1. Introduction

Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) is a life-saving therapy for severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in COVID-19 patients. The use of an extracorporeal circuit requires contact of blood with artificial materials (cannulas, tubing, pump, and oxygenator membrane). This leads to the activation of platelets and the coagulation cascade. Anticoagulation is necessary for most ECMO patients to suppress this undesirable phenomenon and prevent circuit clotting. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) is the most frequently used drug because it is cheap, has a short half-life and an antidote, and is relatively easy to monitor. Although the optimal target for UFH anticoagulation is not clearly defined, recent Extracorporeal Life Support Organization (ELSO) guidelines recommend a target

anti-Xa range of 0.3–0.7 IU/ml (1). Concordantly, data from COVID-19 patients on ECMO show that the most frequent (two-thirds of patients) therapeutic target is 0.3–0.6 or 0.3–0.7 IU/ml (2). This was associated with the following clinical outcomes: 29% of patients had only bleeding events, 16% had only thrombotic events, and 20% had both bleeding and thrombosis.

A decrease in platelet counts is common in ECMO patient group—mainly due to the consumption in the extracorporeal circuit or sepsis. Moreover, heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) is diagnosed in 0.8–22.2% (mean 3.7%) patients on ECMO (3). Platelet-activating immune complexes have been described in patients with COVID-19 (4); however, the incidence of HIT in critically ill patients with COVID-19 is comparable (5). HIT is a complication influencing morbidity and mortality in critically ill patients (6) and patients with COVID-19 (7). HIT management is based on the immediate discontinuation of heparin and its replacement with non-heparin alternatives argatroban, bivalirudin, or fondaparinux among parenteral anticoagulants. In the Czech Republic, only fondaparinux is an available and economically acceptable alternative for longer-term administration, although its use in HIT is off-label (8).

To our knowledge, only a few papers describing the administration of fondaparinux in adult patients on ECMO have been published. A cohort of 8 patients on ECMO treated with fondaparinux 2.5 mg per day due to HIT was reported by Loforte et al. (9). Two case reports describe a young female after mitral valve replacement and having fondaparinux 2.5 mg subcutaneously (SC) daily to provide anticoagulation for 5 days on veno-arterial ECMO (10) and a patient with ARDS due to SARS-CoV-2 infection receiving fondaparinux 7.5 mg SC daily during 5 days of veno-venous ECMO (11). Nevertheless, none of these papers provide a more detailed view on achieved plasma concentrations and longer-term administration of fondaparinux in patients on ECMO, as presented in the following description of three patients.

1.1. Fondaparinux and its potential interference with ECMO

Fondaparinux is a synthetic anti-Xa inhibitor with a molecular weight of 1,728, highly selective, and with a high affinity to antithrombin. Fondaparinux binding to antithrombin leads to irreversible conformational changes, which considerably increase the factor Xa inhibition rate (12). The high protein binding of fondaparinux determines the low distribution volume (V_D). In healthy volunteers, the V_D ranges from 7.4 to 10.9 L over the dose range of 2-20 mg of intravenous (IV) fondaparinux resp. 10-10.8 L over the dose range of 2-8 mg of SC fondaparinux and 8.2 L for a single fondaparinux SC 2.5 mg dose (12, 13). The partition coefficient logP of fondaparinux is 0.4 (14). Based on these properties, the effect of ECMO on plasma concentrations of fondaparinux/risk of sequestration can be tentatively predicted using the criteria proposed by Ha et al. (15). Given the small V_D (<1 L/kg), ECMO may theoretically increase V_D; however, when comparing the volume of the ECMO circuit in adults (~600 mL) and the average blood

volume (\sim 5 L), only a mild increase in V_D can be expected without the need for a higher loading dose. There is also a moderate risk of sequestration of fondaparinux on the ECMO circuit, which may translate into the necessity of higher maintenance dosage.

The anticoagulant effect of fondaparinux can be measured using an anti-Xa assay calibrated with fondaparinux (in mg/L). Anti-Xa assay calibrated with LMWH can also be used, however, a dose-dependent bias must be taken into account. Within the therapeutic range, the anti-Xa assay calibrated with LMWH overestimates fondaparinux concentration by \sim 20% (16). The test validated with LMWH calibrators (in IU/mL) serves only as a rough guide and may be helpful especially for monitoring of accumulation.

1.2. Target plasma concentrations and fondaparinux dosing

Anticoagulation therapy is always a balance between thrombosis (i.e., ECMO circuit dysfunction and decreased circuit lifespan) and bleeding complications. Target anti-Xa levels of fondaparinux for therapeutic, prophylactic, and ECMO indications are not established. Mean peak and trough plasma concentrations observed after 2.5 mg per day were 0.39-0.50 mg/L and 0.14-0.19 mg/L, respectively; in therapeutic dosing reflecting body weight, observed mean peaks and troughs were 1.20-1.26 mg/L, and 0.46-0.62 mg/L, respectively (8, 17, 18). Wahby et al. report very similar peak and trough anti-Xa levels as targets for prophylaxis in critically ill patients (0.47 \pm 0.2 mg/L and 0.18 \pm 0.1 mg/L, respectively) (19). On the other hand, few data are available confirming similar plasma levels of fondaparinux to be effective in venous thromboembolism prophylaxis (20). The correlation between plasma concentration and clinical outcomes is not proven in larger and/or specific populations (17, 21). The abovementioned values may thus serve only as an approximate guide for dose titration.

In estimating the dosage of fondaparinux in our ECMO patients, we aimed at plasma concentrations of \sim 0.4–0.7 mg/L as a boundary between prophylactic and therapeutic levels or the lower part of the therapeutic range.

Our calculation of the individual dose was based on the pharmacokinetic data from healthy volunteers because data from the critically ill are generally unavailable. A loading dose (LD) was used to quickly achieve the target plasma concentration (c_{target}) set at 0.6 mg/L in a drug with a long biological half-life. We entered the values of 7–11 L for the V_D and 17–21 h for the biological half-life ($T_{1/2}$; taking into account its prolongation in impaired kidney function) (18). The maintenance dose was then estimated based on clearance and adjusted according to repeatedly measured anti-Xa levels taken prior to the next dose. We chose to divide the total daily dose into multiple single doses to minimize fluctuations in plasma levels and to prevent potential bleeding around peak concentrations. We did not expect any significant contribution of ECMO to V_D or clearance in our adult patients.

ays				
ECMO circuit exchange (days after HIT diagnosis)	1	8	2	
PRBC units during fondaparinux therapy – total (per day)	6 (0.3)	4(0.3)	5 (0.2)	n-Induced Thrombocytoneni
Fondaparinux therapy duration (days)	18	13	26	M male F female ARW Adiusted Rody Weight-RMI Rody Mass Index FCMO Extraconneral Membrane Oxvenation: PRRC Packed Red Rload Colls: 11FH 11nfractionated Henarin: HIT Henarin: H
HIT diagnosis (days after UFH started)	7	7	12	ed Blood Cells: UFH. Unfra
ECMO duration = ICU stay (days)	25	20	37	Oxvoenation - PRRC Packed R
BMI (kg/m ²)	33.1	27.8	33.0	oreal Membrane
ABW (kg)	70	81	97	MO Extracorn
Height (cm)	165	180	189	Mass Index- EC
Weight Height (kg) (cm)	06	06	118	oht. BMI Body
Sex	Н	М	М	sted Body Wei
Age (years)	63	61	52	* ABW Adins
Patient Age (years)	А	В	C	M male F femal

The following formulas were used for calculations:

$$LD = c_{target} \times V_{D.}$$
$$MD = c_{target} \times clearance$$
$$clearance = \frac{\ln 2 \times V_D}{T_{1/2}}$$

A single dose was then calculated from the daily maintenance dose, considering the available size of fondaparinux injections (2.5 mg) and the interval at which this dose should be administered. Generally, the loading dose was 5 mg, followed by the maintenance dose of 2.5 mg every 8–12 h for a patient with more than 60 kg of body weight and normal renal functions. Subsequently, the anti-Xa value was checked 0.5–2 h prior to the next dose almost daily. For dose adjustment, the measured anti-Xa level, renal function, platelet count, and clinical signs of bleeding and thrombosis were considered.

Clotting in the extracorporeal circuit is usually challenging to diagnose. Visual inspection of tubing and membrane oxygenator may detect fibrin deposits or thrombi formation. Significant oxygenator thrombosis leads to an increase in the pressure gradient across the oxygenator (ΔP) and is also associated with impaired gas exchange in the oxygenator. Thrombosis in cannulas, tubing, or especially in the blood pump leads to intravascular hemolysis. Free plasma hemoglobin is a standard marker of its severity, with normal values below 0.5 g/L. Since we record ΔP hourly and measure free plasma hemoglobin daily, we used these parameters to assess anticoagulation efficacy. The most common complication of anticoagulation therapy is bleeding.

2. Case descriptions

Fondaparinux was used to provide anticoagulation in three critically ill COVID-19 patients with severe ARDS who developed HIT while on veno-venous ECMO. One patient had positive both HIT antibodies and the aggregation test (patient A), while two other patients had negative HIT antibodies and positive aggregation test (patients B and C). HIT diagnosis was confirmed in the National Reference Laboratory (Institute of Hematology and Blood Transfusion, Prague, Czech Republic) for all three patients. Demographic data and time course of HIT diagnosis and fondaparinux and ECMO therapy are summarized in Table 1. If not stated otherwise, day 0 is the date of HIT diagnosis and commencement of fondaparinux therapy. The glomerular filtration rate was calculated according to the CKD Epidemiology Collaboration Group (GFR CKD-EPI) equation based on serum creatinine; all values are calculated for the actual body surface and stated as median [range].

2.1. Patient A

Patient A was a 63-year-old woman with normal renal function during the entire ICU stay—GFR CKD-EPI was 113 (94–118) ml/min. Fondaparinux was started as a loading dose of 5 mg IV followed by a 2.5 mg IV dose 12-hourly. The determination of anti-Xa by the fondaparinux-calibrated method

TABLE 1 Basic demographics and time course



Daily fondaparinux doses and anti-Xa trough levels. Anti-Xa in IU/mL for patient (A) (assay calibrated for low molecular-weight heparins), in mg/L for patients (B, C); # means peak anti-Xa 3 h after administration (trough levels were taken max. 2 h before the next dose); x-axis represents days after HIT diagnosis and commencement of fondaparinux treatment.



was not available at that time; therefore, anti-Xa was determined by the LMWH-calibrated assay. Only one anti-Xa value was determined by both methods in parallel (0.48 IU/ml vs. 0.43 mg/L). Fondaparinux doses and anti-Xa levels are shown in Figure 1A. There were several episodes of minor bleeding from the cannulation sites, upper and lower airways, and urinary tract. Fondaparinux doses were intermittently reduced due to bleeding episodes and relatively high anti-Xa levels. No patientrelated thrombotic complications were observed. ECMO circuit exchange was necessary 1 day after HIT diagnosis due to significantly elevated ΔP (Figure 2A). Plasma free hemoglobin was moderately elevated throughout the whole course of ECMO therapy (Figure 2A). She underwent a surgical tracheostomy on day 14 of fondaparinux therapy; fondaparinux was withheld for 24 before the procedure. She died after therapy limitation on day 33 of her hospital stay due to persistent severe lung failure.

2.2. Patient B

Patient B was a 61-year-old man with initially normal renal function (GFR CKD-EPI 125 (122–135) ml/min until day 9) who developed acute kidney injury on day 9. Continuous venovenous hemodialysis (CVVHD) was used for the last 3 days of his ICU stay. Fondaparinux loading dose of 5 mg IV was followed by 2.5 mg SC 8-hourly. Trough anti-Xa levels were determined by fondaparinux-calibrated assay (Figure 1B). From day 6, fibrin deposits were visible in the ECMO oxygenator. The ECMO circuit had to be exchanged on day 8 due to impaired ability to

10.3389/fmed.2023.1112770

eliminate CO2. Fondaparinux was reduced on day 8 before surgical tracheostomy on day 9. Subsequently, the patient was complicated with pneumonia with empyema. Besides several episodes of minor bleeding from the cannulation sites and lower respiratory tract, this patient experienced a major bleeding according to the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis definition on day 10 (22). Electrocauterization of the bleeding artery in a pressure sore on the tongue and transfusion of 3 units of packed red blood cells (PRBC) was necessary. Since the source of bleeding was the artery injured by teeth and anti-Xa level was below 0.4 mg/L, we do not consider this bleeding related to the fondaparinux therapy. There were no patient-related thrombotic events. Plasma free hemoglobin levels were persistently elevated with further increase after ECMO set exchange (Figure 2B). The terminal peak in plasma free hemoglobin was not solved due to the decision not to exchange the ECMO circuit because of poor prognosis. The patient died due to septic shock with multiple organ failure after 20 days of ICU stay.

2.3. Patient C

Patient C was a 52-year-old man with normal renal function [GFR CKD-EPI 167 (123-185) ml/min] during the entire ICU stay. After HIT diagnosis, fondaparinux was started with a 5 mg IV loading dose followed by 2.5 mg SC 8-hourly. Trough anti-Xa levels were also determined by fondaparinux-calibrated assay (Figure 1C). From day 0 on, blood clots were detected in the oxygenator. Due to an increase in ΔP (Figure 2C) with concomitant deterioration of blood gases, the ECMO circuit was exchanged on day 2. Fondaparinux dose was decreased on day 3 due to the cannulation site and lower respiratory tract bleeding. A thrombotic complication-ischemia of fingers on both hands-was diagnosed on day 6. Although perfusion of the left hand improved later, necrosis of two fingers developed on the right hand. On day 8, fondaparinux was omitted for 24 h, and a surgical tracheostomy was performed on day 9. Subsequently, the inter-dose interval was resumed at 6 h until day 35. On day 15, barotrauma required the insertion of a chest drain with the subsequent complication of chest drain and lower respiratory tract bleeding. Fibrin deposits, detected in the oxygenator on day 22, were accompanied by a mild increase in ΔP and plasma free hemoglobin (Figure 2C). Sepsis with thrombocytopenia gradually progressed while lung function remained stationary poor. The patient died after 36 days of ECMO support and ICU stay.

One episode of major bleeding unrelated to fondaparinux therapy and minor bleedings are described in case descriptions. The administration of PRBC is summarized in Table 1. Neither fresh frozen plasma nor platelets were administered during fondaparinux therapy.

3. Discussion

This case series provides a detailed insight into fondaparinux anticoagulation in ECMO patients complicated with HIT, who are prone to develop both bleeding and thrombotic complications, and the anticoagulation therapy becomes exceptionally challenging. In a group of three patients, we proved the fondaparinux efficacy demonstrated by decent ECMO circuit lifespan during the prolonged treatment. One major bleeding episode was unrelated to fondaparinux therapy, and transfusion requirement was low and comparable with a large cohort of veno-venous ECMO patients (23). Daily monitoring and related dosage adjustments contributed to achieving the predefined target plasma concentrations. We believe that this tight control secured the efficacy and safety of fondaparinux therapy.

The majority of previously published cases on fondaparinux anticoagulation on ECMO stated only prophylactic dosage (2.5 mg daily) without an anti-Xa measurement (9, 10). This approach might be insufficient for patients without an increased risk of bleeding because the HIT guidelines recommend using full-dose anticoagulation once the HIT diagnosis has been established (24). ECMO circuits might be extremely prone to clotting due to a hypercoagulable state during HIT and reduced anticoagulation therapy, as demonstrated by the early ECMO circuit exchange in two of three patients. Only one published case report (11) used a therapeutic dosage (7.5 mg daily) with a target anti-Xa range of 0.8–1.2 IU/ml; however, no achieved anti-Xa were reported.

3.1. Disadvantages/risks

The major disadvantage of fondaparinux is its long biologic half-life in combination with the unavailability of an antidote. This combination presents a significant risk in case of bleeding because the anticoagulation effect would persist for many hours or days. Moreover, impaired renal functions—a common complication in critically ill patients—further prolong the elimination halflife with a need for dose adjustment and the risk of prolonged bleeding. In contrast to APTT, monitoring of anti-Xa calibrated with fondaparinux is not widely spread. The optimal therapeutic target is unknown; however, this is similar to the other alternative drugs. Generally, fondaparinux is not suitable for patients with a high risk of bleeding and with limited benefits in patients with renal impairment.

3.2. Pharmacoeconomics

Although fondaparinux is an off-label drug for patients with HIT, it is an easily available and most affordable option in the Czech Republic. The other options are argatroban and bivalirudin,

TABLE 2 Pharmacoeconomics—expenses per day of treatment, including monitoring.

Drug	Fondaparinux	Bivalirudin	Argatroban
Daily dose	7.5 mg	576 mg (0.3 mg/kg/h)	35 mg (0.3 μg/kg/min)
Price of treatment (USD)	16.8	967	308
Monitoring (<i>n</i> per day)	Anti-Xa (1)	APTT (3)	APTT (3)
Price of monitoring (USD)	24.8	12.3	12.3
Total price per day (USD)	41.6	979.3	320.3

which have limited availability in some countries. The daily doses of bivalirudin and argatroban were calculated using the previously published dose requirements in ECMO patients (25, 26), and a body weight of 80 kg (see Table 2). Actual prices in the Czech Republic were used except for bivalirudin, which is not available on the Czech market, and where the price from two studies from the USA was adopted (~420 USD per 250 mg vial) (27, 28). Another factor for pharmacoeconomic analysis is the size of the vial, which is usually higher than the required daily dose in the case of argatroban. Once opened, the unused part must be discarded within 24 h. For calculations in Table 2, we used the price of one 100 mg argatroban vial per day. Typical monitoring for argatroban and bivalirudin is APTT 3–4 times daily, while once daily anti-Xa determination seems a reasonable option for fondaparinux due to its long half-life.

4. Conclusion

In this case series report, all three patients on ECMO received fondaparinux as an alternative anticoagulation agent in HIT. The average time of fondaparinux administration was 18 days. A therapeutic dose given as a loading dose followed by several daily maintenance doses adjusted to reach the target trough anti-Xa of 0.4–0.7 mg/L provided effective, safe, and economically acceptable form of anticoagulation.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. McMichael ABV, Ryerson LM, Ratano D, Fan E, Faraoni D, Annich GM. 2021 ELSO adult and pediatric anticoagulation guidelines. *ASAIO J.* (2022) 68:303–10. doi: 10.1097/MAT.00000000001652

2. Mansour A, Flecher E, Schmidt M, Rozec B, Gouin-Thibault I, Esvan M, et al. Bleeding and thrombotic events in patients with severe COVID-19 supported with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a nationwide cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2022) 48:1039–52. doi: 10.1007/s00134-022-06794-y

3. Jiritano F, Serraino GF, Ten Cate H, Fina D, Matteucci M, Mastroroberto P, et al. Platelets and extra-corporeal membrane oxygenation in adult patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:1154-69. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06031-4

4. Nazy I, Jevtic SD, Moore JC, Huynh A, Smith JW, Kelton JG, et al. Platelet-activating immune complexes identified in critically ill COVID-19 patients suspected of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. (2021) 19:1342– 7. doi: 10.1111/jth.15283

5. Uaprasert N, Tangcheewinsirikul N, Rojnuckarin P, Patell R, Zwicker JI, Chiasakul T. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Blood Adv.* (2021) 5:4521-34. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2021005314

6. East JM, Cserti-Gazdewich CM, Granton JT. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in the critically ill patient. *Chest.* (2018) 154:678–90. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.11.039

7. Patell R, Khan AM, Bogue T, Merrill M, Koshy A, Bindal P, et al. Heparin induced thrombocytopenia antibodies in Covid-19. *Am J Hematol.* (2020) 95:E295-6. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25935

8. EMA. Arixtra. European Medicines Agency (2018). Available online at: https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/arixtra (accessed August 03, 2022).

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent was obtained from the next of kin to participate in this study. Written informed consent for the publication of this case series was obtained from the next of kin.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, drafting the manuscript, and collecting data: JR and PS. Critical revision of the manuscript: VŠ. All authors approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Loforte A, Montalto A, Ranocchi F, Della Monica PL, Casali G, Lappa A, et al. Peripheral extracorporeal membrane oxygenation system as salvage treatment of patients with refractory cardiogenic shock: preliminary outcome evaluation. *Artif Organs.* (2012) 36:E53–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1594.2011.0 1423.x

10. Parlar AI, Sayar U, Cevirme D, Yuruk MA, Mataraci I. Successful use of fondaparinux in a patient with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia while on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation after mitral valve redo surgery. *Int J Artif Organs.* (2014) 37:344–7. doi: 10.5301/ijao.5000302

11. Degani A, Milanesi E, Rossini B, Ricccardi MC, Pellegrini C, Doronzo F, et al. Case report: use of subcutaneous Fondaparinux in a COVID 19 patient with heparininduced thrombocytopenia during venous-venous ECMO. *Perfusion*. (2021) 36(1 suppl):46–7.

12. Keam SJ, Goa KL. Fondaparinux sodium. Drugs. (2002) 62:1673–87. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200262110-00007

13. Donat F, Duret JP, Santoni A, Cariou R, Necciari J, Magnani H, et al. The pharmacokinetics of fondaparinux sodium in healthy volunteers. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2002) 41(Suppl. 2):1–9. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200241002-00001

14. PubChem. *Pubchem Fondaparinux*. (2022). Available online at: https://pubchem. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/5282448 (accessed August 02, 2022).

15. Ha MA, Sieg AC. Evaluation of altered drug pharmacokinetics in critically ill adults receiving extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2017) 37:221–35. doi: 10.1002/phar.1882

16. Johnson PN, Benefield EC, Bui PYN, Gausman JN, Marlar RA, Gessouroun MR. Fondaparinux monitoring: need for a local fondaparinux-calibrated anti-f actor Xa assay. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther.* (2013) 18:318–9. doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-18.4.318

17. Nutescu EA, Burnett A, Fanikos J, Spinler S, Wittkowsky A. Pharmacology of anticoagulants used in the treatment of venous thromboembolism. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2016) 41:15–31. doi: 10.1007/s11239-015-1314-3

18. DailyMed. DailyMed - ARIXTRA- Fondaparinux Sodium Injection, Solution. (2012). Available online at: https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm? setid=ec235119-cb58-4939-942c-11d3923d289f (accessed August 03, 2022).

19. Wahby KA, Riley LK, Tennenberg SD. Assessment of an extended interval fondaparinux dosing regimen for venous thromboembolism prophylaxis in critically ill patients with severe renal dysfunction using antifactor Xa levels. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2017) 37:1241–8. doi: 10.1002/phar.2014

20. Knopp A, Ammar A, Rouse G, Tran L, Ammar M. 1222: safety and efficacy of fondaparinux in renal insufficiency utilizing anti-Xa monitoring. *Crit Care Med.* (2022) 50:611. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000811212.70128.f4

21. Smythe MA, Priziola J, Dobesh PP, Wirth D, Cuker A, Wittkowsky AK. Guidance for the practical management of the heparin anticoagulants in the treatment of venous thromboembolism. *J Thromb Thrombolysis.* (2016) 41:165–86. doi: 10.1007/s11239-015-1315-2

22. Schulman S, Kearon C, Subcommittee on Control of Anticoagulation of the Scientific and Standardization Committee of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2005) 3:692–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01204.x

23. Appelt H, Philipp A, Mueller T, Foltan M, Lubnow M, Lunz D, et al. Factors associated with hemolysis during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO)-comparison of VA- versus VV ECMO. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0227793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227793

24. Cuker A, Arepally GM, Chong BH, Cines DB, Greinacher A, Gruel Y, et al. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous thromboembolism: heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood Adv.* (2018) 2:3360–92. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018024489

25. Li D, Sun M, Zhang J, Zhang C, Deng L, Jiang H. Is bivalirudin an alternative anticoagulant for extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) patients? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thromb Res.* (2022) 210:53– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2021.12.024

26. Geli J, Capoccia M, Maybauer DM, Maybauer MO. Argatroban anticoagulation for adult extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: a systematic review. *J Intensive Care Med.* (2022) 37:459–71. doi: 10.1177/0885066621993739

27. Campbell CT, Diaz L, Kelly B. Description of bivalirudin use for anticoagulation in pediatric patients on mechanical circulatory support. *Ann Pharmacother*. (2021) 55:59–64. doi: 10.1177/1060028020937819

28. Aljabri A, Huckleberry Y, Karnes J, Gharaibeh M, Kutbi HI, Raz Y, et al. Cost-effectiveness of anticoagulants for the management of suspected heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in the US. *Blood.* (2016) 128:3043–51. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-07-728030

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Paresh Kulkarni, Banaras Hindu University, India

REVIEWED BY Francois Mullier, CHU Dinant Godinne UCL Namur, Belgium Jovan P. Antovic, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

*CORRESPONDENCE David M. Smadja Smadja@aphp.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Thrombosis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 23 July 2022 ACCEPTED 28 February 2023 PUBLISHED 30 March 2023

CITATION

Smadja DM, Gendron N, Philippe A, Diehl J-L, Ochat N, Bory O, Beauvais A, Mareau A, Jannot A-S and Chocron R (2023) Fibrin monomers evaluation during hospitalization for COVID-19 is a predictive marker of in-hospital mortality.

Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 10:1001530. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1001530

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Smadja, Gendron, Philippe, Diehl, Ochat, Bory, Beauvais, Mareau, Jannot and Chocron. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Fibrin monomers evaluation during hospitalization for COVID-19 is a predictive marker of in-hospital mortality

David M. Smadja^{1,2*}, Nicolas Gendron^{1,2}, Aurélien Philippe^{1,2}, Jean-Luc Diehl^{1,3}, Nadège Ochat², Olivier Bory⁴, Agathe Beauvais⁴, Alexis Mareau⁵, Anne-Sophie Jannot⁵ and Richard Chocron^{4,6}

¹Innovative Therapies in Hemostasis, INSERM, University Paris Cité, Paris, France, ²Hematology Department, AP-HP.CUP, Georges Pompidou European Hospital, Paris, France, ³Intensive Care Unit, AP-HP.CUP, Georges Pompidou European Hospital, Paris, France, ⁴Emergency Department, AP-HP.CUP, Georges Pompidou European Hospital, Paris, France, ⁵Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, AP-HP.CUP, Georges Pompidou European Hospital, Medical Informatics, Biostatistics and Public Health Department, European Georges Pompidou Hospital, AP-HP.CUP, University Paris Cité, Paris, France, ⁶PARCC, INSERM, University Paris Cité, Paris, France

Background: Coagulopathy is one of the main triggers of severity and worsening of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) particularly in critically ill patients. D-dimer has been widely used to detect COVID-19 coagulation disorders and has been correlated with outcomes such as disease severity and in-hospital mortality. Involvement of other fibrin degradation products, particularly fibrin monomers (FM), remains an ongoing question.

Methods: We performed a monocentric study of adult patients with COVID-19, who were admitted either in the medical ward (MW) or in the intensive care unit (ICU) and who had FM measurements performed on them during the first wave of COVID-19 outbreak. We analyzed the positivity of FM levels (FM > 7 μ g/mL) to assess the ability of FM monitoring during the first days of hospitalization to predict COVID-19 outcomes.

Results: In our cohort, 935 FM measurements were performed in 246 patients during their first 9 days of hospitalization. During patient follow-up, the FM levels were higher in patients admitted directly to the ICU than in those admitted to the MW. Moreover, we observed significantly increased levels of FM in patients when the data were stratified for in-hospital mortality. At hospital admission, only 27 (11%) patients displayed a positive value for FM; this subgroup did not differ from other patients in terms of severity (indicated by ICU referral at admission) or in-hospital mortality. When analyzing FM positivity in the first 9 days of hospitalization, we found that 37% of patients had positive FM at least once during hospitalization and these patients had increased in-hospital mortality (p = 0.001). Thus, we used non-adjusted Kaplan-Meier curves for inhospital mortality according to FM positivity during hospitalization and we observed a statistically significant difference for in-hospital mortality (hazard ratio = 1.48, 95% CI: 1.25–1.76, p < 0.001). However, we compared the AUC of FM positivity associated with a ratio of D-dimer >70% and found that this combined receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was superior to the FM positivity ROC curve alone.

Conclusion: Monitoring of FM positivity in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 could be a reliable and helpful tool to predict the worsening condition and mortality of COVID-19.

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, fibrin monomers, microthrombosis, coagulopathy, ICU, mortality, D-dimer

Introduction

Coagulopathy is one of the main triggers of disease severity and fatal outcome in Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), particularly in critically ill patients (1, 2). Inflammation and related endothelial lesions are probably at the origin of this coagulopathy associated with pulmonary vascular obstruction (2). Coagulation activation during COVID-19 is largely reflected by an increase in D-dimer levels (3). Extensive literature exists on the predictive value of D-dimer (4), mainly at patient admission in hospital, and D-dimer measurement in the first 48 h after admission has been proposed as a sensitive biomarker of initial severity and in-hospital mortality (5). In our previous multicenter study involving 24 French hospitals, 1,154 patients had D-dimer measurement performed on them upon admission in the medical ward (MW). We demonstrated that a D-dimer level above 1,128 ng/mL was a relevant predictive factor for inhospital mortality among patients admitted in the MW for COVID-19. This held true regardless of the occurrence of venous thromboembolism (VTE) during hospitalization (6). More recently, we proposed a new algorithm with a specific D-dimer threshold in COVID-19 patients according to lung extension disease, to safely exclude pulmonary embolism (PE) (7) and to reduce the use of the computed tomography pulmonary angiogram. Finally, we demonstrated that daily monitoring of D-dimer was a hallmark of severe COVID-19 disease (8), since modified kinetics are associated with intensive care unit (ICU) referral and in-hospital mortality.

The coagulation process results in an insoluble clot of crosslinked fibrin. Subsequently, the fibrinolytic system activates to limit the clot size. Lastly, plasmin degrades cross-linked fibrin into different soluble fragments, including D-dimer. Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) was first suspected in SARS-CoV-2 infection in early reports of COVID-19. DIC is characterized by the systemic activation of coagulation, which can lead either to thrombosis of the small and midsize vessels, contributing to organ failure, or to bleeding with platelet and coagulation factor consumption. DIC is secondary to other conditions such as severe infection, cancer, trauma, or obstetric complications. The International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH) established a scoring algorithm for the diagnosis of DIC. The score relies on platelet count, prolonged prothrombin time, fibrinogen level (9), and the level of fibrin markers, including Ddimer. Nevertheless, D-dimer is not a specific biomarker; it also increases in pregnancy, inflammatory disease, and sepsis, for instance. The results must therefore be interpreted along with clinical features and other laboratory assays. The loss of coagulation factors or antithrombin and acquisition of a DIC-like phenotype was not typically seen in COVID-19 (10). However, this does not prevent the patient from developing DIC, although this is a rather rare event in COVID-19 until the later stages of severe disease (1). Another fibrin-related biomarker is fibrin monomers (FM) whose concentration has been largely described to reflect prothrombin activity. FM have been proposed as a diagnostic marker of DIC (9) and a predictor of thrombosis and/ or a hypercoagulable state earlier than D-dimer (11). In healthy individuals, FM levels are very low in peripheral blood, generally below the limit of detection (12). In the early stages of the pandemic, some experts proposed evaluating FM levels in COVID-19 patients (13). Despite these expert recommendations, less data are available on the relevance of FM evaluation during COVID-19 (14-19) in contrast to D-dimer. None of the studies made a strong case for a clear-cut clinical use and a daily-life evaluation.

The aim of the present study was to determine, with a large retrospective study, the incidence of FM positivity among adult patients hospitalized for COVID-19 both at admission and daily during hospitalization. In addition, we examined the prognostic value of FM positivity when assessing in-hospital mortality.

Methods

Study design and population

We performed a monocentric study of adult patients (≥18years old) with COVID-19, who were admitted in the European Georges Pompidou Hospital between 1 February and 30 June 2020. We retrospectively analyzed, for the study period, all patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19, using a reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction as previously described (8, 20), and who had FM measurements performed on them. The patients were classified according to World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines as either non-critical (median oxygen requirement of 3 L/min and a WHO score range of 4-7) or critical (requiring mechanical ventilation, WHO score range 8-9). Patient characteristics included age, sex, and body mass index (BMI). Clinicians used the local protocol recommended during this period. This protocol was based on the international guidelines from the ISTH, advocating for the use of a prophylactic regimen of anticoagulation for both non-critical patients and critical patients admitted in the ICU. Few patients had therapeutic or intermediate prophylaxis dose in surgical intensive care. No patient received glucocorticoids or immunosuppressant treatments. Venous blood was collected from patients in 0.129 M trisodium citrate tubes (9NC BD Vacutainer, Plymouth, UK) and processed according to standard laboratory techniques. Platelet-poor plasma was obtained after centrifugation twice at $2,500 \times g$ for 15 min at room temperature.

We studied only those patients who were hospitalized and whose FM levels had been measured at least twice during the first 9 days. We excluded all patients who did not meet these criteria. The flow chart of our study is presented in **Figure 1A**. The median [interquartile range (IQR)] number of FM tests was 3 [2–6], with a minimum of 2 and a maximum of 10 (Day 0 for day of admission; **Figure 1B**).

Fibrin monomer evaluation

We quantified the plasma FM level in platelet-poor plasma (STA-Liatest FM, Diagnostica Stago, France) using a STA-R Max analyzer (Diagnostica Stago, as recommended by the manufacturer). According to the manufacturer's recommendation and calibration curves, the limit of detection was 6 μ g/mL. Furthermore, as part of a requirement of the COFRAC ISO 15189 label of our laboratory,



the limit of quantification was determined in our coagulometers and was identified as 7 μ g/mL. Hence, positivity for FM was indicated by values above 7 μ g/mL. The local protocol for COVID-19 management suggested the physician to measure FM in COVID-19 patients at admission and thereafter 72 h.

Statistical analysis

For the descriptive analysis, data were expressed as the median (IQR) for continuous data and as frequencies and percentages for categorical data. We used the Mann-Whitney test and Fisher's exact test to compare the continuous and categorical variables, respectively. In the survival analysis, we used the Kaplan-Meier curve to estimate the survival function from diagnosis to inhospital death stratified to FM positivity. Survival curves were compared using the log rank test. We used the Cox proportional hazard (PH) model adjusted for age, BMI, and sex to investigate the association between in-hospital mortality and FM positivity. FM was a binary variable coded as follows: If the patient had at least one positive measurement above 7 µg/mL during the first 9 days, FM positivity was coded as 1; if the patient had any other positive measurement with FM $\leq 7 \,\mu g/$ mL, FM was coded as 0. To assess the PH model assumptions, we first estimated the regression coefficients using the functions coxph (package survival) and crr (package cmprsk). We tested for PH using the functions prop.coxph and prop.crr with default resampling methods implemented by the goftte package. We used two methods to examine the changes in the value of FM over time within the patient groups, which are defined as follows: (1) ICU at admission, (2) MW at admission and then transferred to the ICU during hospitalization, and (3) MW during the whole period of hospitalization. In the first method, during the first 9 days of hospitalization, we compared the mean value of FM in the group of patients who were admitted in the ICU with the mean value of patients admitted in an MW, using a Wilcoxon test with Bonferroni-corrected alpha level applied for each comparison. Second, to assess how the value of FM changed over time within each of the three patient groups, we used a linear mixed-effect model. In the model, time was considered a continuous measure, the patient group variable was an independent variable, and we added a random effect for the patient and an interaction term between the patient group and the period of time. To assess the prognostic ability of FM positivity and D-dimer value-at admission and during follow-up-we used receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis and compared the results with DeLong's test. The issue of missing data were addressed by imputation using a linear interpolation from observed values with an approximation function of the stats package of R software. Based on the imputed data, we created a graph using the geom_smooth function in the ggplot2 visualization package of R. All analyses were two-sided, and statistical significance was set to p < 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed using R studio software, including R version 3.6.3 (RStudio Inc., Boston, MA, USA).

Results

FM levels during the first 9 days of hospitalization differed according to clinical outcomes in COVID-19 patients

Overall, 935 FM measurements were performed for 246 patients during their first 9 days of hospitalization (Figure 1B). Since the number of measurements of FM after 9 days of hospitalization was very low, we restricted our analysis because of low statistical power after more than 9 days. In our cohort, 169 (68.7%) patients were male, the median age was 66.0 years (IQR: 56.0-76.0), and 28 patients (11.4%) had a BMI above 30 kg/m². The cohort included 154 (62.6%) patients with COVID-19 who were initially admitted in an MW and 92 (37.4%) initially admitted in the ICU. The median duration of hospital stay was 16.0 days (IQR: 7.0-25.5) and the median delay from hospital admission to in-hospital death was 12.5 days (IQR: 6.0-24.0). The study period corresponded to the first wave of the pandemic, and clinicians used the local protocol recommended during this period. This protocol was based on the international guidelines from the ISTH and included the use of a prophylactic regimen of anticoagulation for non-critical patients and critical patients admitted in the ICU. A few patients underwent therapeutic or intermediate prophylactic dose in the surgical ICU (13, 21). None of the patients received glucocorticoids/ immunosuppressants treatments. Table 1 describes the range and positivity of FM observed during the first 9 days of hospitalization. In comparison with COVID-19 patients admitted in the MW, the mean FM levels of patients directly admitted in the ICU were not different at Day 0 and Day 1 (Figure 2A). In contrast, from Day 3 onwards in the MW, the mean FM levels were significantly higher in patients admitted initially in the ICU than in those admitted initially in the MW (p < 0.05, Wilcoxon test for all days following admission). Consistently, by considering the trend in FM levels throughout the period of the patients' follow-up, we found that the mean FM levels were significantly higher in patients admitted directly in the ICU than in those admitted to the MW (Figure 2B). Among the 154 COVID-19 patients directly admitted to the MW, 40 (26%) were referred to the ICU during their hospitalization, whereas 114 (74%) remained in the MW. Among patients initially admitted in the MW, starting from Day 4, a significant increase in FM levels was evidenced only for those referred to the ICU (p < 0.001, Wilcoxon test; Figure 2C). Finally, we observed significantly increased levels in the mean FM levels in patients (Figure 2D) when stratified on survival.

Iterative FM measurements during hospitalization, but not FM levels at admission, were predictive of worsening COVID-19 and in-hospital mortality

At hospital admission, only 27 (11%) patients displayed a positive value of FM (FM > 7 μ g/mL, 17 of these patients were

admitted in the ICU and 10 in MW). We analyzed the positivity of FM levels (FM > $7 \mu g/mL$) to assess the ability of FM monitoring during the first days of hospitalization to predict COVID-19

outcomes. We first analyzed FM positivity at hospital admission (Day 0). As demonstrated in Table 2, patients having positive FM at admission showed no differences in terms of age, sex, and

TABLE 1 Patients' value of fibrin monomers during hospitalization for COVID-19.

		All popu	llation	ICU at ad	mission	MW at admi then		MD during t period of hos	
		n = 2	46	n = 9	92	n = 4	10	<i>n</i> = 1	14
Days	FM positivity	FM	1	FN	1	FM		FM	
	n (%)	Median [IQR]	Mean (SD)	Median [IQR]	Mean (SD)	Median [IQR]	Mean (SD)	Median [IQR]	Mean (SD)
0	27 (10.9%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	13.4 (27.2)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	18.1 (36.4)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	7.6 (3.2)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	11.7 (22.5)
1	49 (19.9%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	25.4 (105.6)	7.0 [7.0-7.3]	31.9 (81.5)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	14.3 (28.7)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	24.1 (136.0)
2	48 (19.5%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	30.2 (104.5)	7.0 [7.0-8.8]	39.9 (122.0)	7.0 [7.0-7.7]	20.4 (56.8)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	25.7 (102.2)
3	51 (20.7%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	52.9 (199.2)	7.0 [7.0-10.6]	80.7 (256.8)	7.0 [7.0-9.6]	33.1 (87.8)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	37.3 (171.0)
4	57 (23.2%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	51.7 (182.6)	7.0 [7.0-14.9]	98.2 (277.6)	7.0 [7.0-19.0]	41.6 (117.1)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	17.7 (50.4)
5	59 (24.9%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	67.9 (226.0)	7.0 [7.0-26.2]	134.3 (329.5)	7.0 [7.0-13.9]	64.5 (215.2)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	15.5 (31.4)
6	61 (25.8%)	7.0 [7.0-7.8]	70.3 (222.2)	7.0 [7.0-51.1]	139.0 (325.8)	7.0 [7.0-9.1]	50.2 (158.4)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	21.8 (80.6)
7	58 (24.6%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	53.2 (177.2)	7.0 [7.0-35.9]	102.4 (266.7)	7.0 [7.0-8.0]	29.2 (56.0)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	21.9 (80.8)
8	54 (22.9%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	45.5 (159.5)	7.0 [7.0-13.2]	80.1 (237.7)	7.0 [7.0-7.1]	26.8 (49.6)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	24.1 (85.2)
9	50 (20.3%)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	48.1 (182.6)	7.0 [7.0-10.5]	75.8 (237.0)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	23.5 (43.8)	7.0 [7.0-7.0]	34.4 (159.4)

ICU, intensive care unit; MW, medical ward; FM, fibrin monomers; IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation.



FIGURE 2

Daily monitoring of fibrin monomers levels and outcome predictions in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. For each group, the lines indicate the trendline of the mean FM levels measured daily during the first 9 days of hospitalization and the gray-colored area denotes the 95% confidence interval. $*p \le 0.05$, $**p \le 0.01$, $**p \le 0.001$, (A) Comparison of FM levels during the first 9 days of hospitalization. (B) Temporal trends of daily FM levels during the first 9 days of hospitalization according to initial admission at hospital: medical ward (MW; blue Line) or intensive care unit (ICU; red line). (C) Temporal trends of daily FM levels during the first 9 days of hospitalization according to the care pathway: MW during the whole hospitalization (blue line); MW at admission then referred to the ICU (green line); ICU at admission (red line). (D) Temporal trends of daily FM levels during the first 9 days of hospitalization according to in-hospital mortality: survivors (blue line); non-survivors (red line).

		Negative	Positive	<i>p</i> -value	
FM measured at admission	in hospital (<i>n</i> = 246)				
Patients, n (%)		219 (89.0)	27 (11.0)		
Male, n (%)		151 (68.9)	18 (66.7)	0.98	
Age, years [median (IQR)]		66.0 [55.5–76.0]	65.0 [59.5, 77.0]	0.97	
BMI \geq 30 kg/m ² , n (%)		26 (11.9)	2 (7.4)	0.71	
Median [IQR]		7.0 [7.0-7.0]	29.0 [16.5–134.5]	< 0.001	
ICU admission (%)	ICU at admission	115 (52.5)	17 (63.0)	0.41	
	Medical ward at admission	104 (47.5)	10 (37.0)		
In-hospital mortality, n (%)		45 (20.5)	9 (33.3)	0.21	
		Negative	Positive	<i>p</i> -value	
FM measured during the w	hole period of hospitalization (<i>i</i>	n = 246)			
Patients, n (%)		155 (63.0)	91 (37.0)		
Male, n (%)		105 (67.7)	64 (70.3)	0.78	
Age, years, median [IQR]		66.0 [55.0-75.0]	66.0 [58.0-78.0]	0.53	
BMI \ge 30 kg/m ² , <i>n</i> (%)		22 (14.2)	6 (6.6)	0.11	
Median [IQR]		7.0 [7.0-7.0]	11.0 [7.0-88.9]	< 0.001	
FM at admission in hospital	ICU at admission	46 (29.7)	46 (50.5)	< 0.001	
	Medical ward at admission	109 (70.3)	45 (49.5)	_	
In-hospital mortality, n (%)		23 (14.9)	31 (34.1)	0.001	
		Positive during follow-up	Positive at admission only		
Positive FM measured at le	ast one time during hospitalizat	ion (<i>n</i> = 91)			
Patients, n (%)		64 (70.3)	27 (29.7)		
Male (%)		46 (70.4)	18 (66.7)	0.83	
Age, years [median (IQR)]		66.0 [58.0-78.0]	65.0 [59.5-77.0]	0.78	
BMI \ge 30 kg/m ² , <i>n</i> (%)		4 (6.6)	2 (7.4)	1.00	
Median [IQR]		10.0 [7.0-85.0]	29.0 [16.5-134.5]	0.001	
FM at admission in hospital	ICU at admission	29 (70.6)	17 (63.0)	0.52	
	Medical ward at admission	35 (29.4)	10 (37.0)		
In-hospital mortality, n (%)		22 (34.1)	9 (33.3)	1	

TABLE 2 Patients' characteristics and outcomes according to fibrin monomer measurement during hospitalization for COVID-19.

ICU, intensive care unit; MW, medical ward; FM, fibrin monomers; IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation.

BMI and no difference was evident for severity (ICU referral at admission) or in-hospital mortality. Thus, we demonstrate that evaluating FM specifically at admission has no significance in terms of severity or in-hospital mortality prediction. In contrast, an analysis of FM positivity during the first 9 days of hospitalization indicated that 155 (63%) patients had negative FM during the whole period of hospitalization, whereas 91 (37%) patients had positive FM at least once during their stay in hospital. Patients having at least one positive FM during hospitalization did not show any differences in terms of age, sex, and BMI. However, they required more ICU referral at admission (p < 0.001) and had increased in-hospital mortality (p= 0.001). To confirm the association between FM positivity during the first 9 days of hospitalization and in-hospital mortality, we generated a non-adjusted Kaplan-Meier curve of in-hospital survival (Figure 3). The result demonstrated a statistical difference [hazard ratio (HR) 1.48, 95% CI: 1.25-1.76, p < 0.001]. Finally, a Cox regression model for in-hospital mortality adjusted for age, sex, and BMI confirmed a significant difference for in-hospital mortality of patients with positive FM during the first 9 days of hospitalization (adjusted HR: 1.47, 95% CI: 1.23–1.76, p = 0.001, data not given). To complete our analysis, we conducted a logistic regression test to determine whether the positivity of FM was associated with ICU referral.

The results confirmed the link between FM positivity and ICU referral with an odds ratio of 2.27 (95% CI: 1.65–3.12, p < 0.001, data not shown). Finally, among patients with at least one positive FM during hospitalization, we analyzed the difference between those patients with positive FM at admission (Day 0) and those with positive FM solely during hospitalization (Day 1 in MW). We observed no significant differences in terms of demographics, COVID-19 severity, or in-hospital mortality.

Combination of FM positivity and the ratio of D-dimer assessed during the first 9 days of hospitalization improves in-hospital mortality prediction

We previously described a ratio of D-dimer (RoD) defined as either the D-dimer value on the day of outcome occurrence or the highest value during the first 9 days (if the outcome did not occur), divided by the D-dimer level at admission (8). We also previously identified different optimal thresholds for RoD: for patients with COVID-19 admitted directly to the MW, a threshold of 69% increase in RoD predicted in-hospital mortality; for patients admitted directly to the ICU, a threshold of 74% increase in RoD predicted in-hospital mortality (8). Thus, we



FIGURE 3

In-hospital mortality according to fibrin monomer positivity during the first 9 days of hospitalization for COVID-19. Unadjusted Kaplan–Meier survival curve for mortality among all hospitalized COVID-19 patients according to whether patients displayed at least one positive fibrin monomer (FM) level (Blue line) or not (Red line) during hospitalization. The *p*-value refers to the log rank test. Estimates of the hazard ratio (HR) and 95% confidence intervals derived from a single Cox-model assessing the association between at least one positive FM level during hospitalization and in-hospital mortality.

TABLE 3 D-dimer and FM involvement during hospitalization for COVID-19: comparison of ROC curve analysis associating D-dimer or FM at admission or during the first 9 days of hospitalization.

Delong's test for two correlated ROC curves 2 by 2	ROC curve for FM positivity at admission	ROC curve for FM positivity and D- dimer at admission
ROC curve for FM positivity at admission	_	<i>p</i> = 0.66
ROC curve for D-dimer at admission	<i>p</i> = 0.65	<i>p</i> = 0.63
	ROC curve for FM positivity during hospitalization	ROC curve for FM positivity and RoD > 75% during hospitalization
ROC curve for FM positivity during hospitalization	_	*p = 0.0009
ROC curve for RoD > 70% during hospitalization	<i>p</i> = 0.09	<i>p</i> = 0.63

compared the RoD predictive value with FM positivity and D-dimer at admission or FM positivity and RoD > 70% during hospitalization. An ROC curve analysis was created using D-dimer levels, FM positivity, and both parameters together at admission for the prediction of in-hospital mortality. In addition, we performed an ROC curve analysis for RoD > 70%, FM positivity, and both parameters together during hospitalization for the prediction of in-hospital mortality. We compare the predictability of three ROC curves in Table 3 with DeLong's test

for two correlated ROC curves 2 by 2 using the package *pROC*. No significant difference was found at admission regarding the ability to predict in-hospital mortality among positive FM, D-dimer, or both criteria. However, we compared the AUC of FM positivity associated with an RoD > 70% and found that this combined ROC curve was superior to the FM positivity ROC curve alone. This result demonstrates that FM is not superior to RoD > 70% during hospitalization, but that adding positivity to ROD allows us to more accurately predict in-hospital mortality.

Discussion

Coagulation activation is a hallmark of COVID-19 severity and probably reflects microthrombosis. Endotheliopathy associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection could be explained at least in part by coagulopathy, microthrombosis, and severity of symptoms (2). In this study, we demonstrated that FM positivity measured during the first 9 days of hospitalization was associated with COVID-19 severity and in-hospital mortality. Using a monocentric study of patients hospitalized for COVID-19, we observed that patients who displayed positive FM had a higher in-hospital mortality rate than those who never displayed a positive FM measurement during the first 9 days of hospitalization. Importantly, our study explored the usefulness of FM in a large cohort of patients with COVID-19 of varying degrees of clinical severity.

In terms of biomarkers, hemostasis parameters such as D-dimer have been highly "popular" and relevant biomarkers during the COVID-19 outbreak. Thrombus formation could be the origin of increased D-dimer observed in COVID-19; however, D-dimer can also originate from the extravascular space through the breakdown of alveolar fibrin deposits (22, 23). This extravascular origin could explain why FM plasma levels are generally within the normal range but D-dimer is high (16). Indeed, D-dimer is the most frequently observed abnormal coagulation parameter measured during SARS-CoV-2 infection. Before the COVID-19 outbreak, D-dimer was used in clinical practice to exclude a diagnosis of VTE, to estimate the risk of VTE recurrence, and to support the diagnosis of DIC (3, 9). The D-dimer levels at admission is an important indicator of COVID-19 severity and a relatively accurate good predictor of a worsening clinical state and in-hospital mortality, independent of VTE risk (6). Moreover, the course of D-dimer levels during hospitalization also seems relevant and may better predict outcomes (8). Thus, in contrast to early descriptions, it is now clear that increased D-dimer and COVID-19-induced coagulopathy is a clinical entity that differs from DIC, at least in part, at admission.

D-dimer is a specific marker of fibrin degradation (24), but it is not specific to VTE or DIC. Many conditions and diseases may increase D-dimer levels, including pregnancy and inflammatory diseases. The D-dimer/fibrinogen ratio has been proposed to increase the specificity of VTE diagnosis, but the results are inconsistent (25). With the high involvement of coagulopathy in COVID-19 for mortality prediction, it is important to identify other fibrin degradation biomarkers such as FM. FM is produced by thrombin cleavage of fibrinogen, releasing fibrinopeptide A and B, and has been proposed as a marker of DIC or thrombosis (12). The presence of FM in circulation indicates an ongoing process of fibrinogen transitioning to fibrin after thrombin activation. In COVID-19, FM evaluation has been proposed by the French Society of Anesthesiology in the event of clinical worsening (13). However, little data on FM evaluation are available. Godon et al. studied a cohort of 164 COVID-19 patients and found that FM did not add any benefit, in contrast to D-dimer, to predict thrombotic events (14); analyzed events included VTE, arterial thrombosis, catheter-related thrombosis, and clotting related to dialysis filter and extracorporeal membranous oxygenation (14). Sridharan et al. demonstrated that only 23% of COVID-19 patients with increased D-dimer levels had elevated FM (15). This result is interesting in terms of specificity for DIC or COVID-19-associated coagulopathy diagnoses.

We previously described the clinical interest of FM monitoring for patients who are supported with ventricular assist device in order to assess appropriate anticoagulation (26, 27). Indeed, these patients had high levels of D-dimer, without any detectable thrombotic events, but interestingly, D-dimer levels were correlated to the amount of fibrin deposits on the surface of hemocompatible materials. In these patients, due to their high basal D-dimer level, DIC secondary to cessation of anticoagulant therapy is not easy to diagnose using D-dimer level alone, in contrast to FM (26, 27). In patients with COVID-19, FM levels are generally below the limit of detection and hence negative, whereas D-dimer is elevated in most of these patients and particularly those admitted in the ICU (8). Furthermore, the interpretation of D-dimer results in large cohorts may involve some challenges because of different reagents used in healthcare laboratories as stated by ISTH SSC during the COVID-19 outbreak (28, 29). Indeed, D-dimer assays can yield nonidentical results. The reasons are differences in antibody specificity because of the heterogeneity in affinity for high- or low-molecularweight fibrin degradation products and/or cross-linked and noncross-linked fibrin derivatives.

Here, we demonstrate that evaluating FM specifically at admission has no relevance in terms of severity stratification or in-hospital mortality prediction. However, FM positivity during the follow-up period and its capacity to predict in-hospital mortality in any period are could be of clinical interest. D-dimer is associated with fibrin deposits, regardless of the location of fibrin: it can be extravascular deposits, which have been proposed as a marker of extravascular fibrinolysis correlated to the extent of lung injury (30). Fibrinolysis dysregulation in COVID-19 remains poorly understood. Several studies have shown that critically ill patients with COVID-19 display hypo-fibrinolysis (31, 32) or fibrinolysis shutdown associated with thrombosis, with the need for hemodialysis (33). Moreover, fibrinolytic shutdown should result in low D-dimer levels. Some studies have shown that COVID-19 patients have increased plasma thrombin levels and plasmin potential-in particular, high levels of plasmin-antiplasmin complex levels-compared with healthy donors and sepsis patients (34); nonetheless, in vitro analysis shows a hypofibrinolytic profile (31, 33) with an impaired response to r-tPA (32). Further studies are needed to better identify the role of fibrinolysis dysregulation in micro- and macrothrombosis and the origins of high D-dimer levels during COVID-19. Overall, it appears that FM detection could be a biomarker of worsening COVID-19 and could help in clinical characterization and management, regardless of the D-dimer level. Furthermore, FM quantification in plasma is now well standardized and is available on automated coagulometers with external quality controls.

Our study has some limitations: (i) the issue of missing data was addressed by imputation using a linear interpolation from observed values with an approximation function of the *stats* package of R software, (ii) the course of FM plasma levels could be influenced by DIC during ICU stay, and (iii) the course of FM plasma levels could be influenced by the different anticoagulation regimens.

All in all, the findings indicate that positive FM detected through iterative FM measurement during the first 9 days of hospitalization was associated with ICU referral and in-hospital mortality among COVID-19 patients. Hence, monitoring of FM during hospitalization could be an important tool for evaluating disease progression added to D-dimer. The predictive value should be confirmed in large multicentric studies that assess the association between routine measurement of FM levels and markers of thromboinflammation and endotheliopathy.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité de protection des personnes Sud Ouest et Outre Mer IV. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

All the undersigned authors have substantially contributed to the paper. DS, NG, and RC designed the present study. DS wrote the manuscript. RC performed statistical analyses. All authors reviewed the paper. All authors declare that the submitted work is original and has not been published before (neither in English nor in any other language) and that the work is not under consideration for publication elsewhere. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded with grants from the French national agency for research ANR SARCODO (Fondation de France),

Mécénat Covid AP-HP, and Crédit Agricole d'Ile-de-France Mécénat.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Leentjens J, van Haaps TF, Wessels PF, Schutgens REG, Middeldorp S. COVID-19-associated coagulopathy and antithrombotic agents-lessons after 1 year. *Lancet Haematol.* (2021) 8(7):e524-33. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00105-8

2. Smadja DM, Mentzer SJ, Fontenay M, Laffan MA, Ackermann M, Helms J, et al. COVID-19 is a systemic vascular hemopathy: insight for mechanistic and clinical aspects. *Angiogenesis.* (2021) 24(4):755–88. doi: 10.1007/s10456-021-09805-6

3. Auditeau C, Khider L, Planquette B, Sanchez O, Smadja DM, Gendron N. Ddimer testing in clinical practice in the era of COVID-19. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost.* (2022) 6(4):e12730. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12730

4. Varikasuvu SR, Varshney S, Dutt N, Munikumar M, Asfahan S, Kulkarni PP, et al. D-dimer, disease severity, and deaths (3D-study) in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 100 studies. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11(1):21888. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-01462-5

5. Goudot G, Chocron R, Augy JL, Gendron N, Khider L, Debuc B, et al. Predictive factor for COVID-19 worsening: insights for high-sensitivity troponin and D-dimer and correlation with right ventricular afterload. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:586307. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.586307

6. Chocron R, Duceau B, Gendron N, Ezzouhairi N, Khider L, Trimaille A, et al. Ddimer at hospital admission for COVID-19 are associated with in-hospital mortality, independent of venous thromboembolism: insights from a French multicenter cohort study. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis.* (2021) 114(5):381–93. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2021.02.003

7. Planquette B, Khider L, Le Berre A, Soudet S, Pernod G, Le Mao R, et al. Adjusting D-dimer to lung disease extent to exclude pulmonary embolism in COVID-19 patients (co-LEAD). *Thromb Haemost.* (2022) 122(11):1888–1898. doi: 10.1055/a-1768-4371

8. Smadja DM, Bory OM, Diehl JL, Mareau A, Gendron N, Jannot AS, et al. Daily monitoring of D-dimer allows outcomes prediction in COVID-19. *TH Open*. (2022) 6 (1):e21–5. doi: 10.1055/a-1709-5441

9. Taylor FB, Toh CH, Hoots WK, Wada H, Levi M. Scientific subcommittee on Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation (DIC) of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH). Towards definition, clinical and laboratory criteria, and a scoring system for disseminated intravascular coagulation. *Thromb Haemost*. (2001) 86(5):1327–30. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1616068

10. Khider L, Gendron N, Goudot G, Chocron R, Hauw-Berlemont C, Cheng C, et al. Curative anticoagulation prevents endothelial lesion in COVID-19 patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18(9):2391–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.14968

11. Refaai MA, Riley P, Mardovina T, Bell PD. The clinical significance of fibrin monomers. *Thromb Haemost.* (2018) 118(11):1856–66. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1673684

12. Hamano A, Tanaka S, Takeda Y, Umeda M, Sakata Y. A novel monoclonal antibody to fibrin monomer and soluble fibrin for the detection of soluble fibrin in plasma. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2002) 318(1):25–32. doi: 10.1016/S0009-8981(01)00779-3

13. Susen S, Tacquard CA, Godon A, Mansour A, Garrigue D, Nguyen P, et al. Prevention of thrombotic risk in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 and hemostasis monitoring. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24(1):364. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03000-7

14. Godon A, Durand Z, Agier L, Lecompte T, Mullier F, Marlu R, et al. Comparison of fibrin monomers and D-dimers to predict thrombotic events in critically ill patients with COVID-19 pneumonia: a retrospective study. *Thromb Res.* (2021) 205:8–10. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2021.06.009

15. Sridharan M, Navitskas SD, Kock EM, Houghton DE, Heikal NM, Chen D, et al. Evaluation of soluble fibrin monomer complex in patients in SARS-CoV-2 COVID-19 infection-associated coagulopathy. *Eur J Haematol.* (2022) 108(4):319–26. doi: 10. 1111/ejh.13738

16. Hardy M, Michaux I, Dive A, Lecompte T, Mullier F. Could daily monitoring of fibrin related markers help suspect a thrombotic event in COVID-19 patients? A prospective pilot study. *TH Open.* (2021) 5(2):e152–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1728722

17. Moosavi M, Wooten M, Goodman A, Nahab FB, Duncan A, Maier C, et al. Retrospective analyses associate hemostasis activation biomarkers with poor

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

outcomes in patients with COVID-19. Am J Clin Pathol. (2021) 155(4):498–505. doi: 10.1093/ajcp/aqaa266

18. Alabyad D, Rangaraju S, Liu M, Imran R, Kempton CL, Sharifpour M, et al. Validation of an admission coagulation panel for risk stratification of COVID-19 patients. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16(3):e0248230. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248230

19. Hardy M, Michaux I, Bulpa P, Schonau B, Nicolay B, de Maistre E, et al. Serial fibrin monomer and D-dimer plasma levels measurements can capture thrombotic complications in critically ill COVID-19 patients: a prospective observational study. *Thromb Res.* (2023) 221:69–72. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2022.11.026

20. Philippe A, Chocron R, Gendron N, Bory O, Beauvais A, Peron N, et al. Circulating Von Willebrand factor and high molecular weight multimers as markers of endothelial injury predict COVID-19 in-hospital mortality. *Angiogenesis.* (2021) 24(3):505–17. doi: 10.1007/s10456-020-09762-6

21. Thachil J, Tang N, Gando S, Falanga A, Cattaneo M, Levi M, et al. ISTH interim guidance on recognition and management of coagulopathy in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost. (2020) 18(5):1023–6. doi: 10.1111/jth.14810

22. Hunt BJ, Levi M. Re the source of elevated plasma D-dimer levels in COVID-19 infection. Br J Haematol. (2020) 190(3):e133-4. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16907

23. Thachil J. All those D-dimers in COVID-19. J Thromb Haemost. (2020) 18 (8):2075–6. doi: 10.1111/jth.14939

24. Adam SS, Key NS, Greenberg CS. D-dimer antigen: current concepts and future prospects. *Blood.* (2009) 113(13):2878–87. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-165845

25. Lippi G, Cervellin G, Franchini M, Favaloro EJ. Biochemical markers for the diagnosis of venous thromboembolism: the past, present and future. J Thromb Thrombolysis. (2010) 30(4):459–71. doi: 10.1007/s11239-010-0460-x

26. Latrémouille C, Carpentier A, Leprince P, Roussel JC, Cholley B, Boissier E, et al. A bioprosthetic total artificial heart for end-stage heart failure: results from a pilot study. J Heart Lung Transplant. (2018) 37(1):33–7. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2017.09.002

27. Smadja DM, Ivak P, Pya Y, Latremouille C, Gustafsson F, Roussel JC, et al. Intermediate-dose prophylactic anticoagulation with low molecular weight heparin is safe after bioprosthetic artificial heart implantation. *J Heart Lung Transplant.* (2022) 41(9):1214–17. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2022.05.017

28. Thachil J, Longstaff C, Favaloro EJ, Lippi G, Urano T, Kim PY, et al. The need for accurate D-dimer reporting in COVID-19: communication from the ISTH SSC on fibrinolysis. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 18(9):2408–11. doi: 10.1111/jth.14956

29. Bevan S, Longstaff C. Is it possible to make a common reference standard for Ddimer measurements? Communication from the ISTH SSC subcommittee on fibrinolysis. J Thromb Haemost. (2022) 20(2):498–507. doi: 10.1111/jth.15555

30. Trimaille A, Thachil J, Marchandot B, Curtiaud A, Leonard-Lorant I, Carmona A, et al. D-dimers level as a possible marker of extravascular fibrinolysis in COVID-19 patients. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 10(1):E39. doi: 10.3390/jcm10010039

31. Blasi A, von Meijenfeldt FA, Adelmeijer J, Calvo A, Ibañez C, Perdomo J, et al. In vitro hypercoagulability and ongoing in vivo activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis in COVID-19 patients on anticoagulation. *J Thromb Haemostasis*. (2020) 18(10):2646–53. doi: 10.1111/jth.15043

32. Weiss E, Roux O, Moyer JD, Paugam-Burtz C, Boudaoud L, Ajzenberg N, et al. Fibrinolysis resistance: a potential mechanism underlying COVID-19 coagulopathy. *Thromb Haemost.* (2020) 120(9):1343–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1713637

33. Wright FL, Vogler TO, Moore EE, Moore HB, Wohlauer MV, Urban S, et al. Fibrinolysis shutdown correlation with thromboembolic events in severe COVID-19 infection. *J Am Coll Surg.* (2020) 231(2):193–203.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2020. 05.007

34. Bouck EG, Denorme F, Holle LA, Middelton EA, Blair AM, de Laat B, et al. COVID-19 and sepsis are associated with different abnormalities in plasma procoagulant and fibrinolytic activity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2021) 41 (1):401–14. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.120.315338

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

Innovations and improvements in cardiovascular treatment and practice

Focuses on research that challenges the status quo of cardiovascular care, or facilitates the translation of advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine



